Public Document Pack

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE
Date of Meeting: TUESDAY, 16 JULY 2019 TIME 7.30 PM

COMMITTEE ROOMS 1 & 2 - CIVIC SUITE

PLACE:

Members of the Committee are summoned to attend this meeting:
Membership
Councillors:
John Paschoud (Chair)
Leo Gibbons (Vice-Chair)
Paul Bell
Suzannah Clarke
Tom Copley
Liam Curran
Olurotimi Ogunbadewa
Joani Reid
James-J Walsh
Aisling Gallagher
The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however, occasionally committees
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of reports can be made available in
additional formats on request.

Janet Senior
Acting Chief Executive
Lewisham Town Hall
London SE6 4RU

For further information please contact:
Alison Bradshaw - Committee Co-ordinator
5th Floor Laurence House
Catford Road SE6 4RU

Date: 8 July 2019

Telephone No: Alison Bradshaw
Email: 0208 314 8995

RECORDING AND USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA
You are welcome to record any part of any Council meeting that is open to the public.
The Council cannot guarantee that anyone present at a meeting will not be filmed or
recorded by anyone who may then use your image or sound recording.
If you are intending to audio record or film this meeting, you must :


tell the clerk to the meeting before the meeting starts



only focus cameras / recordings on councillors, Council officers, and those
members of the public who are participating in the conduct of the meeting and avoid
other areas of the room, particularly where non-participating members of the public
may be sitting.



ensure that you never leave your recording equipment unattended in the meeting
room.

If recording causes a disturbance or undermines the proper conduct of the meeting, then
the Chair of the meeting may decide to stop the recording. In such circumstances, the
decision of the Chair shall be final.

Order Of Business
Item
No

Title of Report

Ward

Page
No.

1.

Declarations of Interests

1-2

2.

Minutes

3-4

3.

FORMER CARPETRIGHT, LOAMPIT VALE,
LONDON, SE13 7SN

Lewisham
Central

4.

LEWISHAM GATEWAY, LEWISHAM HIGH
STREET, LONDON, SE13

Lewisham
Central

5 - 312

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
Committee

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE

Report Title

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS

Class

PART 1

Date: 16 July 2019

Declaration of interests
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the
agenda.
Personal interests
There are two types of personal interest :(a)
an interest which you must enter in the Register of Members’ Interests*
(b)
an interest where the wellbeing or financial position of you, (or a “relevant
person”) is likely to be affected by a matter more than it would affect the majority of in
habitants of the ward or electoral division affected by the decision.
*Full details of registerable interests appear on the Council’s website.
(“Relevant” person includes you, a member of your family, a close associate, and
their employer, a firm in which they are a partner, a company where they are a
director, any body in which they have securities with a nominal value of £25,000 and
(i) any body of which they are a member, or in a position of general control or
management to which they were appointed or nominated by the Council, and
(ii) any body exercising functions of a public nature, or directed to charitable
purposes or one of whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion
or policy, including any trade union or political party) where they hold a position of
general management or control
If you have a personal interest you must declare the nature and extent of it before the
matter is discussed or as soon as it becomes apparent, except in limited
circumstances. Even if the interest is in the Register of Interests, you must declare it
in meetings where matters relating to it are under discussion, unless an exemption
applies.
Exemptions to the need to declare personal interest to the meeting
You do not need to declare a personal interest where it arises solely from
membership of, or position of control or management on:
(a)
(b)

any other body to which your were appointed or nominated by the Council
any other body exercising functions of a public nature.

In these exceptional cases, unless your interest is also prejudicial, you only need to
declare your interest if and when you speak on the matter .
Sensitive information
If the entry of a personal interest in the Register of Interests would lead to the
disclosure of information whose availability for inspection creates or is likely to create
a serious risk of violence to you or a person living with you, the interest need not be
Page 1

entered in the Register of Interests, provided the Monitoring Officer accepts that the
information is sensitive. Where this is the case, if such an interest arises at a
meeting, it must be declared but you need not disclose the sensitive information.
Prejudicial interests
Your personal interest will also be prejudicial if all of the following conditions are met:
(a)
(b)
(c)

it does not fall into an exempt category (see below)
the matter affects either your financial interests or relates to regulatory matters
- the determining of any consent, approval, licence, permission or registration
a member of the public who knows the relevant facts would reasonably think
your personal interest so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement
of the public interest.

Categories exempt from being prejudicial interest
(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter
relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception)
School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent or
guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the
matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are
a governor;
Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt
Allowances, payment or indemnity for members
Ceremonial honours for members
Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception)

Effect of having a prejudicial interest
If your personal interest is also prejudicial, you must not speak on the matter.
Subject to the exception below, you must leave the room when it is being discussed
and not seek to influence the decision improperly in any way.
Exception
The exception to this general rule applies to allow a member to act as a community
advocate notwithstanding the existence of a prejudicial interest. It only applies where
members of the public also have a right to attend to make representation, give
evidence or answer questions about the matter. Where this is the case, the member
with a prejudicial interest may also attend the meeting for that purpose. However the
member must still declare the prejudicial interest, and must leave the room once they
have finished making representations, or when the meeting decides they have
finished, if that is earlier. The member cannot vote on the matter, nor remain in the
public gallery to observe the vote.
Prejudicial interests and overview and scrutiny
In addition, members also have a prejudicial interest in any matter before an
Overview and Scrutiny body where the business relates to a decision by the
Executive or by a committee or sub committee of the Council if at the time the
decision was made the member was on the Executive/Council committee or subcommittee and was present when the decision was taken. In short, members are not
allowed to scrutinise decisions to which they were party.
Page 2

Agenda Item 2
Committee

PLANNING COMMITTEE ()

Report Title

MINUTES

Ward
Contributors
Class

PART 1

Date

MINUTES
To approve the minutes of the meeting of Planning Committee () held on the.

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
Committee
Report Title
Ward
Contributors
Class

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE
Carpetright Site, Loampit Vale, SE13 7SN
Lewisham Central
Jeremy Ward
PART 1
Tuesday 16 July 2019

Reg. Nos.

DC/18/110610

Application dated

21 January 2019.

Applicant

Mr P. Freeman-Bentley of Indigo on behalf of Tide
Construction.

Proposal

Applicant’s Plans and Documents.

The demolition of the existing building and the
construction of two buildings of 20 storeys and 35
storeys in height plus basement comprising:
838.2 sqm non-residential floorspace, comprising
(A1) Shops, (A2) Financial & Professional
Services, (A3) Restaurants & Cafes, (B1)
Business, (D1) Non-residential Institutions and
(D2) Assembly & Leisure uses; 67 (C3) selfcontained housing units with private and
communal amenity space; 758 (Sui Generis)
student housing bedspaces with communal
amenity space; associated ancillary space,
including on-site energy centres, refuse stores
and cycle parking; and landscaping and public
realm
works.
(Revised
description
of
development following AH Offer revision and
floorspace validation).
Architectural Drawings: Site Location Plan
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-001 rev. P01);
Existing Site Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP002 rev. P01); Proposed Site Plan Ground
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-003 rev. P02);
Carpetright Existing Plans & Elevations (drawing
ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-005 rev. P01); (prepared by
JTP and received 23 January 2019).
Level 20 - 30 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-107
rev. P01); Level 31 – 32 (drawing ref. 00960BJTP-MP-108 rev. P01); Level 33 (drawing ref.
00960B-JTP-MP-109 rev. P01); Level 34
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-110); (prepared by
JTP and received 23 January 2019).
Roof Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-120 rev.
P02); (prepared by JTP and received 23 January
2019).
Page 5

Block A - South Elevation – Drawing number
00960B-JTP-MP-200 rev. P02; Block A - West
Elevation (drawing ref. 0960B-JTP-MP-201 rev.
P02); Block A - East Elevation (drawing ref.
00960B-JTP-MP-203 rev. P02); Block B - South
East Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-204
rev. P02); Block B - South West Elevation
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-205 rev. P02);
Block B - North West Elevation (drawing ref.
00960B-JTP-P-206 rev. P02) (prepared by JTP
and received 23 January 2019).
Block A - Detailed Bay Elevation (drawing ref.
00960B-JTP-MP-250 rev. P02); Block B Detailed Bay Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTPMP-251 rev. P02) (prepared by JTP and received
23 January 2019).
Section A-A (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-300
rev. P02); Section B-B (drawing ref. 00960B-JTPMP-301 rev. P02) (prepared by JTP and received
23 January 2019).
1 Bed 1 Person - Type 02 (Drawing ref:
00960B_JTP_MP_400_Rev. P02); 1 Bed 2
Person - Type 01 Accessible (Drawing ref.:
00960B_JTP_ MP_ 401_ Rev. P02); 1 Bed 2
Person - Type 01 Adaptable (Drawing ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_402_Rev.P02; 1 Bed 2 Person
Type
01
(Drawing
ref,:
00960B_JTP_MP_403__Rev. P02); 1 Bed 2
Person
Type
01A
(Drawing
ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_404 Rev. P02); 3 Bed 4
Person
Type
01
(Drawing
ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_405_Rev.P02); 2 Bed 4
Person
Type
02
(Drawing
ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_406_Rev. P02); 2 Bed 3
Person
Type
01
(Drawing
ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_407_Rev.P02) (prepared by
JTP and received 23 January 2019).
Revised Architectural Drawings:
Block A - North Elevation (drawing ref: 00960BJTP-MP-202 rev. P03 (prepared by JTP and
received 11 April 2019); Block B - North-East
Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-207 rev.
P03) (prepared by JTP and received 12 April
2019);
Level 00 – Ground (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP101 rev. P04); Level 01 (drawing ref. 00960BJTP-MP-102 rev. P04); Level 02 (drawing ref.
Page 6

00960B-JTP-MP-103 rev. P04); Level 03 to Level
17 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-104 rev. P04);
Level 18 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-105 rev.
P04); Level 19 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-106
rev. P04) (prepared by JTP and received 1 May
2019);
Basement Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP100 rev. P10) prepared by JTP and received 4
July 2019).
;
Landscape drawings: Level 2 Play Area Layout
(drawing ref. 18.546-101 Rev.P3); Rooftop
Terrace Layout Level 18 and 19 (drawing ref.
18.546-102 P3); Public Realm Lighting Strategy
(drawing ref. 18.546-105 P3); and Existing and
Proposed Adoption Boundaries (drawing ref.
18.546-106 P3) (prepared by BCA Landscape
and received 23 January 2019).
Revised landscape drawings: Ground Floor
General Arrangement (drawing ref. 18.546-100
P03 (prepared by BCA and received 27 June
2019);
Schedule of Accommodation: Summary
Accommodation and Area Schedule (prepared by
Tide Construction and received 30 April 2019).
Technical documents: Design and Access
Statement, prepared by JTP; Planning Statement,
prepared by Indigo Planning; Arboricultural
Impact Assessment and Method Statement,
prepared by Thomson Ecology; Archaeological
Assessment, prepared by MOLA; BREEAM Preassessment, prepared by Evolusion Innovation
International Ltd; Construction Logistics Plan,
prepared by Pulsar Transport Planning; Delivery
Servicing Plan, prepared by Pulsar Transport
Planning; Energy Statement, prepared by
Evolusion
Innovation
International
Ltd;
Environmental Statement, prepared by Buro
Happold Engineering; Environmental Statement
Addendum (ESA) prepared by Buro Happold
Engineering Transport Assessment, prepared by
Pulsar
Transport
Planning;
Residential
Framework Travel Plan, prepared by Pulsar
Transport
Planning;
Student
Residential
Framework Travel Plan, prepared by Pulsar
Transport Planning; Commercial Framework
Travel Plan, prepared by Pulsar Transport
Planning; Operational Waste Management Plan,
prepared by RPS; Site Waste Management Plan,
Page 7

prepared by Tide Construction Limited; Student
Management Plan, prepared by Fresh Property
Group;
Viability
Report,
prepared
by
James.R.Brown and Co Ltd.; and Statement of
Community Engagement, prepared by Indigo
Planning (documents received 23 January 2019).
Additional / revised technical documents:
Environmental Statement Addendum NonTechnical Summary Update and Environmental
Statement Addendum Vol. 1 Update (prepared by
Buro Happold Engineering Limited and received
2 July 2019)
Background Papers

Case File LE/132/G/TP
Local Development Framework Documents,
SPG/SPD,
The London Plan (Consolidated with Alterations
since 2011) (2016), and
Mayor of London’s SPG & Best Practice
Guidance

Designations

London Plan – Opportunity Area, Regeneration
Area, Major Town Centre.
Core Strategy – Regeneration and Growth Area,
Lewisham Town Centre,
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan – ‘Edge of
Centre’, ‘Secondary Shopping Frontage’, Loampit
Vale Policy Area Site 3b (allocation for mixed-use
development), appropriate area for tall building,
potential public car parking and cycle parking
location, potential rea for CHP network.
Flood Zone 2/3A and Air Quality Management
Area.

EIA Screening/Scoping

The Local Planning Authority (LPA) advised that
an Environmental Statement (ES) would need to
accompany a planning application in response to
a Screening Opinion request submitted under
Regulation 5 of the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (EIA)
Regulations 2011 (as amended). Decision dated
18
August 2015, application
reference
DC/15/93220. The LPA advised on the scope of
the EIA in response to a Scoping Opinion request
submitted under Regulation 13 of the Town and
Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2011 (as
amended). Decision dated 17 December 2015,
application reference DC/15/94408.

Page 8

Section
1.0
2.0
3.0
4.0
5.0
6.0
7.0
8.0

9.0
10.0
11.0
12.0
13.0
14.0
15.0
16.0

Topic
Introduction
Property/Site Description
Planning History
Planning Application
Environmental Impact Assessment
Consultation
Policy Context
Planning Considerations
Principle of development
Layout, Scale and Design
Housing – mix, tenure and standard of accommodation
Neighbour Amenity
Transport
Energy & Sustainability
Environmental Impact Assessment
Planning Obligations
Local Finance Considerations
Community Infrastructure Levy
Equalities Considerations
Summary of representations
Conclusion
Recommendations
Figures
Figure 1: Site Plan
Figure 2: Proposed Ground Floor
Figure 3: Proposed Scheme
Figure 4: Consented Scheme
Figure 5: Scope of Daylight and Sunlight Assessment
Figure 6: Ground level configuration
Tables
Table 1: Key differences between the application scheme
and the consented scheme
Table 2: Proposed Dwelling Mix & Tenure
Table 3: Objection issues raised
Table 4: Lewisham Design Review Panel Comments
Table 5: Proposed Non-residential Uses
Table 6: Measures of Density
Table 7: Additional Major Criteria
Table 8: Adopted Target Social Rent levels
Table 9: Comparative analysis of headline Affordable
Housing Offer by units
Table 10: Comparison of AH offers on basis of three
indicators
Table 11: AH Offer C3 Affordable Housing Breakdown
Table 12: Application Scheme Student Housing Size Mix
Table 13: C3 Housing Dwelling Size Mix
Table 14: Internal Daylight and Sunlight Assessment
Table 15 Communal Amenity Space
Table 16: Estimated Child Yield (67 C3 Units)
Page 9

Page
1
1
3
5
11
12
21
29
29
38
497
63
67
74
83
93
97
98
98
98
101
102

3
7
8
8
66
70

6
6
14
21
33
37
38
52
53
53
54
57
58
59
64
65

Table 17: Daylight Impacts of proposed Carpetright
development (VSC results)
Table 18: Proposed improvements to the streets
surrounding Carpetright site to be delivered by
developments
Table 19: Cycle Parking Standards
Table 20: Cycle Parking Provision
Table 21: Total Development Trip Generation
Table 22: Estimated Change in Trips between consented
and application scheme
Table 23: Energy Strategy Outcome Building A
Table 24: Proposed Sustainable Drainage Hierarchy
Table 25: Assumed Phasing for EIA Purposes
Appendices
Appendix 1 Local Meeting Minutes
Appendix 2: Independent Viability Report

Page 10

67
72

75
75
76
76
80
84
88

1.0

Introduction
Purpose of this Report

1.1

This report considers a full planning application for the demolition of an existing
retail warehouse building and the construction of two buildings of 20 storeys and 35
storeys in height (plus basement), 838.2 sqm of commercial space, comprising (A1)
Shops, (A2) Financial & Professional Services, (A3) Restaurants & Cafes, (B1)
Business, (D1) Non-residential Institutions and (D2) Assembly & Leisure uses; 67
(C3) self-contained housing units with private and communal amenity space; 758
(Sui Generis) student housing bedspaces with communal amenity space;
associated ancillary space, including on-site energy centres, refuse stores and
cycle parking; and landscaping and public realm works. This planning application is
accompanied by an Environmental Statement Addendum to the Environmental
Statement submitted under DC/17/102049 and is submitted from Indigo Planning
on behalf of Tide Construction Limited (the Applicant), received on 21st January
2019.

1.2

The submission of this planning application follows pre-application discussions
between the Council and the Applicant regarding development opportunities for the
site.

1.3

This report considers the proposals in light of relevant planning policy and guidance,
representations received and other material considerations. Officers
recommendation is that planning permission should be granted, subject to
Obligations which would be secured by way of an agreement made under s106 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (and other relevant powers) and planning
conditions which are set out in the Recommendations section of this report.

2.0

Property/Site Description
The Site

2.1

The site measures approximately 0.26ha and is currently occupied by a warehousestyle retail store and associated car parking and delivery yard accessed from
Thurston Road, including 50 off-street car parking spaces. There are four trees on
the site along the Loampit Vale frontage (see Figure 1, overleaf).

2.2

The site is on the north side of Loampit Vale, within Lewisham Town Centre. In
addition to being next to Lewisham/DLR Station, Loampit Vale is very well served
by buses and the site has a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 6b, on a
scale of 1-6b where 6b is the highest.

2.3

The site falls within the ‘Loampit Vale Policy Area’ as defined in the Lewisham Town
Centre Local Plan (LTCLP) and is identified as Site ‘S3a’ – allocated for potential
mixed-use development. The inner part of the site is within Flood Zone 2 and the
outer part is within Flood Zone 3. The site is within Air Quality Management Area 6.
The Surrounding Area

2.4

Loampit Vale is a busy two-way main road that forms part of the A20 which is part
of the Transport for London Road Network (TLRN). Thurston Road is one-way eastbound road and forms part of the A2210. The western side of Thurston Road
provides a two-way cycle route that forms part of ‘Waterlink Way’ which is part of
the national cycleway network.

-1Page 11

Figure 1. Site Plan
2.5

To the north, on the other side of Thurston road, is the TfL bus stand that provides
parking facilities for up to 16 buses, driver facilities and additional car/van parking
spaces and is in use 24 hours a day. Further to the north is the railway embankment/
station platforms and beyond that the residential street of Armoury Way.

2.6

To the south is the recently completed ‘Renaissance’ development, comprising 788
new homes, the Glass Mills leisure centre, retail and business space in buildings
up to 24-storeys. Further south is the Cornmill Gardens open space and
Prendergast Vale College.

2.7

Immediately to the east is a railway embankment and Lewisham / DLR Station.
Beyond this is the Lewisham Gateway development, Phase 1A (25 storey tower
and lower block) and 1B (22 storey tower and lower block) are complete.
Confluence Place is nearing completion.

2.8

Lewisham Gateway Phase Two Reserved Matters application was approved in
February 2019, and will lead to the development of 530 residential units, 119 coliving units, a cinema, a gym, 4,381sqm of live commercial uses and 1525sqm B1
workspace.

2.9

To the west, on the other side of Thurston Road, is the Lewisham Retail Park. This
comprises a large format retail building that is divided in to four units (currently
occupied by Matalan, Mothercare, Poundland and Sports Direct) and a surface car
park. Further to the west is Nos. 66-76 Loampit Vale, a short three-storey terrace
of six ‘shops’ with two storeys of housing above. The owners of the Retail Park are
seeking to acquire the Loampit Vale properties and bring forward comprehensive
development of the site, and secured planning permission (DC/16/097629) on 28
March 2019. The approved scheme is for seven buildings over a commercial
-2Page 12

podium of 4,343sqm of non-residential floorspace comprising (A1) Shops, (A2)
Financial & Professional Services, (A3) Restaurants & Cafés, (B1) Business, (D1)
Non-Residential Institutions and (D2) Assembly & Leisure uses and 536 residential
units in buildings ranging from 4 – 24 storeys.
2.10

To the west, on the other side of Jerrard Street, is the recently completed Thurston
Point development, comprising retail units and 406 homes in buildings up to 17storeys. The units are occupied by ASDA, Screwfix and a gym.

3.0

Planning History

3.1

DC/17/102049 – granted on 29 March 2019. This permission is for a virtually
identical scheme to the current planning application proposals. The scheme
proposes the construction of two buildings of 16 and 30 storeys in height comprising
242 residential units and 960sqm non-residential floorspace comprising (A1) Shops,
(A2) Financial and Professional Services, (A3) Restaurant and Cafes, (B1)
Business, (D1) Non-residential Institutions and (D2) Assembly and leisure uses.
The scheme also includes the provision of the foyer to the proposed Lewisham
Station of the Bakerloo Line Extension.

3.2

DC/15/094408 – Issued on 17/12/2015. Scoping Opinion submitted under
Regulations 13 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2011 in respect of demolition and removal of the existing
building and car park, and the construction of a mixed-use development with a
maximum height of approximately 25 storeys. The proposed development would
comprise approximately 260 residential units, 850sqm of ground floor
commercial/retail floor space, car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage
and soft and hard landscaping.

3.3

DC/15/093220 – Issued on 25/08/2015. Screening Opinion pursuant to Regulation
5 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2011 (the Regulations) as amended in respect of a proposal for the
demolition of the existing retail unit and car park and erection of a maximum 25
storey building comprising approximately 260 residential units (a mix of private and
affordable tenure) and approximately 850sqm of commercial/retail floorspace, car
and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage and soft and hard landscaping
Pre-application discussions

3.4

The ownership of the Carpetright site transferred from Threadneedle Pensions
Limited to Tide Construction Limited in the summer of 2018.

3.5

Pre-application discussions between the Applicant and Council Officers
commenced in November 2018, and were subject to a PPA.

3.6

The applicant presented its proposals to the Design Review Panel meeting held on
8 December 2018 and received written comments. Following the meeting of the
DRP the scheme was substantially amended to reflect the views of the DRP that it
should reflect the agreed design principles and approach established under the
programme for DC/17/102049, which benefitted from five DRP meetings.

3.7

In addition, Officers also met the Applicant and its design team with officers from
Transport for London (TfL) in relation to the structural engineering solution to the
Bakerloo Line Extension (BLE) and the proposed Construction Logistics
Management Plan.

3.8

Policy LTC4 of the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (LTCLP) calls for a
comprehensive masterplan endorsed by all landowners for Site S3b (Carpetright)
-3Page 13

(this site) and Site S3a (the Retail Park site) and their surrounds. Between May and
October 2015, Officers worked closely with the Applicant and landowners of the
adjoining Retail Park site and their respective design teams to develop a
‘masterplan’ (or urban design framework as it became known) to establish key
principles around land use, layout, access, scale and massing.
3.9

In August 2015, the Council issued a Screening Opinion under Regulation 5 of the
Town and Country Planning (EIA) Regulations 2011. The Council determined that
the development would be EIA development and as such, would require any
planning application to be accompanied by an Environmental Statement. In
December 2015, the Council issued a Scoping Opinion under Section 13 of the EIA
Regulations, giving its comments on the intended scope of the EIA and the ES.

3.10

The Applicant held a public exhibition on the emerging proposals in December
2018. Details of the exhibitions and comments made are set out in the submitted
Statement of Community Involvement.

3.11

A full planning application was submitted in January 2019 and has a statutory start
date of 21 January 2019.

3.12

The scheme was amended in April 2019 to reflect a revised affordable housing offer
resulting in amendments to the floorplans of Block A to include student housing in
the typical floor-plate. The IVR process led to an updated and validated Schedule
of Accommodation that reflects the revised floorplans.

4.0

Planning Application
Summary

4.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing retail
warehouse building and the comprehensive redevelopment of the site. The
proposed development consists of two tall buildings on the northern and eastern
edges of the site, with a public square in the south-west corner, and a basement
level to provide the location for ancillary uses.

4.2

Block A on the northern edge would be between 18-20 storeys and include
commercial space fronting onto the public square, with 67 C3 affordable residential
flats and 88 student bedspaces, private/ communal roof terraces above and
ancillary residential space at first floor level and the basement. The ground floor
includes 218sqm of space ancillary to the C3 use on the upper floors (including
lobby).

4.3

Block B on the eastern edge would be between 31 and 35 storeys (plus roof plant)
and include commercial space, an energy centre (Combined Heat and Power plant)
with 670 (sui generis) student bed spaces on all floors above first floor level. Student
communal space is proposed at first floor level to provide for the needs of the
students (e.g. study rooms, cinema, games, etc.). The ground floor includes
427.3sqm of space ancillary to the student housing use on the upper floors
(including the lobby).

4.4

Public Square – The public square (“Loampit Square”) provides a public amenity
space, a foyer space to the proposed commercial units, a foyer space to the
proposed Lewisham Tube Station and a strong pedestrian connection across the
square to the proposed BE Ticket Hall entrance. The proposed new public square
would be approximately 615sqm (0.065ha) in size and a new servicing layby would
be formed along the Thurston Road frontage. Access to the residential
-4Page 14

accommodation of Building A would be from Thurston Road and to Building B from
Loampit Vale.
4.5

The two tall buildings would be linked by a two-storey structure that would include
a double height commercial space with children’s play space on the roof. The
ground floor unit will be Commercial Unit 05 (approx. 303.9sqm), and will be sized,
shaped and designed so that it could provide a ticket hall and entrance to a future
Bakerloo Line Extension station.

4.6

The other commercial space on the lower two floors would comprise four units and
amount to 534.3sqm (GIA) (a total of 838.2sqm (GIA) including CU05) of flexible
A1/A2/A3/B1/D1 and D2 space. Commercial Unit 01 in Building A is over two
storeys and has a GIA of 378.3sqm (approx.). Commercial unit 04 is in the ground
floor of Building B (on the corner) and has a GIA of 90.1sqm . Units 02 and 03 are
small commercial units.

4.7

The basement level includes ancillary uses to the upper floors, including the energy
centre, plant rooms, bin storage facilities and cycle storage facilities to all
accommodation.

4.8

The revised scheme involving an amendment to Building A and includes 67 C3
Housing units and 88 student housing units, with a mix on these two types of
accommodation on each floor-plate in a feasible format.

4.9

Key differences between the application scheme and the consented scheme:
The key differences between the consented scheme (102049) and the application
scheme are highlighted in Table 1 (overleaf).:
A total of 758 student bedspaces are proposed and 67 new homes would be
provided in different tenures and sizes, as set out below in Table 2 overleaf).
Table 1: Key differences between the Application Scheme and the
Consented Scheme
Application scheme
5 commercial units (one to
become future BLE Station
ticket hall and access)
Building A – C3 Housing /
student housing
Building B – Student Housing
Building A – 18-20 storeys
Building B – 31–35 storeys

Consented Scheme
4 commercial units (one to
become future BLE Station
ticket hall and access)
Buildings A and B C3 Housing

Housing units

319 units – 67 C3 + 252
(758= 252 PBSB 3:1 C3 unit)

242 units in Buildings A and B

C3 Housing

67 units in Building A

242 units in Buildings A and B

Affordable
Housing
Ancillary
services

92 units (28.9% by unit /
27.92% by habitable room)
Basement level improving
ground floor feasibility and
building frontages
615sqm / 745sqm including
colonnade

49 units (22.5% by habitable
room / 20.2% by units)
Ground floor level

Ground floor
uses
Upper floor
uses
Building height

Public square

-5Page 15

Building A – 16-18 storeys
Building B – 26-30 storeys

615sqm / 745sqm including
colonnade

Table 2:

Proposed Dwelling Mix and Tenure
Market
C3
Housing

Social C3 Intermediate Market
Housing: C3 Housing: Student
bedspaces
Target
Shared
Social
Ownership
Rent

Affordable
Student
bedspaces

Units

%

Units

%

Units

%

Units

Units

%

Building
A

0

0

40

60

27

40

29 (88 0
PBSB)

0

0

96

Building
B

0

0

0

0

0

0

198

25

0

223

ST Units

40

27

%

100

Total

(594*
PBSB)

(76
PBSB)

(670
PBSB)

223

25

319

* as per paragraph 4.17.1 of the draft London Plan there is a conversion rate of 3 student bedspaces to
one C3 residential unit)

4.10

The Application-stage Affordable Housing Offer was for the provision of 85
affordable homes, which would represent 33.3% by floorspace, 27.5% by units, and
26.4% by habitable rooms. Block A would have been entirely affordable housing,
with social rent units on the lower floors and shared ownership units on the upper
floors.

4.11

An Affordable Housing Offer Update was received on 11 April 2019. Following
completion of the Independent Viability Review process this offer has been formally
accepted (see section below). Table 2 summarises the offer. This represents 33.3%
by floor-space, 28.9% by units, and 27.9% by habitable rooms.

4.12

No on-site car parking would be provided, but 535 cycle parking spaces would be
provided (494 long stay and 41 short stay cycle parking spaces), with long-stay
provided at basement level in compartments and short stay spaces provided within
the proposed new public square.
Construction

4.13

Section 2.5.7 of the Environmental Statement Addendum (Vol. 1) sets out the
proposed construction programme and sequence used for EIA purposes. In
summary, the outline construction programme has been estimated to be 16 months
in total from commencement, with 2 months of that for Stage 1: Demolition and
clearance. The on-site construction programme timescale is reduced by 50%
utilising the modular construction proposed, when compared to conventional
construction methods. Modular construction costs exceed conventional costs.

-6Page 16

Figure 2: Proposed Ground Floor Plan and Indicative Site Arrangement

Figure 3: Proposed scheme (existing Renaissance development to south, approved
Retail Park to west and Lewisham Gateway schemes to east)

-7Page 17

Figure 4: Consented scheme permitted under DC/17/102049

Supporting Documents
4.14

In addition to the plans and drawings, a number of supporting document have been
submitted with the application. The Environmental Statement is discussed in detail
in Section 5. The other non-confidential supporting documents are briefly
summarised below.
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement

4.15

The Arboricultural Report sets out the findings of a survey of 4 existing trees within
the site and a group of trees on the adjoining railway embankment, which is
consistent with the consented scheme. The trees are given a ranking of A, B or C
in descending order of value (arboricultural, landscape or cultural) and the health
and likely life of each tree given. The Assessment notes that all 4 trees on the site
would need to be felled to make way for the proposed development and makes
recommendations for the protection of the trees on the adjoining railway
embankment.
Construction Logistics Management Plan

4.16

This sets out details of proposed access and highways movements during the
demolition and construction phase. Topics covered include material deliveries,
worker travel plan, material storage and distribution, road cleanliness, parking and
expected size and number of vehicles. It also outlines expectations about cranes,
scaffolding and concrete deliveries and pours. Central to the Plan is the aim of
minimising impacts on local residents.
-8Page 18

Delivery and Servicing Plan
4.17

This sets out details of delivering and servicing the development once it is built.
Topics covered include vehicle access arrangements, refuse collection, site
facilities management, servicing arrangements, storage and likely number of
vehicle trips for the different proposed uses.
Design and Access Statement (DAS)

4.18

The DAS provides an overview of the proposals. It starts by describing the context
before outlining the design process and consultation (including public consultation,
discussions with Lewisham, GLA and TfL officers and discussions at the Lewisham
Design Review Panel) and the design response. It also discusses how the principles
of inclusive design and ‘secured by design have been addressed and includes an
outline public realm lighting strategy. The DAS Addendum addresses comments
made by consultees in response to the application and explains the revisions made
in response.
Energy Statement Report / BREEAM Pre-assessment

4.19

This assesses the likely energy requirements of the proposed development sets out
an energy strategy against the energy hierarchy (‘be lean’, ‘be clean’ and ‘be
green’). This also outlines an overarching sustainability strategy for the proposed
development and sets out particular commitments in relation to energy, water and
BREEAM standards.
Framework Travel Plans (Commercial and Student Residential)

4.20

These are two separate documents describe the site’s accessibility for pedestrians,
cyclists and public transport users and outlines travel planning measures and
initiatives to encourage future occupiers/visitors/residents to use sustainable modes
of transport. They also set out monitoring and review arrangements and
management and co-ordination issues.
Management Plan (Student Housing)

4.21

This sets out the proposed arrangements to manage the student housing
development, including staffing levels, reception services, tenancy management
system, security, out of hours, post and deliveries and working with neighbours and
management of Anti-Social Behaviour.
Planning Statement (and Planning Obligations Statement / Affordable Housing
Offer Note)

4.22

The Planning Statement provides a summary of the development and the nature
and structure of the planning application. It also sets out the policies that the
Applicant considers relevant to the proposals sets out a policy justification for the
proposal, including the proposed amount and type of affordable housing and
potential Planning Obligations Heads of Terms for a s106 Agreement. Financial
viability is the subject of a separate Financial Viability Assessment.
Site Waste Management Plan

4.23

This sets out actions taken to design-out waste before construction begins and
makes recommendations for waste reduction during the demolition and construction
stage. The recommendations set out in this framework document are due to be
-9Page 19

incorporated into the SWMP developed by the Principal Contractor and Waste
Management Company.
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
4.24

The SCI sets out the consultation undertaken by the Applicant prior to the
submission of the planning application. It includes details of stakeholder meetings
and public exhibitions and other consultation arrangements, summarises feedback
and provides the exhibition material that was used to engage with people.
Transport Assessment (TA)

4.25

The TA assess the suitability of the site for development within the context of
national and local transport planning policy, reviews the accessibility of the site by
travel modes other than the private car, details the existing trip generation of the
site and sets out details of the likely trip generation of the proposed development,
together with proposed cycle parking arrangements. It then assesses the likely
transport impacts of the proposed development – both in terms of the temporary
demolition/construction phase and the permanent operational phase – before
drawing conclusions. See also the Framework Travels Plans, described above.

5.0

Environmental Impact Assessment

5.1

This is an “urban development project” development is subject to Environmental
Impact Assessment under Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 (the EIA Regulations),
which means that environmental information must be taken into account when
making a planning decision.

5.2

The environmental information means the Environmental Statement (ES), any
further or other information received, any representations made by any consultation
bodies and any representations made by any other person about the environmental
effects of the proposed development at each stage of the development programme
(i.e. demolition, construction and operation).. It must provide an outline of any
alternative sites/ schemes considered and the reasons for selecting the proposed
development site. In terms of the effects of the scheme it must identify the baseline
situation, the nature of the impact both direct and indirect, whether it is temporary
(demolition and construction) or permanent (operation) and measures to mitigate
the adverse impacts in each case. It must also identify the residual effects after
mitigation as well as the cumulative effects of such a scheme in relation to other
developments in the area.

5.3

An Environmental Statement Addendum (ESA) was submitted with this planning
application. The ESA is an addendum to the Environmental Statement (ES)
submitted with planning application DC/17/102049. This is in conformance with s9
of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2017.

5.4

The local planning authority must be satisfied that the information submitted is
adequate to assess the significant environmental impacts of the development on
the environment, or serve a notice seeking further information under section 25 of
the Regulations. The formal independent review of the Environmental Statement
Addendum (ESA) has been completed and there is no need for any additional
“Regulation 25” notifications under the terms of the EIA Regulations.

5.5

A scoping opinion request was submitted to the Council in November 2015 and
Environmental Statement was submitted to accompany the planning application in
- 10 Page 20

July 2016. Given this, the application is to be determined under the transitionary
arrangements relating to the EIA Regulations 2011.
6.0

Consultation

6.1

This section outlines the consultation carried out by the Applicant prior to
submission of the planning application and by the Council following its receipt and
summarises the responses received.
Pre-application public consultation

6.2

The Applicant held a public exhibitions at the pre-application stage at the Glass Mill
Leisure Centre on 12 December 2018, after giving notice to residents by way of a
consultation letter issued on 29 November 2019. The exhibition was attended by 65
people and 19 feedback forms were received. Details of the consultation and
comments made are set out in detail in the Applicant’s Statement of Community
Involvement. Concerns relating to the development included the height of the
proposed student block, the impact of student accommodation on the local area and
the impact on local services of the development (e.g. public transport and GP
services).
Council consultation

6.3

The Council’s consultation was in accordance with the minimum statutory
requirements and those required by the Council’s adopted Statement of Community
Involvement.

6.4

Six public notices were displayed for the planning application and Environmental
Statement. Notices were displayed on lamp posts on Loampit Vale (2 locations),
Thurston Road, Armoury Road, Lewisham DLR Station and the Lewisham Gateway
site (SW corner). The applicant displayed three site notices on the Carpetright
building in visible locations.

6.5

The application and supporting documents and other relevant material are lodged
on the Council’s website in the usual way. A press notice was also published in the
local newspaper in respect of the planning application accompanied by the
Environmental Statement.

6.6

Letters were sent to 2220 residents and business in the surrounding area. Emails
providing a link to the application details were sent to the relevant ward Councillors.
The following statutory consultees and stakeholders were also consulted:
Civil Aviation Authority;
Docklands Light Railway;
Environment Agency;
Historic England- Archaeology;
London City Airport
London Fire Brigade;
Mayor of London / Greater London Authority (GLA);
Metropolitan Police Secure By Design Officer (Lewisham);
Network Rail;
Southern Gas Network;
Secretary of State, National Planning Casework Unit;
Thames Water;
Transport for London (TfL);
UK Power Network;
Southeastern Railway; and
- 11 Page 21

Royal Borough of Greenwich.
6.7

The following local groups were consulted;
Lewisham Central Residents Association;
Lewisham Cyclists;
Lewisham Gateway Action Group;
Quaggy Waterways Action Group;
Ladywell Society; and
Blackheath Society

6.8

The following Council services were consulted:
Building Control
Highways
Ecological Regeneration
Emergency Planning
Environmental Protection
Environmental Sustainability
Drainage
District Surveyors
Planning Policy
S106/CIL
Property and Deign
Legal Services
Urban Design
Strategic Housing
Education
Parks Manager
Air Quality officer
Children and Young People
Written Responses received from Local Residents and Organisations

6.9

At the time of writing this Report, 29 submissions have been received, of which most
are objections.

6.10

Objections received are addressed in Section 14 of this report (‘Summary of
representations’). A shorter summary of comments received is set out below.
Local Residents

6.11

Local objections relating to material planning considerations can be summarised as
follows:

- 12 Page 22

Table 3: Objection Issues Raised
Issue

Sub-Issue

Principle of uses

New commercial space will provide muchneeded commercial activity
Student housing not appropriate as don’t
achieve housing target / neighbourhood area
Too much vacant commercial space in
Lewisham. Consideration should be given to
providing community space at GF level
Students are short-term residents and don’t
invest in the community
Overdevelopment / Scale / height (buildings
are too tall)
Strategic design of Lewisham – lack of
coherence. Strategic impact of proposal /
impact on character
Materials palette is monochromatic and
uninspiring
Tenures should be mixed within the buildings
Lack of open space
Daylight and sunlight impacts

Urban design

Architectural
design
Housing
Neighbour
impacts

Environmental
issues

Transport
system

6.12

Relevant
section
Section 8.1
Section 8.1
Section 8.1

Section 8.1
Section 8.2
Section 8.2

Section 8.2
Section 8.3
Section 8.3
Section 8.4

Reflective glare
Proximity / overbearance / overlooking

Section 8.4
Section 8.4

Noise

Section 8.4 / 9

Air pollution
Energy Strategy flaws
Inadequate GP / Primary care provision,
hospital capacity, schools, leisure facilities
Concern at logistics of footpath / lane closure
during construction
Pressure on Lewisham Station / public
transport capacity (Transport assessment /
Travel Plan flaws relating to student travel
assumptions)
Request western access into BLE /
Lewisham Station from Thurston Road
Bus routes don’t work in Lewisham Station /
Carpetright
Poor cycle infrastructure (E-W)
Pedestrian realm is very poor
Lack of electric vehicle charging points

Section 8.4 / 9
Section 8.4 / 9
Section 9.0
Section 8.5
Section 8.5

Section 8.5
Section 8.5
Section 8.5
Section 8.5
Section 8.5

Local objections relating to non-material matters can be summarised as follows:





Devaluation of property;
Loss of views;
Fire safety concerns following Grenfell Tower disaster (Building Regulations
issue); and
Student housing residents do not pay Council Tax.
- 13 Page 23

Local groups
6.13

Written submissions have been received from the Blackheath Society and the
Ladywell Society.

6.14

The Blackheath Society comments reflect many of the comments made by
individual submissions set out in Table 3 above. However, the Society are
supportive of there being a marker building at the Carpetright site on the basis that
the tall building is located at the proposed location of the Bakerloo Line Extension
station and adjacent to Lewisham Railway Station and there could therefore be
considered to be a logic for one marker building in this general location. They do
not support the proposed development of multiple marker buildings as there should
be a coherent urban design / tall building policy to provide the basis for considering
development proposals. The norm in Lewisham TC tall buildings is generally for 25
storey / 80m buildings.

6.15

The Blackheath Society welcome the proposed increase in the Affordable Housing
offer proposed by the scheme. The Society also approve of the proposed building
design overall but are concerned at the lack of a striking light feature at the top of
the building.

6.16

The Blackheath Society have a broad-based concern regarding transport issues in
Lewisham Town Centre relating to the need to invest in the Lewisham Interchange,
National Rail, the DLR and the BLE. They welcome the proposed Planning
Obligations relating to the railway station improvement and DLR rolling stock.

6.17

The Ladywell Society objects to the proposed height of Block B on the basis that
they consider that it contravenes Policy 18 of the Core Strategy 2011 and LTC19 of
the Lewisham Town Centre Plan 2014. The Society considers that there should be
a greater proportion / number of genuinely affordable rental units and are also
concerned at the principle of the proposed student housing use on the site. They
also object to the lack of a top floor public access / communal area to serve the
needs of the development and the wider public benefit.

6.18

Both the Blackheath Society and the Ladywell Society suggest that the consultation
on the application scheme has been limited.

6.19

In addition a consultee response was received from Lewisham Cyclists (see section
8.5: Transport, below).
Written Responses received from Statutory Agencies
Civil Aviation Authority

6.20

The Civil Aviation Authority are to be notified where proposed buildings exceed 90m
in height. A submission was received on 29 April 2019 and the CAA have no
objections to the application.
Environment Agency (EA)

6.21

The Environment Agency’s formal consultee response was received on 1 July 2019
following extensive collaborative working with the Applicant’s flood risk experts Tully
De’Uth in relation to flood storage volume and detailed design on-site and the
preparation of supplementary information in support of the ESA food risk strategy.

6.22

The Environment Agency have no objection to the planning application, as
submitted, subject to the imposition of planning Conditions and an Obligation
- 14 Page 24

regarding the maintenance of on-site flood voids. Without the imposition of these
measures the Environment Agency consider that the development would pose an
unacceptable risk to the environment.
Greater London Authority (GLA)
6.23

The application is one of potential strategic importance under paragraphs 1A, 1B
and 1C of the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008. The
application is therefore required to be notified to the Mayor of London. The GLA’s
Stage One response was received on 24 April 2019.

6.24

The GLA are supportive of the principle of the high-density housing-led
redevelopment of this Opportunity Area site and the scheme has significant
potential to support regeneration and place-making objectives for Lewisham Town
Centre. The architectural approach to this high density town centre scheme is
supported. Suitable mitigation of noise pollution and air quality must be secured as
poart of any planning permission. The GLA are supportive of the affordable housing
approach, subject to the robust viability scrutiny.

6.25

The GLA are supportive in principle of the proposed development on the basis of
the revised Affordable Housing Offer, subject to independent viability review and
confirmation that this AH Offer represents the maximum reasonable affordable
housing offer. The GLA report acknowledges the viability position being subject to
significant levels of exceptional costs relating to complex foundation works to
safeguard delivery of the new London Underground tunnels for the Bakerloo Line
Extension, as well as the future-proofed provision of a new station entrance. These
costs were considered to be equivalent to 10% affordable housing contribution in
relation to the consented scheme (102049). The GLA note the Affordable Housing
proposals and comment that the Mayor’s preferred low-cost / affordable rent option
is London Affordable Rent, rather than Target Social Rent.

6.26

The GLA support the affordable housing offer and its inclusion of affordable housing
and affordable student housing in accordance with Draft London Plan Policy H5:
Delivering Affordable Housing and Policy H17: Purpose-Built Student Housing.

6.27

The GLA confirm that in order for the student housing to comply with draft London
Plan Policy H17 a nomination should be in place from initial occupation with one, or
more, higher education providers, and to commit to have such an agreement for as
long as the development is used for student accommodation. The GLA seek that a
nomination agreement be secured by planning Obligation. In their view (on the basis
of Policy H17) if a nomination is not provided then this type of housing would
normally be considered large-scale purpose-built shared living and would therefore
be assessed against the requirements of policy H18: Large-scale purpose-built
shared living of the Draft London Plan.

6.28

Draft London Plan policy has limited but increasing weight. The EIP session on
purpose-built student housing policy received evidence that the requirement for a
nomination agreement for the majority of units and a requirement for affordable
student housing is unreasonable as this will effectively reduce rent to affordable
levels for 50% of units. On this basis the weight to be ascribed to this draft policy
would still appear to be limited in nature.

6.29

Officers accept the proposed affordable student housing offer as meeting the
affordable student housing need, in combination with C3 affordable housing, and
will not also be seeking a nominations agreement. Lewisham policy DMP8 requires
that, in order to avoid speculative student housing developments, either an
- 15 Page 25

educational institution or student housing management company are identified. It is
recommended that a planning Obligation be included to secure a student housing
management company prior to occupation of the development, in order to meet this
policy requirement and the need to ensure that the proposed student housing is
used for that purpose.
6.30

The GLA are supportive of the proposed energy strategy for the site and the
measures proposed but request that given the scale and nature of the development
alternative low-carbon heating methods should be investigated and the currently
proposed strategy should be revised. They request that climate change mitigation
measures (e.g. living roofs, tree planting and amenity space planting) be secured
by planning Condition.

6.31

The GLA are supportive of the Transport for London position regarding a range of
transportation matters (see TfL summary below), and request that the applicant
address a number of transportation issues with respect to: the Bakerloo Line
Extension, transport impact, car and cycle parking, construction logistics, servicing,
Agent of Change, DLR Infrastructure, travel planning and highway works. Key
matters include the Thurston Road Bus Stand and that it may potentially be
vulnerable to amenity objections from future residents of the scheme, which would
be contrary to the Agent of Change principle as set out in the NPPG and draft
London Plan Policy D12: Agent of Change. Accordingly, details of the proposed
mitigation measures must be secured in accordance with the agent of change
principle.

6.32

The GLA request that an Informative be added in accordance with Policy D11 of the
draft London Plan prescribing the submission of a fire statement, produced by a
third party suitable qualified assessor, in consultation with the London Fire Brigade
Historic England (Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service)

6.33

No comments have yet been received at the time of writing this report. In relation to
the consented scheme (102049) Historic England had no objection based on the
submitted archaeological desk-based assessment report, subject to the imposition
of a pre-commencement condition. Officers recommend the imposition of this
condition.
London City Airport

6.34

London City Airport are to be notified where buildings exceed 90m in height. London
City Airport have no objections to the proposed development.
London Fire Brigade

6.35

LBF require that an undertaking to provide access for fire appliances, as required
by Part B5 of the Building Regulations Approved Document, and adequate water
supplies for firefighting purposes, were required to be provided. This is not a
planning matter but Officers understand that the Applicant will enter into an
undertaking..
Metropolitan Police Designing Out Crime Officer

6.36

A meeting was held with the Secured by Design Officer of the Metropolitan Police
and this led to a series of recommendations to ensure that the development would
be secure, and a consultee response has been received from the Metropolitan
Police. Secured By Design concerns relate to building management issues primarily
in relation to this scheme and therefore a planning Condition is not recommended
in this instance. The scheme has clearly been designed to provide natural
- 16 Page 26

surveillance of the public realm and positive public space. Secured by Design
principles will be a consideration in the detailed design of the cycle parking provision
in the basement, along with the London Cycle Design Standards (as requested by
TfL).
Network Rail (NR)
6.37

Network Rail’s consultee response was received on 26 April 2019. Network Rail’s
position is the same as it was in relation to the consented scheme (102049), and
they have no objection to the proposed development of the Carpetright site, as
proposed. Network Rail look to LB Lewisham for their support in developing the
Lewisham Interchange and continued collaboration.

6.38

Officers remain in active and constructive discussions with Network Rail / Transport
for London regarding opportunities at Lewisham Station through the jointly
commissioned Interchange Study, a feasibility study that explored development
scenarios for improving the Lewisham Interchange. This collaboration aims to
ensure that development, including Carpetright and other major developments, do
not preclude future access arrangements and opportunities at Lewisham Station.
Officers do not consider that the proposals would preclude any future station
development opportunities as discussed within the main body of the report. An
Obligation in the form of a financial contribution of £400,000 towards the cost of
upgrading Lewisham Station is requested and this is recommended by Officers.
Southern Gas Network

6.39

No comment was received.
Thames Water

6.40

A consultee response was received from Thames Water on 14 June 2019. Thames
Water are satisfied with regard to Waste Water that the combined water network
infrastructure capacity is capable of accommodating the proposed development
based upon the information provided with the application. With regard to Water
Supply Thames water request a planning condition to ensure that sufficient capacity
exists prior to the occupation of the development. Thames Water’s main concern
relates to the proposed piling design for the site and potential conflicts with strategic
water assets adjacent to the site. Thames Water recommend planning Conditions
to address this concern, and Officers recommend the inclusion of PC.37: Piling and
Foundation Designs, including notification to Thames Water (and other consultees).
Docklands Light Railway

6.41

No comments have been received at the time of writing this report. Conditions and
Informatives are recommended to be added to reflect that approved as part of
102049.
Royal Borough of Greenwich

6.42

At the time of writing this report no comments have been received. The LB
Greenwich raised no objections to the consented scheme (102049).
Transport for London (TfL)

6.43

The Transport for London consultee response was received on 23 April 2019,
followed by a submission on 7 June 2019 (see para. 6.44) and 28 June 2019.

6.44

TfL have been actively liaising with LB Lewisham Officers and the applicant in
relation to the Bakerloo Line Extension Safeguarding (structural design and
- 17 Page 27

construction) at pre-application stage and post-application. A further consultee
response was received from Transport for London on 7 June 2019 requesting that
more time be allowed to enable Transport for London and the Applicant to
undertake further work to ensure that the proposed development does safeguard
the proposed Bakerloo Line Extension running tunnels and station box. A significant
amount of additional work has been completed by both TfL and the Applicant team
in the 4 week period since 7 June 2019 to develop the structural design for the
Carpetright development to a level that TfL can be satisfied that it would not
compromise the anticipated BLE Extension exclusion zones. Tide Construction
have undertaken this additional work in good faith given the absence of any
statutory exclusion zone at this stage and in the public interest. Transport for
London have now confirmed (in an email on 3 July 2019) that they raise no objection
to the proposed structural design / basement floor in principle, and the detailed
design can be subject to planning Condition (see Transport, below).
6.45

TfL also raised concerns relating to the ability to construct the development without
causing significant impacts on the capacity and efficiency of the bus network (i.e.
by proposing a lane closure on Thurston Road for the period of the duration of Stage
2 construction). The applicant has undertaken further work and provided evidence
to show that the site can be constructed without causing this harm and TfL have
indicated that they are now satisfied that this matter can be secured by way of a
Construction Logistics Management Plan planning Condition.

6.46

TfL have also expressed concern at the application of the Agent of Change principle
in relation to the bus layover on Thurston Road and future construction activity
relating to the proposed Bakerloo Line Extension. Transport for London have
requested that the windows in the scheme are fixed shut to avoid the possibility of
any future noise complaints that might affect the future of the bus layover or BLE
construction. They have also suggested that a Planning Obligation be imposed in
this regard to enable TfL to be party to the control of this issue. Officers do not
consider Transport for London’s position to be reasonable as the scheme is
designed to mitigate noise pollution from this source (see Noise and Vibration,
below).

6.47

TfL have a number of other concerns relating to matters of detail regarding the
application that are dealt with in the Transport section, the key issues being:









Various aspects of the proposed cycle parking, including raising equalities
issues;
Delivery and servicing arrangements, including the move-in and move-out of
students, utilising the loading bays proposed for Thurston Road;
The configuration of the public realm within the development site for pedestrians
and cyclists;
Obligation to make a financial contribution towards the enhancement of the DLR
capacity (rolling stock) of £80,000 (as per 102049).
Obligation to make a financial contribution of £400,000 towards the cost of
enhancing Lewisham Station (as per 102049); and
Obligation to enter into Highways Act 1980 agreements (s278 / s38) to cover
works to Loampit Vale and Thurston Road and adoption;
Obligation to secure a financial contribution of £100,000 towards road safety and
highway works in the vicinity of the site between Thurston Road and Station
Road; and
Obligation to secure a financial contribution of £240,000 towards the installation
of a CCTV to visually police the loading bays on Thurston Road.
- 18 Page 28

6.48

The above issues are comprehensively addressed in the Transport and Noise
sections under Planning Considerations.
Written Objections from Councillors and MPs

6.49

No written objections have been received from Councillors or MPs.
Responses from Council departments and affiliates
Ecological Regeneration

6.50

No comments have been received at the time of writing this report. Application
102049 required planning conditions relating to a Bat Survey and Ecology (e.g. the
provision of a peregrine nest box to be installed at the top of building B). A Bat
Survey was completed as part of the Environmental Statement and this is no longer
required. It is recommended that an Ecology planning condition be applied.
Environmental Protection Office (EPO) – Air Quality

6.51

The EPO have commented on this application and requested a number of planning
conditions relating to air quality neutral assessment Non Road Mobile Machinery
(NRMM) and other matters relating to construction and operation are proposed.
Planning Conditions are recommended where the issue has not been assessed as
part of the Environmental Statement.

6.52

A Planning Obligation to require participation in the Lewisham Construction Forum
and a financial contribution will need to be secured via S106 agreement towards air
quality monitoring in Lewisham. Under 102049 a detailed Construction Method
Statement taking into account the ongoing and emerging neighbouring
development was secured by planning condition and details shall be submitted and
approved prior to commencement of the works. The statement shall include noise
and air quality mitigation and monitoring measures with reference to the monitoring
dust and PM10s. The applicant shall work with the principal contractor and
established a construction working group resolving any potential issues.
Environmental Protection Team - Noise

6.53

The EPO have no objections to the development subject to the addition of Planning
Conditions (PC.19: Protection Against external noise; PC.20 Protection against
external noise – External Playspace and communal amenity areas; PC. 21
Operational Noise Control (incl. Fixed Plant); and PC. 22: Protection against noise
from commercial units / station ticket hall) and an Informative relating to mechanical
ventilation. Officers recommend inclusion of the recommended conditions and
Informative.

6.54

The submitted ES / ESA indicates that 3 different glazing specifications are
proposed on the proposed buildings and this advises that the site is suitable for
residential use and would meet the maximum average noise requirement (LAeq)
during the night time at 30dB and during day time at 35dB. However, the proposed
glazing materials to be installed on the relevant elevation of the proposed buildings
should be tested against the maximum noise requirement (LAmax) and this should
be secured by a planning condition.

6.55

In addition, mechanical extraction ventilation system should be provided for the
bedroom overlooking the noisiest façade at night to avoid sleep disturbance. The
- 19 Page 29

detail of the mechanical extraction ventilation system should be secured by planning
Condition.
6.56

The proposed external plants including air handling units, condensers and chiller
would comply with the BS4142:2014. However, the location of the external plant is
distinctive and has the potential for intermittency. A minimum of 3dB penalty should
be applied.
Environmental Protection Team – Site Contamination

6.57

Site Contamination issues relating to the Carpetright site have been partially dealt
with by a partial discharge of the site contamination condition application (111710)
relating to the consented scheme DC/17/102049. The EPO seek a standard site
contamination condition in relation to this application.
Emergency Planning Officer

6.58

No comments received.
Planning Policy

6.59

Comments received focus on the principle of the proposed land use. The site is
considered to be an appropriate location for residential-led mixed-use development,
including student accommodation. The proposed Obligation to secure the student
housing management company prior to occupation is supported as this will alleviate
concerns relating to DM Policy H8 Student Housing. Planning Policy consider that
the provision of student housing on this site will not prejudice the achievement of
Lewisham’s annual strategic housing target, particularly as the proposal will result
in a net uplift in dwelling units on the extant planning permission. In principle support
is also provided in light of the proposed increase in affordable housing and units on
the site, in combination with the IVR, which verifies that the maximum reasonable
amount of affordable housing will be provided..
Strategic Housing

6.60

Comments received confirm that, on the basis that the IVR confirms that the
affordable housing offer (AHO) is the maximum reasonable amount available,
Strategic Housing have no objections to the proposed AHO.
Transport and Highways

6.61

Officers raised the following comments in relation to the planning application:






Disabled parking: To accord with the London Plan requirements, an off-site
disabled parking financial contribution is required as no disabled parking has
been provided;
Controlled Parking Zone: A financial contribution towards a review of the CPZ
/parking controls in the vicinity of the site to minimise the impact of the proposal
on car parking in the area is required; Residents of the development should be
excluded from obtaining CPZ permits and this can be controlled or secured
through an appropriate planning obligation or condition.
Student Management Plan: This should be provided to provide a basis for
managing student drop-offs at the peak times (e.g. the start / end of academic
years), including the allocation of bookable time slots;
Car Club: A car club strategy is required for the development and this can be
achieved through an appropriate planning obligation. The strategy should
include an assessment of available infrastructure and confirmation that car club
membership will be provided for residents of C3 units for a period of 3 years;
- 20 Page 30

















Highway Works: The applicant will also have to enter into a Section 278
Agreement with the appropriate Highway Authority (LB Lewisham for Thurston
Road & TfL for Loampit Vale) to secure public realm / highways improvements
to Thurston Road and Loampit Vale;
Adoption of Highway: The widening of the footways abutting the development
site is welcomed in principle. The applicant will need to enter into a Section 38
Agreement with the appropriate Highway Authority (LB Lewisham for Thurston
Road & TfL for Loampit Vale) for the adoption of the proposed widening of the
footways. This should be secured by Planning Obligation(s);
Healthy Streets Audit: As the pedestrian / cycle trips will increase compared to
the consented scheme a healthy streets audit of pedestrian and cycle routes
adjacent to the site should be undertaken secured by planning condition or
obligation, in line with the Mayor’s Transport Strategy to improve sustainable
transport infrastructure in accordance with Draft London Plan T2 “Healthy
Streets”. The developer should make a financial contribution towards addressing
any deficiencies.
Loampit Vale toucan crossing: Given the increase in pedestrian and cycle trips
associated with the proposed development the s278 should include
improvement works to the toucan crossing on Loampit Vale to widen the toucan
to 8m;
Public Square: The development proposals include the provision of a public
square. The transport assessment confirms that this will remain in private
ownership but benefit from public access. A right of way across the square and
a right for public use of the square and how the square is managed should be
secured by a Planning obligation or condition. An Obligation should also secure
a Management Plan for the maintenance of the square and to ensure clearways
through the site.
Cycle Parking and lighting details: Further details in relation to cycle parking and
lighting in the square should be secured by a Planning obligation or condition;
Travel Plan: A full Residential Travel Plan, Student Travel Plan, Commercial
Travel Plan, Delivery and Servicing Plan including a waste management plan
should be secured by Planning obligation or condition;
Construction Logistics Plan / Construction Management Plan should be secured
by Planning obligation or condition and should consider the construction phasing
of committed developments in the town centre. It should also confirm that the
applicant will participate in the Lewisham Town Centre zonal CLP.
Cycle parking: Details of the cycle parking for the residential, student and
commercial elements of the development are required, the cycle parking
provision should be in accordance with the London Cycling Design Standards.

Lewisham Design Review Panel (LDRP)
6.62

The LDRP considered emerging proposals on five separate occasions during the
pre-application stage (February 2015, June 2015, January 2016, May 2016 and
February 2017). The comments of the Panel following its last review of the scheme
at the pre-application stage is summarised in Table 2 below.

- 21 Page 31

Table 4: Lewisham Design Review Panel Comments (December 2018)
LDRP Summary (08-02-17)
Further review was advised.

Officer Comment
The applicant is working to a tight
timescale due to the need to time the
development to hit academic year cycles.

The applicant took an alternative
approach that sought to meet the
requirements of the DRP and the
architectural design of the proposals has
been adapted to adopt the design
approach of the consented scheme,
which
benefitted
from
DRP
endorsement.
The Panel were supportive of the Noted.
public
realm
and
landscape
proposals in general, which retained
both the broad approach defined
within the consented scheme.
The Panel were supportive of the
Noted.
move to place as much service
accommodation as possible
including bin and bicycle storage
areas within an enlarged basement
area is thereby freeing up the street
and lower level for public
facing/active uses at the base of
both buildings.
The Panel consider that the increase In terms of architecture / urban design
in height of Building A has a negative the height of Building A should ideally be
impact on the overall composition by reduced to differentiate the buildings.
causing the two buildings to appear However, the square facing elevation will
as one cranked slab block than two be just 2 storeys higher than the
separate buildings. The team are consented building, with the building
asked to consider reducing the stepping to the north over three floors to
height of Block A to improve the 20 storeys). The additional floorspace
differential
between
the
two provided will all be affordable housing,
buildings.
improving the overall AH offer. This is to
be considered as part of the planning
balance.
The colonnade should be retained
and have a clear logic to its design in
relation to the upper floor elevations
and rationale for the entire frontage
framing the new square.

The application has been amended to
take these comments into account and
the colonnade now has a clear design
rationale.

The crown of Building A requires
further articulation to become a pair
with Building B or being more
distinctive.

At the DRP, Block B had a lightbox on the
top, creating a crown and making the two
buildings differ. Since the DRP Block B
has returned to the three stepped
articulated roof pairing the two buildings

- 22 Page 32

together. The intention is that Block A is
a more subdued version of the Block B
roof so creating a ‘crown’ now would stop
the buildings being viewed as united and
draw more attention to the lower building
than the higher building.
Building B – elevations are very slab- The proposal has been refined to revert
like and do not have the finesse of to the design principles / approach
the consented scheme.
adopted by the consented scheme.
Building B – Roof lantern – this was
seen as a very positive element in
the composition. Visibility of the
lantern from Loampit Vale should be
facilitated by the massing of the
building top.
Roof terraces – these will need to be
partially covered (e.g. pergolas) to
ensure they are usable and that
plants survive.

This proposal has been dropped by the
applicant as the building design has
reverted to the consented scheme to all
intent and purpose.

Roof terrace concept submitted with the
design and access statement. Detailed
design to be subject to planning
condition.

Bakerloo Line entrance needs to be This has been taken on board and the
more powerfully expressed.
proposals improved.
Proposals need to take into account The application includes a lighting
daytime / night time design issues, strategy for the station square. A lighting
with high quality
strategy for the buildings will be subject
to a planning condition.
An Obligation should secure the high This will be included.
quality
management
and
maintenance of the proposed station
square.
Local meeting
6.63

Given the level of local interest in the proposals, those people that had commented
on the proposals at the end of the three-week local consultation period were invited
to a Drop-In session on Thursday 14 March 2019 at the Glass Mills Leisure Centre
between 6.30pm and 8.30pm. A Note of the meeting can be found at Appendix 1.

7.0

Policy Context
Introduction

7.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) sets out
that in considering and determining applications for planning permission the local
planning authority must have regard to:(a)
(b)
(c)

7.2

the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application,
any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application, and
any other material considerations.

A local finance consideration means:- 23 Page 33

(a)
(b)

a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or would or could be,
provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown, or
sums that a relevant authority has received, or would or could receive, in
payment of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

7.3

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) makes it clear
that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made
in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.'

7.4

The development plan for Lewisham comprises the Lewisham Core Strategy, the
Lewisham Development Management Local Plan, the Lewisham Site Allocations
Local Plan and the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan, and the London Plan
(Consolidated with Alterations since 2011) 2016. The NPPF does not change the
legal status of the development plan.

7.5

It is important to note that when considering whether development proposals accord
with the development plan, it is necessary to consider the question with regard to
the development plan as a whole.
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF)

7.6

The revised NPPF was last updated and published on 19th February 2019 and is a
material consideration in the determination of planning applications. It contains at
paragraph 11, a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. Annex 1 of the
NPPF provides guidance on its implementation. In summary, this states in
paragraph 213, that policies in the development plan should not be considered out
of date just because they were adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF and in
regard to existing local policies, that ‘due weight should be given to them, according
to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies in the
plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)’.

7.7

Officers have reviewed the Core Strategy and Development Management Local
Plan for consistency with the NPPF and consider there is no issue of significant
conflict. As such, full weight can be given to these policies in the decision-making
process in accordance with paragraph 213 of the NPPF.
Other National Guidance

7.8

On 6 March 2014, DCLG launched the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG) resource. This replaced a number of planning practice guidance
documents.

7.9

In March 2015, the Technical housing standards – nationally described space
standard was adopted and sets out the minimum space requirements for residential
accommodation.
London Plan (March 2016)

7.10

The London Plan was updated on 14 March 2016 to incorporate the Housing
Standards and Parking Standards Minor Alterations to the London Plan (2015). The
policies relevant to this application are::Policy 1.1
Policy 2.13
Policy 2.15
Policy 3.1
Policy 3.2

Delivering the strategic vision and objectives for London
Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas
Town centres
Ensuring equal life chances for all
Improving health and addressing health inequalities
- 24 Page 34

Policy 3.3
Policy 3.4
Policy 3.5
Policy 3.6
Policy 3.7
Policy 3.8
Policy 3.9
Policy 3.10
Policy 3.11
Policy 3.12

Increasing housing supply
Optimising housing potential
Quality and design of housing developments
Children and young people’s play and informal recreation facilities
Large residential developments
Housing choice
Mixed and balanced communities
Definition of affordable housing
Affordable housing targets
Negotiating affordable housing on individual private residential and
mixed-use schemes
Policy 3.13 Affordable housing thresholds
Policy 3.16 Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure
Policy 4.1 Developing London’s economy
Policy 4.2 Offices
Policy 4.7 Retail and town centre development
Policy 4.8 Supporting a successful and diverse retail sector
Policy 4.12 Improving opportunities for all
Policy 5.1 Climate change mitigation
Policy 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide emissions
Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction
Policy 5.5 Decentralised energy networks
Policy 5.6 Decentralised energy in development proposals
Policy 5.7 Renewable energy
Policy 5.8 Innovative energy technologies
Policy 5.9 Overheating and cooling
Policy 5.10 Urban greening
Policy 5.11 Green roofs and development site environs
Policy 5.12 Flood risk management
Policy 5.13 Sustainable drainage
Policy 5.14 Water quality and wastewater Infrastructure
Policy 5.15 Water use and supplies
Policy 5.16 Waste self-sufficiency
Policy 5.17 Waste capacity
Policy 5.18 Construction, excavation and demolition waste
Policy 5.21 Contaminated land
Policy 6.1 Strategic approach
Policy 6.2 Providing public transport capacity and safeguarding land for transport
Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity
Policy 6.7 Better streets and surface transport
Policy 6.9 Cycling
Policy 6.10 Walking
Policy 6.11 Smoothing traffic flow and tackling congestion
Policy 6.12 Road network capacity
Policy 6.13 Parking
Policy 7.1 Building London’s neighbourhoods and communities
Policy 7.2 An inclusive environment
Policy 7.3 Designing out crime
Policy 7.4 Local character
Policy 7.5 Public realm
Policy 7.6 Architecture
Policy 7.7 Location and design of tall and large buildings
- 25 Page 35

Policy 7.8
Policy 7.14
Policy 7.15
Policy 8.1
Policy 8.2
Policy 8.3
Policy 8.4

Heritage assets and archaeology
Improving air quality
Reducing noise and enhancing soundscapes
Implementation
Planning obligations
Community infrastructure levy
Monitoring and review for London

Draft London Plan
7.11

The Mayor of London published a draft London Plan on 29 November 2017 and
minor modifications before the EIP were published on 13 August 2018. As such,
this document now has limited weight as a material consideration when determining
planning applications. This weight will become greater following the publication of
the Written Report at the end of the EIP process. The relevant draft policies are
listed below and discussed within the report. These are limited to policies that are
materially different to existing London Plan policies. The emerging London Plan
policies relevant to this application are:
GG1 Building strong and inclusive communities
GG2 Making the best use of land
GG3 Creating a healthy city
GG4 Delivering the homes Londoners needs
GG5 Growing a good economy
GG6 Increasing efficiency and resilience
SD6 Town Centres
SD8 Town Centres: development principles and Development Plan Documents
D1 London’s form and characteristics
D2 Delivering good design
D3 Inclusive design
D4 Housing quality and standards
D5 Accessible housing
D6 Optimising housing density
D7 Public realm
D8 Tall buildings
D9 Basement development
D10 Safety, security and resilience to emergency
D11 Fire Safety
D12 Agent of change
D13 Noise
H1 Increasing housing supply
H5 Delivering affordable housing
H7 Affordable housing tenure
H8 Monitoring of affordable housing
H12 Housing size mix
H13 Build to Rent
H17: Purpose-Built Student Housing
S1 Developing London’s social infrastructure
S2 Health and social care facilities
S4 Play and informal recreation
- 26 Page 36

HC1 Heritage conservation and growth
HC3 Strategic and Local Views
HC4 London View Management Framework
HC5 Supporting London’s culture and creative industries
HC6 Supporting the night-time economy
G1 Green Infrastructure
G5 Urban greening
G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
SI1 Improving air quality
SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
SI3 Energy infrastructure
SI4 Managing heat risk
SI5 Water infrastructure
SI6 Digital connectivity infrastructure
SI12 Flood risk management
SI13 Sustainable drainage
T1 Strategic approach to transport
T2 Healthy Streets
T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding
T5 Cycling
T6 Car parking
T6.1 Residential parking
T6.2 Office parking
T6.5 Non-residential disabled persons parking
T9 Funding transport infrastructure through planning
DF1 Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations
London Plan Supplementary Planning Documents (SPG
7.12

The London Plan SPGs relevant to this application are:Affordable Housing and Viability (August 2017)
Housing (May 2016)
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)
Town Centres (July 2014)
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)
Sustainable Design and Construction (April 2014)
Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation (September 2012)
Planning for Equality and Diversity in London (October 2007)
London Plan Best Practice Guidance

7.13

The London Plan Best Practice Guidance relevant to this application are:Development Plan Policies for Biodiversity (2005)
Health Issues in Planning (2007)
London Cycling Design Standards (September 2016)

- 27 Page 37

Core Strategy
7.14

The Core Strategy was adopted on 29 June 2011. The following lists the relevant
strategic objectives, spatial policies and cross cutting policies from the Core
Strategy as they relate to this application:Spatial Policy 1
Spatial Policy 2
Core Strategy Policy 1
Core Strategy Policy 6
Core Strategy Policy 7
Core Strategy Policy 8
Core Strategy Policy 9
Core Strategy Policy 10
Core Strategy Policy 12
Core Strategy Policy 14
Core Strategy Policy 15
Core Strategy Policy 16
Core Strategy Policy 17
Core Strategy Policy 18
Core Strategy Policy 21

Lewisham Spatial Strategy
Regeneration and Growth Areas
Housing provision, mix and affordability
Retail hierarchy and location of retail development
Climate change and adapting to the effects
Sustainable design and construction and energy
efficiency
Improving local air quality
Managing and reducing the risk of flooding
Open space and environmental assets
Sustainable movement and transport
High quality design for Lewisham
Conservation areas, heritage assets and the historic
environment
The protected vistas, the London panorama and local
views, landmarks and panoramas
The location and design of tall buildings
Planning obligations

Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan
7.15

The Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (LTCLP) was adopted by the Council on 24
February 2014. The following lists the relevant LTCLP policies as they relate to this
application:LTCLP 0
LTCLP 2
LTCLP 4
LTCLP 9
LTCLP 10
LTCLP 13:
LTCLP 14
LTCLP 16
LTCLP 17
LTCLP 18
LTCLP 19
LTCLP 21
LTCLP 22
LTCLP 25
LTCLP 26
LTCLP 27
LTCLP 28

Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Town Centre boundary
Loampit Vale Policy Area
Growing the local economy
Mixed use
Student Housing
Town Centre vitality and viability
Retail Area
Evening Economy uses
Public realm
Tall buildings
Sustainable transport
Social infrastructure
Heritage assets
Carbon dioxide emission reduction
Adapting to climate change
Implementation

Development Management Local Plan
7.16

The Lewisham Development Management Local Plan (DMLP) was adopted by the
Council at its meeting on 26 November 2014. The following lists the relevant
policies from the DMLP as they relate to this application:- 28 Page 38

DM Policy 1
DM Policy 7
DM Policy 17
DM Policy 19
DM Policy 22
DM Policy 23
DM Policy 24
DM Policy 25
DM Policy 26
DM Policy 27
DM Policy 28
DM Policy 29
DM Policy 30
DM Policy 32
DM Policy 35
DM Policy 36

Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Affordable rented housing
Restaurants and cafés (A3 uses) and drinking establishments
(A4 uses)
Shopfronts, signs and hoardings
Sustainable design and construction
Air quality
Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches
Landscaping and trees
Noise and vibration
Lighting
Contaminated land
Car parking
Urban design and local character
Housing design, layout and space standards
Public realm
New development, changes of use and alterations affecting
designated heritage assets and their setting: conservation areas,
listed buildings, schedule of ancient monuments and registered
parks and gardens

Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (February 2015)
7.17

This document sets out guidance and standards relating to the provision of
affordable housing within the Borough and provides detailed guidance on the likely
type and quantum of financial obligations necessary to mitigate the impacts of
different types of development.
Shopfront Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (March 2006 /
Updated 2012)

7.18

This document seeks to promote good design in order to enhance the character
and appearance of the Borough as a whole. The guide advises on the use of
sensitive design and careful attention to detail and that whilst shopfront design
encompasses a wide variety of styles and details there are certain basic rules that
apply everywhere.

8.0

Planning Considerations
Introduction

8.1

The application proposes the comprehensive redevelopment of the existing retail
warehouse unit and associated car parking for a high density residential scheme (in
two buildings) with non-residential uses (including a possible BLE Station entrance)
at ground and first floor. The proposed development is very similar to the consented
scheme 102049, which resolved many of the planning considerations for the
development of this site.

8.2

The development proposal raises a large number of planning considerations. The
application has also generated interest and objection. The planning considerations
are set out and examined in the following section of this Report.

8.3

The main issues to be considered in respect of this application are:
a) Principle of development
b) Layout, Scale and design
- 29 Page 39

c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

Housing - mix, tenure and standard of accommodation
Neighbour amenity
Transport
Energy and Sustainability
Flood risk
Ecology
Waste

Principle of development
8.4

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that there is a presumption
in favour of sustainable development and that proposals should be approved
without delay so long as they accord with the development plan.

8.5

There is strong policy support for development in Lewisham Town Centre in general
and for the redevelopment of the application site. London Plan Policy 2.13 identifies
the Lewisham, Catford and New Cross Opportunity Area, which includes the site,
and Annex 2 provides an indicative employment capacity for the Area of 6,000 and
a minimum number of homes of 8,000 up to 2031.

8.6

London Plan Policy 2.15 identifies Lewisham as a Major Town Centre which should
be a focus for new development, ensuring retail and residential development makes
a positive contribution to the vitality and viability of the Centre. London Plan Policy
4.7 seeks to focus retail, commercial, culture and leisure floorspace in town centres,
Policy 4.8 encourages additional comparison goods retailing in Major centres and
Policy 4.9 calls on boroughs to consider using conditions/seek contributions to
promote the retail offer, attractiveness and competitiveness of centres.

8.7

The Lewisham Core Strategy Spatial Policy 1 identifies the site as being within a
Regeneration and Growth Area and Spatial Policy 2 seeks to focus growth in these
Areas, including wanting to grow Lewisham Town Centre in to a Metropolitan Town
Centre which accommodates up to 40,000sqm additional retail space, 4,300sqm
leisure space and 1,550 additional homes up to 2016 and a further 1,000 additional
homes by 2026. Core Strategy Policy 6 designates Lewisham as a Major Town
Centre, seeks to focus retail, leisure and cultural uses in town centres and commits
to designating ‘primary’ and secondary frontages.

8.8

The Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (LTCLP) seeks to support and manage
growth in the Town Centre. Policy LTC 1 identifies the application site as falling
within an ‘edge of centre’ location and Policy LTC 16 identifies it as part of a
‘Proposed Secondary Shopping Frontage’. Policy LTC 16 goes on to outline the
envisaged role that Secondary Frontages would play in the retail hierarchy of the
Lewisham Town Centre, making clear that proposals for the loss of A1 uses will
generally be acceptable, subject to certain criteria being met, and supporting text
(6.43) makes clear that a wide range of commercial uses are required in order to
support the vision for Lewisham town centre to achieve metropolitan status.

8.9

Policy LTC 2 makes clear that all new development will need to contribute positively
to the delivery of the vision and the objectives for the Town Centre and must
conform with and implement this spatial strategy. Policy LTC4 designates the
Loampit Vale Policy Area (including the application site) for mixed use
development, that complements the primary shopping area by (amongst other
things):


Uses on the ground floor and possibly first floor need to be retail (A1, A2, A3),
Business (B1 and community (D1, D2)
- 30 Page 40










8.10

Additional storeys will provide residential uses across a range of dwelling types
and sizes;
The ground floor must provide an active frontage and strong built edge,
especially facing Loampit Vale;
Buildings must be an appropriate scale, mindful of the immediate context and
the importance of Loampit Vale as a major route without trying to compete with
Lewisham Gateway
A high quality public realm;
Generous tree lined pavements of at least 6 to 8 metres to create boulevards;
Incorporate communal heating and cooling systems;
Consider the proximity of the proposed ‘bus layover’ site when planning for
sensitive uses on adjacent sites; and
Ensure a positive reduction in flood risk (Flood Zone 3a).

Policy LTC4 also sets out specific policy requirements for the Loampit Vale Area
including S3b (Carpetright) and S3a (the Retail Park and Nos. 66-76 Loampit Vale)
in the form of site-specific requirements. These include:



Taller elements of new development should address Loampit Vale.
Accessibility to Lewisham transport interchange should be enhanced wherever
possible.

8.11

Policy LTC13: Student Housing supports the principle of student housing in
Lewisham Town Centre provided that the development does not cause a net loss
of permanent self-contained homes or town centre uses, prejudice the Council’s
ability to meet the London Plan housing target; or involve the loss of sites that are
considered especially suitable for affordable housing. The proposed development
is considered to meet the requirements of all three of these tests.

8.12

The proposed residential-led mixed use development and the proposed range of
non-residential uses generally accord with the key relevant development plan
policies outlined above and are, in principle, an appropriate use of this highly
accessible town centre site. Purpose-Built Student Accommodation will need to
comply with Policy 3.8: Housing Choice of the London Plan 2016 and DM Policy 8:
Student Housing of the Development Management Local Plan (2011) to be
acceptable. The proposed uses are discussed in more detail below.
Comprehensive approach

8.13

Policy LTC4 requires a comprehensive masterplan for sites S3b and S3a
(Carpetright and Retail Park) that is endorsed by all landowners. Policy LTC26
makes clear that the Council will implement the LTCLP by working with public,
voluntary, community and private sector partners and co-ordinating action,
including where appropriate using its compulsory purchase powers.

8.14

As outlined in below, the principal owners of these sites worked collaboratively with
officers and GLA / TfL on the preparation of an informal urban framework in 2017.
Land Use: Non-residential Uses

8.15

As demonstrated above under Principle of development, national, London-wide and
local policies support retail and other non-residential uses in the Loampit Vale
Policy Area and specifically on the application site. DM Policy 19 makes clear that
- 31 Page 41

where applications require a new shop front, in addition to new residential or
commercial units, an appropriate level of shop front fit-out will be required.
8.16

The existing site accommodates approximately 1,778sqm of ‘retail’ floorspace in
the form of a large format retail unit. The unit was formerly occupied by carpetright
but is now vacant following grant of planning permission DC/17/102049.

8.17

The proposal is for 5 flexible use commercial units (one of which is two-storey) that
amount to 838.2sq.m. The range of proposed uses are A1 (Shops), A2 (Financial
and Professional Services), A3 (Restaurants and Cafes), D1 (Non-residential
Institutions) and D2 (Assembly and Leisure). The location, use and size of the
proposed units are summarised in Table 5 (below).
Table 5: Proposed Non-residential Uses
Type & Location

Uses

Area Sqm (GIA)

Commercial Unit 1

A1, A2, A3, B1, D1, D2

378.3sqm (of which
96.8sqm at GF level and
281.5sqm at FFL)

Commercial Unit 2

A1, A2, A3, B1, D1, D2

26.4

Commercial Unit 3

A1, A2, A3, B1, D1, D2

39.5

Commercial Unit 4

A1, A2, A3, B1, D1, D2

90.1

Commercial Unit 5
(Station Entrance)

A1, A2, A3, B1, D1, D2

303.9 (102049 - 342)
Total

Ancillary
commercial

Cycle storage, plant and
waste storage etc.

838.2 (534.3 excluding
BLE station)
Located at basement
level

Based upon schedule of accommodation dated 30.4.19

8.18

All of the proposed non-residential uses are appropriate for this town centre location
and the proposed net reduction in non-residential space is considered acceptable,
given the site’s secondary frontage location, taking into account the other schemes
benefits such as the public square and the proposed BLE Station entrance.

8.19

Local residents have concerns that there is considerable amount of ground floor
vacancy / hoarded frontages at ground floor level in the immediate context of the
Carpetright site (e.g. in the Renaissance scheme). This is acknowledged and this
will take time to change facilitated by the influx of new residents living in this
location. A planning Obligation will provide for the developer to pay for the fit-out of
commercial units at first occupation, taking the cost away from new businesses to
incentivise occupation. In the case of this scheme with the proposed BLE Station
entrance, (south-facing) public square and well-sized ground floor units with good
frontage and footfall, commercial units are considered to be essential in this location
and will add to the vibrancy of the area.

8.20

Unit 5 (Station Entrance) will be used as a commercial unit until Transport for
London require the space to provide the access to the Lewisham Bakerloo Line
Extension (Tube) Station. The vacant possession of the unit for TfL purposes will
be secured by Planning Obligation.
- 32 Page 42

8.21

Unit and shop front fit-out. In accordance with London Plan Policy 4.9 and DM Policy
19, it is recommended that a planning Obligation requires the Applicant to fit-out the
units to shell and core and internal fittings and install shop fronts prior to the
occupation of any residential unit.

8.22

Removing permitted development rights. The Town and Country Planning (Use
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) puts uses of land and buildings into various
categories known as 'Use Classes'. Planning permission is usually required to
change between the different uses but in some instances, the General Permitted
Development Order (GPDO) allows some changes to take place without the benefit
of express planning permission. For example, this allows a change in use from A1
(retail) to C3 (residential) in some cases. The proposed range of uses provides a
good degree of flexibility for marketing/letting the proposed commercial units and it
is recommended that a planning Condition removes permitted development rights
to change from these permitted uses to enable the Council to manage the use of
these units in an appropriate way.

8.23

Hours of Opening. London Plan Policy 4.6 and Core Strategy Policy 6 support the
night-time economy, particularly in secondary frontages. DM Policy 17 makes clear
that, amongst other things, soundproofing and opening hours will be taken in to
account when considering applications for cafes/restaurants and DM Policy 26
seeks to ensure that new noise sensitive uses, such and residential, are located
away from existing or planned sources of noise pollution. A balance needs to be
struck between encouraging cafes/restaurants along around the proposed town
centre square and safeguarding residential amenity. It is recommended that a
planning conditions restricts opening hours of all permitted uses within the A and D
use classes in the commercial units to 07.00 to 23.00 hours. This would not apply
to B use classes in order to ensure maximum flexibility of the commercial units.
Employment and Local Labour

8.24

Based on appropriate job-to-floorspace ratios, the ES estimates that the existing
non-residential uses on the site support 18 FTE jobs (the ES states 6 - 20 Full Time
Equivalent (FTE) jobs but this was clarified by the previous applicant).

8.25

Given the range of proposed non-residential uses, the ES estimates that the gross
direct employment in Greater London is likely to be between 21 and 64 FTE jobs.
The ES estimates that construction is likely to result in gross direct employment in
Greater London of 402 FTE jobs.

8.26

DM Policy 11 seeks financial contributions towards training and/or local
employment schemes. The Council’s Planning Obligations SPD requires a financial
contribution to support the capital and revenue costs of services provided by the
Local Labour and Business Scheme which benefits both the residential population
and local economy. Guidance in the SPD splits the contributions between
residential and commercial uses and to seek an equal amount (calculated at £530
per dwelling/job). The ES 2017 calculates that between 20-64 jobs would be
created by the development for Greater London (Table 13-21) and 6-14 outside
Greater London. Further work by the Applicant shows that 12 FTEW jobs would be
created by the student housing, 5 FTE jobs by the Registered Provider, and 42-56
jobs within the commercial space (49 median). This making a total number of 65
jobs, and a net increase of 60 jobs (Carpetright have 5 jobs). If 80% of those are
assumed to be in London that would yield 48 jobs (based upon the proportions in
the ES).
- 33 Page 43

8.27

With an assumed 318 units (based on the Affordable Housing Uplift Offer) and 48
jobs, this equates to a financial contribution of £189,210 towards training / local
employment schemes. However, in order to facilitate the Applicant’s affordable
housing offer, which extends beyond the viability assessed maximum provision,
officers recommend that, in this case, £50,000 is secured by planning Obligation,
along with an Obligation to operate a Local Labour and Business Strategy in relation
to construction.
Land Use: Student Housing

8.28

Policy 3.8: Housing Choice of the London Plan 2016 and DM Policy 8: Student
Housing of the Development Management Local Plan (2011) provide the policy
basis for considering student housing development proposals. The principle of
student housing is supported in principle providing that it does not undermine
Lewisham’s ability to meet its annual London Plan housing target for additional selfcontained homes. In addition a range of other tests are defined in DM Policy 8,
including: is well served by public transport and is accessible to a range of services;
does not cause unreasonable harm to residential amenity in the surrounding area;
and has an identified end-user affiliated to the development.

8.29

Policy H17: Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA) of the Draft London
Plan has some limited weight. This policy actively encourages new student housing
in accessible locations outside Central London, subject to assessment criteria,
including the provision of affordable student housing. There is an overall annual
target to provide 3,500 PBSA to be provided per annum across London.
requirement

8.30

The proposed student housing development on the Carpetright site is close to both
Goldsmiths College and the University of Greenwich, as well as being in a PTAL
6B (best) location accessible by public transport to Central London and a range of
other locations. The site is considered to provide an excellent location for this type
of housing given its accessibility and that it will not adversely impact on existing
residents, subject to proper management.

8.31

The Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) shows that the council can demonstrate a
five-year housing land supply. Specifically, in the next five-years (i.e. 2018/19 to
2023/24) there are 55 sites identified, which the council considers to be
deliverable, that have the capacity to provide a minimum 8,151 net dwellings.
These sites comprise of sites which have planning consent for residential
development, or are allocated in the statutory development plan for an element of
residential development. In addition, the council expects that a further 1,805 net
dwellings will be delivered through windfall development, based on a historic
windfall delivery average of 361 net units per annum continuing. These sources
combine for a total of 9,956 net dwellings over the above noted five-year period.
When this figure is considered against the borough’s strategic annual housing
requirement, as set out in the London Plan (2016), of 1,385 net units (or 6,925 net
units cumulatively over five-years) plus a 5% buffer, there is a supply equivalent to
6.85 years. In the long-term the current 15 year supply provides for 21,289
dwellings (committed sites and a historic, trend based windfall) and will be
sufficient to meet the rolled forward current London Plan target of 20,755.

8.32

With Sherwood Court (611 rooms) and the proposed development on the
application site that would mean the provision of 1280 student bedspaces, which
would be the equivalent of 427 C3 residential units (paragraph 4.17.1 of the draft
London Plan specifies a conversion rate of 3 student bedspaces to one C3
- 34 Page 44

residential unit). This compares to 3,000 units (approximately) that have been
developed (since 2004) or committed in Lewisham Town Centre (as of March 2019).
This is considered to be a reasonable proportion (approximately 14%.) given the
highly accessible location and urban nature of development.
8.33

The applicant is in negotiations with three student housing management companies
to take on the student housing development. In all cases these institutions are
professional and commit to very high standards of management. A Student Housing
Management Plan has been submitted by the applicant as part of the planning
application to demonstrate the quality of student housing management that will be
applied to the scheme whichever operator takes on the building. Sherwood Court
(Chapterhouse) has been developed on Thurston Road to provide student
accommodation with 410 student bed-spaces and this has been subject to a similar
management plan. The management company of Sherwood Court (Community
Manager | Greystar Europe Holdings Limited) have confirmed that there has not
been a single complaint about the behaviour of students since the facility was
opened.

8.34

Planning Obligations are recommended relating to an identified end-user (see
response to GLA comments) and in relation to temporary use of accommodation
during vacation periods in response to Policy H17 of the draft London Plan.

8.35

Student housing is therefore supported in principle by Officers as part of an overall
residential mix in Lewisham Town Centre and on the application site.
Land Use: Housing

8.36

The NPPF states that housing applications should be considered in the context of
the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Paragraphs 50 to 55 of the
NPPF recognise the need to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen
opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed
communities.

8.37

London Plan Policy 3.3 (Increasing housing supply) recognises the pressing need
for more homes in London and Table 3.1 sets a target of 13,847 additional homes
to be built in Lewisham in the 10 years from 2015-2025 with an annual monitoring
target of 1,385 per year. A significant increase in this target is to be applied based
upon revised methodology to establish housing need in London (2,117 per year).
London Plan Policy 3.7 (Large residential developments) encourages large
residential developments in areas of high public transport accessibility and Policy
3.8 (Housing choice) calls for a range of different sizes and types of dwellings.

8.38

The Draft London Plan sets a revised housing target for Lewisham with a figure of
2117 dwellings per year. This is an increase of 732 of the existing target.

8.39

Lewisham Core Strategy Policy 1 makes clear that development should not result
in a net loss of housing and supporting text notes the overwhelming housing need
within Lewisham. The numbers referred to drew on the Strategic Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA) (2007-2008), which have been superseded by the South-East
London Housing Market Assessment (2014) and most recently by the London Plan.

8.40

LTCLP Policy LTC4 designates the application site for mixed-use development, with
non-residential uses on ground / first floor and additional storeys above providing
residential uses across a range of dwelling types and sizes. The consented scheme
had 242 residential units within Building A and Building B. The application scheme
has the equivalent of 318 units, representing an increase of 76 units on the site..
- 35 Page 45

8.41

Given the above, the proposed housing use is acceptable in principle.
Residential Density

8.42

London Plan Policy 3.4 (Optimising Housing Potential) states that taking into
account local context and character development should optimise housing output
for different types of location within the relevant density range shown in Table 3.2.
It makes clear that proposals which compromise this policy should be resisted. The
site is within a Central location with a PTAL of 6b, where the density matrix sets an
indicative density range of 650-1100 habitable rooms (or 140-405 units) per
hectare.

8.43

Core Strategy Policy 15 (High quality design for Lewisham) seeks to ensure a high
quality of development in Lewisham, including residential schemes and that
densities should be those set out in the London Plan. Table 6 (below) sets out the
measures of density criteria required by emerging Draft LPP D6 for all sites with
new residential units. Table 7 (below) sets out the measures of density criteria
required by emerging Draft LPP D6 for all major proposals.
Table 6: Measures of Density
Criteria

Site Area (ha)

0.26

Units

67 C3 + 251 = 318

1223 / ha

Habitable rooms

992

3815/ha

Table 7: Additional Major criteria
Criteria

Value

Floorspace (GIA)

17,996.4 sqm

Floor Area Ratio (GEA of all floors/site
area)

6.92

Building footprint

1240sqm

Site Coverage Ratio (GEA of ground
floors/site area)

0.5 (approx..)

Building A (north)
Maximum height (m above ground level)*

63.895m

Maximum height (m AOD)*

70.475m

Building B (East)

8.44

Maximum height (m above ground level)*

102.275m

Maximum height (m AOD)*

110.025m

The above analysis illustrates that the quantitatively the proposed development
results in a density of 1,223 dwellings per hectare (dph) or 3,815 habitable rooms
per hectare (hrph). Both levels of density would exceed the indicative density range
set out in London Plan Policy 3.4: Optimising Housing Potential. However,
exceeding the density matrix does not mean that the development is automatically
inappropriate for the site. In this regard, the Mayor’s Housing SPG states that
exceptionally, higher densities on individual developments may be acceptable
where these can be clearly and robustly justified by local circumstances. They must
- 36 Page 46

be tested rigorously, taking account of different aspects of ‘liveability’ related to
proposed dwelling mix, design and quality, physical access to services, long term
management of communal areas, and the wider context of the proposal including
its contribution to local ‘place shaping’ as well as concerns over ‘place shielding’. It
is particularly important to take account of its impact in terms of massing, scale and
character in relation to nearby uses, and design should be exemplary.
8.45

The proposed density is higher than other approved / built schemes in the area,
including 52-54 Thurston Road (544 dph) Lewisham Gateway (484 dph), Retail
Park (478dph), Renaissance (464 dph), and Thurston Point (393 dph). However, as
discussed in paragraphs 8.97 to 8.135 of this report, the proposed standard of
housing is generally very good and proposed amenity and play space provision
generally meets relevant standards. Furthermore, Paragraphs 8.136 to 8.148
consider the likely effects of the proposal on neighbours’ amenity and finds this to
be acceptable and Paragraphs 8.50 to 8.60 conclude that the proposed scale and
massing is acceptable and the overall development as proposed could be
considered exceptional. The site is immediately next to Lewisham Station and could
accommodate an entrance to a Bakerloo Line station and Paragraphs 8.187 to
8.227 conclude that impacts on the local transport network would be acceptable.
Development Potential

8.46

London Plan Policy 7.6 makes clear that, amongst other things, buildings should
not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings and
should optimise the potential of sites.

8.47

Section 3.0 of this report (Planning History) explains how, in accordance with Policy
LTC4, officers worked with the Applicant and land owners of the adjoining Retail
Park site to prepare an informal urban design framework to establish key principles
for both sites around land use, layout, access, scale and massing. This Framework
has helped ensure that the application proposals complement the emerging
proposals for the Retail Park site, which is the subject of a separate planning
application (with a resolution to grant). The ES reports on a cumulative assessment
that take account of the application proposals for the Retail Park. This found no
significant cumulative effects that would prejudice the development of either site.

8.48

The ‘Transport’ section below outlines the emerging proposals for a Bakerloo Line
Extension (BLE), including a new station at Lewisham, and how the application
proposals have been designed to facilitate a BLE and the possible further extension
by locating the proposed residential core and piled foundations in ways that allow
for running tunnels to continue further south. Transport for London (TfL) may want
to optimise the development potential of land above a station box, i.e. the existing
bus layover space, probably for residential-led development, in order to help
strengthen the business case for the BLE. Discussions with the Applicant and TfL
took place at the pre-application stage in relation to application 102049 and the
proposed Building A has been set-back further from the boundary with the bus
layover site – to 1.5m. The consented scheme Design and Access Statement
included an indicative layout showing how the bus layover site could reasonably be
developed, with and without a BLE. Officers were satisfied that there are
satisfactory ways of developing the bus layover site in ways which would mean that
the two schemes were compatible and that development potential is not prejudiced.
The applications scheme follows the same design principles adopted as the
consented scheme in terms of site layout.

- 37 Page 47

Layout, Scale and Design
8.49

London Plan Policy 7.6 Architecture requires development to positively contribute
to its immediate environs in a coherent manner, using the highest quality materials
and design. Lewisham Core Strategy Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham
repeats the necessity to achieve high quality design but also confirms a requirement
for new developments to minimise crime and the fear of crime. DMLP Policy 30,
Urban design and local character states that all new developments should provide
a high standard of design and should respect the existing forms of development in
the vicinity. The London Plan, Core Strategy and DMLP policies further reinforce
the principles of the NPPF setting out a clear rationale for high quality urban design.
Master planning with adjoining landowners

8.50

Policy LTC4 of the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan requires a comprehensive
master plan for the application site and the adjoining Retail Park site (allocation
S3a) that is endorsed by all landowners. The principal owners of these sites worked
collaboratively with officers and GLA/ TfL on the preparation of an informal urban
framework. The master plan established the following shared vision;
“To bring forward the mixed-use regeneration of the two sites to provide a highquality development which contribute to the vitality and viability of the town centre
and support Lewisham in achieving Metropolitan status and its objectives for both
sites. The masterplan will respond to the existing and emerging context to facilitate
future regeneration and also facilitate public transport improvements, including
planned future changes to Lewisham Station, the potential for a station serving an
extended Bakerloo Line, where feasible, ensuring that opportunities are taken to
facilitate convenient and high quality pedestrian access, together with significant
townscape and public realm enhancements to ensure members of the public benefit
from a positive experience of the proposals”

8.51

As part of the masterplan framework document, the design teams jointly established
21 ‘Key Principles’ which related to design, transport (including potential future
Bakerloo Line extension), energy, housing, non- residential uses, and relationships
with adjoining sites.

8.52

Following the establishment of these principles, a series of potential options for
each site were assessed. This in turn directly informed the rationale for the layout
of the proposed scheme. The LDRP reviewed the proposed masterplan and were
supportive of the established principles and proposed massing strategy.
Layout

8.53

Policy LTC4 of the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan details common principles
which all sites within the town centre are required to adhere. Of relevance to the
current application are the following;





The provision of active frontages and strong built edge proportionate to the town
centre location, especially facing Loampit Vale;
The provision of a high quality public realm is to be provided by ensuring a
consistent and coordinated treatment of materials and street furniture and
substantially improving key pedestrian and cycle routes along Loampit Vale,
Thurston Road, Jerrard Street and north – south routes that link to the
surrounding residential areas; and
Provision of generous tree lined pavements of at least 6 to 8 metres in width to
create boulevards.
- 38 Page 48

8.54

General. The site occupies one of the prime Town Centre locations in the Borough
and is pivotal to the future major transport infrastructure improvement in the Southeast London and the Country. Transport interchanges often serve as a gateway to
a town centre, it is essential to ensure the proposed layout would positively improve
the built environment of the site and not prejudice existing or emerging future
transport operations and planned improvement works.

8.55

At present, the site is predominantly covered by hardstanding and has no public
amenity value. The existing building has some blank walls facing Loampit Vale and
Thurston Road and is not considered visually attractive at the street level.

8.56

The proposed layout is well designed to provide two distinct, slender mixed used
buildings along the northern and eastern boundaries with a new south-west facing
landscaped public square (Loampit Square). Five commercial units are proposed at
the ground and mezzanine levels and one of the units (Unit 5) would be safeguarded
to facilitate a new station entrance and ticket hall to the proposed Bakerloo Line
Extension. The safeguarding of this unit (Unit 5) would enable the delivery of the
future transport infrastructure network improvement. No objection has been raised
by Network Rail or TfL in terms of the siting, floor area and the frontage of this
safeguard commercial unit. It is considered that the proposed layout would be
acceptable and would not prejudice the future BLE and railway improvement works.

8.57

The proposed ground floor commercial units would be glazed and double-height
facing the new Station Square, with access to the residential accommodation being
from Thurston Road and Loampit Vale. These would enable the proposed buildings
to interact with the future users and visitors at street level and increase the amount
of active frontage facing the proposed public square. The use of clear glazing
materials would also enable some lively internal uses visible from the outside and
add to the interest of the building. Officers consider that the layout of the proposed
buildings including the proposed commercial units and the siting of the future station
is acceptable, providing a strong built edge in the town centre and facilitate the
footfall of the future station. Small commercial units are proposed to be included
within the proposed BLE Station hall.

8.58

The proposed residential accommodation would be located above the commercial
units with a child play area located at the first floor above the potential station
entrance (Unit 5) linking the two buildings. Two communal terraces would be
provided at Level 18 and Level 19 in Block A. Block B contains no external
communal space for the student housing development . Shared amenity spaces are
provided at ground level (games room) and first floor level (study rooms, cinema,
gym and other facilities) and in addition each floor level has a communal space
within the cluster flat typology to meet the need for communal space required in DM
Policv 8 and LTC13.

8.59

The basement proposed will contain communal ancillary facilities to residential and
commercial space, with cycle storage, , waste storageareas being accessible to
future occupiers with internal lifts and stairwells, along with Combined Heat and
Power and other plant rooms. The internal layout of the residential accommodation
is designed to maximise the outlook and minimise the number of single, north-facing
units.

8.60

New Public Square: The proposed square (approx. 645sqm) would be south facing
on the corner of Thurston Road. The square provides a clear pedestrian route to
the proposed BLE Station entrance, pedestrian routes around the edge of the
square, tree / planters and a flexible open hard space in front of the station that has
- 39 Page 49

the potential to accommodate a range of external uses (e.g. outdoor seating relating
to cafes / restaurants). The square will be designed to have active feature lighting
to make it attractive and safe after dark and it will include short-stay cycle parking
at its edge. Officers recommend that water and electricity services within the square
be secured by planning Condition, in order to enable the square to be adaptable to
a variety of activites
8.61

Thurston Road and Loampit Vale Footways: The principles established in
application 102049 have been retained in this scheme and Building A would be set
approx. 4.0 to 4.5m back from the existing site boundaries to allow for a Thurston
Road footway width of approx. 6m (including a proposed servicing and car parking
layby). Building B would be located about 1.5m in from the boundary with the
Loampit Vale, allowing for a footway width of between 2.7m and 5.6m plus the
loading bays of 3m width.

8.62

TfL has agreed to adopt as public highway the full set back from the kerb. It is
recommended that this is secured by a s278 Agreement (required by Obligation).
The corner of the square have units that front onto Thurston Road and Loampit
Vale. Otherwise the residential lobbies for each building will be located on these
frontages and bring activity and life to them. These frontages would be approx. 2m
from the footway behind a double-height covered colonnade.

8.63

Service corridor. A gated pedestrian service area of between approx. 1.5 to 2m wide
would run around the rear of Blocks A and B, providing access for the servicing of
the buildings and fire escapes only.
Scale (Massing and Height)

8.64

London Plan Policy 7.7 states that tall and large buildings should be part of a planled approach to changing or developing an area by the identification of appropriate,
sensitive and inappropriate locations. Tall buildings should not have an
unacceptably harmful impact on their surroundings. To this end, the Council has
prepared a Lewisham Tall Buildings Study (September 2010, updated 2012) which
formed part of the Core Strategy evidence base and informed the Lewisham Town
Centre Local Plan, detailed below. London Plan Policy 7.7 further states that
applications for tall and large buildings should include an urban design analysis
meeting strict design criteria including form, proportion, composition, urban grain,
architecture, uses and its contribution to local regeneration. Draft London Plan
Policy D8: Tall Buildings also has some weight.

8.65

Policy 18 of the Core Strategy Core Strategy Policy 18 relates to the location and
design of tall buildings and identifies Lewisham Town Centre as an appropriate
location for tall buildings. The policy also states that tall buildings will be considered
inappropriate where they would cause harm to the identified qualities of the local
character, heritage assets, landscape and open space features of amongst other
designations the World Heritage Site of Maritime Greenwich including its setting
and Buffer Zone, the setting of the World Heritage Site and its Buffer Zone;
conservation areas and their settings, and local views and landmarks. Tall buildings
will need to be of the highest design quality.

8.66

Policy LTC19 (Tall buildings) in the LTCLP states that Applicants will need to comply
with Core Strategy Policy 18 and then satisfy the specific requirements of Policy
LTC19. The policy states that tall buildings in the town centre must be in the most
sustainable town centre locations with access to transport, shops and services;
increase the amount of local amenity space and improve its quality in order to
accommodate tall buildings; add positively to the existing and emerging overall
- 40 Page 50

Lewisham town centre skyline through sensitive and high quality design providing
positive landmarks from all angles of view; be part of a varied size, scale and height
of development; and be sensitive to the surrounding environment.
8.67

The application site is identified in the Lewisham Tall Buildings Study. This states
that Lewisham Town Centre is not overly sensitive in terms of open space other
than Cornmill Gardens, but that amenity around the pedestrianised high street and
market should be enhanced, and that the impact of tall buildings on the River
Ravensbourne should be taken into consideration when considering the location of
tall buildings. It states that development of tall buildings in the town centre needs to
take into account the quality and management of the public realm for pedestrian
and vehicular movement alike. The Study also notes buildings such as St Stephen’s
Church and the Lewisham Clock Tower provide a sense of place and history. Other
landmarks in Lewisham are important as a method of way-finding such as the
Citibank building, and add a sense of place to the centre. All are important to
consider when deciding where to locate tall buildings. The Study does not however,
provide guidance on maximum building heights (in terms of storeys or height Above
Ordnance Datum).

8.68

In terms of the location of tall buildings the Study notes that tall and bulky buildings
forms including Citibank Tower already exist in Lewisham and therefore new tall
building developments will not be an unfamiliar urban form in the local context. In
terms of the sensitivity of the town centre for tall buildings the Study identifies the
northern part of the town centre as being broadly appropriate for tall buildings in
principle.

8.69

Block B : is proposed to be 35 storeys / 110m AOD at its highest point, this being
the central bay of the three-bay building, this being 4.75m higher than the consented
scheme. The rationale for the additional building height being that the tall building
aids the legibility of Lewisham Town Centre by creating a tall building to mark the
location of the Bakerloo Line Extension station in views from the south and west
particularly. The planning harm of the additional building height on the context of
the building is limited in extent.

8.70

The western bay steps down by two-storeys to 33 storeys and the eastern bay
stepping down from the central bay by 4 storeys to 31 storeys. The consented
scheme on the site had the same massing approach with bays at 30 (105.3m AOD),
28 and 26 storeys. The extra storeys have been achieved by the proposed modular
construction method and not by reducing floor-to-ceiling heights (and residential
amenity) within the building. Thus average floor heights are proposed to be reduced
from 3075mm to 2775mm, achieving a saving of approximately 30cm per floor.

8.71

The proposed tall building compares with the approved 30-storey (97.5m) tall
building at the SW corner of Lewisham Gateway 2, the 25-storey (approx. 91.5m
AOD) tall building at the NE corner of Lewisham Gateway 1 and the approved 24storey Retail Park building on the south side of Thurston Road (approx. 91.4m
AOD).

8.72

The proposed Connington Road scheme (DC/18/109184 and DC/17/101621)
proposes a 34-storey building (approx. 124.95m AOD), which would make it the
tallest building in Lewisham Town Centre. However, as the first application is on
appeal and the second refused this proposal has limited weight in supporting the
height proposed within these proposals. The planning inquiry relating to this
development was completed on Friday 17 May 2019 and a Secretary of State
decision on this application is anticipated before the end of 2019.
- 41 Page 51

8.73

Block A would have a public square-facing elevation of 18 storeys, and then step
back from the square (to the north) over three floors to 20 storeys (I.e on an eastwest axis there is one bay of 18 storeys, one at 19 storeys and one at 20 storeys)
(the consented scheme proposed a similar building at stepping from 14 to 16
storeys. The proposed height of Building A in relation to Building B would be
improved if it was reduced to the height of the consented scheme to enhance the
contrast between the two buildings. However, the massing of the building as it
relates to the primary southern elevation (onto the square) has been carefully
considered and is successful in its own right, stepping both up and to the east
across the building bays, reducing the impact of the building height. The success of
the northern elevation, at 20 storeys, will be dependent upon the architectural
design of the façade (see below)..

8.74

The Environmental Statement includes a Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment
(TVIA) which assesses 27 medium and long-range views of the proposed
development. The location of these views was agreed by officers and are consistent
with the viewpoints used to assess the impact of the existing tall building situated
within the town centre.


























8.75

Shooters Hill Road
Shooters Hill Road (2)
Mounts Pond Road
Lewisham Hill
Hither Green Lane near Canada Gardens
Mountsfield Park
Blythe Hill Fields
Ravensbourne Park
Ladywell Park
Hilly Fields
Elverson Road DLR
Thurston Road
Lewisham Station 1
Lewisham Station 2
Loampit Vale
Rennell Street
Elmira Street
Brookbank Road
Loampit Hill
Loampit Vale at railway bridge
Cressingham Road
Marsala Road
Broomill Park
Armoury Road
Silkworks

The assessment took account of the current and emerging townscape of Lewisham
Town Centre including Lewisham Gateway and the Lewisham Renaissance
schemes, as well as Thurston Point and the approved Retail Park scheme. Overall
the assessment finds that the proposed development, once completed would have
a positive benefit to views and the townscape character of Lewisham Town Centre.
Officers agree with this assessment.
- 42 Page 52

8.76

At 35-storeys (110m AOD) the tallest element of Block B would be 12.5m taller than
the tallest building so far approved in Lewisham Town Centre. From a strategic
urban design perspective this is warranted given the important location of the
building immediately adjacent to the Lewisham Station and at the location of the
proposed access to the Lewisham Bakerloo Line Station. There is a strong urban
design rationale to providing a tall building at Lewisham Station and on the site of
the proposed Bakerloo Line Extension station access. This is supported in principle
by the DRP, Greater London Authority and the Blackheath Society.

8.77

The proposed building height has been common amongst the objections received.
Officers have helped to shape the scheme during pre-application discussions and
have thoroughly considered the design rationale, urban design analysis in the
Design and Access Statement and findings of the TVIA. Officers consider the case
for two tall buildings that enable and frame a new public square has been clear and
well thought through. The proposed stepping of each building and the contrast in
height between the two buildings themselves is considered appropriate. Although
the building profile along Loampit Vale is punctuated by taller buildings, the general
approach is a gradual step up in height towards the town centre. The proposed
scheme would continue this approach, with the proposed taller building (Block B)
providing a new focal point when approaching the town centre from the west and
providing a marker for the existing station and potential new station entrance that
would be included in its base. Both proposed tall buildings would positively address
the adjoining streets (Loampit Vale and Thurston Road) and the proposed new
square, be well designed and make a noticeable but positive impact on Lewisham’s
skyline.

8.78

As outlined in Section 6, the scheme has been reviewed by the Lewisham Design
Review Panel. The scheme has been designed to reflect the principles established
by the LDRP in relation to the consented scheme. Officers have continued to work
with the design team to ensure a high-quality proposal and now consider that they
represent a convincing and well considered scheme.
Appearance and Architectural design

8.79

Facade treatments and articulation: The proposed architectural language is
intentionally uncomplicated to compliment the proposed stepped building massing.

8.80

Building base: The ground and first floors of each building would be grouped
together to form a base expressed as a colonnade onto Station Square. The glazed
elevation to the ground floor commercial units is offset from the colonnade by.

8.81

The main elevations of Block A and B expresses the proportions of the colonnade
up the elevation, with the primary brick piers extending up the elevation within an
overall brick frame. Secondary brick piers are applied within this at higher level bays
and horizontal brick banding is applied to break up the massing of the elevation by
arranging the floors into groups of four floors within the main body of both buildings,.
This provides a subtle unifying interest and create a legible sense of building height.
The end elevations of both blocks would have a more vertical emphasis, distinctly
divided in to three elements, with stacking fenestration separated by vertical piers of
brickwork that run up the building. There is a greater ratio of glazing compared to
solid panels on the end elevations and the brick frame would also be recessed at
the edges of these elevations, apart from on the NE elevation of Block A where the
brick panel projects beyond the glazing to form a strong “fin” edge to this elevation.
The elevations have sufficient depth to ensure that the elevation have a high quality.
- 43 Page 53

8.82

Materials: The building material in Building A will be a dark brown / grey brick with
mortar to match with bronze-coloured panels dividing floor levels within bays and
bronze window framing. The building material in Building B will be a light grey brick
with bronze-coloured panels dividing floor levels within bays and bronze window
framing. The stairwells on the northern elevation of this building are highlighted by
means of bronze-tinted glazing, breaking up the bulk of the elevation and providing
visual interest.

8.83

The two-storey link building would include a partially glazed roof to allow natural light
in to Unit 5 / potential station ticket hall.

8.84

Windows and door configurations are limited in number and have been carefully
arranged to create aligned and ordered facades. Windows and doors would be
recessed by a minimum of 225mm to add depth and enhance the rhythm of the brick
piers and there would be inset balconies on all elevations.

8.85

Top to Buildings A and B: Both buildings would have a stepped profile to create an
interesting and varied skyline. The stepped elevations reflect the architectural
language of the lower storeys in Block B. Within Block B the top is glazed screens
to enclose the proposed roof terraces and living roof.

8.86

The application includes a comprehensive set of large scale bay studies, plans,
sections, architectural details and detailed material palette which satisfy Officers’
requirements to secure a building of high quality design for the site.

8.87

The application documentation (design and access statement) building omits a
building lighting strategy to identify how the building will be lit after dark to
emphasise its significance in the cityscape after dark and within Lewisham Town
Centre. Ideally a building lighting strategy would be intrinsically linked to the building
design strategy to ensure that these work together coherently. As this hasn’t been
provided then a planning Condition is recommended to secure the building lighting
strategy.

8.88

The Energy Strategy (see section 9.0) identifies that the south and western
elevations will suffer from overheating due to the proportion of glazing on the
elevations, known as solar gain. The energy strategy includes a range of measures
that will be employed to mitigate against solar gain, including elevational design
measures. Glazing specification is most likely to solve this issue from a solar gain
perspective, although a planning Condition is recommended to ensure that the
detail of the design response to the energy strategy is coherent and complements
the overall elevational design.

8.89

Overall, Officers consider that the proposed architecture is well considered,
responsive to its environment and appropriate for the site and would deliver high
quality buildings. Having completed a robust design appraisal, Officers support the
design of the tower and consider it to be of exemplary standard of architectural
quality and the proposed materials are considered to be robust and of a quality that
will ensure the appearance and architectural integrity of the building is maintained
through its lifespan. The proposed tall building will contribute to the overall
composition of tall buildings within Lewisham Town Centre and would emphasise
the location of the Lewisham Train Station and hence the spatial hierarchy of the
area,
Public realm and landscaping

8.90

Loampit Square. London Plan Policy 2.18 states that development should make the
public realm comprehensive with gateways and focal points and that architecture
- 44 Page 54

should contribute to a coherent streetscape and wider cityscape. The proposed
public square would comprise soft and hard landscaped areas, framed by two
planting areas and a tree canopy to provide a green buffer to Loampit Vale (A20),
together with a larger specimen tree nearer the centre. Detailed design has been
revised since the application was first submitted, with changes designed to make
the square more permeable and able to deal with expected pedestrian flows
associated with a station entrance. The square would include visitor cycle parking
and lighting columns and other street furniture – including a long timber bench along
the north-west edge - with opportunities for the incorporation of public art. The
proposed trees would be lit at night to help ensure the space is attractive and safe
at all times. The proposed hard landscape material reflects the history of brick
making in the area, with brick being the predominant material (using a narrow format
ratio to allow for a variety of patterns). Natural stone kerbs and channels would
contrast with brick, with permeable paving around the trees to ensure water supply.
8.91

Materials palette: The established materials palette is proposed for Loampit Vale
and Thurston Road footways, with natural stone kerbing and gulleys and the
inclusion of Natural Marshalls Perfecta slabs which have been used elsewhere
along Loampit Vale. A pedestrian service corridor would run around the back of
Blocks A and B (providing access to a bin store and mechanical plant) and it will be
important that the two entrances are gated to ensure a safe and secure
environment. Officers recommend that details of hard and soft landscaping,
including lighting and means of enclosure for the square/service corridor, and a
management and maintenance plan are reserved by condition.

8.92

Trees: London Plan policy 7.21 (Trees and woodlands) states that existing trees of
value should be retained and any lost as the result of development should be
replaced. A preference for trees with large canopies was referred to in the policy.
Core Strategy Policy 12 (Open space and environmental assets) states that public
realm greening can help mitigate against pollution and therefore the Council will
protect existing trees and require replacements where a loss does occur.

8.93

A total of 4 x individual trees (2 sycamores and 2 limes) on the site were identified
as part of the Aboricultural Survey submitted in support of the application. The
development would result in the removal of all four existing trees from the site.
However, three of these are Category C features and the Category B tree would
need to be removed in order to create a suitable working space during construction
activities. Their losses would be offset by the planting of 9 trees in the square. The
proposed species (Scott’s Pine and Oak) have been chosen to ensure tall stems
which allow for views below the canopies across the square and to the potential
station entrance. The proposed development should not harm trees on the adjoining
railway embankment and the Council’s Tree Officer who has not raised any objection
to the proposals.

8.94

Roof spaces. Living roofs will be included at level 20 in Block A and on all roofs on
top of Block B and are discussed further under the ecology section below. The lower
roof spaces would be private and communal roof terraces, comprising hard paving,
planted areas and potted trees.
Conservation and Heritage Assets

8.95

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
imposes a statutory duty on local planning authorities when considering whether to
grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its
setting. In such cases, the local planning authority must have special regard to the
- 45 Page 55

desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Similarly, Section 72 of the Act
requires that local planning authorities pay special attention in the exercise of
planning functions to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of a conservation area. ‘Preserving’ in the context of the statutory duty
means doing no harm.
8.96

The NPPF states that preserving and enhancing the historic environment is one of
the core principles of sustainable development. London Plan Policy 7.8 (Heritage
assets and archaeology) states that developments that could affect the setting of
heritage assets should be developed with a scale and design sympathetic to the
heritage assets. Lewisham Core Strategy Policy 16 Conservation areas, heritage
assets and the historic environment and DMLP Policy 36 (New development,
changes of use and alterations affecting designated heritage assets and their
setting: conservation areas, listed buildings, schedule of ancient monuments and
registered parks and gardens) both require designated and non-designated
heritage assets and Conservation areas and their settings to be protected,
preserved and/or enhanced through new development and changes of use.

8.97

The NPPF gives guidance on the approach when considering the impact of
proposals on heritage assets. Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that when
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given the asset’s conservation.
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Paragraph 134
advises that where a development will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.
Paragraph 135 of the NPPF requires that ‘The effect of an application on the
significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in
determining the application. In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly
non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset’.

8.98

The application site does not lie within a conservation area or archaeological priority
area (APA), although there is an APA (APA 6 - Lewisham and Catford/Rushey
Green) which lies 30m to the north, east and south of the site. The accompanying
Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment details that this designation is due to
medieval settlements that developed next to the Ravensbourne River. Historic
England has reviewed the accompanying Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment.
No objections have been raised to the proposed development subject to suitable
conditions being imposed.

8.99

The ES includes a Built Heritage Assessment and a Townscape and Visual Impact
Assessment which assesses the impact of the proposed development on the
surrounding Built Heritage. While the site is not located in a conservation area and
does not contain any listed buildings, there are a number of conservation areas and
listed buildings situated within the vicinity. The ES assesses the likely significant
impacts upon the following Conservation areas and nationally and locally listed
buildings:
Nationally Listed



Lewisham Bridge Primary School, Elmira Street
Church of Transfiguration, Algernon Road
- 46 Page 56







Church of Saint Stephen and Saint Mark Lewisham, Cressingham Rd,
London SE13
Clock Tower, Lewisham High Street
No. 11 and Nos. 14-18 Somerset Gardens
Nos. 4-10 Somerset Gardens
Nos. 10-18 Belmont Hill

Locally listed buildings





Nos. 65-71 Lewisham High Street
Nos. 85-87 Lewisham High
Nos. 93-95 Lewisham High Street,
The Joiners Arms (66 Lewisham High Street)

Conservation Areas












St. Stephen’s Conservation Area
Belmont Conservation Area
Mercia Grove Conservation Area
Blackheath Conservation Areas (LBL and RBG)
West Greenwich Conservation Area
Somerset Gardens Conservation Area
Brookmill Road Conservation Area
St. John’s Conservation Area
Brockley Conservation Area
Ladywell Conservation Area
St. Mary’s Conservation Area

8.100

Officers note that the nearest listed buildings are Lewisham Bridge Primary School,
located on Elmira Street, St Stephens Church on Cressingham Road to the east of
the site and the Church of the Transfiguration situated to the south west of the site
on Algernon Road. The proposed development would be separated from Lewisham
Bridge Primary School and the Church of the Transfiguration by the Renaissance
development while the proposed development would be separated from St
Stephens Church by the existing railway viaduct and the Gateway Development,
which is currently under construction. The separation and position of the scheme
would ensure that the setting of the buildings would not be significantly affected and
would not harm their respective special interest.

8.101

The heritage assets listed above are of importance. However, the accompanying
ES finds that there would be a change of medium magnitude to both nationally and
Locally listed buildings which have low to moderate sensitivity. Accordingly, the
significance is considered to be minor to moderate and the effect is found to be
neutral. It should be noted that Historic England has not raised any objection to the
proposed development.

8.102

With regard to the potential impact of the proposed development upon the
surrounding conservation areas, the Loampit Vale site is some distance from the
Belmont and St Stephen’s conservation areas and are separated by the dominant
road system and railway viaduct along with Phase 1A and 1B Lewisham Gateway
development. In this context it is considered that the proposed development would
have no discernible impact on the setting of these and other conservation areas,
and their character and appearance would therefore be preserved.

- 47 Page 57

8.103

The Built Heritage Assessment completed as part of the Environmental Statement
finds that impacts on built heritage assets are all insignificant (indiscernible, minor
and minor-to-moderate).

8.104

Officers have concluded that the effect of the proposed development on
surrounding Listed buildings and conservation areas would be neutral and their
setting will be preserved. Accordingly, mitigation is not required. In light of the
above, Officers consider that, the setting of both the designated and non-designated
heritage assets, would be preserved.
Housing - mix, tenure and standard of accommodation
Affordable housing and tenure mix

8.105

The NPPF recognises the need to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes,
widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and
mixed communities. The NPPF specifies that local planning authorities should plan
for a mix of housing based on current and future demographic trends, identify the
size, type, tenure and range of housing that is required in particular locations. This
should reflect local demand, and where a need for affordable housing is identified,
local planning authorities should set policies for meeting this need on site, unless
off-site provision or a financial contribution of broadly equivalent value can be
robustly justified and the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating
mixed and balanced communities. Such policies should be sufficiently flexible to
take account of changing market conditions over time.

8.106

Draft London Plan Policy H17: Purpose-built Student Accommodation has a
requirement for 35% affordable student housing. This policy has limited weight due
to its draft status only.

8.107

The Lewisham Core Strategy commits the Council to negotiating for an element of
affordable housing to be provided in any major residential development with the
starting point for negotiations being a contribution of 50% affordable housing on
qualifying sites across the Borough, subject to financial viability.

8.108

With regard to tenure mix, Core Strategy Policy 1 states that the affordable housing
component is to be provided as 70% social rented and 30% intermediate housing
although it also states that where a site falls within an area which has existing high
concentrations of social rented housing, the Council will seek for any affordable
housing contribution to be provided in a way which assists in securing a more
balanced social mix. The London Plan has a 60%-40% split to allow a higher
percentage of intermediate housing or other arrangements as considered
appropriate.

8.109

In terms of dwelling sizes Core Strategy Policy 1 also states that the provision of
family housing (3+ bedrooms) will be expected as part of any new development with
10 or more dwellings and, in the case of affordable housing, the Council will seek a
mix of 42% as family dwellings (3+ bedrooms), having regard to criteria specified in
the Policy relating to the physical character of the site, access to private gardens or
communal areas, impact on car parking, the surrounding housing mix and the
location of schools and other services.

8.110

Officers have worked with the Applicant to secure an enhanced AH Offer based
upon a surplus. The AH Uplift offer mix reflects the GLA’s informal view that some
- 48 Page 58

affordable student housing should be provided in order to comply with London Plan
and draft London Plan policy.
8.111

The GLA considers that the AH Offer helps to achieve the affordable housing
expectations of both the London Plan Policy 3.12, Draft London Plan Policy H6,
Draft London Plan Policy H17: Purpose-Built Student Accommodation and
Affordable Housing and Viabiliy SPG. GLA support for this AH Offer in principle has
been set out in the GLA Stage One report received 24 April 2019. The GLA’s Stage
One response supports this approach and is positive about the nature of the
affordable housing offer, subject to independent viability review (IVR).

8.112

The affordable housing products forming part of the AH Offer put forward by the
developer are Target Social Rent (low cost) and Shared Ownership (intermediate).
Target Social Rent is a genuinely affordable housing product and is Lewisham’s
preferred low-cost housing product. London Living Rent is Lewisham’s preferred
intermediate housing product but shared ownership is acceptable in policy terms.

8.113

The target social rent units would be let at Lewisham social rent levels, as set out
in Table 8, below. The intermediate (shared ownership) units would be available
initially to households meeting the Lewisham income levels as defined in the
Planning Obligations SPD 2015 and subsequently, if not purchased, to those
meeting the GLA income bands.
Table 8: Adopted Lewisham Target Social rent levels

8.114

Unit size

2019/20

Bedsit and one bedroom

£141.43

Two bedrooms

£149.74

Three bedrooms

£158.06

Table 9 provides a comparison between the following affordable housing offers in
terms of their headline offer:


Consented AH Offer (102049);



Application-stage affordable housing offer (110610) received January 2019; and



Enhanced affordable housing offer (received April 2019).

- 49 Page 59

Consented AH Offer

242

34

15

49

20.25

Application AH Offer

309

34

51

85

27.4

AH Uplift Offer (April
2019)

318

40

27

92

28.9

25 (76)

Exceptional
costs
(tunnel design/ BLE
access)

8.115

% Affordable by unit

Total Affordable units

Affordable student
housing

Shared Ownership

Options

Target Social Rent

Total Units

Table 9: Comparative analysis of headline Affordable Housing Offer by units

+ 10%
equivalent

Table 9 illustrates that the affordable housing offer has been substantially increased
over the consented scheme in terms of the number of units being provided at both
application and AH uplift stages. Table 10 (below) illustrates a comparison of the
three headline affordable housing offers on the basis of three indicators: square
metres; bedspaces and units. All three indicators illustrate the same trend. A
comparison by floorspace could perhaps be considered the fairest comparison of
market: affordable on the basis of cost, and this represents a 33.3% AH Offer.
Table 10: Comparison of AH offers on basis of three indicators
Square metres
(% in brackets)
AH

Mkt

Total

Units
3 PBSH = 1 C3 unit
(% in brackets)
AH
Mkt
Total

Habitable rooms
(% in brackets)
AH

Mkt

Total

Consented
AH Offer

4961
(23.4)

16186
(66.6)

21147
(100)

49
(20.25)

193
(79.75)

242
(100|)

145
(22.5)

452
(77.5
)

644
(100)

Application
AH Offer

8999.6
(33.3)

17996.4
(66.6)

26996
(100)

85
(27.5)

224
(72.5)

309
(100)

252
(26.4)

703
(73.6
)

955
(100)

AH
Uplift
(April 2019)

8999.6
(33.3)

17996.4
(66.6)

26996
(100)

92
(28.9)

226
(71.2)

318
(100)

277
(27.92)

715
(72.7
)

992
(100)

Nature of the Affordable Housing Offer
8.116

The breakdown of the Affordable Housing Offer is set out in Table 11 (overleaf).
The proposed C3 affordable housing mix is a 60%:40% split between social rent
and shared ownership (40 SR: 27 SO units). This mix does not quite achieve the
70:30 policy target for a mix between low-cost: intermediate affordable housing
products. However, when the 76 affordable student housing units are taken into
account then this affordable housing offer is considered to be acceptable, subject
to independent viability review.
- 50 Page 60

8.117

The dwelling size mix proposed is set out in Table 11 (below), and is broadly
acceptable in that it includes a mix of 1, 2 and 3-bed (family-sized) units, given the
location of the development and the limited ability of the site to accommodate onsite private and communal amenity space suited to family needs.
Table 11:
Unit Size

AH Offer C3 Affordable Housing unit size breakdown (Building A)
Social rent

Shared
Ownership

Overall

1
bedroom

10(4)

25%

8(3)

29.6%

18

26.9%

2
bedroom

20

50%

12

44.4%

32

47.8%

3
bedroom

10

25%

7

26%

17

25.3%

Overall

40

100%

27

100%

67

100%

M4(3) Wheelchair units in brackets (7)
8.118

Block A includes a mix of 67 C3 housing units and 87 private student housing units
that will are separated within the building. Building B will include the 78 affordable
student housing units and 594 market student housing units. The student housing
will be linked by a corridor that connects Building A to Building B above the ticket
hall on the northern side of the gap. There will therefore be no differentiation
between affordable student housing and market student housing units in terms of
access to facilities. Affordable student housing units within Building B will be located
on lower floor levels.

8.119

The C3 housing would be developed and taken on by a Registered Provider that
would be responsible for all residential accommodation. Social housing units would
be located at lower levels and shared ownership units located at upper levels. There
would be one residential entrance and lobby and no differentiation in terms of the
design or external materials between the type of units and all future residents would
have access to the proposed communal terraces in Block A and children’s play area
Officers consider that the proposed location of the affordable housing units and
access to amenities is acceptable taking into account management and
maintenance efficiency.

8.120

The Draft London Plan (Policy H17) defines affordable student accommodation as
a PBSA bedroom that is provided at a rental cost for the academic year equal to or
below 55 per cent of the maximum income that a new full-time student studying in
London and living away from home could receive from the Government’s
maintenance loan for living costs for that academic year. The actual amount the
Mayor defines as affordable student accommodation for the coming academic year
is published in the Mayor’s Annual Monitoring Report.

8.121

Scheme viability. The level of affordable housing proposed falls short of the 50%
target in Core Strategy Policy 1. As already noted, the 50% figure is a starting point
for negotiations and is subject to viability. In line with guidance set out in the
Council's Planning Obligations SPD the Applicant submitted an Economic Viability
Appraisal Report (EVA) (February 2018), prepared by James R Brown.

- 51 Page 61

8.122

Lewisham have appointed GL Hearn to undertake an Independent Viability Review
(IVR) of the FVA. This viability review has been complex due to the nature of the
scheme combining affordable student housing with affordable C3 housing but has
now been concluded, and the report can be found at Appendix 2. The IVR now
concludes that the AH Offer before Lewisham is the maximum reasonable
affordable housing offer.

8.123

Both the application affordable housing offer and the affordable housing uplift offer
are very close to the Mayor of London’s threshold of 35% on the basis of floorspace,
and are close to this threshold on the basis of units and habitable rooms. The
scheme includes exceptional infrastructure costs to the developer that would add
an additional 10% affordable housing, as confirmed in relation to the consented
scheme. These relate to the additional costs of structural design in relation to the
BLE tunnel / station box and providing the access to the BLE Station. This would
take the AH offer to the equivalent of 38.9% affordable housing (by unit), which
would exceed the GLA policy threshold of 35%. The GLA acknowledge this in their
Stage One report.

8.124

The agreed Application-Stage Construction Costs are £100,703,327 and the
Agreed Application-Stage Gross Development Value are £134,425,500, with an
agreed (blended) developer’s profit of 14.39% on GDV (15% commercial, 6%
affordable C3 housing, 15% affordable student housing).

8.125

The proposed development would give rise to additional demands on existing social
infrastructure such as schools and health services. Funding of the provision,
improvement, replacement, operation or maintenance of infrastructure to support
the development of the Borough is now secured through Community Infrastructure
Levy (CIL) payments. CIL liability has been assessed and the composite figure has
been calculated at an estimated £3,689,117 for both Mayoral CIL and LB Lewisham
CIL. The IVR takes account of the likely CIL payments and the site-specific
mitigation measures that require financial contributions, as set out in Section 10 of
this report.

8.126

Taking account of guidance in the Mayor of London’s Affordable Housing and
Viability SPG, officers recommend that s106 obligations require the proposed level
of affordable housing is subject to review. The precise terms of the review will be
negotiated with the Applicant. However, these should secure an early stage review
(upon substantial implementation if the planning permission has not been
implemented within two years) and a late stage review (when 75% of homes are
sold or occupied and where developer returns meet or exceed an agreed level).
Housing Mix, Tenure and Standard of Accommodation

8.127

Core Strategy Policy 1 ‘Housing provision, mix and affordability’ makes clear that in
order to ensure that proposed housing development responds to local need, the
provision of family housing (3+ bedrooms) will be expected as part of any new
development with 10 or more dwellings. In the case of affordable housing, the policy
seeks 42% of new homes as family dwellings. In terms of private housing, the
objective is to enable families to remain in an area and therefore provide long term
sustainability for local communities. This policy further states that an appropriate
mix of dwellings within a development will be sought having regard to:
a. the physical character of the site or building and its setting;
b. the previous or existing use of the site or building;
c. access to private gardens or communal garden areas for family dwellings;
- 52 Page 62

d. the likely effect on demand for car parking within the area;
e. the surrounding housing mix and density of population;
f. the location of schools, shops, open space and other infrastructure requirements.
8.128

The proposed development comprises 67 self-contained residential units and 89
student study bedrooms, with Block B to remain as 670 student bedrooms in a mix
of sizes and single / cluster units.

8.129

As detailed in Table 11 above, the proposed development would provide a range of
dwelling types and sizes between 1b/2p and 3b/4p. Whilst at 25.3% the level of 3bed units is below the policy requirement, it should be noted that the dwelling-size
mix is only the starting point in considering the merits of the proposal and
consideration should be given to the quality of the proposed accommodation, local
character of the site, location, type of building proposed and potential for external
private space.

8.130

The site is located within Lewisham Town Centre is served by Lewisham Mainline
Station, Lewisham DLR station along with numerous bus routes and is in a highly
accessibly location. Given this and the constraints of the site, officers consider the
proposed dwelling size mix to be acceptable.

8.131

Table 13 (overleaf) illustrates that the purpose-built student housing dwelling size
mix is varied and offers a mix of sizes and types of units. This will help to ensure
that the development meets the demand and price-point for a range of different
student needs, with the typical floorplan repeated at all levels and therefore
ensuring that there is no diffentiation between affordable and market purpose-built
student housing in terms of the unit sizes and types offered.
Table 12: Application scheme Student Housing Size Mix
Building

One person
Studios units
(14.4-17.6
sqm)

Building A

88

100%

Building B

393

58.7%

Twoperson
studio units
(24.9-31.2)

27

4%

Cluster units
(12.3sqm or
19.7sqm)

Universal
Access Units

0

--

0

--

88

11.6%

174

25.4%

76

11.3

670

88.4%

758

100%

(23.331.2sqm)

Total number of
units (% of total
PSSH)

Standard of residential accommodation
8.132

London Plan Policy 3.5 sets out the minimum floor space standards for new homes
relative to the number of occupants. It outlines that the design of all new dwellings
should include adequately sized rooms, convenient and efficient room layouts and
meet the changing needs of Londoners’ over their lifetimes.

8.133

DM Policy 32 ‘Housing design, layout and space standards’ and Policy 3.5 ‘Quality
and design of housing developments’ of the London Plan requires housing
development to be of the highest quality internally, externally and in relation to their
context. These police set out the requirements with regards to housing design,
seeking to ensure the long-term sustainability of the new housing provision.
Informed by the NPPF, the Mayors Housing SPG provides guidance on how to
implement the housing policies in the London Plan. In particular, it provides detail
on how to carry forward the Mayor’s view that “providing good homes for Londoners
is not just about numbers. The quality and design of homes, and the facilities
- 53 Page 63

provided for those living in them, are vital to ensuring good liveable
neighbourhoods”.
8.134

Nationally prescribed space standards were released in March 2015 to replace the
existing different space standards used by local authorities. It is not a building
regulation and remains solely within the planning system as a new form of technical
planning standard.

8.135

The national housing standards are roughly in compliance with the space standards
of the London Plan. However, there are differences in the spacing of individual
rooms as well as floor to ceiling heights. In the instance of conflict, the national
housing standards take precedent.

8.136

In addition to this, DM Policy 32 seeks to ensure that new residential development
provides a satisfactory level of privacy, outlook, direct sunlight and daylight. It also
states that new housing should be provided with a readily accessible, secure,
private and usable external space and includes space suitable for children’s play.

8.137

Standard 31 of the Housing SPG states that “A minimum ceiling height of 2.5 metres
for at least 75% of the gross internal area is strongly encouraged.” The technical
housing standards require the minimum internal floor areas set out in Table 6 below.
Table 13: C3 Dwelling Size Mix
Unit Size

Type

Unit size
(sqm)

Min
size
NDSS

Balcony
(winter
garden)
size

Min size
Housing
SPG

Overall
size

Combined
standard

(sqm)

1 bedroom

1B2P

55.4-57.7

50

5.8

5

61.2

55

2 bedroom

2B3P

69.4

61

7.2

6

76.4

67

2B4P

80.65

70

7.7

7

88.3

77

3B4P

75.16

74

7sqm

8

82.16

82

3 bedroom

8.138

The Nationally Described Space Standard defines minimum unit sizes to be
applied in the design of dwellings, as illustrated in the above table. Standard
4.10.1 of the Mayor’s Housing SPG sets out the baseline requirements for private
open space. The standard requires a minimum of 5sq.m to be provided for 1-2person dwellings and an extra 1sq.m for each additional occupant.

8.139

Table 12 illustrates that all 1 and 2-bed units exceed the Nationally Described
Space Standard minimum sizes and the Housing SPG balcony sixes by
approximately 10%, and therefore the units are generous and will offer an good
standard of accommodation. The 3 bedroom 4 person units have a combined area
that meets the combined sizes of unit and balcony, with the balcony size missing
the minimum sizes by 1sqm. As the combined unit and balcony area exceeds the
combined targets this is considered to be acceptable and offer a good standard of
accommodation. This configuration has resulted from the need to change the
floorplan to include student housing on each floor.

8.140

The proposed plans have also been annotated with essential furniture which
demonstrates that all units could comfortably accommodate the necessary furniture
and circulation spaces. Furthermore, the internal floor to ceiling heights would be a
- 54 Page 64

minimum of 2.5 metres. It is considered that adequate internal living spaces would
be provided for the future occupiers.
8.141

All balconies proposed in Block A are proposed to benefit from glazed screens
enabling them to become “winter gardens” and improving residential amenity
around the clock. It is recommended that the detailed design of the glazed screens
is secured by planning Condition. The glazed screens will also provide sound
insulation to enable the balcony spaces to benefit from internal noise levels should
residents wish, in order to avoid noise emanating from Loampit Vale, Lewisham
Station and railway line and the Lewisham Bus depot to the north of the site (see
Noise and Vibration at 8.149-8.153). A planning Obligation is recommended by
Officers to advise them of the Agent of Change principle and that their winter
balconies are designed to internal noise standards when the glazed screens are
closed.

8.142

Both the Mayor’s Housing SPG and Development Management Local Plan 2014
DM Policy 32 ‘Housing design, layout and space standards’ details specific
considerations in relation to outlook and daylight and sunlight. The Housing SPG
states that developments should avoid single-aspect dwellings that are northfacing, exposed to noise levels above which significant adverse effects on health
and quality of life occur, or contain three or more bedrooms.’

8.143

Daylight and Sunlight. In relation to levels of daylight and sunlight, the British
Research Establishment (BRE) guidelines “Site Layout Planning for Daylight and
Sunlight: A guide to good practice” recommends best practice standards of new
development. Similarly, Standard 32 of the Housing SPG details that “All homes
should provide for direct sunlight to enter at least one habitable room for part of the
day.” The Housing SPG further states that where direct sunlight cannot be achieved
in line with Standard 32, developers should demonstrate how the daylight standards
proposed within a scheme and individual units will achieve good amenity for
residents.

8.144

Average Daylight Factor compares how the level of light inside a building compares
to the level of light outside a building. The ADF calculation estimates how much light
will actually reach occupants throughout a building. To do this, a horizontal surface
(working plane) is plotted at the height work will typically be carried out. The ADF
then looks at the amount of daylight reaching each area of this plane, in comparison
with its total area. The external daylight level used within the ADF is based on a
standard overcast sky. The final ADF is then expressed as a percentage. This
represents the average amount of light (illuminance) on the working plane
compared with outside. For example, an ADF of 1% would mean the average
internal light level is one hundredth the outdoor (unobstructed) light level

8.145

The ES Addendum includes an internal assessment of Daylight and Sunlight for
Building A and Building B (prepared by Michael Hollis and received 28 June 2019),
see Table 14. This reflects the amendments to Building A following on from
revisions to the typical floorplan to the building to include five PBSB on each floor
and four C3 units per floor.

- 55 Page 65

Table 14: Internal Daylight and Sunlight Assessment
Building
Address

Test

No.
analysed

Proposed
Building A

Daylight
(DD)

82 rooms

Daylight
(ADF)

82 rooms

Sunlight
(APSH)

65 rooms

Daylight
(DD)

115 rooms

Daylight
(ADF)

115 rooms

Sunlight
(APSH)

65 rooms

Proposed
Building B

BRE
compliant
(%)
69

Not
BRE
compliant
(%)
13

(84%)

(16%)

70

12

(85%)

(15%)

36

29

(55%)

(45%)

105

10

(91%

(9%)

110

5

(96%)

(4%)

48

17

(74%)

(26%)

8.146

In addition a cumulative scenario for both Building A and Building B has been
assessed taking into account the proposed developments in the immediate context.
This resulted in a slight reduction in the pass rates for Building A for Daylight to 79%
and for Sunlight to 42%, taking into account surrounding development proposals
(e.g. the Retail Park site).

8.147

The BRE guidelines outline that where a group of dwellings are proposed, site
layout and design should maximise the number of dwellings that have main living
areas which receive the recommended amount of sunlight.

8.148

The juxtaposition of Buildings A and Building B result in lower levels of Daylight and
Sunlight within the niche / courtyard area of the proposed development, which is to
be expected. This particularly impacts on Building A, which also has a long northfacing elevation.

8.149

Daylight: The vast majority of windows that fall below the standards relate to
bedrooms, which are less important than living rooms in terms of access to daylight
and sunlight given their largely nocturnal pattern of usage.

8.150

Building B is considered to offer an acceptable level of daylight and sunlight in that
all rooms below the standard are studyrooms (bedrooms) and not living spaces,
with all living spaces facing south. Building B also has access to communal areas
at lower levels and within cluster flats, which would make student living very
attractive and be very likely to outweigh any the levels of light in study rooms.

8.151

Building A offers accommodation with slightly lower levels of daylight and sunlight
overall, as a result of the northern and eastern elevations (within the niche between
the two buildings). However, these elevations are almost entirely bedrooms (mostly
student study rooms and one C3 unit) and stair cores, and therefore lesser levels
of daylight and sunlight are considered to be acceptable. All C3 units within Building
A are dual aspect, apart from one west-facing one-bedroom unit on each floor level,
which has good light levels. One C3 unit on each floor level within the courtyard
area between Building A and B floor has a living room / dining room / kitchen with
relatively low levels of daylight and sunlight (55% of the room will be adequately lit).
- 56 Page 66

However, these rooms are also dual aspect and benefit from east-facing winter
gardens. The internal playroom (partially fronting onto the courtyard) has 68% of
the room being well lit, which is slightly below the BRE standard but still to a good
level of Daylight.
8.152

Sunlight: In terms of sunlight levels the general requirement under the BRE Guide
is for main living rooms within homes to achieve over 25% of the annual percentage
of sunlight hours (APSH) and 5% of sunlight hours in winter months. North-facing
rooms are excluded from sunlight assessment.

8.153

All but 3 rooms pass the requirement for the annual target, and those that fail do so
only marginally (e.g. 23/24%). Most of the rooms that do not meet the requirement
have more than one window to the Living / Dining / Kitchen rooms (e.g. are dual
aspect), which enhances their amenity value. Eight windows that do fall short face
Block B and are not main principal windows in the rooms that they serve.

8.154

Winter sunlight results are less successful but this is a consequence of the impact
of a lower sun level within the context of an urban environment, which is
unsurprising (i.e. the buildings are / will be surrounded by relatively high buildings).

8.155

Daylight and Sunlight Conclusion: Daylight and sunlight levels to Building B are
considered by Officers to be satisfactory. Whilst Building A does have a lower pass
rate this is to be balanced against competing factors including the desire for a high
density development in this location, the highly accessible nature of the location,
the overall quality of the development, and the quality of the accommodation. The
units in Building A offer attractive accommodation with good outlook and relatively
high levels of daylight and sunlight to living rooms. Student housing within Block A
will also have access to the communal student facilities located in Block B via the
link bridge. This will improve the overall standard accommodation for those student
bedspaces in Building A.

8.156

On balance, given the competing factors of location and quality of accommodation
against the daylight and sunlight proposition, Officers consider that the proposed
development offers an acceptable level of daylight and sunlight for the purposes of
residential amenity.

8.157

Communal space - BRE Guidelines recommend that 50 per cent of the amenity
space receives two or more hours of sunlight on 31 March. A sunlight assessment
of external communal amenity space has been completed by the applicant. This
shows that the podium level community playspace does not meet the BRE
requirements for external community space. The internal playspace at second floor
level that provides the access to the podium level playspace will provide a yearround facility for the benefit of all resident children (see section on child’s
playspace). Whilst the external playspace will not be BRE compliant it will
nonetheless provide a facility for children to enjoy in conjunction with the internal
space. It will need to be designed to take into account the light levels within the
space. A planning Condition is recommended to secure the appropriate detailed
design of all rooftop amenity spaces.

8.158

The rooftop communal amenity spaces at floors 18 and 19 do meet the BRE
guidelines and will provide attractive spaces for all C3 housing to enjoy, with equality
of access to all residents. All C3 units benefit from generous winter gardens /
balconies that are usable year-round. A planning Condition is recommended that
this equality of access ts secured in perpetuity.

- 57 Page 67

8.159

The London Plan Housing SPG recognises the potential difficulties of fully
complying with British Research Establishment (BRE) guidelines “Site Layout
Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A guide to good practice”. In this regard, the
Housing SPG outlines that in light of the London Plan’s strategic approach to
optimise housing output (Policy 3.4) and the need to accommodate additional
housing supply in locations with good accessibility which are suitable for higher
density development, such standards should be “applied sensitively to higher
density development in London, particularly in central and urban settings”. In regard
to levels on internal daylight or sunlight, the Housing SPG states that “quantitative
standards on daylight and sunlight should not be applied rigidly, without carefully
considering the location and context and standards experienced in broadly
comparable housing typologies in London.”

8.160

Officers accept that a development of this scale would inevitably result in some
dwellings not achieving the recommended internal daylight and sunlight levels and
consider the internal daylight and sunlight conditions to be acceptable when the
overall high level of residential amenity and regenerative benefits of the scheme are
taken into account.

8.161

Privacy and overlooking between units. The lowest level flat at Level 02 in Block B
would be about 15m away from the outer edge of the nearest platform at Lewisham
Station and be set above the height of the platform, meaning that occupiers would
have satisfactory outlook and privacy.

8.162

The distance between the NW corner study bedroom of Block B on the typical
floorplan and the SW corner C3 unit of Block A is approximately 9.5 metres.
However there is no overlooking into living spaces or from living spaces into
bedrooms, apart from at a very oblique angle. The bedroom-to-bedroom window
distance between Study bedroom in Block B and C3 bedroom is 9.5 metres. As the
student space is a bedroom / study / living space (a studio) then it is considered
appropriate to ensure that the secondary window to the student unit (on the NNW
elevation) is secured as obscured glazing on each floor level below Level 21,
secured by planning Condition in order to safeguard the privacy of future occupiers.

8.163

The Mayor’s Housing SPG (Standard 29) seeks to minimise the number of single
aspect dwellings and avoid single aspect dwellings that are north facing, or exposed
to noise levels above which significant adverse effects on health and quality of life
occur, or which contain three or more bedrooms. Of the 85 proposed dwellings in
Block A none would be north-facing single-aspect units. Two study bedrooms on
each floor (out of 23 on each level) are proposed to be north-facing in Block B. It is
considered that this represents a low level and is overall an acceptable level of
north-facing units given the overall design for each floor level.

8.164

Noise and vibration: The ES reports on a noise and vibration assessment. A noise
survey was carried out which details that the major noise sources that would likely
impact the proposed development would be from the heavily trafficked streets
surrounding the site along with the adjacent bus layover. The survey found that the
noise climate during the night-time was dominated by traffic (cars and buses) and
trains (from 04.30) and that ambient noise levels were not significantly different
during the day-time and night-time. The ES finds that the internal noise environment
of all proposed dwellings would meet the relevant night-time criteria through the
introduction of three specific glazing conditions, depending on location and
exposure to external noise sources. This is based on windows being closed and
mechanical ventilation being provided. However, it goes on to say that windows
should be openable to allow ‘purge’ ventilation (e.g. opening the window after
- 58 Page 68

burning toast) or additional cooling during the hottest periods of the summer
months.
8.165

TfL raised concerns in relation to the consented scheme (102049) that the
introduction of housing close to a 24-hour bus layover which has up to 100 bus
interchanges per hour at peak times could lead to complaints against the use of the
bus layover being raised by residents living in the flats on the northern façade of
Block A (with night-time/early morning complaints in particular).

8.166

The proposed homes in Block A would be at Level 2 (approx. 9.7m above ground
level) and above and set in 1.6m from the boundary. This relationship follows preapplication discussions in relation 102049, including with TfL, in order to make
provision in the development for a BLE station entrance accessed via a public
square. There would be 25 x 1 and 2-bed dual aspect flats in Block A that would
include living rooms and bedrooms on the north-facing façade, with each living room
having an inset balcony. The ES demonstrates to officer’s satisfaction that
appropriate internal noise levels for sleeping would be achievable if windows are
closed. TfL accepts that bus technology is likely to improve over the next 5 to 10
years, with the use of quieter hybrid and electric vehicles expected to lead to a
reduction in bus generated noise. Winter gardens are proposed with sliding acoustic
screens to all of the proposed balconies on both this façade and the façade facing
the station, to enable occupiers to reduce noise levels on their amenity space if they
so wish. This is considered a pragmatic and sensible solution.

8.167

TfL have commented on this aspect from an Agent of Change principle perspective.
(NPPF and Policy D12: Agent of Change of the Draft London Plan), and requested
that the proposed development accords with the provisions of the Draft policy.
Officers recommend, as with 102049, that the following measures are secured by
way of planning obligation or condition. Firstly, that all future occupiers are informed
of the existence of the bus layover before they move in and the Agent of Change
principle and that living conditions on balconies meet noise standards only when
they the glazed screens are closed. Secondly, that approval of details of the
proposed acoustic insulation for windows/mechanical ventilation be required by
condition. Thirdly, that approval of details of the proposed sliding acoustic screens
to balconies be required by condition. Officers are satisfied that the proposed
measures will satisfy the provisions of the Agent of Change policy.

8.168

An assessment of the proposed fixed mechanical plant is also included in the ES.
The proposed scheme would be designated to accord with the Council’s
requirements for the prevention of noise creep from successive development in the
area. Officers recommend the imposition of the Council’s standard fixed plant noise
condition. It is also recommended that a condition ensure that party walls between
domestic and non-domestic uses are adequately constructed.

8.169

Wind and Microclimate. Chapter 6 of the accompanying ES details that a Boundary
Wind Tunnel Assessment (BWTA) has been carried out to predict and analyse the
wind environment at the site, following development and identify required mitigation.
The wind conditions of the proposed square are predicted to be suitable for walking
and sitting. The desktop study has reviewed the wind microclimate in the absence
of mitigation measures. Findings indicated that the wind environment is relatively
calm. When considering the proposed increase in height of Block A and B, it is
considered unlikely the wind speeds will increase to a level such that the comfort
ratings found during the 2017 ES wind tunnel studies would change. The increases
in height are likely to have a minor to negligible impact.
- 59 Page 69

8.170

The ES Addendum finds that the changes to the proposed development do not
affect the impacts and that the same mitigations are required as under the
consented scheme. This assessment identified that some balconies and terraces at
upper levels would be likely to experience Minor Adverse effects. Mitigation, in the
form of screens and hedges and canopies have been embedded within the detailed
proposals and with these in place the likely effects are predicted to be Indiscernible.
If the approved Retail Park scheme is built, then additional screens would be
required for balconies on all levels of the north-west corner of Block A. It is therefore
still recommended that these mitigation measures are secured by condition.

8.171

Accessible housing. With effect from 1 October 2015, the standards for wheelchair
accessible housing are covered by Part M of the Building Regulations and new
residential development is no longer required to meet the Lifetime Homes Criteria
at planning stage. However, this remains a matter to consider to ensure that a
scheme is capable of meeting this standard.

8.172

Part M is divided into three categories; M4(1) ‘visitable dwellings’, M4(2) ‘accessible
and adaptable dwellings’ and M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’. Policy 3.8 of the
London Plan required that 90 per cent of new build homes in London should meet
M4(2) with the remaining 10 percent meeting M4(3).

8.173

Core Strategy Policy 1 requires major schemes to provide 10% of all units and each
tenure type to be constructed as accessible. Development Management Policy 32
states that the Council will require new build housing to be designed to ensure that
internal layout and external design features provides housing that is accessible to
all intended users.

8.174

The development has been designed to comply with Part M of the Building
Regulations and the accompanying Design and Assess Statement outlines how the
scheme has been designed to meet the required regulations both in terms of access
to and movement within the proposed buildings and in regard to the internal layout
of the proposed units. In accordance with policy, 10% of the proposed residential
units (5 one-bed, 5 two-bed and 67 student bedrooms) would be capable of being
fitted-out as ‘wheelchair accessible dwellings’ (M4-3) while all other units would be
‘accessible and adaptable dwellings (M4-2).

8.175

The proposed development is a car-free scheme and therefore no on-site “blue
badge” parking spaces are proposed. An Obligation is included for a financial
contribution towards the cost of implementing “Blue Badge” parking spaces on the
surrounding streets should they be required by the development. This will be
considered as part of an overall review of parking on the streets and a review of
CPZ parking controls and to identify potential opportunities for additional on-street
accessible car parking spaces in the Lewisham Town Centre. The Transport
Assessment identifies potential for up to 8 spaces along Thurston Road. This was
accepted as part of 102049.

8.176

Overall, the proposed standards of accommodation including internal layout are
considered to be acceptable for the reasons set out above.

8.177

Communal Amenity Space. Standard 4 of the Housing SPG states that, where
communal open space is provided, it should be demonstrated that the space is:




Safe;
overlooked by surrounding development;
accessible disabled people including people who require level access and
wheelchair users; and
- 60 Page 70


8.178

designed to take advantage of direct sunlight; has suitable management
arrangements in place.

The scheme would provide communal terraces, as set out in Table 15, below.
Table 15: –Communal amenity space
Location

Application
scheme

External playspace at second floor
level

136sqm (net of 88sqm external
(net of raised
raised planter)
planter)

Block A – Level 18

93sqm

93sqm

Block A – Level 19

144sqm

144sqm

SUB-TOTAL

373sqm

325sqm

Internal playspace at second floor level

91sqm

91sqm NIA

TOTAL

Amended
scheme

416sqm

8.179

The proposed rooftop amenity spaces would be provided for all of the residents of
Block A. The ES (as updated by Addendum) assesses the likely wind / microclimate
of these spaces and recommends the inclusion of 2.4m high screens around these
terraces and 2m high wind canopies on top of the entrances to the Level 18 and 19
terrace on Block A. It is recommended that these are secured by planning
Condition. The ES Addendum also clarifies that the likely noise environment of
these terraces would meet the desirable maximum 50dB noise standard for external
spaces and that they would more than meet the minimum sunlight (2 hours on at
least 50% of the space on 21 March).

8.180

Officers recommend that a Condition requires details of the proposed screens,
hedges and canopies and requires that the landscaping of the terraces is completed
prior to the occupation of any of the flats which they are intended to serve. It is also
recommended that a s106 Agreement secures access to terraces on Block A by
everyone living in the building, including occupiers of the proposed affordable
housing.

8.181

Play space: Table 18 below sets out the estimated child yield of the proposed
development (application scheme), based on the GLA’s SPG play-space
requirement calculator.

8.182

Table 16 – Estimated Child yield (67 C3 units)
Age Group
No. of Children

Percentage of total

Under 5

23

50

5- 11

14

32

12+

8

18

Total

45

100

The Mayor’s Shaping Neighbourhoods: Play and Informal Recreation SPG requires
10sqm of child play space to be provided per child for new developments, equating
- 61 Page 71

to 450sqm. London Plan policy 3.6 (Children and young people’s play and
recreation) requires all necessary play-space to be provided on site where feasible.
8.183

Communal play space for children under 5's (which needs to be less than 100m
from the dwellings) would be provided on Level 2 (above Commercial Unit 05 / the
potential station entrance and accessible to both proposed buildings) in the form of
external and internal play spaces. The external play space would be bounded by a
proposed 3m high glazed screen. This would amount to 179sqm which would
provide for 78% of under 5 requirements. The Design and Access Statement
identifies Cornmill Gardens (within 200m), Ladywell Fields, Brookmill Park and
Broadwell Fields within 800-1000m and accessed by the Waterlink Way/National
Cycle Route 21 as providing opportunities to make good the shortfall of on-site play
space. It is recommended that details and the height of the glazed screen be
secured by planning Condition.

8.184

The inability to provide all play space on site is not in itself a reason to refuse a
scheme and the Mayor’s London Plan: Shaping neighbourhoods: Play and informal
recreation SPD (2012) allows for off-site provision, including creation of new
facilities, improvements to existing provision and/or a financial contribution towards
this provision may be acceptable where it can be demonstrated that this would fully
satisfy the needs of the development whilst continuing to meet the needs of existing
residents.

8.185

Officers are satisfied that the site constraints and proposed layout (including the
provision of a public square) means that it is impractical to provide all of the
necessary play space on site. Officers consider that financial contributions for
improvements to the open spaces closest to the application site, being Cornmill
Gardens, Ladywell Fields and Hilly Fields are necessary as these facilities would
not be able to meet the needs of the development whilst continuing to meet those
of existing residents if the contribution is not secured. This financial contribution
would be directed towards improvements for the parks in light of the additional
demand created by the child yield of the scheme. It is recommended that £24,000
is to be secured in the S.106 which is to address the shortfall of play space to be
provided on site. Officers consider the play space provided by the development,
together with the financial sum, to be acceptable.

8.186

Fire Safety. The scheme would provide as a minimum, resident sprinkler protection,
firefighting facilities, including stairs/ lifts/ risers and emergency power supply,
insulation materials of limited combustibility and mechanical ventilation to common
corridors and stair lobbies. The fire safety measures are designed to ensure that
fire growth is significantly restricted and provides a safe means of escape. Access
for fire appliances as required by Part B5 of the Building Regulations Approved
Document and adequate water supplies for firefighting purposes would be provided.
Neighbour Amenity

8.187

DMLP Policy 32 (Housing design, layout and space standards) requires new
schemes to “provide a satisfactory level of privacy, outlook and natural lighting both
for its future residents and its neighbours.” The Council’s Residential Standards
(updated 2012) also require developments to be neighbourly and sets out relevant
guidance.

8.188

Construction Phase. The ES reports on an assessment of likely significant
environmental effects during the construction phase and identifies adverse effects
in relation to, amongst other things, traffic, noise and air quality. It is recommended
that these likely effects are mitigated by planning conditions that require the
- 62 Page 72

implementation of approved Construction Environmental Management Plan and
Construction Logistics Plan (traffic) and limit the hours of working and traffic
movements and a planning obligation that requires the developer to participate in a
Lewisham Construction Forum to manage construction activities across the Town
Centre.
8.189

Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing. The ES Addendum submitted in support of
the application reports on an assessment based on Building Research
Establishment (BRE) BR209 “Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight, A
Guide to Good Practice” (2011) (the “BRE Guide”), which is the ‘industry standard’
guidance and the starting point for an assessment of the effect of the proposed
development on residents’ living conditions.

8.190

The BRE document offers guidance on generally acceptable standards of daylight
and sunlight, but advises that numerical values are not to be rigidly applied and
recognises the importance of the specific circumstances of each case. Inner city
development is one of the examples where a different approach might be justified.
This is specifically endorsed by the Mayor of London’s Housing SPG, which calls
for guidelines to be applied sensitively to higher density developments, especially
in (among others) opportunity areas and accessible locations, taking into account
local circumstances, the need to optimise housing capacity, and the scope for the
character and form of an area to change over time. This approach is clearly relevant
to the Carpetright site. The area’s identification for transformation through high
density housing development indicates scope for its form and character to change
over the period following the adoption of the Lewisham Town Centre Plan 2014.
Indeed, there are very few sites left in the town centre without existing
commitments.

8.191

Daylight. The existing low-rise warehouse building that currently occupies the
application site provides a baseline condition which is not typical of a city location
nor reflective of recent development in the area, meaning that homes facing on to
the site experience unusually high levels of daylight and sunlight for their context.

8.192

The Daylight assessment in the ES Addendum was based on both Vertical Sky
Component (VSC) and No Sky Limit (NSL), sometimes referred to as Daylight
Distribution. Both the total amount of daylight and its distribution within the building
are important (BRE Guidelines 2.2.5).

8.193

The VSC method measures the amount of sky that can be seen from the centre of
an existing window and compares it to the amount of sky that would still be capable
of being seen from that same position following the erection of a new building. The
measurements assess the amount of sky that can be seen converting it into a
percentage. The BRE guide advises that a good level of daylight is considered to
be 27% VSC. Daylight will be noticeably reduced if, after a development, the VSC
is both less than 27% and less than 80% of its former value. Within an urban
location VSC values of 15% or at least 0.8 times its existing value taken as an
acceptable threshold (see Whitechapel Estate, Site between Varden Street and Ashfield
Street, London E1 2JH: APP/E5900/W/17/3171437).

8.194

The plotting of the No Sky Line (NSL) measures the distribution of daylight within a
room. It indicates the point in a room from where the sky cannot be seen through
the window due to the presence of an obstructing building. The NSL method is a
measure of the distribution of daylight at the 'working plane' within a room. In
homes, the 'working plane' means a horizontal 'desktop' plane 0.85 metres above
floor level. This is approximately the height of a kitchen work surface. The impact
- 63 Page 73

of the distribution of daylight in an existing building can be found by plotting NSL in
each of the main rooms. The NSL divides those areas of the working plane in a
room which receive direct sky light through the windows from those areas of the
working plane which do not. If a significant area of the working plane lies beyond
the NSL (i.e., it receives no direct sky light), then the distribution of daylight in the
room will be poor and supplementary lighting may be required. For dwellings, the
NSL would be measured for living rooms, dining rooms and kitchens. Bedrooms
should also be analysed, although they are considered less significant in terms of
receiving direct sky light. Development will affect daylight if the area within a room
receiving direct daylight is less than 80% of its former value.
8.195

The Daylight impacts are then categorised as to whether they are be likely
Negligible, Minor, Moderate and Major adverse effects. Negligible effects are those
where BRE guidance and numerical targets for daylight and sunlight are met and a
change in condition would be no more than 20% from the existing. The Assessment
also takes account of the likely cumulative effects of the adjoining Lewisham Retail
Park scheme. Officers consider the methodology to be acceptable and consistent
with similar approach taken in relation to the Retail Park ES.

8.196

The assessment scope includes Thurston Point, Renaiisance Block D1,
Renaissance Blocks F+G, Renaissance Block E, Lewisham Gateway North Block,
and Lewisham Gateway South block (comprising Portrait 1 combined). Figure 5:
Datylight and Sunlight Scope (overleaf) illustrates this.

8.197

A summary of the potential daylight Vertical Sky Component (VSC) effects is set
out in Table 19 (below) and commentary provided.
Figure 5: Scope of Daylight and Sunlight Assessment

Source: Environmental Statement Addendum

- 64 Page 74

Table 17a: Existing Daylight without Carpetright (VSC)
No. of windows Windows above 27% Windows below 27%
assessed
VSC in existing
VSC in existing
Thurston Point

46

38

8

Renaissance West 54
(Blocks D1 and E)

33

21

Renaissance
(Blocks F+G)

139

48

81

54

295 (69%)

131 (31%)

East 187

Lewisham Gateway 135
(Portrait 1 North and
South)
422

Source: Environmental Statement 2017 (Appendix 1: DSO Addendum, December 2017)

Table 17b:

Daylight impacts of proposed Carpetright development (VSC)
No.
of Pass
windows
(negligible
assessed impact)

Minor
reduction
(20%-30%)

Moderate
Reduction
(30%-50%)

Major
Reduction

46

46

0

0

0

Renaissance 15
Block D1

15

0

0

0

Renaissance 39
Block E

31

1

3

6

Renaissance 187
Block F+G

100

9

73

5

Lewisham
Gateway
North Block

81

54

0

10

8

Lewisham
Gateway
South Block

54

27

18

9

0

422

273 (65%)

35 (8.8%)

95 (22.7%)

19 (3.7%)

Thurston
Point

(50% or >)

Source: Environmental Statement Addendum 2019 / Update received 09.05.19

8.198

The above tables illustrate the impacts of the proposed development compared to
the Baseline situation.


Renaissance West (D1 and E) – of the 54 windows analysed to the lower three
floors of residential accommodation, 85% would experience a Negligible effect.
The 9 windows that would experience a Moderate or Major adverse effect, serve
rooms that are self-shadowed and recessed behind balconies (see Table 17a) /
or bedrooms that are less significant. One window per floor serves a room that
has two other windows that suffer a negligible effect.
- 65 Page 75



Renaissance East (F+G) – of the 187 windows analysed, over 53% (100) would
experience a Negligible effect. The majority of the remaining windows would
experience a Minor effect (9) or a Moderate effect (73). All of the affected
windows serve bedrooms for which daylight is less important than living / dining
areas. In addition, each room they help light is served by more than one window.
The 5 windows that would experience a Major adverse effect do so because of
their location behind existing recessed balconies and not due to the proposed
scheme (i.e. their existing windows do not achieve BRE levels – see Table 17a)).



Lewisham Gateway (North block)– Major effects noted at Lewisham Gateway
North Block are to windows that are recessed, positioned beneath projecting
balconies and do not meet the BRE’s numeric criteria in the existing scenario
The same is true of the 10 windows with moderate effects. This demonstrates
that the design of the building results in lower light levels than would otherwise
be expected. The 7 windows with minor effects will achieve VSC levels of 26%,
falling marginally short of the BRE’s numeric criteria. It should also be noted that
the windows beneath balconies serve rooms which are dual aspect and have
further windows on separate elevations, which provide enhanced amenity value.
This building is 60m from the proposed development.



Lewisham Gateway (South block) – The 9 moderate effects noted at Lewisham
Gateway South Block are to windows located on the north flank elevation,
directly facing Lewisham Gateway North Block and receiving existing VSC
levels below the BRE’s numeric criteria. The remaining 18 windows are located
beneath recessed balconies and also do not meet the 27% VSC level in the
existing scenario. The impact of the proposed development is therefore not
considered to be material. This building is 60m from the proposed development.

Table 17c:

Daylight impacts of proposed Carpetright development (NSL)
No.
of Pass
rooms
(negligible
assessed
impact)

8.199

Minor
reduction
(20%-30%)

Moderate
Reduction
(30%-50%)

Major
Reduction
(50% or >)

Thurston Point 46

46

0

0

0

Renaissance
Block D1

15

15

0

0

0

Renaissance
Block E

27

21

3

0

3

Renaissance
Block F+G

107

78

5

19

5

Lewisham
Gateway
North Block

72

58

13

1

0

Lewisham
Gateway
South Block

36

36

0

0

0

303

254 (84%)

21 (7%)

20 (7%)

8 (2%)

In the No Skyline (NSL) test 84% of rooms have negligible impacts and are
considered to meet BRE guidelines, 21 rooms have minor reductions and 20 rooms
have moderate reductions. Five rooms suffered major reductions within
- 66 Page 76

Renaissance Blocks F and G (believed to be living / dining / kitchen areas) that are
recessed beneath the inset balconies (as noted in the VSC assessment). 23 of the
remaining rooms that fall short are bedrooms The shortfalls to Block E are also to
bedrooms.
8.200

Overall the vast majority of rooms will not be affected in terms of No-Sky Line and
will receive adequate levels of daylight with the proposed development in place.
Those rooms affecting by Moderate / Major Impacts are largely bedrooms, which
are less significant than impacts on living rooms given the level and time of
occupation. The living rooms affected are recessed beneath balconies. Officers
therefore consider that the impacts to be acceptable.

8.201

When the approved Retail Park scheme (in the cumulative scenario) is taken in to
account then it is clear that the majority of impacts identified are driven by the third
party cumulative schemes.


Renaissance F+G – 100 windows meet the VSC targets in the proposed
scenario but only 2 windows meet the targets in the cumulative scenario. It is
therefore evident that the cumulative third party scheme (the Retail Park) are
driving the additional impacts



Thurston Point and Renaissance Block D1 there is no impact on the proposed
scenario and in the cumulative scheme there are significant effects.

8.202

Taking account of the existing low-rise buildings on this and the Retail Park site, the
ES Addendum demonstrates that neighbouring residential properties would enjoy
an appropriate level of daylight for this town centre location.

8.203

The proposed development, by virtue of its slight increase in height, does cause a
slight increase in daylight impacts when compared to the consented scheme,
notably a slight increase in the number of properties affected by moderate / major
impacts on units in Renaissance EFG and the northern block of Portrait 1 at
Lewisham Gateway. However, these impacts are largely mitigated for the reasons
set out above, and are considered to be acceptable given this urban context and
the town centre location of the development. In any town centre scheme there will
be Daylight impacts on adjoining properties and this scheme is no exception.

8.204

Sunlight. The Applicant’s assessment was based on Annual Probable Sunlight
Hours (APSH) and Winter Probable Sunlight Hours (WPSH). The BRE guidance is
that living rooms should ideally receive at least 25% of APSH throughout the year
and 5% during winter months and that the difference between APSH is not less
than 0.8 times its former value.

8.205

In total, 182 windows were tested in existing homes in Thurston Road, Renaissance
Blocks F+G and D, Lewisham Gateway North Block and Lewisham gateway South
Block. All of the windows would experience only a Negligible effect on sunlight
during both the summer and winter months, apart from in relation to Lewisham
Gateway North Block, where six windows would receive a moderate (2) major (4)
reduction. Major effects are a result of recessed windows beneath balconies that
do not meet BRE guidelines in the baseline situation. Given the minor scale of the
overall impact of the development on Sunlight the impact is therefore not
objectionable in this regard.

8.206

Daylight and Sunlight Conclusion: The development proposal will cause some harm
to the living conditions of the existing homes surrounding the site. However, the
vast majority of homes will not be adversely affected, and most of those impacts
affect bedrooms, dual aspect rooms, or rooms with baseline conditions that are
- 67 Page 77

already below BRE Guidelines. Given that the site has an existing consent for
permission, the limited extent of additional impacts, and the likely expectation that
those living in Lewisham Town Centre live in an area designated for intensification,
on balance therefore, Officers consider that the relatively limited losses outlined
would not outweigh the benefit to the area of the proposed development and
consider that, on balance, the scheme is acceptable in terms of its impact on
daylight and sunlight to neighbouring properties.
8.207

Wind/microclimate. The ES Addendum reports on an assessment of wind tunnel
testing of the proposed development, which considered the likely effects on wind
conditions in the surrounding area – including at locations on both sides of Loampit
Vale, Thurston Road, Lewisham Station forecourt and the proposed public square.
This found that surrounding streets would be suitable for pedestrians walking
through the area and visiting the proposed buildings and that the revised
landscaping proposals for the proposed public square would cause no material
change to the wind microclimate and the wind tunnel testing results. The amended
scheme results in an unchanged impact magnitude with regard to wind and
microclimate.

8.208

Privacy, overlooking and Outlook. The Council’s Residential Standards (updated
2012) states that the acceptable distance between front elevations should normally
be determined by the character of road widths in the area. It adds that normally,
unless it can be demonstrated that privacy can be maintained through design, there
should be a minimum separation of 21 metres between directly facing habitable
room windows on main rear elevations (with a greater separation distance being
required for higher buildings – noting that this is a general rule that will be applied
flexibly.

8.209

London Plan Policy 3.5 (Quality and Design of Housing Developments) focuses on
standards in new development, with the Mayor of London’s Housing SPG (March
2016) noting that former commonly used minimum separation distances between
habitable rooms of 18 – 21m may be useful yardsticks, but advocates a more
flexible approach to managing privacy.

8.210

The proposed development faces existing homes in the Renaissance development
across Loampit Vale and the Lewisham Gateway development to the east. They
would also face the approved Retail Park development on the west side of Thurston
Road. Block B would be approximately 34m away from windows and communal
roof terrace in the Renaissance East development and approximately 62m away
from windows in the Lewisham Gateway development. Block A would be
approximately 20m away from windows in the approved Retail Park Building A.
Officers consider that the above proposed separation distances and detailed
arrangements are appropriate and should adequately safeguard the privacy of
occupiers of existing and approved neighbouring homes.

8.211

Noise and Disturbance. The site is in Lewisham Town centre, with heavily trafficked
roads on two sides, the overground railway to the east, and the TfL bus layover
space to the north of the site, all of which represent noise sources.

8.212

Measures are proposed to control commercial unit opening hours, noise break-out,
ventilation equipment, service delivery times and noise from plant and machinery
to safeguard the amenity of future residents of the proposed development should
ensure that noise and disturbance for existing neighbouring residents would be
acceptable.
- 68 Page 78

8.213

The Noise Mitigation Strategy contained within the Environmental Statement
Addendum sets out a clear response to ensure that noise within the residential units
(see Environmental Assessment, below). The noise mitigation strategy results in a
external envelope strategy that mitigates the noise sources (with four different
glazing specifications) and an Obligation is recommended to notify all residents that
the noise insulation is designed to mitigate external noise impacts (from the
adjacent bus layover, railway and railway station when the windows are closed.

8.214

Transport for London have expressed a concern that the Agent of Change principle
is not being appropriately applied to the proposed development in relation to noise
impacts from the adjacent Thurston Road bus layover and the possible future
construction of the Bakerloo Line extension on that site, as well as the operation of
rail noise. Transport for London have requested that: windows in the development
be fixed shut and that they would wish to be a signatory to the s106 agreement in
this regard with a suitable clause seeking TfL’s approval to appropriate mitigation
measures to be implemented as part of the development.

8.215

The agent of change principle in the National Planning Policy Framework (adopted
April 2018) requires that “where the operation of an existing business or community
facility could have a significant adverse effect on new development (including
changes of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or agent of change) should be required
to provide suitable mitigation prior to the completion of the development. Draft
London Plan Policy D12: Agent of Change seeks to apply the principle through a
series of practical tests (see below).

8.216

The proposed noise mitigation strategy is proposed to be secured by planning
condition to ensure suitable noise levels within the residential units and outdoor
amenity spaces (communal areas and winter gardens). This is complemented by
an Obligation to notify all residents that the dwellings have been designed to
mitigate the impacts from external noise sources with the windows closed.

8.217

Transport for London have confirmed that the primary noise source is the sound of
bus reversing (safety) beepers due to the narrow configuration of the bus layover
facility. Buses are gradually shifting to hybrid engines and also are required to turn
their engines off while parked up. The bus layover site is not identified for future
redevelopment in the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan 2014.

8.218

Officers consider that the scheme “reflects the Agent of Change principle and takes
account of existing noise-generating uses in a sensitive manner”, as required by
clause B of Draft London Plan Policy D12: Agent of Change. The scheme also
“manages noise by ensuring good acoustic design to mitigate and minimise existing
and potential impacts of noise generated by existing uses located in the area”, as
required by clause C of Policy D12. The proposal is therefore considered to comply
with the relevant policy context, even if the policy is still in draft form.

8.219

Officers consider that given the scheme has been designed to reasonably minimise
potential impacts that the request to fix windows is onerous and unreasonable for a
number of reasons: it would impact on the liberty of residents to open their windows
to obtain external air for normal and purge ventilation and make the perception of
internal accommodation of dwellings much less attractive to live in due to the “hotel
effect”. Any new resident living in Lewisham town centre will have an expectation
that living in a highly urban environment like this one comes with a background
noise level that is very different to less urban and suburban areas of London,
particularly as the site is located immediately adjacent to the Lewisham Station, the
bus layover, and a very busy street.
- 69 Page 79

8.220

Additionally, introducing fixed windows / stronger mechanical ventilation would also
have a significant impact on the environmental performance of the buildings over
its lifetime of at least 50 years with a requirement for a higher specification
mechanical ventilation system that will require higher levels of energy to be run. It
would also have an impact on the capital cost of the building and hence the pot of
money available for affordable housing.

8.221

The applicant also has a consented scheme (102049) granted in March 2019 and
can therefore have a reasonable expectation of delivering a scheme that reflects
that scheme as far as possible. That scheme also addressed the Agent of Change
principle as the issue of the Bus Layover was carefully considered as a material
consideration during that design and planning process, resulting in the proposed
noise mitigation strategy. Transport for London did not object to the 102049 scheme
and its noise mitigation strategy.

8.222

This position is consistent with the approach taken to the application of the Agent
of Change principle at 1 Creekside, which had the same strategy for dealing with
the noise source in relation to that site, which was high specification building design
and an Obligation to notify residents of the adjacent noise source and the noise
mitigation measures designed into the building.

8.223

On balance, therefore, Officers consider that the scheme does take account of the
Agent of Change principle and minimises the potential for noise pollution from the
existing use. In the view of Officers it would be inappropriate and unreasonable to
reduce the attractiveness of the proposed new homes by requiring windows to be
fixed shut. The noise mitigation strategy proposed by the Applicant is therefore
supported in principle.

8.224

Transport for London’s request to be party to the s106 in relation to the proposed
noise mitigation Obligation is not considered to be necessary. It is recommended
that they be a consultee.
Transport
General

8.225

The NPPF recognises that transport policies have an important role to play in
facilitating sustainable development but also in contributing to wider sustainability
and health objectives. All developments that generate significant amounts of
movement should be supported by a Transport Statement or Transport
Assessment. Plans and decisions should take account of whether the opportunities
for sustainable transport modes have been taken up and that (depending on the
nature and location of the site), safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved
for all people. It should be demonstrated that improvements could be undertaken
within the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of the
development. The NPPF clearly states that development should only be prevented
or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of
development are severe.

8.226

Policy 6.1 in the London Plan (Strategic Approach) sets out the Mayor’s strategic
approach to transport which aims to encourage the closer integration of transport
and development by: encouraging patterns and nodes of development that reduce
the need to travel, especially by car; seeking to improve the capacity and
accessibility of public transport, walking and cycling; supporting measures that
encourage shifts to more sustainable modes and appropriate demand
management; and promoting walking by ensuring an improved urban realm.
- 70 Page 80

London Plan Policies 6.1 and 6.2 support the Bakerloo Line Extension (BLE), as
discussed further below. Draft London Plan Policy T3 seeks to safeguard the
Bakerloo Line Extension and the Lewisham Interchange upgrade.
8.227

London Plan Policy 6.13 and Tables 6.2 and 6.3 provide minimum cycle and
maximum car parking requirements should be used as a basis for assessment.
Parking levels are considered further below. Draft London Plan Policy T5: Cycling
and Table 10.2 Minimum Cycle Parking Standards seek new standards to be
applied, and are a material consideration with limited but increasing weight. Core
Strategy Policy 14 (Sustainable Movement and Transport) states that there will be
a managed and restrained approach to car parking provision to contribute to the
objectives of traffic reduction while protecting the operational needs of major public
facilities, essential economic development and the needs of people with disabilities.
A network of high quality, connected and accessible walking and cycling routes
across the Borough will be maintained and improved.

8.228

Policy LTC21 outlines the Council’s aim to improve sustainable transport access
within Lewisham Town Centre. Key development considerations include working
with a range of partners including Transport for London (TfL), Network Rail, public
transport providers, landowners, developers and other stakeholders to ensure that
improvements are secured and delivered to the frequency, quality, accessibility and
reliability of the town centre public transport network. Paragraph 2(d) of Policy LTC4
outlines the Council’s aim to improve the pedestrian environment in the Loampit
Vale Policy Area (within which the application site sits) by providing generous tree
lined pavements of at least 6 to 8 metres in width to create boulevards.

8.229

Submissions have been received from Transport for London, LBL Highways and
Transport and Network Rail.

8.230

Existing public transport accessibility. The site has a Public Transport Accessibility
Level (PTAL) of 6b, the highest achievable TfL accessibility rating, benefitting from
Overland rail, DLR and bus options within 100m..

8.231

Existing highway layout, bus layover and on-site car parking. As noted above, the
application scheme is bounded by Loampit Vale and Thurston Road. Loampit Vale
forms part of the A20 Red Route for which TfL is the highway authority. Stopping
is prohibited outside the application site between 7 a.m. and 7 p.m., Monday to
Saturday, although it is permitted outside these hours. TfL proposals to widen the
carriageway on Loampit Vale between the two rail bridges to permit implementation
of an eastbound bus lane have been considered in the design of the application
scheme.

8.232

Thurston Road is a one-way eastbound street east of Jerrard Street, forming part
of the A2210, for which the Council is the highway authority. One access point is
provided to the current site. The TfL bus layover area is immediately north of the
site, with in and out access points. There are two temporary taxi ranks on Thurston
Road (adjacent to the bus layover and adjacent to the site) and these are expected
to be relocated once Lewisham Gateway is completed. Loading is permitted on
remaining single yellow lines at any time and waiting is permitted outside the hours
of 8.00 a.m. to 6:30 p.m., Monday to Saturday. The southern end of the street is
controlled by single red lines which prohibit stopping between 7.00 a.m. and 7.00
p.m., with double red lines on the immediate approaches to Loampit Vale. The
Waterlink Way two-way cycle route occupies part of the western footway of
Thurston Road. Table x sets out the improvements that the surrounding schemes
will deliver when implemented:
- 71 Page 81

Table 18: Proposed Improvements to the streets surrounding Carpetright site
Development

Proposed Improvements

Retail Park site,



(Loampit Vale /
Thurston Road / 
Jerrard Street)




Lewisham
Gateway











Carpetright
(consented
scheme)










6m footway on eastern side of Jerrard Street, Incorporation of
shared use/contra-flow cycle path along Jerrard Street between
entrance of Building E and Loampit Vale
6m clear width on Thurston Road, widened cycle/footway and
the improved surface treatment along the site
Financial contribution of to implementing the Greenwich to
Croydon ‘Quietway’ cycle route - between Thurston Road and
Armoury Way
Improvement works to the footway Jerrard Street
Improved pedestrian/cycle crossing point at Jerrard
Street/Thurston Road junction.
Relocation of Jerrard Street bus stand
Provision of on-street cycle parking spaces
Two new site access points and closure of existing accesses.
The provision of new public realm/ public open space;
highway works including provisions for pedestrians, cyclists
and other road users
Replacement of the existing Lewisham Northern Roundabout
with the “low H” highway layout that has been completed (e.g.
realignment of Molesworth Street and Lewisham High Street
to the western and eastern edges of the site; Rennell Street
widening and realignment; Signal controlled junctions /
pedestrian crossing;
Realigned Station Road with access for buses, taxis, blue
badge holders, pedestrian and cyclists only.
The existing bus layover has been replaced by the Thurston
Road facility..
New public square (“Loampit Square”) to provide a focal
space for the town centre and a future access to the proposed
BLE station / Lewisham Interchange;
Widen Loampit Vale footpath to 8m and improve landscape
(and related adoption);
Widen Thurston Road set-back to 6m and improve landscape
(and related adoption);
Loading bay on Thurston Road for 5-6 vehicles;
Widening of the toucan crossing on Loampit Vale to 8m. The
toucan is already at capacity/saturation and the works are
required to accommodate the increased demand associated
with the development.
Section 278 Agreement with the appropriate Highway
Authority (LB Lewisham for Thurston Road & TfL for Loampit
Vale) to secure public realm / highways improvements to
Thurston Road and Loampit vale, including improvements to
the footways, tree planting and improvements to the lighting
under the railway bridge adjacent to the site on Loampit Vale.

8.233

The current Carpetright store has 50 on-site car parking spaces accessed from
Thurston Road. There is no dedicated cycle parking.

8.234

Lewisham Station Upgrade / Bakerloo Line Extension. In autumn 2014 Transport for
London (TfL) consulted on the possibility of extending the Bakerloo Line from Elephant
- 72 Page 82

and Castle, through Southwark and Lewisham towards Bromley and Hayes. In
December 2015, TfL announced that their preferred option for the first phase of an
extension is via Old Kent Road, New Cross Gate and Lewisham where it would initially
terminate. A further round of consultation was carried out between 2017 in regard to the
location of underground stations, ventilation shafts and associated work sites. The
ambition is to extend the line towards Bromley and Hayes, and this extension would
cross underneath the Carpetright site.
8.235

The Mayor’s Transport Strategy 2018 (MTS2018) includes Proposal 81 to extend the
Bakerloo Line as one of several schemes to increase tube capacity. The Strategy
identifies an extension being delivered between 2020 and 2030. However, it should be
noted that the proposed extension, which would likely cost in the region of £3bn, has
not been allocated funding and the route has not been formally safeguarded. A more
detailed public consultation is due to be held in 2019. If a decision is made to go ahead
with the scheme construction would start in 2023 with the earliest service running from
2029.

8.236

London Plan Policy 6.1 identifies a Bakerloo Line southern extension as one of the
major transport schemes the Mayor expects to work with all relevant partners to
progress and London Plan Policy 6.2 seeks to ensure that development proposals
provide adequate safeguarding for these schemes. Lewisham Core Strategy Policy 14
makes clear that the Council will work with TfL, Network Rail and other partners to
ensure the delivery of necessary infrastructure. The proposed BLE is one of LB
Lewisham’s key strategic aims to deliver, including a second phase on to Catford
Bridge, Bromley and Hayes. Draft London Plan Policy T3 also identifies the Bakerloo
Line Extension as a key project to increase capacity and connectivity within London.

8.237

The Lewisham Interchange Feasibility Study undertaken by Atkins and Studio Egret
West was completed in September 2017. This study explored options to redevelop and
integrate the various Lewisham Station components (Network Rail, BLE Extension,
DLR Station and bus interchange). Three options were identified to connect Loampit
Vale / Thurston Road to the station to address significant capacity constraints. The
study has no formal planning status as it is not referenced in the development plan.

8.238

TfL’s Bakerloo Line Extension project updated its “response to Issues Raised from the
Spring 2017 consultation” in September 2018. This confirmed that the Thurston Road
bus standing area is the preferred location of a new station.

8.239

When consented Carpetright application (102049) was made the site configuration
and development proposal was supported by the GLA, TfL and National Rail on the
basis that the proposed development:


Safeguards the proposed BLE extension / station access, provides the ticket
hall / station access; and



Leaves feasible scenarios for developing the Lewisham Station Interchange
that can be jointly developed by Network Rail and its key partners LB
Lewisham and Transport for London.

8.240

The current planning application maintains the provision of the above and utilises the
same site configuration. However, a key difference to the consented scheme is the
provision of a Basement Floor.

8.241

The Lewisham Interchange Study – Feasibility Report was jointly commissioned by
LB Lewisham, National Rail and Transport for London. The proposals for both
Carpetright and Conington Road were applied as inputs into developing the options
for the study. The study identified three scenarios to illustrate ways that the
- 73 Page 83

Lewisham Interchange could be developed. The study itself has no formal status in
the planning process as it not specifically referenced in the development plan. It is
a feasibility study only to inform the future development of the station.
8.242

The proposed development therefore helps to achieve Draft LP Policy T3 Transport
Capacity, Connecting and Safeguarding / Table 10.1 – Indicative List of Transport
Schemes. Network Rail, who are the lead partner in delivering the Lewisham
Interchange project, have no objections to the proposed development of the
Carpetright site.

8.243

BLE Tunnel design - The applicants have been working with TfL since November 2018
to develop a structural design solution for the proposed development that will safeguard
the BLE tunnel and allow for the construction of an adjacent station box. As set out in
Consultation (para 6.44, above), very extensive discussions have been held over the
last 4 weeks particularly to ensure that the proposed development would safeguard an
acceptable level of provision for the Bakerloo Line Extension. TfL have now confirmed
that the structural design for the proposed development / proposed basement does
safeguard the Bakerloo Line Extension and secure an appropriate exclusion zone
capable of enabling the delivery of the BLE tunnel. TfL have no objections to the
proposed development on this ground and are happy for the detailed structural design
of the foundations / piling for the site to be secured by planning Condition relating to
the exclusion zone, ground movement and noise mitigation relating to the proposed
Bakerloo Line Extension. Transport for London have requested a planning
Obligation be included in the s106 agreement in this regard to enable them to be
party to the approval of the relevant planning condition. Broadening the number of
parties to the s106 agreement with its broad range of legal provisions is considered
to be disproportionate. Officers are satisfied that this is not necessary as a standard
provision in the s106 agreement – the Contract (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999can be amended to allow Transport for London to sue under the s106 even though
they are themselves are not a party to the s106.

8.244

BLE Ticket Hall - TfL confirm that the amended design and size of the proposed station
ticket hall is acceptable in principle. This would provide a well-located station
entrance directly off of a new public square. It is recommended that the potential
for this unit to be used as an entrance is secured by way of a planning obligation,
including its use as a commercial unit until it is required by TfL to accommodate a
potential BLE ticket hall.

8.245

Walking, cycling and the public realm – The application scheme responds to Policy
LTC4: Loampit Vale Policy Area by setting back the building line by at least 8 metres
on the Loampit Vale frontage (to take account of TfL’s bus lane proposals) and the
Applicant proposes to treat the setback areas with paving. In order to regularise the
highway boundary on Loampit Vale, elements of private land are to be adopted as
public highway and adopted by TfL.The same will apply to LB Lewisham adoption
of the Thurston Road frontage. A planning Obligation is recommended to enter into
a s278 Highways Agreement / s38 Highways Agreement to agree these
arrangements.

8.246

The Carpetright scheme offers significant upgrades to the site and its immediate
context, as well as a widening of the Loampit Vale pedestrian crossing to increase
the capacity of this crossing for pedestrians and cyclists. These measures are
recommended to be secured by a planning Obligation.

8.247

All of the developments along Thurston Road and Loampit Vale and area (e.g.
Renaissance, Sherwood Court and Lewisham Gateway) have made (or will make)
- 74 Page 84

significant improvements to the pedestrian realm and cycle routes in the immediate
vicinity of the site. The proposed Retail Park development (permitted in March
2019) also includes significant pedestrian and cycle improvements compared to the
existing situation (as set out in Table 18, above).
8.248

Thurston Road is a street in the control of LB Lewisham and Loampit Vale is in the
control of Transport for London. The site configuration (see Figure 6, below) repeats
the configuration of the consented scheme. The building line has been set-back
from the site boundary to enable the proposed configuration by a depth of 2.8m4.5m on the Thurston Road frontage . The set-back on Loampit Vale is limited to
the area to the east of Building B and ranges from 0m-4.5m. However, the public
square itself provides an additional set-back to Building A with the building line
being set-back 31m from the Loampit Vale kerbline, plus the 2.8m of the colonnade.

Figure 6: Application Site configuration (with site boundary illustrated)
8.249

The Thurston Road set-back enables the provision of a 6m space that provides for
pedestrian movement and a loading bay for five-six vehicles. The proposed
footpaths are to be 3.5m in depth between the building line of Building A and the
loading bay (apart from an 8.2m section of footpath between the two structural
columns that is 2.75m) and 3.3m-8.2m to the south of Building A along the edge of
the public square and to the junction. Doors to entrance lobbies have been
amended to open inwards so as not to encumber the use of the footpath and
pedestrian flows.

8.250

To increase the depth of the footway would require the omission of the two columns
that come to the ground, which would have an adverse impact on the architectural
composition of the western elevation of Building A, which is undesirable in principle.

- 75 Page 85

8.251

The Thurston Road frontage includes a loading bay of 32m length to cater for
servicing and deliveries to the proposed development (see Deliveries and Serviicng
Plan, below).

8.252

Transport for London are concerned that the resultant footpath for the length of the
loading bay is not sufficient to meet peak time pedestrian flows. This view is based
upon their inaccurate measurement of the footpath width of 2.0m (please see
assessment above). Officers consider that the proposed footpath is sufficient to
meet likely pedestrian flows until the Lewisham Interchange / Bakerloo Line
Extension is programmed for delivery or until pedestrian flows justify this change.
Transport for London propose that the Loading Bays be assigned to pedestrian use
during peak times of 7am-10am and 3pm-7pm to enable the provision of a 6m
footpath during peak time. This is a practical solution that makes eminent sense
when pedestrian flows justify this change. It is recommended that a Planning
Obligation be included to provide a financial contribution to fund this amendment to
the Traffic Regulation Order that regulates use of the loading bays for the benefit of
the pedestrian realm.

8.253

The footpath width to the north of the site adjacent to the Transport for London bus
layover is narrow (1m-1.5m in width) and has a poor pedestrian capacity. Transport
for London propose to maintain the current footpath width until the comprehensive
redesign of the Lewisham Interchange / Bakerloo Line Extension, at which stage
they envisage the footpath width would be increased to remove the poor capacity
of this footpath. On balance this is considered to be acceptable as the likelihood is
that pedestrian flows will be generated on the western side of Thurston Road where
the origins / destinations are located.

8.254

Road safety and highway works – Transport for London accept that a
comprehensive assessment of the walking and cycling environment is
unnecessary, subject to an agreement over a financial contribution towards
schemes to upgrade the pedestrian / cycle environment around the site).

8.255

TfL request that an Obligation is included to require s278 / s35 and s39 agreements
under the Highways Act 1980 in respect to Loampit Vale. The scheme would also
require a similar Obligation in relation to Thurston Road and with LB Lewisham, who
are responsible for this highway.

8.256

TfL also comment on pedestrian and cyclist safety in relation to the baseline existing
street configurations. In addition, Lewisham Cyclists have also expressed concerns
about the safety of the existing pedestrian and cycling environment.

8.257

The Transport Statement submitted does include an analysis of this data and found that
there are no obvious design measures to improve safety at the accident locations. TfL
have assessed the data and found that there are safety risks relating to: cyclists;
pedestrians; right-turns; vehicle collisions; movements on routes likely to be taken by
sustainable modes to the development site.

8.258

LB Lewisham Highways and Transport recommend a Healthy Streets Audit (in
accordance with draft London Plan T2) be completed to identify any areas for
improvement in relation to environment serving sustainable transport modes on
Thurston Road (within LBL control) and related connections. Officers are satisfied
that this measure would address any concerns and it is recommended to be
secured as a planning Obligation, along with an appropriate financial contribution
to deliver the recommended small-scale improvements. The level of financial
contribution proposed is £30,000, and this would include improvements along the
- 76 Page 86

eastern side of Thurston Road (the Retail Park will be upgrading the western side
of the street).
8.259

TfL have requested a s278 agreement to address road safety between Station Road
and Thurston Road, along with a financial contribution of £100,000. Transport for
London indicate that a reduction in the speed limit to 20mph and pedestrian / cycling
measures would be addressed, although a cost breakdown has not been provided.. In
order to make provision for some improvements the Applicant is prepared to agree to a
financial contribution of £30,000 to be assigned to address the issues that Transport for
London have identified. Officers consider this to be reasonable and recommend
inclusion of this Obligation.

8.260

To the west of the site, the Retail Park development will deliver a significant upgrade to
the western side of Thurston Road, including a continuous cycle lane (proposed to
become a Quietway in the future), footpath widths of 6m on Thurston Road, 8m footway
widths on Loampit Vale and improvements to the Thurston Road / Jerrard Street
junction pedestrian / cycle crossing point.

8.261

Car Parking. Core Strategy policy CS14 states that the car parking standards
contained within the London Plan will be used as a basis for assessment. Policy
6.13 supports car-free developments that provide for disabled people in locations
with high public transport accessibility, seeks to prevent excessive car parking
provision that may undermine cycling, walking and public transport use. In addition
to setting out maximum parking standards in Table 6.2, it requires that
developments must provide for the needs of disabled users. The site has a PTAL
of 6b (‘Excellent’), is immediately next to Lewisham Station and zero/low car parking
provision is acceptable in principle. The proposal is therefore ‘car free’.

8.262

TfL support the car-free development in this highly accessible location and the
absence of disabled parking spaces on-site given the proximity to step-free public
transport options. Draft London Plan Policy T6: Car parking allows for
developments to have no disabled parking where provision is considered to be
unnecessary, such as in highly accessible locations and in locations where public
transport is step-free. This location fulfils both of these criteria, with train, DLR and
bus services all being set-free..

8.263

TfL requests that disabled residents not be entitled to on-street disabled parking in
the future. This position is contrary to Draft London Plan Policy T6: Car parking that
allows on-street disabled parking to provide for the needs of developments. It is
recommended that an Obligation for a financial contribution to undertake a review
of the CPZ parking set-up in the area and to identify possible spaces for disabled
parking bays. Spaces would be re-assigned once disabled spaces are requested
by residents. Officers consider this approach to be acceptable on what is a very
constrained site. The Transport Statement notes that disabled students tend to live
close to, or on, campus rather than in other locations, and that Lewisham Chapter
has received no applications for a Blue Badge parking space.

8.264

Non-disabled residents would not be entitled to on-street parking and it is
recommended that this be secured by planning Obligation, as per normal
procedure.

8.265

Policy LTC20 requires (amongst other things) that existing public and shopper
parking is retained where appropriate and further provision to meet the needs of the
growing retail sector in the town centre will be sought to maintain the current ratio
of parking spaces to retail floorspace. The proposed commercial units would have
a very different format to the existing retail warehouse and do not require car
- 77 Page 87

parking to accommodate successful retail/other uses. The loss of the existing car
parking space is therefore considered acceptable.
8.266

Cycle parking. London Plan Policy 6.9 sets out to bring a significant increase in
cycling to at least 5% of modal share by 2026, supported by the implementation of
Cycle Superhighways and the central London cycle hire scheme and provision of
facilities for cyclists including secure cycle parking and on-site changing and shower
facilities for cyclists. Table 18(overleaf) sets out the London Plan cycle standards and
Table 19 (overleaf) illustrates the level of provision proposed, which meets those
standards. All short-stay spaces will be incorporated in the public square and all longstay spaces will be provided at basement level (see Basement Plan) in lockable rooms,
apart from seven spaces for commercial units that will be provided at ground floor level:
Draft London Plan policy has a higher cycle parking standard but this has limited weight
at this stage (see London Plan Policy T5: Cycling and Table 10.2). Cycle parking
provision relating to the commercial units are recommended to be secured by planning
Condition, although the ground floor plan provides indicative locations.

8.267

TfL comment on a number of cycle parking issues, including: the level of Cycle Parking
provision; compliance with the London Cycle Design Standards and the nature of cycle
parking provision. The cycle parking provision proposed by the development is in full
accordance with the adopted London Plan. The draft London Plan Cycle Parking
Standards (Policy T5: Cycle Parking), which requires one cycle parking space per
bedspace, which would yield a requirement for an additional 380 cycle parking spaces,
which would require a double-basement to be provided on Building B. This draft policy
has limited weight in the planning process. Given that the proposal complies with the
existing London Plan policy, the development is in a location highly accessible to public
transport, and a double-level basement is not feasible due to the Bakerloo Line
Extension and would be very expensive and therefore significantly reduce the AH Offer.
Officers are satisfied therefore that the level of long term cycle parking provision is
satisfactory taking this into account.

8.268

Additionally, the applicant has completed cycle parking surveys at the student housing
development at Sherwood Court (very close to the application site) and found that cycle
parking provision there was far in excess of demand (15 bikes were parked in 240
available cycle parking spaces).. This provides evidence to support the case for limiting
cycle parking to existing London Plan standards.

8.269

Lewisham Cyclists expressed concern that only 41 short-stay spaces are proposed
within the public realm within the context of the proposed upgrade to the Lewisham
Interchange and the proposed BLE Station. Cycle parking relating to the Lewisham
Interchange and the proposed BLE Station will need to be provided by TfL / Network
Rail as part of the proposals for that development.

8.270

It should be noted that the proposed level of short stay spaces exceeds the minimum
standard for the development proposed according to the adopted London Plan cycle
standards. TfL have requested that the number of short term spaces be increased to
meet the Draft London Plan standards. Short term parking for residential (C3 / student)
is the same in both plans. The non-residential short term cycle parking requirement
would require 1 space per 20sqm of commercial space (from 100sqm to 750sqm) and
thereafter 1 space per 150sqm. This would yield a requirement for just an extra 3 cycle
parking spaces.

8.271

The scheme proposes to locate all short term cycle parking (Sheffield stands) on
Loampit Vale adjacent to the carriageway in an identified street furniture zone (as
recommended by the London Cycle Design Standards). It is considered to be
- 78 Page 88

undesirable to introduce cycle parking into the square itself or Thurston Road (due to
the nature of the space).
Table 19: Cycle Parking Standards
Land Use
A1
Food retail

Long Stay Spaces
From 100sqm: 1 space
per 175sqm

Non-Food

A2- A5

C3

Retail office / cafes
and restaurants /
drinking
establishments / take
aways
Residential

Sui
generis

Student Housing
(non-C2 institutional)

Short Stay Spaces
from 100 sqm: first
750 sqm: 1 space per
40 sqm thereafter: 1
space per 300 sqm
From 100sqm: first
from 100 sqm: first
1000sqm: 1 space per
1000 sqm: 1 space
250sqm thereafter 1 space per 125 sqm
per 1000sqm
thereafter: 1 space per
1000 sqm
From 100sqm: 1 space
from a threshold of
per 175sqm
100 sqm: 1 space per
40 sqm
1 space per studio and 1
bedroom unit;
2 spaces per all other
dwellings
As per most relevant other
standard - C2 = 1 space
per 2 beds

1 space per 40 units

As per most relevant
other standard - C2 = 1
space per 40 beds

Excerpt from Table 6.3: Cycle Parking Minimum Standards (London Plan 2016)

Table 20: Proposed Cycle Parking Provision
Quanta
ST

Residential

Student
Accommodation
Commercial

1-bed
18
2 bed / 49
3-bed
758

Long Stay Short
Spaces
Stay
Spaces
116
2

ST

758

379

352

838.2

7
(5 21
(19 28
standard)
standard)
502
41
543

18
98

838.2

TOTAL

19

118

8.272

In the context of the need for cycle parking to serve Lewisham Interchange a Cycle Hub
proposal is being formulated to provide additional accessible cycle parking and related
ancillary services close to the DLR / Overground / future BLE Station, in alignment with
London Plan policy and the London Cycle Design Standards. Lewisham Cyclists are
supportive of the development of a Cycle Hub project to meet this need and willing to
help shape the development.

8.273

The Applicant agrees to a financial contribution secured by Obligation of £50,000
towards the development of short term cycle parking on the southern side of Loampit
Vale. One possible location for the development of the Cycle Hub / Parking is in the
railway arches to the south of Loampit Vale adjacent to the Glass Mills Leisure Centre,
whether as a permanent or meanwhile use.
- 79 Page 89

8.274

This additional cycle parking could also meet additional cycle parking demand from the
development of the Carpetright site in the event that student cycle parking does exceed
the policy compliant level of provision.

8.275

TfL also note that showers / lockers for staff aren’t provided for employment uses. The
scale of employment and business size will be low and Officers consider that they do
not justify staff facilities.

8.276

The design of the basement has been amended by the Applicant in response to
comments made by TfL in relation to the London Cycle Design Standards (5%
adaptable cycle parking spaces, door widths, number of doors to cycle parking
spaces). Lift dimensions are based upon the consented scheme and fall marginally
short of the lift length. All other dimensions meet the standards. It is recommended
that the detailed design of the cycle parking provision and access to the spaces is
subject to a planning Condition to ensure compliance with the London Cycle Design
Standards and policy requirements.

8.277

TfL have also referred to the Public Sector Equalities Duty under s149 of the
Equality Act 2010. This requires that due regard be given to ensuring that cycle
parking is fit-for-use for all people, taking into account age, physical ability and sex,
as a proportion of the population would not be able to use two-tier bike stands.
However, as more than half of the 116 stands at basement level for C3 Housing are
at a lower level (and less than half at the upper level) then it is considered that half
are accessible to all people and meet the requirements of the Public Sector
Equalities Duty. This matter is less of a concern for students who have a different
age profile. Additionally, the requirement under this duty is newly recognised and
no design guidance is available to interpret its design specifications.

8.278

Car Club Membership. Two car clubs operate throughout the Borough with a mixture of
on-street and off-street parking spaces provided. The Applicant is willing to pay car club
membership for 3 years for all eligible occupiers of all the C3 residential units. It is
recommended that these measures are secured as an Obligation within the s106
agreement.

8.279

Trip generation. The methodology for estimating the trip generation of the scheme
has been agreed with officers from the Council and from TfL. All-modes trip rates
for the retail and residential elements have been derived from the TRAVL database.
Retail mode shares have been taken from the Lewisham Retail Capacity Study
(2009) and further and residential mode shares have been taken from the 2011
Census. Three key time periods have been assessed – weekday AM Peak hour
(0800-0900) and weekday PM Peak hour (1700-1800). Officers and TfL are
satisfied that the trip generation of the proposals has been accurately represented.

8.280

The estimated net change in trips between the existing development in full
occupation and the proposed situation is summarised below in Table 13 and the
net increase between the consented scheme and the proposed scheme is
illustrated in Table 14. This is a combined trip generation relating to Residential,
Student Housing and Commercial space.

- 80 Page 90

Table 21: Total Development Trip Generation By Mode (Application Scheme)
Mode

Car Driver
Car
Passenger
Bus
DLR
Rail
Taxi
Walk
Cycle
Other
TOTAL

AM Peak Hour (0800- PM Peak Hour (17000900)
1800)
In
Out
Total
In
Out
Total
1
1
2
1
1
2
1
1
2
3
3
6
31
9
18
0
14
3
1
77

60
20
43
0
27
6
2
161

90
29
61
0
41
9
3
238

64
18
38
1
29
6
3
162

46
12
25
1
21
4
2
114

110
30
63
2
50
10
5
276

Table 22: Estimated increase in trips over consented scheme
Mode

Car Driver
Car
Passenger
Bus
DLR
Rail
Taxi
Walk
Cycle
Other
TOTAL

AM Peak Hour (0800- PM Peak Hour (17000900)
1800)
In
Out
Total
In
Out
Total
1
1
2
1
1
2
0
-1
-1
0
0
0
24
3
4
0
11
2
1
44

36
-3
-11
0
16
1
1
40

60
0
-7
0
27
3
2
84

42
4
4
0
19
3
2
74

29
3
3
0
13
2
1
51

71
7
7
0
32
5
3
126

8.281

Development impact on the transport environment: The consented scheme was
considered to be acceptable by both Transport for London and LBL in terms of transport
impact. The net difference in terms of transport impact between the proposed and
approved schemes is considered to be very low. In the AM Peak hour, there is
predicted to be an additional 84 trips (1.3 trips per minute on average) and in the
PM peak hour there is predicted to be an additional 126 trips (2 trips per minute on
average).

8.282

TfL are critical of the trip generation, mode split, distribution and assignment.
However, the trip rates are based upon the agreed rates in the Lewisham Chapter
Transport Assessment (a very similar student development) and the mode split was
based on the Lewisham Chapter survey also. However, it is evident that all trips will be
undertaken using sustainable transport modes given the car free nature of the proposed
development. Transport for London have accepted that using a different methodology
will result in only minor differences in actual numbers. It is recognised that students do
have a different impact to the rest of the population as students are not tied to peak hour
trips.

- 81 Page 91

8.283

Public transport impact. Concerns have been raised by local people about
overcrowding on rail services at Lewisham station. The development is anticipated
to increase usage of public transport (rail, buses and DLR). Although public
transport loadings as a result of this development and unbuilt committed
developments would increase at peak times, Officers consider that these could
generally be accommodated by the planned significant public transport
enhancements in Lewisham town centre (as discussed further below). The majority
of these extra trips will be by bus or walking and the net difference for all other
modes is negligible. There are 21 bus routes within a 400m walk of the site with a
combined frequency 121 buses per hour per direction. The number of additional
trips per bus on average would be significantly less than 1 person trip. Goldsmiths,
University of London, is likely to be the main student destination, and is highly
accessible by walking, cycling and bus.

8.284

It is also anticipated that the opening of the Abbey Wood branch of the Elizabeth
Line (Crossrail 1) will reduce loadings at Lewisham. This is currently programmed
for an Autumn 2019 opening (subject to change). This is because passengers
travelling between destinations east of and including Abbey Wood and Central
London will transfer from South-eastern trains to the Elizabeth Line at Abbey Wood
to take advantage of faster journey times. The proposed development would help
to fund the Elizabeth Line by way of a Mayor of London CIL contribution.

8.285

TfL has reviewed the current and planned capacity of the DLR network and this
indicates that the Lewisham branch between Bank and Stratford is now operating
over capacity, meaning that in some instances users are unable to board trains
during the morning peak. It also finds that additional demand from this and other
planned development would place further strain on the DLR network and extend
capacity constraints further south along the network during morning peak. To help
address this issue, TfL is proposing to buy additional rolling stock to help increase
frequencies of services and has requested that the Applicant makes a financial
contribution of £80,000 towards DLR capacity enhancements, this would be added
to other financial contributions from adjacent developments if approved. The
additional trains are due to come in to service in May 2022. It is recommended that
this is secured by way of a planning obligation. At TfL’s request, it is recommended
that a planning condition requires ‘before and after’ tests of DLR radio signal
strength and the provision of any necessary boosters.

8.286

The Council is also seeking to improve the environment at Lewisham station,
reduce congestion and potentially provide new western and northern accesses to
improve the station catchment. The Council is working with TfL, GLA, Network Rail
and South-Eastern Trains to identify a cost-effective programme of incremental
enhancements which take account of longer-term aspirations to extend the
Bakerloo Line through Lewisham town centre and to extend the London
Overground from New Cross to Lewisham station and potentially beyond. Network
Rail has requested a financial contribution of £400,000 towards the costs of internal
Lewisham Station improvement works to mitigate station congestion and it is
recommended that this is secured by way of a planning obligation. The Interchange
study will include options for additional access points into Lewisham Station such
as that in absence of BLE.

8.287

The Transport Assessment and ES / ESA report on the likely significant cumulative
impacts of unbuilt but committed developments in the town centre upon the public
transport network and finds these to be acceptable. Officers agree with this
- 82 Page 92

assessment, subject to securing the financial contributions requested by TfL and
Network Rail outlined above.
8.288

The construction phase. London Plan Policy 6.3 makes clear that impacts on
transport capacity and the network must be fully assessed and that, amongst other
things, Construction Logistics Plans should be submitted to support strategic
development proposals. A planning Condition will be applied to secure the

8.289

Construction Logistics Management Plan: Both Transport for London and the LBL
Highways Officer are satisfied that this matter can be secured by planning condition
given that the site is capable of being constructed from within the site boundary.
The Applicant intends to demonstrate (by means of LINSIG traffic modelling) that it
should be possible to construct the site by dynamically closing a traffic lane on
Thurston Road during the off-peak periods.

8.290

The peak construction traffic generation estimates (in 7.9 of the ESA) set out within
the approved application have been revised in light of the updated development
proposals. It is understood that there will be a peak traffic generation of circa 16
daily vehicles (32 two-way daily movements) compared with 17 daily vehicles
anticipated as part of the approved application. Approximately 75% of these
vehicles will be Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) and 25% will be Light Goods
Vehicles (LGVs) / cars. This will equate to 12 HGVs per day and 4 LGVs/cars. The
effect of the 100 construction workers (maximum) is anticipated to be indiscernible
over peak hour travel, with people arriving by the same mode split as the
operational, resulting in 19 additional DLR trips, 45 people travelling by rail, and 19
additional people travelling by bus. TfL have clearly set out the issues for
consideration and resolution to be submitted in the CLMP to discharge any planning
condition.

8.291

A preliminary Construction Environmental Management Plan has been submitted
in support of the application and it is recommended that the implementation of an
updated Plan is secured by planning condition. It is also recommended that the
scope of a CEMP, to be secured by condition, includes the other identified
measures in the ES. Mitigation is identified as being a Construction Logistics Plan
(CLP) and the use of ‘Banksmen’ to ensure highway safety etc. and wheel washing.
With these in place, the ES identifies residual Minor Adverse effects.

8.292

There are a number of nearby strategic development proposals for Lewisham Town
Centre (including schemes for the Lewisham Retail Park, Lewisham Gateway and
Conington Road sites), with the potential for one or more schemes being on site at
the same time. Officers therefore recommend that a planning Obligation requires
developers of this site to participate in the Lewisham Construction Forum, which
will seek to manage and coordinate construction impacts and activities across
Lewisham Town Centre.

8.293

Travel Plans: London Plan Policy 6.3 makes clear that impacts on transport capacity
and the network must be fully assessed and that, amongst other things, workplace
and residential travel plans should be provided in support of significant applications.
The application is supported by satisfactory interim separate Residential and
Commercial Travel Plans and it is recommended that the approval and
implementation of detailed Residential, Student and Commercial travel plans are
secured by Condition. In addition Highways and Transport recommend a Student
Management Plan include details of how student drop-offs at the start / end of each
term will be managed by use of booked slots. This issue can be addressed within
the Student Travel Plan, rather than being a separate planning condition. Transport
- 83 Page 93

for London have set out issues that they would like addressed in revised travel plans
and are satisfied that the Travel Plans can therefore be secured by Planning
Condition.
8.294

Deliveries and Servicing:. London Plan Policy 6.13 requires schemes to provide for
the needs of businesses and residents for delivery and servicing and London Plan
Policy 6.14 states that development proposals should promote the uptake of
Delivery and Service Plans. Various options for servicing and refuse collection were
considered at the pre-application stage. Given the constraints of the site and the
need to safeguard the potential BLE, officers agree that the most appropriate
strategy is to service the site from Thurston Road via the proposed lay-by.

8.295

The application is supported by a Delivery and Servicing Management Plan, which
sets out how the servicing of the development and refuse collection would be
effectively managed. LBL Highways and TfL consider that the DSMP will require
further development that can be secured by planning Condition.

8.296

Enforcement of the use of the use of the loading bays on Thurston Road may be
required. This requirement will be enhanced when dynamic use of the loading bay
space by pedestrians and vehicles is required to facilitate peak hour pedestrian
flows (as set out in Pedestrian and Cycle Realm above), with the loading bay space
to be allocated to pedestrians .in the morning and evening peak periods once
sufficient flows justify this (e.g. when the BLE Station is opened). Transport for
London have requested that a financial contribution of £240,000 be secured by
Obligation to provide a CCTV camera system to enable remote traffic enforcement
of breaches of the parking in the designated loading bays. This request is not
supported by a clear project proposal and it is very difficult to justify such a
substantial financial contribution without a clearly supportable cost breakdown.
Officers therefore do not recommend inclusion of this Obligation, particularly taking
into account the consented scheme includes no such proposal to regulate the use
of the proposed loading bays.
Energy and Sustainability
Energy

8.297

London Plan Policies 5.1 (Climate change mitigation), 5.2 (Minimising carbon
dioxide emissions), 5.3 (Sustainable design & construction), 5.5 (Decentralised
Energy Networks), 5.6 (Decentralised energy in development proposals), 5.7
(Renewable energy), 5.8 (Innovative energy technologies) and 5.9 (Overheating
and cooling) requires developments to meet the highest standards of sustainable
design, including the conservation of energy and water; ensuring designs make the
most of natural systems and the conserving and enhancing the natural
environment.

8.298

The London Plan approach is reflected in Lewisham Core Strategy Policies 7
(Climate change and adapting to the effects) and 8 (Sustainable design and
construction and energy efficiency) which states that the Council will explore
opportunities to improve the energy standards and other sustainability aspects
involved in new developments and that it will expect all new development to reduce
CO2 emissions through a combination of measures including maximising the
opportunity of supplying energy efficiently by prioritising decentralised energy
generation for any existing or new developments and meet at least 20% of the total
energy demand through on-site renewable energy.
- 84 Page 94

8.299

Lewisham Town Centre Plan Policy LTC4 (Loampit Vale Policy Area) states that
buildings must incorporate communal heating and cooling systems and facilitate
the Policy Area becoming a decentralised energy hub, in accordance with Policy
LTC24. Policy LTC24 (Carbon dioxide emissions) calls for all major developments
to incorporate communal heating and sets out detailed guidance on energy centre
location and energy networks. It also highlights the potential for the Loampit Policy
Area to support a cluster of decentralised energy.

8.300

The Energy Strategy submitted in support of the application addresses the
proposals in relation to the energy hierarchy of ‘be lean’ (use less energy), ‘be clean’
(supply energy efficiently) and ‘be green’ (use renewable energy). It also sets out
an assessment of proposed measures to reduce the risk of overheating and reduce
reliance on air conditioning. Table 24 summarises the outcome.
Table 23: Energy Strategy Outcome
Regulated domestic
carbon dioxide savings
Tonnes CO2
per annum

%

Tonnes CO2
per annum

%

Part L1A (D) / L2A
(N-D)
Building
Regulations 2013
Baseline

102.6

--

549.5

Be lean: Energy
demand savings

99.4

3

531.2

3

Be clean: Savings
from heat network
(energy centre)

51.3

50

379.1

29

Be
Green:
Renewable energy
savings

--

--

358.7

5

Cumulative on-site
savings

51.3

50

222.8

37

Carbon shortfall

51.3

Cumulative
shortfall (over 30
years)

8.301

Regulated non-domestic
carbon dioxide savings

1539 tonnes

This application was received after the London Plan ‘zero carbon’ policy came in to
force on 1st October 2016. The cumulative shortfall (tonnes for 30 years) is equal to
1,539 tonnes according to the Energy Strategy for C3 housing. This equates to a
Carbon-Offset payment of £160,056 at the LBL rate of £104 per tonne. This
contribution would be paid into the Council’s carbon offset fund which would be
used to reduce carbon emissions and improve sustainability across the borough.
Officers and the GLA gave robustly interrogated the Applicant’s Energy and
Sustainability Assessment and consider that given the constraints of the site and
the slender forms of the proposed buildings, the proposed on-site savings and offsite financial contribution are acceptable.

- 85 Page 95

8.302

Non domestic accommodation (commercial and student accommodation) achieves
the 35% saving on the Part 2LA Building Regulations 2013, and therefore there is
no carbon shortfall for which a levy is due (see Table 3 of the Energy Strategy).

8.303

Be Lean. The Applicant’s Assessment identifies the incorporation of a number of
passive design measures. These include the provision of a Communal Heating and
Cooling system for all of the proposed commercial units, high standards of thermal
envelope and air tightness, improved thermal bridging standards, the use of
Mechanical Ventilation with Heat Recovery (MVHR) (which will recycle heat from
dwellings as fresh air is brought in), space heating and energy efficient lighting.
These measures would deliver about 3% carbon dioxide emission savings
compared to the 2013 Regulations.

8.304

Be Clean. London Plan Policy 5.6 requires major proposals to select energy
systems in accordance with the following hierarchy - Connection to: 1. Existing
heating or cooling networks; 2 Site-wide CHP Network; and 3. Communal heating
and cooling. A CHP system is proposed on site to provide heat and power
generation, to be located in the basement. The site will also be capable of
connecting to the wider district heating network in the future.

8.305

Be Green. The Applicant’s report explains that a number of alternative renewable
energy technologies were considered before settling on the use of Solar
Photovoltaics (PV). The proposals incorporate ne PV array on part of the roof of
Block A and two PV arrays on parts of the roof on Block B (a total of 300sqm on a
combined roof area of 411sqm). The PV arrays would set above areas of proposed
biodiverse roof and behind parapets. They would deliver about 3% carbon dioxide
emission savings compared to the 2013 Regulations. A planning condition to secure
the photovoltaic cells is recommended.

8.306

The lean, clean and green measures together would deliver about 35% carbon
savings compared to the 2013 Building Regulations. This meets the requirements
of London Plan Policy 5.2 and Core Strategy Policy 8. It is recommended that the
delivery of these on-site measures and the achievement of the identified carbon
savings is secured by way of a planning Obligation.

8.307

Connection to District Heating Network. The Applicant’s Energy Strategy outlines
an investigation of potential connections to existing heat networks, principally the
existing and proposed district heating networks (e.g. Renaissance Energy Network
which is operated by E.on and currently provides heat for Renaissance and
Thurston Point). There will be a provision to connect to a future DHN if a network
becomes available and the tenant wishes to connect to it. Given this, the Applicant
is proposing that, in accordance with Policy LTC24, a potential connection is
safeguarded by (a) allowing for an ‘expansion zone’ to allow for a heat network
connection with consumer substation (b) locating the energy centre for the site near
to Loampit Vale – with an access route along the site boundary being safeguarded.
Officers consider that this is reasonable and recommend that this approach is
secured by planning Condition.

8.308

The GLA have requested that additional low-carbon measures be investigated by
the applicant in addition to the CHP scheme in accordance with their guidance that
SAP10 carbon emission factors are applicable from January 2019. The applicantt’s
response to this is that the GLA guidance documents encourages applicants to
consider new emission factors in energy modelling, rather than requiring this. The
applicant have considered this matter and is not in a position to go further in its
targets than that set out in its Energy Strategy because these are non-mandatory.
- 86 Page 96

8.309

A planning objection was received in relation to the likely efficiency of CHP systems
and the price-point of heat and energy to consumers based upon their experience
of on-going cost to consumers based upon the quality of the heat-box provided in
individual dwellings. The applicant’s energy consultant responds to this that heat
usage will be reduced by following the GLA’s energy hierarchy and that CHP will
achieve 35% energy savings. Providing the stated energy performance meets or
exceeds the required energy target then the strategy is compliant. The issue of
heat-box specification is an issue that would need to be tackled by a specialist group
as part of the London Plan EIP as this is a point with universal relevance. Boilers
would only be used in peak times to complement the CHP system. The GLA guiding
document encourages new emission factors to be considered byut this is not yet
mandatory.

8.310

Overheating and cooling. London Plan 5.9 sets out a hierarchy of measures
including minimising internal heat generation, reducing solar gain in summer
months, using thermal mass to manage heat within buildings, natural ventilation
and mechanical ventilation. The proposals incorporate measures, prioritising
higher-order ones, including shading from balconies and appropriate glazing (gvalue) specification, openable windows and Mechanical Ventilation Recovery
System.

8.311

The Applicant’s Overheating Assessment identifies a number of south and west
facing flats in Block A and Block B facing units which would be at risk of overheating
in late afternoons and recommends that revised details will be developed through
Stage 4 Technical Design to meet the required overheating criteria. It is
recommended that this is secured by planning Condition.

8.312

Environmental sustainability
Environmental sustainability is a cross-cutting theme that is also considered under
a number of other headings in this report, including Layout Scale and Design,
Transport and Standard of Residential Accommodation.

8.313

London Plan Policy 5.3 (Sustainable Design and Construction) and Core Strategy
Policies 7 and 8 advocate the need for sustainable development. Policy LTC25
(Adapting to climate change) also calls for all developments to adapt to the potential
of climate change and incorporate appropriate measures (including living roofs and
walls, water saving measures, SUDS, planning etc.). The Mayor’s Sustainable
Design and Construction SPG (April 2014) sets out targets and provides guidance
as to how to achieve those targets as efficiently as possible.

8.314

However, Lewisham Core Strategy Policy 8 requires that non-residential
development should achieve a minimum of BREEAM ‘Excellent’ standard or any
future national equivalent still stands. The Applicant’s Energy and Sustainability
Assessment includes a BREEAM pre-assessment for a non-specific non-residential
building type, using BREEAM 2014 New Construction, Shell and Core. This
indicates that the proposed development is on target to achieve an ‘Excellent’ Shell
and Core rating. The Applicant has signalled a commitment to meeting this and it is
recommended that this is secured by way of a planning condition.

8.315

The Applicant’s Assessment also sets out a cross-check against issues highlighted
by the Mayor of London’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG in the Design
and Access Statement. This is a helpful systematic way of considering
environmental sustainability issues and demonstrates a high level of compliance
with standards. This would be secured by the range of recommended planning
conditions and obligations.
- 87 Page 97

8.316

Drainage. London Plan Policy 5.13 requires development to utilise SUDS, unless
there are practical reasons for not doing so. The supporting text to the policy
recognises the contribution ‘green’ roofs can make to SUDS. The hierarchy within
Policy 5.11 of the London Plan confirms that development proposals should include
‘green’ roofs and that Boroughs may wish to develop their own green roof policies.
To this end, Core Strategy Policy 7 specifies a preference for Living Roofs (which
includes bio-diverse roofs) which in effect, comprise deeper substrates and a more
diverse range of planting than plug-planted sedum roofs, providing greater
opportunity for bio-diversity.

8.317

The existing development is served by a connection to a combined Thames Water
sewer in Loampit Vale. A summary of the applicant’s Drainage Strategy is set out
in the following paragraphs. Thames Water have no objections to the proposed
strategy, subject to the imposition of a number of planning conditions. In response
to this request, Officers recommend a number of Planning Conditions to manage
the implications of the Drainage Strategy. Thames Water’s biggest concern in
relation to the application are the possible implications of the Piling Design in
relation to the strategic water assets off of the site. Officers recommend that this
matter is subject to a Planning Condition.

8.318

It is proposed to store surface water run-off on site in an attenuation tank beneath
the basement slab and discharge it from the site at a controlled rate to the 1829mm
diameter combined sewer on Loampit Vale. An underground tank with internal
volume of 130m³ and maximum discharge rate through the pump of 5 l/s is required
to attenuate a 1 in 100 year storm with allowance for 40% climate change. A
concrete attenuation tank with a total volume of 130m3 is being proposed for
attenuation. The rate of discharge from the attenuation tank will be controlled by a
pump located in a manhole adjacent to the attenuation tank, from which it will be
pumped to a combined decompression manhole at ground level before entering the
existing public line via a gravity connection. The pump will have an outflow restricted
to a rate of 5 l/s from the site. The surface water run-off from this site, which is
almost totally covered in roof or hardstanding, currently discharges un-attenuated
flow to the combined sewer system serving the area. In order to both reduce and
attenuate the flow, the proposed development will be designed in accordance with
the principles of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) and as per London Plan
Policy 5.13: Sustainable Drainage.

8.319

The requirements of SuDS are typically addressed by provision of interception
storage, treatment storage or attenuation storage.

8.320

In the case of the subject site, attenuation storage will be provided and growth
factors will not be applied to the allowable discharge for the 100 year event. This
means that both treatment storage and long term storage (neither of which would
be practical on this site) are not required.

8.321

London Plan Policy 5.13: Sustainable Drainage, states that the “development
should utilise sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS) unless there are
practical reasons for not doing so, and should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates
and ensure that surface water runoff is managed as close to its source as possible
in line with the following drainage hierarchy”.

- 88 Page 98

Table 24: Sustainable Drainage Hierarchy
London Plan Policy 5.13

Proposed drainage strategy

Store rainwater for later use

Rainwater harvesting will not be provided
on site due to site constraints

Use infiltration techniques, such
as porous surfaces in non –clay
areas

The proposed development footprint
covers the entire site in hardstanding
areas therefore infiltration techniques are
not possible

Attenuate rainwater in ponds or
open water features for gradual
release

Ponds or open water features not practical
due to site constraints

Attenuate rainwater by storing in
tanks or sealed water features for
gradual release

Attenuation tank provided to hold 1 in 100
year storm with 40% climate change

Discharge rainwater direct to a
watercourse

No accessible watercourses are located in
the vicinity of the subject site

Discharge rainwater to a surface
water sewer/drain

Rainwater will be discharged to the Existing
225mm Surface Water Sewer to the east of
the site

Discharge rainwater
combined sewer

Not applicable as there are no combined
sewer surrounding the site

to

the

Foul Water
8.322

It is proposed to use a new gravity network to discharge foul water from the site to
the existing public sewer. This network will be slung beneath the ground floor slab
and will flow to a new combined manhole located adjacent the basement wall before
entering the public network. There are no facilities that require a foul network in the
basement level, therefore the entire foul effluent from the building will discharge at
ground level. Foul stacks will serve the bedrooms and communal areas, while
trapped gully pots will be provided in landscaped areas as per the EA’s Pollution
Prevention Guidelines document (PPG3). Areas which may be subject to wash
down, such as bin stores and plant rooms, will be fitted with foul gullies to prevent
contamination of the surface water system.
Flood Risk

8.323

London Plan Policy 5.12 (Flood Risk Management) requires the mitigation of
flooding, or in the case of managed flooding, the stability of buildings, the protection
of essential utilities and the quick recovery from flooding. Core Strategy Policy 10:
(Managing and reducing the risk of flooding) requires developments to result in a
positive reduction in flooding to the Borough.

8.324

The site is approximately 100m to the west of the Ravensbourne River and the
entire site is within Flood Zone 3a (High risk) of flooding.

8.325

The Flood Risk Strategy submitted as part of the Flood Risk Assessment takes
account of detailed fluvial modelling of the River Ravensbourne and these have
been used to inform the following necessary mitigation measures that are
recommended to be secured by planning condition and obligation:
- 89 Page 99













Commercial units – inclusion of internal staircases between the ground and first
floors to provide a safe place of refuge above the 7. 13m AOD design flood level
(1% Annual Exceedance Probability plus 35% climate change allowance and no
freeboard);
Public Square – principles previously agreed with the EA still stand in that
proposed levels will be the same or lower than existing, so the impedence of
flood flows does not occur.
Residential units – all residential accommodation is proposed to be located on
the second floor or higher, significantly above the 7.13m AOD design flood level
(1% Annual Exceedance Probability plus 35% climate change allowance and no
freeboard);
Sub-station and Energy Centre – A compound wall will be provided according
to UKPN guidance. This will allow an enhanced level of flood protection, whilst
allowing for essential access for delivery and maintenance operations. It is
recommended that this is secured by condition.
Basement – to protect the basement during a floor devent: service entry points
and vents are to be protected or raised above the flood level; Non-return valves
are to be fitted to drainage runs; and 1.2m flood barriers are to be fitted to the
plant rooms.
Dry means of escape – A dry means of escape may not be possible in a flood
event and therefore the first floor is to be used as a safe refuge in a flood event.
Floodplain storage – the building footprint is slightly larger than the consented
scheme. However, the ground plane has been re-profiled to provide a flood
storage volume equal (or a nominal increase) to the existing on-site flood
volume. The consented scheme provided 419 cubic metres of flood storage and
this scheme proposes 431 cubic metres of flood storage.

8.326

The Environment Agency have completed a detailed analysis of the proposed onsite flood volume, in collaboration with the Applicant, and found the proposals to be
acceptable in principle, subject to a number of planning Conditions and an
Obligation relating to the maintenance of proposed flood storage volumes (specified
in Consultation, above)..

8.327

With the proposed Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy in place, the
Applicant’s FRA finds that the risk of flooding from surface water and the surcharge
of combined sewers would be low. The risk of flooding from the failure of the nearby
Weigall Road Flood Storage Area is also considered to be low. The proposed
development does not contain any below ground accommodation such as
basement car parking or storage and there is no risk of flooding from high ground
water levels.

8.328

The proposed housing, sub-station and energy centre are classified as ‘More
Vulnerable’ and ‘Essential Infrastructure’ for the purposes of flood risk and, to be
acceptable, such uses in Flood Zone 3a need to pass the Exception Test. This is a
tool used to demonstrate that the flood risk to people and property is managed,
allowing necessary development to proceed where suitable sites with a lower risk
of flooding are not available. The Applicant’s FRA concludes that, subject to the
adoption of the proposed mitigation measures, the risk of flooding to the proposed
development from all sources (tidal, fluvial, surface water, and ground water) is low
and that the risk of flooding would not increase elsewhere. It goes on to state that
the inclusion of the proposed energy centre would provide wider sustainability
benefits that outweigh flood risk ad that the Exception Test has been satisfied.
Officers agree with this conclusion.
- 90 Page 100

8.329

The acceptability of flood emergency response procedures rest with the Council.
The proposed development would be surrounded by flood water during a major
flood event and there would not be a safe means of access to or from a dry area
outside of the floodplain (contrary to the advice in the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment). Instead, residents would be expected to stay in their homes and use
these as a safe place of refuge until water in surrounding streets subside and those
at commercial space would be expected to use the first floor as a safe refuge. The
Council has accepted reliance on a safe refuge before, including for the recently
approved Lewisham Retail Park scheme (DC/16/097629), the Sherwood Court
development, also on Thurston Road (DC/15/093176 and DC/12/80762) and this is
considered an appropriate approach here, subject to a planning obligation that
requires the approval of a site-specific Flood Risk Management Plan.

8.330

The Applicant’s ES identifies potential risks during the demolition and construction
phase of increasing sediment loads (from dust and debris) and clogging of drains
and spills of hydrocarbons and oils in to the drainage system which could adversely
affect the Ravensbourne River and/or drainage infrastructure. However, subject to
appropriate measures being implemented via a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) the likely significant effects are identified as
Indiscernible. It is recommended that the implementation of an approved CEMP is
secured by planning condition.

8.331

The local geology is a mix of gravels and chalk, with ‘made ground’ to varying
thickness. The site is within a Source Protection Zone, which protects the underlying
aquifer.
Ecology

8.332

London Plan Policy 7.19 (Biodiversity and access to nature) makes clear that
development proposals should wherever possible make a positive contribution to
the protection, enhancement and creation and management of biodiversity. Core
Strategy Policy 12 recognises the importance of the natural environment and the
Council’s need to conserve nature and promotes living roofs. Policy DMLP 24
requires all new development to take full account of appropriate Lewisham and
London Biodiversity Action plans and guidance and minimise potential adverse
impacts.

8.333

The existing site provides a very hard environment with very little by way of trees or
other planting (with just 4 individual trees located along the Loampit Vale frontage)
with negligible ecological value. The Applicant’s submitted Ecology Survey sets out
the findings of an extended Phase 1 habitat survey of the site (including bats) and
assesses the quality of the adjoining St John’s Station Site of Importance for Nature
Conservation. The survey found a small area of Japanese knotweed and notes that
building has the potential to support roosting bats. It goes on to recommend the
following mitigation measures:






Suitable fencing along the eastern boundary and other measures to safeguard
the adjoining SINC during construction;
Removal of Japanese knotweed;
Checking for nests if the building is to be demolished and/or trees to be felled
during the bird breeding season (March to end August);
Further bat survey to check for maternity roosts; and
Ecological enhancements (at least two bat boxes and two bird boxes on the
building(s), creation of an invertebrate logger or at least two insect boxes and
the planting of at least five native trees).
- 91 Page 101



In addition the Ecological Regeneration Manager recommends the provision of
a peregrine falcon nesting box at roof level.

8.334

The proposed scheme includes the provision of 9 trees (1 medium and 8 small
trees) in the proposed Loampit Square (a net gain of five trees), including native
species, and approx. 175sqm at Building A and 568sqm on Building B of bio-diverse
roofs.

8.335

Bats are a protected species. The Environmental Statement found no evidence of
bats on the site and a conclusion of the likely absence of bats. This conclusion is
considered acceptable.

8.336

It is recommended that planning conditions secure a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) and the approval and implementation of a Habitat
Creation Management Plan (HCMP) to ensure that the above mitigation measures
and potential enhancements are realised. It is also recommended that a condition
secures the approval of details and delivery of the proposed bio-diverse roofs and
nesting boxes.
Waste

8.337

London Plan Policy 5.16 seeks to minimise waste and, amongst other things,
exceed recycling and reuse levels in construction, excavation and demolition waste
of 95% by 2020. The Mayor of London’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG
(2014) makes clear that developers should maximise the use of existing resources
and materials and minimise waste through the implementation of the waste
hierarchy.

8.338

The Applicant’s Delivery and Servicing Management Plan includes an Operational
Waste Management Strategy. For the proposed housing, an intermediate waste
store is proposed for each block and residents would be responsible for transferring
their waste and recycling to these stores. The proposed commercial units would
have dedicated space for segregation and storage of waste. On a daily basis (or as
required) the proposed facilities management team would transfer waste to
separate residential and commercial collection stores in Block A – close to the
proposed Thurston Road layby where it would be picked up by refuse lorries.
Transferring waste across the proposed public square is expected to take place
outside of busy periods.

8.339

The Applicant has submitted a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) to support
its planning application. This sets out to (a) document the initial waste reduction
recommendations made and incorporated within the proposed development and to
provide information on how waste management ideas will be implemented
throughout the project and (b) enable the waste management recommendations in
the report to be incorporated into a site-specific plan to be developed by the
principal contractor (with responsibility for developing the SWMP falling on the
principal contractor, once appointed).

8.340

The SWMP outlines the potential waste and associated cost reductions through
good waste management and design mitigation actions as well as the Applicant’s
commitments to minimise waste, manage waste efficiently and divert waste from
landfill. It includes the target of 90% diversion from landfill for demolition waste and
95% diversion for construction waste. It is recommended that general compliance
with the submitted SWMP is secured by way of a planning Condition.

- 92 Page 102

9.0

Environmental Impact Assessment
Introduction

9.1

The position regarding the need for and scope of EIA of the proposals is set out in
Section 5 of this report. This Section reviews the various topics covered by the
submitted ES and ES Addendum. The key findings of the ES as revised are referred
to in earlier sections where necessary and have been used as an integral part of
considering the acceptability of the proposed development. This section sets out,
in one place, a summary of the findings of the ES as revised and proposed further
mitigation (over and above deigned-in mitigation that is embedded in the
proposals). Overall, officers generally agree with the findings of the ES as revised,
unless otherwise stated, and have recommended the use of planning conditions or
obligations to secure the identified supplementary mitigation and other measures
that they consider necessary.
Non-Technical Summary (NTS)

9.2

As required by the Regulations, the ES is accompanied by a Non-Technical
Summary (NTS). This provides a brief introduction to the proposals advises on
discounted alternative development approaches and summarises the likely level of
significant effects and the means of mitigation.
Environmental Statement (ES)

9.3

The sections below set out how the ES and ESA as revised has addressed the
likely significant environmental effects of the proposed development, what the
impacts are and proposed mitigation. It also sets out the Council’s conclusions
regarding impacts and proposed mitigation measures and identifies the
mechanisms by which mitigation would be secured. The headings correspond to
the relevant chapters of the ES.
Development Description

9.4

Chapter 2 summarises the key aspects of the proposed development that have
been amended since the consented scheme and its Environmental Statement,
which have been discussed at length in earlier sections of this report. It also
identifies key demolition and construction activities and identifies a construction
programme and sequencing that was assumed for EIA purposes. This is set out in
Table 16 below.
Table 25: Assumed Phasing for EIA Purposes
Action

Consented
ES phasing

Duration

Application
scheme
phasing

Duration

Demolition
and clearance

Mid-2018

6-8 weeks

March 2018

6-8 weeks

Construction

Late 2018

24-30 months

April 2019

Approximately
16 months

Completion

Mid-2021

Operational from
this point
onwards

August 2020

Operational
from this point
onwards

- 93 Page 103

Assessment Methodology
9.5

Chapter 3 of the ES Addendum outlines the methodology adopted, including
temporal and spatial scope, assessment of effects (including determining
significance) and cumulative and interactive effects. For the latter, following
consultation with officers, the assessment took account of 19 committed
developments, including Lewisham Gateway and the now approved Retail Park
schemes.

9.6

Major accidents and / or natural disasters and Human Health are included in the
wording of the 2017 EIA Regulations, requiring assessment where effects could
potentially be significant. Considering the commitment to building regulations and
statutory requirements outside of the EIA process and the flood risk assessment
undertaken, a dedicated ES addendum chapter assessing major accidents and / or
natural disasters was not considered to be required by the applicant. Similarly, a
dedicated Health chapter has been scoped out of the ES Addendum as a Health
Impact Assessment (HIA) was carried out in support of the 2017 application, which
is still considered to be valid. Section 9 of the EIA Regulations requires the local
planning authority to take the information regarding the significant environmental
effects of the development provided in relation to the previous application into
consideration in their decision for a subsequent consent. The ES Addendum
updates that previous environmental information to take into account the effects of
the amended scheme.

9.7

LB Lewisham appointed independent environmental assessment consultants to
review the Environmental Statement Addendum submitted with this application to
confirm that the information provided meets the statutory requirements. The
environmental information has been found to be satisfactory.

9.8

The development alternatives considered were outlined in the ES 2017. This
application represents a further iteration in the design process for the site.
Lewisham Gateway Phase 2 was added to the cumulative development
assessment in the ES Addendum 2019.
Townscape and visual impact

9.9

Chapter 5 of the ES outlines an assessment of townscape and visual impact.
Following the Council’s Scoping Opinion, this assessment includes above ground
heritage assets. The assessment is based on the principles set out in the third
(2013) edition of ‘Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment’,
produced by the Landscape Institute with the Institute of Environmental
Management and Assessment. It assesses the likely effects of the proposed
development using Accurate Visual Representations on the townscape from 27
close range and long-distance viewpoints (agreed with officers), character areas,
conservation areas, listed and locally listed buildings.

9.10

Construction. The assessment finds that, with site hoardings in place to provide
some mitigation, cranes and other machinery associated with construction works
would contribute to a temporary Minor to Moderate Adverse effect on views,
townscape character areas and built heritage assets. The amended scheme would
have broadly similar townscape and visual effects as the scheme is very similar in
nature. The mitigation measures to be used would remain as the ES 2017.

9.11

Operation. The assessment concludes that the appearance of the proposed
development would contribute positively to views and townscape character, with a
mixture of Neutral and Minor to Moderate Beneficial effects, depending on the
- 94 Page 104

location. In relation to built heritage assets, the assessment found the effects to be
Minor to Moderate Neutral. The design changes of the amended scheme, and in
particular the increases in height to the two buildings, would not result in any
changes to the magnitude of impact of the revised proposed development in respect
of any views, townscape character areas or the townscape setting of heritage
assets. As the sensitivity of these receptors remains unchanged, the significance of
the effects as a result of the revised proposal would also remain unchanged. The
nature of the effect of the revised proposed development would remain beneficial
or neutral in respect of each receptor, as set out in the ES 2017. Further
supplementary mitigation is not required.
9.12

Cumulative. The assessment identifies similar temporary Moderate Adverse effects
during the construction phase. The introduction of the committed schemes does not
result in different effects in relation to the identified views or character areas. In
respect of heritage assets, the Assessment finds that the proposed Lewisham
Gateway scheme would reduce substantially the visibility of the Listed Church of
St. Stephen, the St. Stephen’s Conservation Area and Belmont Conservation Area
and the locally listed Nos. 17-31 Lewisham High Street. As a result, the effect of the
proposed development on these assets would be reduced to ‘Negligible to Minor’,
‘Minor’ and ‘Negligible’ respectively. The effect of the revised proposed
development in the context of cumulative schemes in respect of views, townscape
character areas and the townscape settings of built heritage assets would remain
the same as set out in the ES 2017..
Wind and microclimate

9.13

Chapter 6 of the ES outlines an assessment of issues relating to wind microclimate.
Following the Council’s Scoping Opinion, this is based on a Boundary Wind Tunnel
Assessment (BWTA) and assesses 67 locations on and surrounding the site at
ground level (including pavement/building entrance areas on both sides of Loampit
Vale, and Thurston Road and Lewisham Station forecourt) and a large number of
locations within the proposed scheme itself. It adopts the industry-standard Lawson
pedestrian comfort criteria for different activities (including long-term sitting,
standing or short-term sitting, walking or strolling and business walking) and tests
the wind conditions at locations in relation to their intended use. Chapter 5 of the
ES Addendum 2019 reviews the environmental effects in relation to the amended
scheme.

9.14

Construction. The assessment notes that there is the potential for construction
activities to change the local wind environment, but that, in general, pedestrian
expectations are such that any adverse conditions are accepted as temporary
environmental effects and with standard site hoardings in place the effects are likely
to be Indiscernible. The potential wind effects during the demolition and
construction phase remain unchanged from the ES 2017.

9.15

Operation. The site is sheltered by the surrounding buildings to the south and the
proposed design and orientation of development helps to reduce the effects at
ground level by reducing facade downwash and wind acceleration. The assessment
finds that the adjoining streets would be suitable for their intended activity (leisure
strolling) and that entrance areas would be suitable for standing/sitting. The likely
effects for the surrounding area are assessed as Indiscernible. The proposed
development itself is expected to produce localised areas of increased wind speed
– but following the inclusion of mitigation to balcony/ terrace areas (including the
use of screens, hedges and canopies), these areas are also assessed as being
suitable for their intended use (long-term sitting). These mitigation measures have
- 95 Page 105

been embedded within the proposed design and the resultant residual effects are
assessed as Indiscernible. The proposed mitigation measures, including approval
of details, is recommended to be secured by way of a planning condition. The
potential wind effects during the operational phase remains unchanged from the ES
2017 due to minor changes to the building design.
9.16

Cumulative. The approved Lewisham Gateway and Retail Park schemes were
incorporated in to the wind tunnel model and tested. The approved Retail Park
scheme is identified as being likely to have an adverse impact on balconies on the
north-west elevation of Block A, but that the inclusion of the proposed screen
around the proposed winter gardens would mitigate this. In all locations, the likely
effects of the proposed development in combination with other developments were
found to be indiscernible, making no difference to the tolerability of different
activities on and around the site. The potential wind effects due to cumulative and
interactive construction and operational phase remain unchanged from the ES
2017.
Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing

9.17

Chapter 7 of the ES 2017 outlines an assessment of issues relating to daylight and
sunlight, including existing nearby buildings and proposed buildings based upon
Building Research Establishment (BRE) BR209 “Site Layout Planning for Daylight
and Sunlight, A Guide to Good Practice” (2011). The Vertical Sky Component (VSC)
threshold was a VSC of 15% or at least 0.8 times its existing value. To maintain
good levels of daylight, the BRE guidelines recommend a VSC of 27%, or greater.
However, within an urban context it is recognised that a lower VSC is acceptable
given site constraints and a figure of 15% is typically considered to provide
acceptable daylight in an urban context. This level of threshold is supported by the
Whitechapel case Appeal ref: APP/E5900/W/17/3171437. The Annual Probable
Sunlight Hours (APSH) and Winter Probable Sunlight Hours (WPSH) threshold was
that living rooms should ideally receive at least 25% of APSH throughout the year
and 5% during winter months and that the difference between APSH is not less
than 0.8 times its former value. For garden or amenity space, BRE guidance
recommends that to appear adequately sunlit throughout the year, at least 50% of
the space should receive at least two hours of sunlight at the equinox.

9.18

The ES notes that existing low-rise buildings that currently occupy the site provide
a baseline condition which is neither typical of a city location nor reflective of recent
development in the area, meaning that homes facing on to the site experience
unusually high levels of daylight and sunlight for their context. In such
circumstances, the BRE guidance allows for alternative targets to be met, including
the use of a hypothetical ‘mirror image’ building set an equal distance apart from a
boundary as a basis of establishing alternative target values. The assessment in
the ES takes account of this.

9.19

Construction. Some negligible short-term effects are likely. There are no changes
to the original ES Chapter in relation to construction effects.

9.20

Operational. There are some changes to the effects of the operational development
in the amended scheme (ES Addendum 2019) on the daylight, sunlight and
overshadowing amenity of the surrounding properties. The findings of the ES
Addendum are discussed in detail in Section 8 of this report, both in respect of the
proposals themselves and likely effects on neighbouring properties. In summary,
65% of the tested windows in the proposed development itself would Pass the VSC
test and suffer a negligible effect in terms of daylight (with 35% of the 182 windows
- 96 Page 106

suffering a minor / moderate or major reduction). All 182 windows tested would pass
the BRE Sunlight test with negligible impact on sunlight levels. All proposed spaces
(public square and communal terraces) would meet the BRE Guidelines. The
Assessment identifies a number of adverse effects on nearby homes in the
Renaissance development and Lewisham Gateway, including a number of
Moderate and Major adverse effects and these are set out in detail in Section 8.
9.21

Cumulative: The potential daylight and sunlight effects due to cumulative and
interactive construction and operational phase are changed from the amended
scheme and that set out in ES 2017. The effects of the completed cumulative
scenario demonstrate that there are additional impacts compared to the proposed
scenario on the surrounding residential receptors. The north facades of
Renaissance blocks D1, E and F directly face the Lewisham Retail Park
development, as does the eastern façade of Thurston Point. The north eastern
façade of Renaissance block G faces Phase 2 of the Lewisham Gateway
development. Based on the nature and scale of the two cumulative schemes, it is
highly likely that the surrounding properties would be impacted in terms of daylight
and sunlight amenity, regardless of whether the proposed development is in place.
It is clear from the results of the technical analysis that the majority of impacts
identified in the cumulative scenario are caused by the third party cumulative
schemes..
Transport

9.22

Chapter 8 of the ES draws on the findings of the Transport Assessment (TA). It
takes account of relevant guidance in the IEMA Guidance for Environmental
Assessment of Road Traffic and identifies suitable criteria for assessing the
magnitude of likely significant effects in relation to Severance/Driver Delay,
Pedestrian and Cyclists Amenity, Local Bus Capacity and DLR/National Rail
Capacity. The future baseline years are 2020 for construction and 2022 for
operation. This is updated by Section 7 of the ES Addendum 2019 in relation to the
amended scheme. Transport impacts are set out in Section 8 of this report.

9.23

Construction. Peak construction traffic is estimated as being circa 17 vehicles (34
vehicle movements) visits to the site per day (75% HGVs, 25% LGVs and cars).
Assuming a 10-hour working day, the peak construction traffic generation would
equate to approximately 4 vehicle movements an hour. The ES also considers
movements by construction workers, estimating 60 workers on site in the peak
period. The ES Addendum 2019 updates these impacts to 16 construction vehicles
per day (32 trips), of which 75% will be HGV and 25% LGVs. It also identifies that
there would be a maximum of 100 construction operatives per day, travelling by the
same sustainable mode split as that assumed for the operational phase of
development with no car-borne trips.

9.24

The ES notes that the expected increase in vehicles on the highway, particularly
larger vehicles and HGVs, may result in disturbance to other highway users and
cause safety concerns. Mitigation is identified as being a Construction Logistics
Plan (CLP) and the use of ‘Banksmen’ to ensure highway safety etc. and wheel
washing. A CLP has been submitted in support of the application and it is
recommended that its implementation is secured by planning condition. It is also
recommended that the scope of a CEMP, to be secured by condition, includes the
other identified measures. With these in place, the ES identifies residual Minor
Adverse effects.

- 97 Page 107

9.25

Operation. The proposed development incorporates designed-in mitigation in the
form of no on-site car parking and generous cycle parking and proposed Travel
Plans submitted in support of the application. The ES summarises the likely net
effect on the number of car trips (-3 Week day AM Peak, - 19 Weekday PM Peak
and -35 Saturday 1200-1300). It also identifies the likely net effect on other modes
– identifying increases in other modes (bus, rail, DLR, taxi, walking and cycling) of
+145 (Weekday AM Peak), +92 (Weekday PK Peak) and +119 (Saturday 1200 –
1300).

9.26

The ES demonstrates that the proposed development is predicted to reduce the
level of car traffic generated to the site when compared with the current Carpetright
store use. As such, the ES identifies an Indiscernible Beneficial effect on the
operation of the local highway network and Minor Beneficial effects on public realm
and cyclists/pedestrian amenity. The development would increase the number of
journeys taken on public transport in the local area, with the ES noting that this
would represent a minor percentage of the overall local public transport demand
and that any environmental effects would be Indiscernible. As such, the ES does
not identify the need for supplementary mitigation (over and above CIL payments).
This same conclusion is drawn within the ES Addendum 2019.

9.27

Cumulative Effects. Given that peak hour vehicle flows are predicted to decrease,
the ES focuses on likely operational cumulative effects on public transport. Based
on the above assessment of likely cumulative effects, the ES identifies an
Indiscernible Adverse effect. This same conclusion is drawn within the ES
Addendum 2019, even with the increased number of trips generated within peak
times.
Noise & Vibration

9.28

Chapter 9 of the ES outlines an assessment of issues relating to noise and vibration.
Baseline noise monitoring were carried out at three locations (corner of Jerrard
Street/Thurston Road, corner of Thurston Road/Loampit Vale and corner of Jerrard
Street/Loampit Vale) at both the busiest (07.00–09.30 and 05.30-07.00) and
quietest (10.00-12.00 and 02.30-0430) times. Reference is also made to a previous
vibration assessment (2015) submitted in support of an application for development
at Sherwood Court (on Thurston Road). Noise predications were based on British
Standards, World Health Organisation and North American standards using the
baseline noise survey results and existing and predicted future traffic flows.

9.29

Construction. Subject to the implementation of an appropriate Noise and Vibration
Management Plan and Traffic Management Plan to be part of a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) (to be secured by planning condition),
the ES identifies Moderate Adverse noise and vibration effects at properties in
homes in the nearby Renaissance developments. The ES Addendum 2019 draws
the same conclusion, with the Piling activity worst case scenario being a “medium”
impact to be managed.

9.30

Operation. With appropriate mitigation in place to control noise emissions from
fixed mechanical plant and equipment to be 5 decibels (dB) below the background
noise level, the effects on people living in homes in the nearby Renaissance,
Thurston Point and Sherwood Court developments are predicted to be
Indiscernible. A planning condition is recommended to secure this mitigation. Traffic
noise generated by the development is predicted to have an Indiscernible effect.
The ES also assesses the suitability of the site for housing, including internal noise
conditions and the noise environment of outdoor recreation spaces. An (External)
- 98 Page 108

Noise Mitigation Strategy is designed to ensure that noise levels within dwellings
are at acceptable levels, with the highest noise mitigation being required on Loampit
Vale. A planning condition is recommended to secure this mitigation. The ES
Addendum 2019 draws the same conclusion with regard to Noise and Vibration due
to effects being unchanged or indiscernible.
9.31

Cumulative. The adjoining Retail Park site is identified as having the greatest
potential cumulative effect during construction. The ES concludes that if the
construction of both sites happened at the same time, the impact of people living in
homes in the nearby Renaissance, Thurston Road and Sherwood Court
developments would be larger than only for one of the developments – resulting in
either a larger impact over a defined period or a similar level of impact but over a
longer period. However, if mitigation measures to avoid cumulative effects are
applied during the development of the Retail Park site, the significance should not
be altered (i.e. Moderate Adverse) – with some short-term Major Adverse effects
due to piling. The ES Addendum 2019 considers that the conclusions from the ES
2017 cumulative impact assessment remain valid.
Air Quality

9.32

Chapter 10 of the ES draws on the findings of the Transport Assessment and
assesses likely effects during the construction and operational phases (traffic and
energy centre emissions) by use of the industry standard ADMS-Roads model. It
also includes the findings of an Air Quality Neutral Assessment – with all air quality
neutral benchmarks being met.

9.33

Construction. Subject to the implementation of an appropriate Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) (to be secured by planning condition),
the ES identifies Negligible/Minor Adverse effects from dust and pollutant
concentrations from activities and traffic during the construction phase. The ES
Addendum 2019 considers that these conclusions remain valid.

9.34

Operation. The findings take account of traffic emissions and energy centre
emissions and the designed-in mitigation that is outlined in Section 8 of this report
and energy centre stack/emissions. The ES concludes that there would be
negligible effects in relation to energy centre emissions and all proposed future
receptors are predicted to meet relevant air quality objectives. The revised scheme
(considered in the ES Addendum 2019) identifies that traffic emission impacts will
be unchanged. It identifies that the amended scheme will have two energy centres
(one in the basement of each building). The impact of the energy centre is predicted
to be minor adverse in relation to four receptor locations in relation to NO2. All other
receptors are predicted to have a negligible impact. The revised scheme meets all
air quality neutral benchmarks and therefore no further mitigation is required.

9.35

Cumulative Effects. The ES 2017 identifies a Minor Adverse residual cumulative
effect during the construction phase in relation to dust and emissions associated
with other nearby construction sites. The ES Addendum 2019 states that in terms
of operational effects there is no need to consider this as receptors at all
surrounding properties were included in the assessment.
Ground Conditions and Contamination

9.36

Chapter 11 of the ES outlines an assessment of issues relating to ground
conditions. This takes account of the site’s history, a review of available data and
the use of a Source-Pathway-Receptor conceptual model. The assessment
identifies potential Minor to Major adverse effects during both the construction and
- 99 Page 109

operational phases on construction workers/occupiers, neighbours/maintenance
workers, groundwater, surface waters, flora and fauna and the built environment.
9.37

Construction and Operation. The assessment notes that the potential effects would
be mitigated by the completion of an (intrusive) site investigation and further risk
assessment work following the grant of permission that would inform a remediation
strategy, if needed, and through the adoption of good construction practice during
the construction phase by way of a Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP). With this mitigation in place, the ES finds that the residual effects would
be Indiscernible. The ES Addendum 2019 notes that the biggest change to the
scheme is the proposed construction of a single-level basement across most of the
site (1400sqm and 3m high F2CH) and lead to 12,000cublic metres of spoil. There
are no additional supplementary mitigations required during the construction phase
or the operational phase. There are no changes to the original assessment of the
operational effects.

9.38

Cumulative Effects. Considering the development and surrounding land uses, no
cumulative effects are anticipated relating to ground conditions. The ES Addendum
2019 states that there are no changes to the cumulative and interactive effects as
a result of the proposed changes to the development and the conclusions therefore
remain unchanged.
Water Resources & Flood Risk

9.39

Chapter 12 of the ES and Addendum draws on the findings of a Foul and Surface
Water Drainage Strategy and revised Flood Risk Assessment (which form
appendices) and sets out the findings of an assessment of how the development
would influence flood risk, within the site and beyond its boundary. As such, it takes
account of Environment Agency flood mapping, modelled flood levels from the 2015
fluvial modelling of the River Ravensbourne, historic flood events, flood defence
data and proposed surface water and foul sewage discharge rates.

9.40

Construction. A number of potential risks are identified from increasing sediment
loads (from dust and debris), clogging of drains and spills of hydrocarbons and oils
in to the drainage system which could adversely affect the Ravensbourne River
and/or drainage infrastructure. However, subject to appropriate measures being
implemented via a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) the
likely significant effects are identified as Indiscernible. It is recommended that the
implementation of an approved CEMP is secured by planning condition. Changes
to the original assessment relating to the construction of the basement are
unchanged or negligible.

9.41

Operation. With the proposed Drainage Strategy in place, including geo-cellular
attenuation tanks and flow restriction device, the ES reports that a surface water
discharge rate of 5l/s would be achieved. The use of interceptors (which trap
pollutants) would additionally reduce the impact of pollutants contained within
surface water run-off. Although there would be an increase in water demand and
capacity required for foul sewerage, the overall effect would be a reduction in the
combined discharge rate (18.6l/s as opposed to the existing rate of 76.6 l/s and this
is identified as a Moderate Beneficial effect. Adherence to the proposed drainage
strategy and use of water reduction measures would be secured by planning
condition. The AS Addendum 2019 concludes that the environmental effects of the
proposed greater number of people on site are unchanged overall.

9.42

Cumulative Effects. Cumulative construction effects are not expected to be
significant, providing that CEMP’s are secured for other developments (which they
- 100 Page 110

are). Given that requirements for reductions in surface water run-off and water
saving measures are likely to be secured for other developments (which they are),
cumulative effects on foul water capacity are not considered significant and surface
water effects are likely to be Major Beneficial. The ES Addendum 2019 concludes
that the effects of the amended proposal do not have an impact on the conclusions
of the ES 2017.
Socio-economics and Health
9.43

Chapter 13 of the ES and its Addendum outlines an assessment of issues relating
to socio-economic and, following the Council’s Scoping Opinion, health. It draws on
the findings of other chapters of the ES (and their addendums) and is based on the
former English Partnerships ‘Additionality Guide, A Standard Approach to
Assessing the Additional Impacts of Projects’ (2008), Homes and Community
Agency Employment Densities (2015) and NHS London HUDU Rapid Health
Impact Assessment Tool (2013). The assessment also takes account of the
Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan Framework document (2015) and other
source documents and uses the Council’s Planning Obligations Calculator to
generate likely ‘child yields’. The ES Addendum 2019 identifies that the material
changes to the scheme that have the potential to have environmental effects are
confined to the change of Building B to student housing and the reduction of C£
provision on site, and the proposed increase in affordable housing provision.

9.44

Construction. The ES concludes that the 268 FTE construction jobs in Greater
London would result in a Minor Beneficial Effect, whilst the displacement of existing
businesses and disruption to nearby businesses would represent a Minor Adverse
Effect. The loss of existing jobs is considered to have an Indiscernible Effect (taking
account of jobs that would be provided as part of the proposed development). The
ES identifies potential negative effects on health from reduced air quality and noise,
but, subject to the implementation of an appropriate Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) considers these to be Indiscernible. The ES Addendum
2019 finds that the proposed changes in the scheme will not result in any changes
to the conclusions. There will be a minor change to employment that has not been
identified in the ESA resulting from the use of modular construction techniques, with
approximately half of construction jobs being located outside of the local area in the
location where the units are actually manufactured.

9.45

Operation. The ES identifies Minor Beneficial Effects associated with the predicted
resultant net increase in employment of 21-64 FTE jobs in Greater London and the
addition of 242 homes (49 of them now ‘affordable’). In terms of childcare and
education, the ES identifies and Indiscernible Effect from the predicted 12 additional
pre-school aged children and (following mitigation in the form of Borough CIL
contributions) an Indiscernible Effect from the predicted 21 additional Primary
school-aged children and 9 Secondary school-aged children. The ES estimates a
likely increase in population of 464 people. Taking account of existing GP and
dental facilities within 1km of the site and their list sizes relative to commonly used
benchmark standards, an Indiscernible effect on healthcare is identified. It also
identifies Minor Beneficial Effects in relation to public realm and additional
amenities. In terms of health, a range of Neutral and Positive effects are identified
based on recognised key health determinants. The ES Addendum 2019 concludes
that the revised scheme, with its change in population-base, will have unchanged
conclusions from the ES 2017 in relation to Playspace, Open Space, Healthcare
and Education.
- 101 Page 111

9.46

Cumulative. The ES concludes that there would be an Indiscernible Effect on social
infrastructure (taking account of the proposed health facility), Major Beneficial
Effects associated with redevelopment of the local area and improvements to the
public realm and amenities and a Minor Beneficial Effect in relation to employment.
The ES Addendum 2019 concludes that based upon the assessed changes to the
cumulative schemes, it is considered that the conclusions made in the ES 2017
remain unchanged.

9.47

The Applicant’s planning assessment that there would be no significant effect on
social infrastructure that could not be mitigated by CIL contributions or s106
financial contributions is accepted by officers.

9.48

Overall Conclusions of Amended Scheme: All environmental effects of the
amended scheme are considered to be unchanged since the ES 2017 was
completed in relation to the consented scheme, apart from in relation to Noise and
Vibration (a new receptor at Lewisham Gateway Block A), Air Quality (two energy
centres and minor adverse effect from emissions when previously negligible); and
Socio-Economics (the demand for primary education places has been reassessed
to be indiscernible from minor because of additional capacity in the surrounding
schools). Further supplementary mitigation measures required have been limited to
those identified by the Drainage Strategy and Flood Risk Assessment.

9.49

Significant Residual effects – Beyond that identified in the ES 2017 significant
adverse effects are limited to a moderate adverse noise and vibration effect on
Lewisham Gateway Block A during the construction phase, and daylight and
sunlight impacts on operation in relation to a small number of windows in
Renaissance East that will be reduced below daylight level target. Other significant
effects during operation are considered to be beneficial and relate to improvements
in townscape and visual impact and water resources.

10.0

Planning Obligations

10.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that in dealing with planning
applications, local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise
unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions
or planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not
possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. The NPPF
further states that where obligations are being sought or revised, local planning
authorities should take account of changes in market conditions over time and,
wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent planned development being
stalled. The NPPF also sets out that planning obligations should only be secured
when they meet the following three tests:
(a)

Necessary to make the development acceptable

(b)

Directly related to the development; and

(c)

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

10.2

Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 puts the
above three tests on a statutory basis. A planning obligation cannot be a reason for
granting planning permission, unless it satisfies the tests set out in Regulation 122.

10.3

Officers have been in negotiations with the Applicant regarding the Section 106
requirements arising from the redevelopment proposals. In this case, as well as
securing the various elements required to deliver the project (such as highway
infrastructure works) and commitments made in the application itself (such as
- 102 Page 112

affordable housing and the community facility), a range of other contributions and
obligations are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in
planning terms.
10.4

10.5

The obligations secured need to be considered in the context the infrastructure
payments covered by the Community Infrastructure Levy CIL). The matters covered
by CIL are set out in the Council’s Regulation 123 List and include the following:


State education facilities



Public health care facilities



Strategic transport enhancements (excluding site-specific, highways and public
transport matters



Publicly accessible open space, allotments and biodiversity



Strategic flood management infrastructure



Publicly owned leisure facilities



Local community facilities including community but excluding places of worship)



Public Emergency Services (this is intended to apply to physical projects by the
police, fire or ambulance services)

The following S106 requirements have been identified in respect of the scheme:
Public Realm and Access Strategy


Plan identifying publicly accessible areas and rights of way over the proposed
public square and potential station entrance, including zones for external seating
associated with proposed commercial units.



Developer to meet on-going management and maintenance costs of the
proposed public square.

New Station Ticket Hall and Entrance


Unit 5 to be occupied by commercial operator at a peppercorn rent until such
time as TfL and/or Network Rail requires the space in order to deliver a station
ticket hall and entrance. At such time, TfL/Network Rail shall give advance
notice to the LPA and Unit 5 owner of 12-months’ notice subject to an 18-months
minimum for the tenant to vacate the Unit and for the Unit 5 owner to hand it
over to TfL/Network Rail. The Unit and the rights necessary for its operation as
a station ticket hall will then be leased in perpetuity to TfL/Network Rail at a
peppercorn rent.



TfL and/or Network Rail to pay all costs for fitting out the space as a station
entrance and meet all on-going management and maintenance costs.

Car Club


Car club membership strategy to be submitted to and approved prior to first
occupation demonstrating agreement reached with car club provider for
arranged/paid membership for 3 years for all first occupiers of C3 residential
units.

Travel Plans

- 103 Page 113



Detailed Travel Plan for residential and non-residential uses to be submitted and
approved by the Council. Compliance provisions. Monitoring costs of £10,000.

Car Parking Permits


Removal of residents’ rights to apply for parking permit.

DLR Capacity Enhancements


Financial contribution of £80,000 towards DLR capacity enhancement works to
be paid on first occupation of the development.

Lewisham Station Works


Financial contribution of £400,000 towards capacity enhancements works at
Lewisham Station to be paid upon commencement of the development.

Wheelchair Parking and CPZ review


Financial contribution of £25,000 to meet the costs of a CPZ review and
additional wheelchair provision study in consultation with the LPA and TfL to
identify opportunities for additional car parking bays to be undertaken. The
developer as part of the CPZ review and wheelchair provision study shall
implement the works (physical works and amendment to Traffic Regulations) as
agreed by the LPA and TfL (where necessary).



Any agreed additional spaces to be provided by LBL prior to first occupation of
any wheelchair accessible homes.

Commercial unit Fit Out


All shop fronts to be installed prior to occupation of any residential unit within
the Block they are located (Unit 5 assumed to be in both Blocks).



Not to occupy any residential unit until the commercial units have been
constructed and completed to shell and core standard within the relevant phase.



Mechanism to enable the fit out of the commercial units to specified level once
occupiers are identified.

Student Housing




The development shall not be occupied until it has an identified end-user
affiliated with an educational institution or student housing management
company. The company will also manage (but not allocate) the affordable
student housing provision.
The sui generis student housing use of the development proposed (Building B,
part building A and link corridor) shall be restricted to that use. Any temporary
use of student housing during vacations for ancillary use other than student
housing to be allowed to such an extent that the ancillary use does not result in
a material change of use of the building.

Affordable Housing


The headline minimum affordable housing 28.9% by unit (27.92% by habitable
room and 33.3% by floorspace).



67 C3 Housing Units in Block A (60% target social rent and 40% shared
ownership
- 104 Page 114





Definition of affordable student housing is a PBSA bedroom that is provided at
a rental cost for the academic year equal to or below 55 per cent of the maximum
income that a new full-time student studying in London and living away from
home could receive from the Government’s maintenance loan for living costs for
that academic year (Mayor of London definition, subject to amendment);
76 Affordable Student Housing units in Building B (10% of total student housing
units);



Student Housing Operator to offer the affordable rooms to a number of
educational institutions to provide students for those APBSA rooms for 42 weeks
per year (the academic year) at a rent according to the definition / current pricing
(£160 per week in IVR, May 2019).



Dwelling mix: Social Rent: 10 x 1-bed (2P), 9 x 2-bed 3P units, 10 x 2B4P units,
11 x 3B4P units (x hab rooms) (40 units); Intermediate Shared Ownership 8 x
1-bed 2P units, 6 x 2-bed 3P units, 6 x 2-bed 4P units and 7 x 3-bed 4P units (y
hab rooms) (27 units).



Wheelchair accessible dwellings: Social Rent: 5; Shared Ownership: 2; Student
Affordable: 67.



Phasing/timing of delivery – 40% affordable housing shall be practicably
completed before occupation of more than 50% of the Market dwellings –
thereafter 100% of affordable housing shall be practicably completed before
occupation of more than 80% of Market dwellings.



Access of occupiers of Affordable Housing to the communal roof terrace on
Levels 18 and 19 in Block A shall be on equal terms.



Occupiers and visitors to Social Rent dwellings on Levels 2 to 12 in Block A are
to have access to the lifts that serve all levels of the building in the event that
their dedicated single lift is out of action,



Review mechanism - Early stage review (Upon substantial implementation if the
planning permission has not been implemented within two years) and a late
stage review (when 75% of homes are sold or occupied and where developer
returns meet or exceed an agreed level). Any surplus profit as part of the late
stage review would be delivered in the form of an in-lieu affordable financial
contribution. The baseline for an early stage review of any surplus profit would
be the maximum reasonable amount agreed between the applicant and the
Council (equivalent scheme value of delivering 10.3% affordable housing rather
than the offer above the maximum reasonable amount of 20.2% unit).

Energy Strategy and Safeguarding potential connection to District Heating Network


Using energy efficiency measures, site-wide CHP and solar PV arrays as set
out in the Energy Strategy (January 2019), reduce regulated carbon dioxide
emissions in relation to non-domestic accommodation by 35% as compared to
Part L of the Building Regulations (as amended 2013).



Financial contribution towards carbon offsetting of £160,056 shall be payable
upon completion of 90% of dwellings.



Safeguard a route between the energy centre and Loampit Vale and allow
sufficient space in the energy centre for a plate heat exchanger to enable
connection to a District Heating Network (DHN).
- 105 Page 115



Prior to commencement (excluding demolition) submit in writing to the LPA for
approval a feasibility report on connecting the approved development to the
Renaissance Energy Network, including evidence of discussions with operator.



Connect to the Renaissance Energy Network where feasible and viable.

Local Labour and Business


Financial contribution of £50,000.



A Local Labour and Business Strategy to be submitted to and agreed with the
Council’s Economic Development Officer prior to the commencement (including
demolition) of development.

Bus stand Presence


Potential purchasers and renters of homes to be informed about the presence
of the existing bus stand before they agree to buy/rent by way of the following
statement: “The land immediately north of the site is owned and used by London
Bus Services Ltd (LBSL). This land has been used as an operational bus stand
since 2014. The bus stand operates up to 24 hours per day, every day of the
year. The design and construction of the building has borne in mind the
proximity of the bus stand and has taken into account noise arising from LBSL’s
land.”

Air Quality


Financial contribution for LBL Environmental Protection Service of £15,000 upon
commencement of development to monitor and manage air quality during to
construction and operational phases).

Play space contributions


Financial contribution of £24,000 towards improvements to Hilly Fields, Cornmilll
Gardens and Blackheath to cater for additional demands for play for 12+ year
old children as a result of this development, payable upon 50% occupation.

Flood Risk Management Plan


Approval and implementation of a site-specific plan to maintain the safety of
residents in perpetuity (including details of the advance warning systems, advice
on safe refuge, review and update procedures and dissemination to all
residential occupiers).

Lewisham Construction Forum


Take part within a Lewisham construction forum, which will seek to manage and
coordinate construction impacts and activities across Lewisham Town Centre.



In order to avoid impacts of the proposed lane closure during Stage 2
construction on the TfL bus network transport modelling is required under PC39:
Construction Logistics Management Plan. The local planning authority, in
consultation with Transport for London, will review the results of the modelling
exercise and if this shows a demonstrable impact on the TfL bus network due to
the implementation of the Construction Logistics Management Plan then the
local planning authority, in conjunction with Transport for London, will seek a
financial contribution to offset those impacts through the s106 agreement.

Healthy Street Audit
- 106 Page 116



The applicant to complete a Healthy Streets Audit to identify any deficiencies in
the pedestrian and cycle realm within the vicinity of the site. A financial
contribution to be made towards any necessary improvements to enhance the
health of local streets.

Highway Mitigation / Public realm
The applicant to complete highway and public realm works for public use, such
works being set out in approved drawing Ground Level General Arrangement (100
Rev.P5) in order to ensure an acceptable standard of development, including:
(a) Modifications to Thurston Road to accommodate the approved loading
bay/accessible parking bays.
(b) Any modifications to waiting and loading and car parking restrictions to
facilitate further on-street accessible car parking bays and provision of bays;
(c) Widening of existing Toucan crossing across Loampit Vale;
(d) Tying in new site boundary with existing public highway;
(e) Removal of redundant vehicle access on Thurston Road;
(f) Removal and relocation of any existing signalling junction boxes;
(g) Improvement works to the footways on Loampit Vale and Thurston Road,
including setting back development boundaries to achieve footway widths to
a minimum of 8 metres on the Loampit Vale frontage (taking account of TfL
proposals for carriageway widening) and minimum of 6 metres on the
Thurston Road frontage;
(h) Stopping up of redundant highway land on Loampit Vale; and
(i) Replacement of existing bus stop on Loampit Vale.
Thurston Road: Healthy Street Audit and amendment to Traffic Order


The applicant to complete a Healthy Streets Audit and make a financial
contribution of £30,000 towards any necessary improvements to the pedestrian
and cycle realm, as identified and agreed with the Council. This will improve the
pedestrian realm at the entry / exit to the TfL bus layover and other small-scale
works.



The applicant to make a financial contribution of £3,000 to fund an amendment
to the traffic management order to change the hours of operation of the Loading
Bays to enable the space to be used by pedestrians during peak pedestrian flow
times once the Bakerloo Line Extension station is programmed for opening.

Loampit Vale Road Safety and Highway Works


A financial contribution of £30,000 to fund highway works on Loampit Vale for
the purposes of road safety / pedestrian and cycle realm improvements outside
of the s278 Highway Works area that forms the immediate context to the site.
Works might include improvement to the Thurston Road junction or lighting
beneath the railway bridge to improve the pedestrian experience...

Off-site cycle parking / Cycle Hub


A financial contribution of £50,000 to fund off-site public cycle parking /
contribute towards the development of a Cycle Hub on the southern side of
Loampit Vale. The aim being to use one of the railway arches for this purpose.

Loampit Vale Railway Bridge lighting

- 107 Page 117



A financial contribution of £25,000 to improve the level of lighting / attractiveness
of the bridge / pedestrian connection between the development and Lewisham
Station, the lighting design to floodlight the underside of the bridge structure and
light the pedestrian footway.

Miscellaneous


Monitoring, legal and other professional fees Total

10.6

As set out elsewhere in this Report, the obligations outlined above are directly
related to the development. They are considered to be fairly and reasonably related
in scale and kind to the development and to be necessary and appropriate in order
to secure policy objectives, to prescribe the nature of the development, to
compensate for or offset likely adverse impacts of the development, to mitigate the
proposed development’s impact and make the development acceptable in planning
terms. Officers are therefore satisfied the proposed obligations meet the three legal
tests as set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.

11.0

Local Finance Considerations

11.1

Under Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), a
local finance consideration means:
(a)
(b)

a grant or other financial assistance that has been, or would or could be,
provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or
sums that a relevant authority has received, or would or could receive, in
payment of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

11.2

The weight to be attached to a local finance consideration remains a matter for the
decision maker.

11.3

CIL is therefore a material consideration. CIL is payable on this application and the
Applicant has completed the relevant form.

12.0

Community Infrastructure Levy

12.1

The above development is liable for both the Mayor’s CIL and the Council’s CIL.
The completed CIL form was submitted with the application documents. An
informative would be added to the decision notice advising the Applicant to notify
the Council when works commence. The estimated CIL liability is £3,689.117 based
upon the application scheme revised by the affordable housing offer. These figures
are calculated on the basis that the 67 C3 units in Building A will be run by a
registered provider with charitable status. The actual CIL liability will vary with the
revised residential composition resulting from the revised AH Offer and the
reduction in number of C3 affordable housing benefiting from charitable status.

13.0

Equalities Considerations

13.1

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the
equality duty or the duty). It covers the following nine protected characteristics:
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.

13.2

In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to
the need to:
a. eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the Act;
- 108 Page 118

b. advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not;
c. foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.
13.3

The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it
is a matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations.

13.4

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical
Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of
Practice”. The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it
relates to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly
with the equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities
should do to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well
as recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but
nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling
reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the technical
guidance can be found at: http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/legal-andpolicy/equality-act/equality-act-codes-of-practice-and-technical-guidance/

13.5

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five
guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:
1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty
2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making
3. Engagement and the equality duty
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty
5. Equality information and the equality duty

13.6

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements
including the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It
covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are
legally required, as well as recommended actions. The other four documents
provide more detailed guidance on key areas and advice on good practice.
Further information and resources are available at:
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equalityduty/guidance-on-the-equality-duty/

13.7

The planning issues set out above do not include any factors that relate
specifically to any of the equalities categories set out in the Act, and therefore it
has been concluded that there is no impact on equality.

14.0

Human Rights Implications

14.1

In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998
prohibits authorities (including the Council as local planning authority) from acting
in a way which is incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights.
‘’Convention’’ here means the European Convention on Human Rights, certain
- 109 Page 119

parts of which were incorporated into English law under the Human Rights Act
1998. Various Convention rights are likely to be relevant including:




Peaceful enjoyment of property
Right to a fair trial
Right to respect for private and family life

14.2

This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council
as Local Planning Authority.

14.3

Members need to satisfy themselves that the potential adverse amenity impacts
are acceptable and that any potential interference with the above Convention
Rights will be legitimate and justified. Both public and private interests are to be
taken into account in the exercise of the Local Planning Authority’s powers and
duties. Any interference with a Convention right must be necessary and
proportionate. Members must therefore, carefully consider the balance to be struck
between individual rights and the wider public interest.

14.4

This application has the legitimate aim of providing amendments to an approved
scheme. The rights potentially engaged by this application are not considered to
be unlawfully interfered with by this proposal.

15.0

Summary of representations

15.1

The proposals have generated considerable interest amongst local residents,
interest groups and other consultees. The representations received cover a range
of topics and can be grouped into eight broad categories:
1. Ability of public transport infrastructure to cope with additional demand;
2. Traffic and parking;
3. Increased pressure on local services;
4. Excessive building height;
5. Unacceptable/inadequate proposed uses;
6. Poor design;
7. Negative impact on residential amenity
8. Inadequate consultation and invitation to the planning local meeting;
Ability of public transport infrastructure to cope with additional demand

15.2

This and other planned developments in Lewisham Town Centre would clearly
increase demand for train, DLR and bus services at peak times. However, as
outlined in Sections 8 (Transport) and 9 (EIA) of the report, officers consider that
these could be accommodated by planned public transport enhancements – most
notably the soon to be completed Elizabeth Line (Crossrail 1), proposed capacity
enhancements to DLR services and improvements to Lewisham Station. In addition
to the payment of Mayoral CIL, the recommended financial contributions requested
by TfL and Network Rail will help deliver capacity improvements. Officers have also
worked with TfL to ensure that the proposals safeguard and facilitate the delivery of
the proposed BLE, an issue that was also raised by some local residents.
- 110 Page 120

Traffic and parking
15.3

A number of local people have raised concern about increased traffic and increased
pressures for car parking in the area. As outlined in Section 8 (Transport) of the
report, the proposed car-free scheme would result in loss of 50 car parking spaces
and this is expected to result in an overall reduction in the amount of vehicle
movements to and from the site at peak times. It is recommended that planning
obligations prohibit future residents (other than blue badge holders) from having a
parking permit and that the scope of providing additional accessible car parking
spaces on Thurston Road be investigated. These measures should ensure that
parking stress levels in surrounding streets do not worsen.

15.4

There has been some concern about proposed cycle facilities in the area and the
likely use of the proposed cycle parking. The Council is looking to improve cycle
routes in the area and the proposed development of the adjoining Retail Park site
would improve the existing cycle route on Thurston Road. Generous cycle parking
would be provided in accordance with policy. Recommended Condition 27 requires
a Highway Agreement to secure various mitigation works, including widening the
existing Toucan crossing on Loampit Vale.
Increased pressure on local services

15.5

A number of concerns about the adverse impact that the proposed number of
dwellings and their residents would have on local services – including schools,
health facilities and emergency services. In accordance with the CIL Regulations,
the Applicant is required to pay a local community infrastructure levy to meet the
demand associated to the proposed development. The CIL payments would be
used to fund local instructress including education, public health care facilities,
publicly owned leisure facilities, local community facilities and emergency services.
Officers also recommend that an Obligation is applied to secure a financial
contributions towards the improvement of play space in the local area. As outlined
in Section 9 (EIA) above, ES identifies and Indiscernible Effect from the predicted
12 additional pre-school aged children and (following mitigation in the form of
Borough CIL contributions) an Indiscernible Effect from the predicted 21 additional
Primary school-aged children and 9 Secondary school-aged children. The ES
estimates a likely increase in population of 464 people. Taking account of existing
GP and dental facilities within 1km of the site and their list sizes relative to
commonly used benchmark standards, an Indiscernible effect on healthcare is
identified.
Excessive building height

15.6

The most common concern raised by those objecting to the proposals is excessive
building height, in particular Block B which at up to 35-storeys (109.5 metres) would
be the tallest permitted building in Lewisham. Objections include the resultant
cluster of tall buildings in Lewisham and its negative impact to the skyline, negative
impact on townscape and undue prominence from the surrounding area, negative
impact on views, excessive differentiation, between the height of the proposed two
buildings and lack of public access. Section 8 (Layout, Scale and Design)
addresses these issues, with officers concluding that the proposed two tall buildings
would be acceptable.
Unacceptable/inadequate proposed uses

15.7

A number of objections were raised due to the level of proposed affordable housing
provision. The level of affordable housing provision has increased to 20.2% by unit
- 111 Page 121

(22% by habitable rooms) with an improved tenure split. It should be noted that the
site is subject to an exceptional cost associated to the BLE extension, station
safeguarding and foundation proofing works. The proposed provision is above what
has been agreed as the ‘maximum reasonable amount’ and officer consider that
the level of affordable housing is considered acceptable. Some local residents fear
that the proposed commercial units will remain vacant and some would like to see
a cinema. Officers recommend a planning obligation to ensure shop fit outs that
encourage occupation of the proposed units. None of the proposed units are large
enough for a cinema (and the Council is encouraging the provision of this as part
of Lewisham Gateway) and are likely to be occupied by small shops/cafes.
Poor design
15.8

A number of objectors raise concern about the quality of the proposed buildings.
The scheme has been considered by the Lewisham Design Review Panel and the
design team has responded positively to comments made. Subject to reserving
details and materials, officers consider the design of the proposals to be acceptable.
Negative impact on residential amenity

15.9

Most people objecting to excessive height voice concerns about the impact on
residential amenities in terms of loss of outlook, loss of sunlight, loss of daylight,
loss of privacy and wind. As discussed in Section 8 (Neighbour Amenity) and
Section 9 (EIA) of this report, separation distances between existing and proposed
habitable rooms are considered to be acceptable and officers consider that the
proposed relationships would enable a reasonable level of outlook, privacy, sunlight
and daylight to be maintained and that the resultant wind environment would be
acceptable. Some local residents have also raised concerns about increased air
pollution. The proposals would result in a reduction in traffic, the main source of
poor air quality, and Section 9 (EIA) notes that EIA predicts Indiscernible effects
associated with the energy centre. Nevertheless, it is recommended that an
Obligation be applied to secure a financial contributions towards Lewisham Air
Quality Monitoring. A number of people have voiced concerns about the loss of
views from their flats/communal terrace, which is not a material consideration

16.0

Conclusion

16.1

This Report provides Officers comprehensive consideration of the planning
application and it supporting documentation, including the additional information
submitted and representations received.
Key Considerations

16.2

This Report has considered the proposals in the light of adopted development plan
policies and other material considerations including the information in the ES (and
ES Addendum) and other information or representations relevant to the
environmental effects of the proposals.

16.3

The application site is located within Lewisham Town Centre where Spatial Policy
2 of the Core Strategy encourages more intensive mixed-use redevelopment. Policy
LTC 4 in the Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan allocates the application site (S3b)
for mixed-use development. DMLP Policy 1 (Presumption in favour of sustainable
development) repeats the ambitions of the NPPF and confirms that the Council will
take a positive approach to sustainable development and will work proactively with
Applicants to find solutions which mean that proposals secure development that
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the Borough.
Lewisham Spatial Strategy Policy 1 states that all new development will need to
- 112 Page 122

contribute positively to the delivery of the vision for Lewisham which includes the
provision of new homes, good design in new buildings a net increase in open
spaces and for developments to mitigate that impact where appropriate.
16.4

The proposed residential-led mixed-use development would achieve a number of
the urban design and spatial planning objectives set out in the Core Strategy and
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan. The proposed development would:









16.5

A very similar scheme on this site DC/17/102049 was granted planning permission
in March 2019, upon completion of the s106 agreement. Material differences
between the consented scheme and the application scheme can be summarised
as:







16.6

Provide a range of type and sizes of new homes, including affordable
housing (see Table 2 on page 6 and Table 11 on page 54);
Safeguard the proposed Bakerloo Line Extension and make provision for a
station entrance and ticket hall to serve a BLE and/or Lewisham Station;
Provide a new public square;
Facilitate generous tree–lined pavements by setting back buildings from
existing building lines and providing high quality public realm;
Provide a range of non-residential uses at ground and first floor level that
would be consistent with the site’s ‘edge of centre’ location and ensure active
frontages;
Comprise appropriate scaled buildings that take account of the existing and
likely future context; and
Incorporate communal heating and make provision for connection to the
existing Renaissance Energy Network.
Take account of the existing ‘bus layover’ site;

Building B is proposed to be student housing, rather than C3 housing, complete
with on-site student communal facilities;
Building B is 4.75m taller than the permitted scheme;
Building A is proposed to be 8m taller than the consented scheme;
A basement level is provided to enable plant, waste and cycle storage to be
located in a place that will not undermine the commercial potential for the ground
floor level, The basement is considered to be a welcome addition to the scheme
in this regard and is acceptable in principle given that it has been designed to
be flood protected and not have an adverse impact on the potential for the
Bakerloo Line Extension (BLE) through the site.
A significantly enhanced affordable housing offer from 49 AH units (20.4% of
242 units total at a 70:30 split between social rent and intermediate rent) to 92
AH units (at 33.3% of floorspace / 27.92% hab room and 28.9% by units), of
which 67 bedspaces (23 unit equivalent) are affordable student housing.

Given the above, the proposed development would deliver a number of key
elements of the Council' strategy for the wider Town Centre area. It is considered
that the scale of the proposed development is acceptable, that the proposed
buildings and enlarged public realm have been designed to respond to the context,
constraints and potential of the site and that the development would provide a high
standard of accommodation. The planning harm of the proposal is limited in extent,
the principal one being the slight increase in daylight and sunlight impacts on
surrounding properties. Given the location of the site in Lewisham Town Centre it
is reasonable to assume that there will be reductions in daylight standards for
surrounding properties below BRE target levels. In this case there is a slight
- 113 Page 123

increase in the number of properties affected but these impacts are considered to
be acceptable when considering the application in the round.
16.7

The proposals have attracted a number of objections on a wide range of issues.
Those material concerns expressed by local residents and local groups have been
considered and where appropriate, addressed in earlier sections of this report and
in provisions set out in the recommended conditions and Section 106 agreement.

16.8

Given the acceptability of the proposed use as well as the totality of the policy
compliance, the proposals are considered to be in accordance with the
development plan as a whole.

16.9

The NPPF is underpinned by a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Officers consider that with the recommended mitigation, planning conditions and
obligations in place, the scheme is consistent with national policy. For the reasons
addressed in this report, there are no other material considerations which Officers
consider outweigh the grant of planning permission. In light of the above, on
balance, the application is therefore recommended for approval.

17.0

RECOMMENDATION A

17.1

Agree the proposals and refer the application and this Report and any other
required documents to the Mayor for London (Greater London Authority) under
Article 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008
(Categories 1A, 3E and 3F of the Schedule of the Order).

18.0

RECOMMENDATION B

18.1

Subject to no direction being received from the Mayor of London, to authorise
officers to negotiate and complete a legal agreement under Section 106 of the 1990
Act (and other appropriate powers) to cover the following principal matters including
such other amendments as considered appropriate to ensure the acceptable
implementation of the development:

18.2

The following s106 requirements have been identified in respect of the scheme:
Public Realm and Access Strategy


Plan identifying publicly accessible areas and rights of way over the proposed
public square and potential station entrance, including zones for external seating
associated with proposed commercial units.



Management and Maintenance Plan to provide the basis for the developer to
ensure that the public square is to a high standard in perpetuity and to ensure
that on-going management and maintenance are secured.

New Station Ticket Hall and Entrance


Unit 5 to be occupied by commercial operator at a peppercorn rent until such
time as TfL and/or Network Rail requires the space in order to deliver a station
ticket hall and entrance. At such time, TfL/Network Rail shall give advance
notice to the LPA and Unit 5 owner of 12 month notice period subject to an 18month minimum notice period for the tenant to vacate the Unit and for the Unit
5 owner to hand it over to TfL/Network Rail. The Unit and the rights necessary
for its operation as a station ticket hall will then be leased in perpetuity to
TfL/Network Rail at a peppercorn rent.

- 114 Page 124



TfL and/or Network Rail to pay all costs for fitting out the space as a station
entrance and meet all on-going management and maintenance costs.

Car Club


Car club membership strategy to be submitted to and approved prior to first
occupation demonstrating agreement reached with car club provider for
arranged/paid membership for 3 years for all first occupiers of C3 residential
units.

Travel Plans


Detailed Travel Plan for Students, Residential and Commercial / Non-residential
uses to be submitted and approved by the Council. Compliance provisions.
Monitoring costs of £10,000.

Car Parking Permits


Removal of residents’ rights to apply for parking permit.

DLR Capacity Enhancements


Financial contribution of £80,000 towards DLR capacity enhancement works to
be paid on first occupation of the development.

Lewisham Station Works


Financial contribution of £400,000 towards capacity enhancements works at
Lewisham Station to be paid upon 25% of occupation of development.

Wheelchair Parking and CPZ review


Within three months from the commencement of development and following
agreement of a start date with TfL and the LPA, a CPZ review and additional
wheelchair provision study in consultation with the TfL and the LPA to identify
opportunities for additional accessible car parking bays shall be undertaken



Developer to meet the costs of implementing any additional on-street bays and
CPZ review agreed by the LPA and TfL (physical works and amendment to
Traffic Regulations) of up to £25,000.



Any agreed additional spaces to be provided by LBL prior to first occupation of
any wheelchair accessible homes.

Commercial unit Fit Out


All shop fronts to be installed prior to occupation of any residential unit within
the Block they are located (Unit 5 assumed to be in both Blocks).



Not to occupy any residential unit until the commercial units have been
constructed and completed to shell and core standard within the relevant phase.



Mechanism to enable the fit out of the commercial units to specified level once
occupiers are identified – to include fully fitted shopfronts, shell and core
including floors, capped services (water, electric).

Student Housing


The development shall not be occupied until the student housing management
company has been secured to operate the student housing. The company will
also manage the affordable student housing provision.
- 115 Page 125



The use of the (sui generis) student housing shall be restricted to that use and
any temporary ancillary use during vacation periods shall not result in a material
change of use to the building.

Affordable Housing


The headline minimum affordable housing 28.9% by unit (27.92% by habitable
room and 33.3% by floorspace).



67 C3 Housing Units in Block A (60% target social rent and 40% shared
ownership



Definition of affordable student housing is a PBSA bedroom that is provided at
a rental cost for the academic year equal to or below 55 per cent of the maximum
income that a new full-time student studying in London and living away from
home could receive from the Government’s maintenance loan for living costs for
that academic year (Mayor of London definition, subject to amendment);
76 Affordable Student Housing units in Building B (10% of total student housing
units);




Student Housing Operator to offer the affordable rooms to a number of
educational institutions to provide students for those APBSA rooms for 42 weeks
per year (the academic year) at a rent according to the current definition / current
pricing (£160 per week in IVR, May 2019).



Dwelling mix: Social Rent: 10 x 1B2P units, 10 x 2B3P units, 10 x 2B4P units,
10 x 3B4P units (120 hab rooms) (40 units); Intermediate Shared Ownership 8
x 1B2P units, 5 x 2B3P units, 6 x 2B4P units and 8 x 3B4P units (81 hab rooms)
(27 units).



Wheelchair accessible dwellings: Social Rent: 5; Shared Ownership: 2; Market
Student Housing 67 and Affordable Student Housing 6.



Location - Block A – Social Rent dwellings (Levels 2 to 12) and Intermediate
Shared Ownership dwellings (Levels 12 to 19).



Location - Block B – Affordable Student Housing Units (L2 to L12).



Access of occupiers of Social and Intermediate Affordable Housing to the
communal roof terrace on Levels 18 & 19 in Block A shall be on equal terms.



Lifts – all residents of C3 housing will have equal access to the two lifts,



Review mechanism - Early stage review (if substantial implementation of the
planning permission has not been achieved within two years from the date of
the planning permission) and a late stage review (when 75% of residential units
are sold or let). Any surplus profit as part of the late stage review would be
delivered in the form of an in-lieu affordable financial contribution. Any surplus
profit, whether at early stage or late stage review, is capped so that the amount
paid to the council can never be more than the provision of 50% affordable
housing ie so that the scheme is compliant with Core Strategy Policy 1 The
Social and/or Intermediate Rented housing content of the scheme shall not
exceed 50% of the total number of habitable rooms.

Energy Strategy and Safeguarding potential connection to District Heating Network


Using energy efficiency mea.sures, site-wide CHP and solar PV arrays as set
out in the Energy Statement Report (received 7 February 2019), reduce
- 116 Page 126

regulated carbon dioxide emissions by 39% as compared to Part L of the
Building Regulations (as amended).


Financial contribution towards carbon offsetting of £160,056 shall be payable
upon completion of 90% of dwellings.



Safeguard a route between the energy centre and Loampit Vale and allow
sufficient space in the energy centre for a plate heat exchanger to enable
connection to a District Heating Network (DHN).



Prior to commencement (excluding demolition) submit in writing to the LPA for
approval a feasibility report on connecting the approved development to the
Renaissance Energy Network, including evidence of discussions with operator.



Connect to the Renaissance Energy Network where feasible and viable.

Local Labour and Business


Financial contribution of £50,000.



A Local Labour and Business Strategy to be submitted to and agreed with the
local planning authority prior to the commencement (including demolition) of
development.

Bus stand / layover presence


All residents to be informed about the presence of the existing bus stand before
they agree to buy/rent by way of the following statement: “The land immediately
north of the site is owned and used by London Bus Services Ltd (LBSL). This
land has been used as an operational bus stand since 2014. The bus stand
operates up to 24 hours per day, every day of the year. The design and
construction of the building has borne in mind the proximity of the bus stand and
has taken into account noise arising from LBSL’s land to mitigate noise pollution
when windows are closed.”

Air Quality


Financial contribution of £15,000 payable to the Council upon commencement
of development to monitor and manage air quality during to construction and
operational phases.

Play space contributions


Financial contribution of £24,000 towards improvements to Hilly Fields, Cornmilll
Gardens and Blackheath to cater for additional demands for play for 12+ year
old children as a result of this development, payable upon 50% occupation.

Flood Risk Management Plan (pending EA written comment)


Approval and implementation of a site-specific plan to maintain the safety of
residents in perpetuity (including details of the advance warning systems, advice
on safe refuge, review and update procedures and dissemination to all
residential occupiers).

Lewisham Construction Forum


Take part within a Lewisham construction forum, which will seek to manage and
coordinate construction impacts and activities across Lewisham Town Centre.

- 117 Page 127



If transport modelling shows an impact on the TfL bus network due to lane
closure in Stage 2 construction then a financial contribution will be sought to
offset those impacts through the s106 agreement.

Thurston Road: Healthy Street Audit and amendment to Traffic Order


The applicant to complete a Healthy Streets Audit and make a financial
contribution of £30,000 towards any necessary improvements to the pedestrian
and cycle realm, as identified and agreed with the council.



The applicant to make a financial contribution of £3,000 to fund an amendment
to the traffic regulation order relating to the loading bays when peak pedestrian
flows justify additional space.

Loampit Vale Road Safety and Highway Works


A financial contribution of £30,000 to fund improvements to Loampit Vale for
road safety / pedestrian and cycle realm improvements.

Highway Works / Public realm


The applicant to complete highway and public realm works for public use, such
works being set out in approved drawing Ground Level General Arrangement
00960B-JTP-MP-101 rev. P08 in order to ensure an acceptable standard of
development,

Off-site cycle parking / Cycle Hub


A financial contribution of £50,000 to fund off-site public cycle parking /
contribute towards the development of a Cycle Hub on the southern side of
Loampit Vale.

Loampit Vale Railway Bridge lighting


A financial contribution of £25,000 towards improving the lighting levels beneath
the railway bridge to improve the pedestrian experience.

Miscellaneous


Monitoring, legal and other professional fees

19.0

RECOMMENDATION (C)

19.1

Subject to completion of a satisfactory legal agreement, authorise the Head of
Planning to GRANT PERMISSION subject to conditions, including those set out
below and with such amendments as are considered appropriate to ensure the
acceptable implementation of the development:
1. Full Planning Permission Time Limit
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later
than the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the
permission is granted.
Reason: As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.
2. Compliance with approved drawings and documents
- 118 Page 128

The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the following
application plans, drawings and documents which are hereby approved:
Architectural Drawings: Site Location Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP001 rev. P01); Existing Site Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-002 rev. P01);
Proposed Site Plan Ground (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-003 rev. P02);
Carpetright Existing Plans & Elevations (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-005
rev. P01); (prepared by JTP and received 23 January 2019).
Level 20 - 30 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-107 rev. P01); Level 31 – 32
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-108 rev. P01); Level 33 (drawing ref. 00960BJTP-MP-109 rev. P01); Level 34 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-110);
(prepared by JTP and received 23 January 2019).
Roof Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-120 rev. P02); (prepared by JTP and
received 23 January 2019).
Block A - South Elevation – Drawing number 00960B-JTP-MP-200 rev. P02;
Block A - West Elevation (drawing ref. 0960B-JTP-MP-201 rev. P02); Block A
- East Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-203 rev. P02); Block B - South
East Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-204 rev. P02); Block B - South
West Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-205 rev. P02); Block B - North
West Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-P-206 rev. P02) (prepared by JTP
and received 23 January 2019).
Block A - Detailed Bay Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-250 rev. P02);
Block B - Detailed Bay Elevation (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-251 rev. P02)
(prepared by JTP and received 23 January 2019).
Section A-A (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-300 rev. P02); Section B-B
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-301 rev. P02) (prepared by JTP and received
23 January 2019).
1 Bed 1 Person - Type 02 (Drawing ref: 00960B_JTP_MP_400_Rev. P02); 1
Bed 2 Person - Type 01 Accessible (Drawing ref.: 00960B_JTP_ MP_ 401_
Rev. P02); 1 Bed 2 Person - Type 01 Adaptable (Drawing ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_402_Rev.P02; 1 Bed 2 Person - Type 01 (Drawing ref,:
00960B_JTP_MP_403__Rev. P02); 1 Bed 2 Person - Type 01A (Drawing ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_404 Rev. P02); 3 Bed 4 Person - Type 01 (Drawing ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_405_Rev.P02); 2 Bed 4 Person - Type 02 (Drawing ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_406_Rev. P02); 2 Bed 3 Person - Type 01 (Drawing ref.:
00960B_JTP_MP_407_Rev.P02) (prepared by JTP and received 23 January
2019).
Revised Architectural Drawings:
Block A - North Elevation (drawing ref: 00960B-JTP-MP-202 rev. P03
(prepared by JTP and received 11 April 2019); Block B - North-East Elevation
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-207 rev. P03) (prepared by JTP and received
12 April 2019);
Level 00 – Ground (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-101 rev. P04); Level 01
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-102 rev. P04); Level 02 (drawing ref. 00960B- 119 Page 129

JTP-MP-103 rev. P04); Level 03 to Level 17 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP104 rev. P04); Level 18 (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-105 rev. P04); Level 19
(drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-106 rev. P04) (prepared by JTP and received 1
May 2019);
Basement Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-100 rev. P10) prepared by JTP
and received 4 July 2019).
;
Landscape drawings: Level 2 Play Area Layout (drawing ref. 18.546-101
Rev.P3); Rooftop Terrace Layout Level 18 and 19 (drawing ref. 18.546-102
P3); Public Realm Lighting Strategy (drawing ref. 18.546-105 P3); and Existing
and Proposed Adoption Boundaries (drawing ref. 18.546-106 P3) (prepared
by BCA Landscape and received 23 January 2019).
Revised landscape drawings: Ground Floor General Arrangement (drawing
ref. 18.546-100 P03 (prepared by BCA and received 27 June 2019).
Schedule of Accommodation: Summary Accommodation and Area
Schedule (prepared by Tide Construction and received 30 April 2019).
Technical documents: Design and Access Statement, prepared by JTP;
Planning Statement, prepared by Indigo Planning; Arboricultural Impact
Assessment and Method Statement, prepared by Thomson Ecology;
Archaeological Assessment, prepared by MOLA; BREEAM Pre-assessment,
prepared by Evolusion Innovation International Ltd; Construction Logistics
Plan, prepared by Pulsar Transport Planning; Delivery Servicing Plan,
prepared by Pulsar Transport Planning; Energy Statement, prepared by
Evolusion Innovation International Ltd; Environmental Statement, prepared by
Buro Happold Engineering; Environmental Statement Addendum (ESA)
prepared by Buro Happold Engineering Transport Assessment, prepared by
Pulsar Transport Planning; Residential Framework Travel Plan, prepared by
Pulsar Transport Planning; Student Residential Framework Travel Plan,
prepared by Pulsar Transport Planning; Commercial Framework Travel Plan,
prepared by Pulsar Transport Planning; Operational Waste Management Plan,
prepared by RPS; Site Waste Management Plan, prepared by Tide
Construction Limited; Student Management Plan, prepared by Fresh Property
Group; Viability Report, prepared by James.R.Brown and Co Ltd.; and
Statement of Community Engagement, prepared by Indigo Planning
(documents received 23 January 2019).
Additional / revised technical documents: Environmental Statement
Addendum Non-Technical Summary Update and Environmental Statement
Addendum Vol. 1 Update (prepared by Buro Happold Engineering Limited
and received 2 July 2019)

3. Removal of Permitted Development Rights
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying
that Order), the A1-A3, D1, D2 ‘commercial units’ hereby approved shall be
- 120 Page 130

used for uses falling within these use classes and for no other purposes of
the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987,
or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument
revoking and re-enacting that Order.
Reason: To ensure that the development hereby permitted contributes
positively to the vision for Lewisham Town Centre and the objectives for the
Loampit Vale Policy Area as required by Policies LTC2 and LTC4 in the
Lewisham Town Centre Local Plan (February 2014).

4. External Pipes
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-enacting or modifying
that Order), no plumbing or pipes, including rainwater pipes, shall be fixed on
the external facades of any building hereby approved.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).

5. Shop-Front Design
(a) The development shall not be occupied until plans, elevations and
sectional details at a scale of 1:10 or 1:20 showing the proposed frontages to
the commercial units have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
(b) The frontages to the commercial units shall be constructed in full
accordance with the details approved under clause (a) of this condition, and
completed prior to first occupation of the building.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 19 Shop fronts, signs
and hoardings.

6.

Opening Hours
The A1-A3, D1, D2 ‘commercial units’ hereby approved shall not be used
other than between the hours of 07.00 and 23.00 on any day of the week.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area
generally and to comply with Paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, DM Policy 26 Noise and Vibration and DM Policy 32 Housing
design, layout and space standards of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).
- 121 Page 131

7. Rooftop communal terraces
(a) Prior to occupation of any residential dwelling in Block A, full details at an
appropriate scale (e.g. 1:10 or 1:20) of the proposed landscape design,
including screens, hedges, pergolas and canopies around the edges /
entrance of the approved terraces on Levels 18 and 19 of Block A shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
(b) Full details of the landscape treatment of the rooftop communal
playspace on the link block, including detailed design of screens and other
features at an appropriate scale (e.g. 1:10 or 1:20) shall be submitted to the
planning authority for their written approval.
(c) The approved details for the terraces in Block A and the communal
playspace shall be implemented before the residential units in Block A are
first occupied.
(d) The approved landscape, screens, hedges, pergolas and canopies shall
be maintained thereafter for the life of the development.
Reason: In order to protect the amenities of the future occupiers of the
relevant residential dwellings.

8. Winter Garden Screens
(a) Prior to occupation of residential dwellings in Block A (units A-01-A-85),
full details of sliding screens to the winter gardens of these dwellings at a
suitable scale (e.g. 1:20) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority.
(b) the design and specification of the screens required by clause (a) of this
condition shall ensure that when the screens are shut, noise levels on the
balconies shall not exceed 55dB LAEQT.
(c) The approved screens shall be implemented before any of the residential
dwellings listed in clause (a) of this condition are first occupied.
(d) The approved screens shall be maintained thereafter for the life of the
development.
Reason: In order to protect the amenities of the future occupiers of
residential dwellings in Block A against potential adverse wind effects and to
ensure that occupiers of residential dwellings in Blocks A have a satisfactory
noise environment.

9. Obscured/one-way glazing
(a) Prior to occupation of residential dwellings B2.21, B3.21, B4.21, B5.21,
B6.21, B7.21, B8.21, B9.21, B10.21, B11.21, B12.21, B13.21, B14.21,
- 122 Page 132

B15.21, B16.21, B17.21, B18.21, B19.21 and B20.21, full details of proposed
obscured /one-way glazing to the two secondary windows in the north façade
of these dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
(b) The approved obscured/one-way glazing shall be implemented before
any of the residential dwellings listed in clause (a) of this condition are first
occupied.
(c) The approved obscured/one-way glazing shall be maintained thereafter.
Reason: In order to protect the amenities of the future occupiers of the
relevant residential dwellings.
10. External Materials – Buildings & Public Realm
Blocks A and B and the surrounding areas of public realm shall be finished in
materials identified in the Design and Access Statement (January 2019) and
drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP-101 rev. P08.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the proposal in accordance with Policy 15 High
quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy
30 Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014) and Policies 7.4 Local character and 7.6 Architecture
of the London Plan (2016).
11. External Materials – Buildings (Details and Samples)
No development shall commence above ground-level until a detailed
schedule, drawings and samples of the following have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(i) 1m x 1m sample panel to be constructed on site of each proposed
brick type for all buildings. Details of mortar are to be provided;
(ii) 1m x 1m sample panels of bricks. Details of mortar are to be
provided.
(iii) Samples of all windows, including joinery and fixing.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the proposal in accordance with Policy 15 High
quality design for Lewisham of the Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy
30 Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014) and Policies 7.4 Local character and 7.6 Architecture
of the London Plan (2016).

12. Public Square, Public Access Areas and Service Corridor
- 123 Page 133

(a) Notwithstanding the generality of the details shown on drawing ref.
00960B-JTP-MP-101 rev. P08, full details of the proposed hard and soft
landscaping of the public square and all other areas to be subject to public
access, including external materials, tree and soft landscaping and street
furniture) and proposed gates to the Thurston Road and Loampit Vale
entrances to the service corridor around the back of Blocks A and B shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority within 6
months of commencement of development above slab level The design of
the square shall also include services (electricity and water) sufficient to
enable external activities or events (e.g. markets) to be accommodated
within the space (subject to license).
(b) The approved hard and soft landscaping shall be implemented and
thereafter retained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied as to the
external appearance of the proposal in accordance with Policy 15 High
quality design for Lewisham of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and
DM Policy 30 Urban design and local character of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014) and Policies 7.4 Local character
and 7.6 Architecture of the London Plan (2016).

13. External Lighting
(a) Prior to first occupation of the development, a scheme for any external
lighting that is to be installed at the site, including measures to prevent light
spillage, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority and such details shall include evidence to demonstrate that the
proposed lighting is the minimum needed for security and working purposes
and that the proposals minimise pollution from glare and spillage, following
the Institute of Lighting Engineer’s guidance and shall not exceed 2 lux at
any window of a habitable room.
(b) Any such approved external lighting shall be installed in accordance with
the scheme approved under part (a) of this condition and shall thereafter
only be retained in accordance with the scheme approved under part (a) of
this condition.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
lighting is installed and maintained in a manner which will minimise possible
light pollution to the night sky and neighbouring properties and to comply
with DM Policy 27 Lighting of the Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014).

14. Open Space Management & Maintenance Plan
(a) An Open Space Management & Maintenance Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority within 6 months of
commencement of development above slab level. These shall include
management & maintenance and responsibilities for all communal play
spaces/communal terraces and the publicly accessible square and other
publicly accessible areas.
- 124 Page 134

(b) Once provided as approved, these spaces shall be managed and
maintained in accordance with the approved Plan.
Reason: To ensure that the podium garden and public realm landscaping
areas are adequately managed in accordance with Policy 15 High quality
design for Lewisham of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM
Policy 25 Landscaping and trees in the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).

15.

Satellite Dishes
Notwithstanding the Provisions of Article 4 (1) and part 25 of Schedule 2 of
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order
2015 or successor legislation, no satellite antenna shall be erected or
installed on the buildings hereby approved. The proposed development shall
have a central dish or aerial system for receiving all broadcasts for the
residential units created: details of such a scheme shall be submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority prior to the occupation of the
property, and the approved scheme shall be implemented and permanently
retained thereafter.
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied with the
details of the proposal and to accord with Policy 15 High quality design for
Lewisham of the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 30
Urban design and local character of the Development Management Local
Plan (November 2014).

16. Ventillation
(a)The specification of the appearance of and the equipment comprising a
ventilation system which shall include measures to alleviate noise,
vibration, fumes and odours (and incorporating active carbon filters,
silencers and anti-vibration mountings where necessary) in respect of any
A3 use of a Commercial Unit shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority prior to first occupation of any Commercial
Unit for A3 purposes.
(b) No non-residential unit shall be first occupied for A3 purposes until the
ventilation systems as approved under part (a) of this condition has been
installed in that Commercial Unit in accordance with the plans and
specification approved under the said part (a) and such ventilation systems
shall thereafter be permanently retained and maintained in accordance with
the approved specification.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the
area generally and to comply with Policy 17 Restaurants and cafes (A3
uses) and drinking establishments (A4 uses) of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).
- 125 Page 135

17.

Noise: Protection against external noise – Buildings
(a) The residential units hereby approved shall be designed so as to provide
sound insulation against external noise and vibration, to achieve levels not
exceeding 30dB LAeq (night) and 45dB LAmax for bedrooms (measured with
F time weighting), 35dB LAeq (day) for other habitable rooms, with windows
shut and other means of ventilation provided;
(b) The evaluation of human exposure to vibration within the buildings shall
not exceed the vibration dose values criteria ‘Low probability of adverse
comment’ as defined BS6472.
(c) Development of residential units in either Block shall not commence until
details of a sound and vibration insulation scheme complying with part (a) of
this condition and a Mechanical Ventilation and Heat Recovery (MVHR)
system for that Block have been submitted to an approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
(d) The residential units in a particular Block shall not be occupied until the
sound insulation scheme and MVHR system approved pursuant to part (b) of
this condition for that Block has been implemented in its entirety and a report
demonstrating the effectiveness of the scheme in meeting the standards in
part (a) of this condition has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the sound insulation scheme shall
be permanently maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the proposed
dwellings and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

18.

Noise: Protection against external noise - External Play space and
communal amenity areas
The design and specification of the screens required to the Level 2 external
play space and all communal amenity areas shall ensure that noise levels in
these spaces shall not exceed 55dB LAEQT.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the proposed
dwellings and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

19.

Noise: Operational Noise Control (including Fixed Plant)
(a) The rating level of the noise emitted from fixed plant on the site shall be
5dB below the existing background level at any time. The noise levels shall
be determined at the façade of any noise sensitive property. The
measurements and assessments shall be made according to BS4142:2014.
(b) Prior to occupation details of a scheme complying with part (a) of this
condition have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
- 126 Page 136

(c) The development shall not be occupied until the scheme approved
pursuant to part (b) of this condition has been implemented in its entirety.
The scheme as approved shall be permanently retained thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the proposed
dwellings and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

20.

Noise: Protection against noise from commercial units / station ticket
hall
(a) No development shall commence above ground-level until full written
details, including relevant drawings and specifications of the proposed works
of sounds insulation against airborne noise to meet D’nT,w + Ctr dB of not
less than 55 for walls and/or ceilings where residential dwellings share a
party wall with non-domestic use(s) have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority.
(b) The development shall only be occupied once the soundproofing works
as agreed under part (a) have been implemented in accordance with the
approved details.
(c) The soundproofing shall be retained permanently in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the proposed
dwellings and to comply with DM Policy 26 Noise and vibration, DM Policy 32
Housing design, layout and space standards of the Development
Management Local Plan (November 2014).

21. Cycle Parking Provision
(a) Detailed design of the Basement Level cycle parking arrangements shall
be submitted prior to above-ground construction for the written approval
of the local planning authority, to take into account the design principles
set out in the London Cycle Design Standards and Secured by Design;
(b) The approved long-stay cycle parking arrangements and bike lifts for
Blocks A and B for 496 (116 C3 housing and 380 sui generis student
housing parking spaces) (including 5% ‘accessible / adaptable’ spaces for
C3 housing) as shown on Basement Plan (drawing ref. 00960B-JTP-MP100 rev. P04), shall be implemented, and made ready for use prior to the
first occupation of the development.
(c) Prior to occupation of the commercial units details of the 7 long-stay cycle
parking spaces for commercial uses indicatively outlined in the Ground
Level General Arrangement 00960B-JTP-MP-101 rev. P08 shall be
submitted for the written approval of the local planning authority;
(d) Prior to commencement of development above ground-level, plans shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
identifying the location and details of the 41 short-stay cycle parking
spaces within the public realm.
- 127 Page 137

(e) The long-stay and short-stay cycle parking arrangements approved under
parts (a)(b)(c) of this condition shall be implemented and made ready for
use prior to the first occupation of the development.
Reason: To accord with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport in
the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and Policy 6.13 of the London Plan
(2016) and the London Cyclign Design Standards

22.

Delivery and Servicing Management Plan
(a) Prior to the first occupation of the development, a Delivery and Servicing
Management Plan, including the proposed location of delivery and
service areas, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority, to include details of how deliveries and servicing will
be effectively managed at the development bays and any required
changes to parking restrictions surrounding the development;
(b) The development will be operated in accordance with the Delivery and
Servicing Management Plan approved under clause (a) of this condition;
Reason: To accord with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport in
the Lewisham Core Strategy (June 2011) and Policy 6.3 of the London Plan
(2016).

23.

Safeguarding Bakerloo Line Extension
The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until detailed
design and construction method statements for all of the ground floor
structures, foundations and basements and for any other structures below
ground level, including piling and any other temporary or permanent
installations and for ground investigations, have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and TfL which:(i) Accommodate the proposed location of the Bakerloo Line Extension
structures including temporary works,
(ii) Accommodate ground movement arising from the construction thereof,
(iii) Mitigate the effects of noise and vibration arising from the operation of
Bakerloo Line Extension within its tunnels and other structures.
The development shall be carried out in all respects in accordance with the
approved design and method statements. All structures and works comprised
within the development hereby permitted which are required by clauses (i),
(ii) and (iii) of this condition shall be completed, in their entirety, before any
part of the building[s] hereby permitted is/are occupied. No alteration to these
aspects of the development shall take place without the approval of the Local
Planning Authority and TfL.

- 128 Page 138

Reason: To safeguard the provision of a Bakerloo Line Extension and
accord with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport in the Lewisham
Core Strategy (June 2011) Policies 6.1 and 6.2 of the London Plan (2016).

24.

Living (Bio-Diverse) Roofs
(a) Within 6 months of commencement of development above slab level,
details of the biodiversity living roofs on Blocks A and B which shall allow for
a substrate depth of 150 mm and shall be designed to support a water load
of 12litres/m2 (=12kg/m2) and a soil load of 150mm depth minimum (circa
225kg/m2) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
(b) The biodiversity living roofs shall be provided in accordance with the
details approved under part (a) of this condition before any dwelling is first
occupied and such biodiversity living roofs shall thereafter be permanently
retained and maintained in accordance with the approved details.
(c)The biodiversity living roofs shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out
space of any kind whatsoever and shall only be used in the case of essential
maintenance or repair, or escape in case of emergency.
Reason: To comply with Policies 5.10 Urban greening, 5.11 Green roofs and
development site environs, 5.12 Flood risk management, 5.13 Sustainable
Drainage and 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature conservation in the
London Plan (2016), Policy 10 managing and reducing flood risk and Policy
12 Open space and environmental assets of the Lewisham Core Strategy
(June 2011), and DM Policy 24 Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing
pitches of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

25. Ecology
(a) Prior to above ground works, a Habitat Creation Management Plan
(BCMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority and include the following details:
(i) Planting of trees and shrubs in the public square, covering a variety
of species, including those of benefit to wildlife;
(ii) Installation of two bird boxes (including one designed for peregrine
falcons) and two bat boxes; and
(iii) The creation of an invertebrate logger/installation of insect boxes
together with details of the management and maintenance
arrangements for the items referred to in this part (a) of this condition.
(b) The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details
approved in the BCMP and thereafter all areas shall be managed and
maintained in accordance with the BCMP as approved.
Reason: To comply with Policy 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature
conservation in the London Plan (2016), Policy 12 Open space and
environmental assets of the Core Strategy (June 2011), and DM Policy 24
- 129 Page 139

Biodiversity, living roofs and artificial playing pitches and local character of
the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

26. Contaminated Land
(a) No development (including demolition of existing buildings and
structures, except where prior agreement with the local planning authority for
site investigation enabling works has been received) shall commence until: (i) A desk top study and site assessment to survey and characterise
the nature and extent of contamination and its effect (whether on or
off-site) and a conceptual site model have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with
the Environment Agency.
(ii) A site investigation report to characterise and risk assess the site
which shall include the gas, hydrological and contamination status,
specifying rationale; and recommendations for treatment for
contamination encountered (whether by remedial works or not) has
been submitted, (including subsequent correspondences as being
necessary or desirable for the remediation of the site) to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority, in consultation with the
Environment Agency.
(b) The remediation scheme approved under part (a) of this condition shall
be implemented in full.
(c) If during any works on the site, contamination is encountered which has
not previously been identified (“the new contamination”) the local planning
authority shall be notified immediately and the terms of part (a) of this
condition, shall apply to the new contamination. No further works shall take
place on that part of the site or adjacent areas affected, until the
requirements of part (a) of this condition have been complied with in relation
to the new contamination.
(d) The development shall not be occupied until a closure report for the
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council,
in consultation with the Environment Agency. This shall include verification of
all measures, or treatments as required in (part (a) i & ii) of this condition and
relevant correspondence (including other regulating authorities and
stakeholders involved with the remediation works) to verify compliance
requirements, necessary for the remediation of the site have been
implemented in full. The closure report shall include verification details of
both the remediation and post-remediation sampling/works, carried out
(including waste materials removed from the site), and before placement of
any soil/materials is undertaken on site, all imported or re-used soil material
must conform to current soil quality requirements as agreed by the authority.
Inherent to the above, is the provision of any required documentation,
certification and monitoring, to facilitate condition requirements.
Reason: To ensure that the local planning authority may be satisfied that
potential site contamination is identified and remedied in view of the historical
use(s) of the site, which may have included industrial processes and for the
- 130 Page 140

protection of controlled waters and to comply with paragraph 170 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and DM Policy 28:
Contaminated Land of the Development Management Local Plan (November
2014).
27. BREEAM ‘Excellent’
(a) The commercial units shell and core works hereby approved shall
achieve a minimum BREEAM Rating of ‘Excellent’.
(b) No development of the commercial units shall commence until a Design
Stage Certificate for each building (prepared by a Building Research
Establishment qualified Assessor) has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority to demonstrate compliance with part
(a) of this condition.
(c) Within 3 months of first occupation of any commercial unit, evidence shall
be submitted in the form of a Post Construction Certificate (prepared by a
Building Research Establishment Qualified Assessor) to demonstrate full
compliance with part (a) of this condition in respect of such commercial unit.
Reason: To comply with Policies 5.1 Climate change and mitigation, 5.2
Minimising carbon dioxide emissions, 5.3 Sustainable design and
construction, 5.7 Renewable energy, 5.15 Water use and supplies in the
London Plan (2016) and Core Strategy Policy 7 Climate change and
adapting to the effects, Core Strategy Policy 8 Sustainable design and
construction and energy efficiency (June 2011).

28. Solar protection measures - prevention of overheating
(a) No development above slab level shall be commenced until details of
fritting to the lower glazing panels to the south and west facing windows in
the following dwellings have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority:
Block A: A2.03, A3.04, A4.04, A5.04, A6.04, A7.04, A8.04, A9.04,
A10.04, A11.04, A12.04, A13.04, A14.04, A15.04, A16.04, A17.04,
A18.03, A2.02, A3.03, A4.03, A5.03, A6.03, A7.03, A8.03, A9.03,
A10.03, A11.03, A12.03, A13.03, A14.03, A15.03, A16.03, A17.03
Block B: B2.16-B2.21, B3.16-B3.21, B4.16-B4.21, B5.16-B5.21, B6.16B6.21, B7.16-B7.21, B8.16-B8.21, B9.16-B9.21, B10.16-B10.21,
B11.16-B11.21, B12.16-B12.21 B13.16-B13.21, B14.16-B14.21,
B15.16-B15.21, B16.16-B16.21, B17.16-B17.21, B18.16-B18.21,
B19.16-B19.21, B20.16-B20.21, B21.16-B21.21, B22.16-B22.21
B23.16-B23.21, B24.16-B24.21, B25.16-B25.21, B26.16-B26.21,
B27.16-B27.21, B28.16-B28.21, B29.16-B29.21, B30.16-B30.21,
B31.05-B31.10, B32.05-B32.10, B2.15, B3.15, B4.15, B5.15, B6.15,
B7.15, B8.15, B9.15, B10.15, B11.15, B12.15, B13.15, B14.15, B15.15,
B16.15, B17.15, B18.15, B19.15, B20.15, B21.15, B22.15, B23.15,
B24.15, B25.15, B26.15, B27.15, B28.15, B29.15, B30.15, B31.04,
B32.04, B2.14, B3.14, B4.14, B5.14, B6.14, B7.14, B8.14, B9.14,
- 131 Page 141

B10.14, B11.14, B12.14, B13.14, B14.14, B15.14, B16.14, B17.14,
B18.14, B19.14, B20.14, B21.14, B22.14, B23.14, B24.14, B25.14,
B26.14, B27.14, B28.14, B29.14, B30.14, B31.03, B32.03, B2.13,
B3.13, B4.13, B5.13, B6.13, B7.13, B8.13, B9.13, B10.13, B11.13,
B12.13, B13.13, B14.13, B15.13, B16.13, B17.13, B18.13, B19.13,
B20.13, B21.13, B22.13, B23.13, B24.13, B25.13, B26.13, B27.13,
B28.13, B29.13, B30.13, B31.02, B32.02, B2.12, B3.12 B4.12, B5.12,
B6.12, B7.12, B8.12, B9.12, B10.12, B11.12, B12.12, B13.12, B14.12,
B15.12, B16.12, B17.12, B18.12, B19.12, B20.12, B21.12, B22.12,
B23.12, B24.12, B25.12, B26.12, B27.12, B28.12, B29.12, B30.12,
B31.01, B32.01. B33.01, B33.02, B2.11, B3.11, B4.11, B5.11, B6.11,
B7.11, B8.11, B9.11, B10.11, B11.11, B12.11, B13.11, B14.11, B15.11,
B16.11, B17.11, B18.11, B19.11, B20.11, B21.11, B22.11, B23.11,
B24.11, B25.11, B26.11, B27.11, B28.11, B29.11, B30.11
(b) The approved fretting shall be carried out before the dwelling to which it
relates is first occupied and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason: To comply with Policies 5.9 Overheating and cooling in the London
Plan (2016) and prevent the dwellings from overheating.

29.

Archaeology
(a) No development other than demolition to existing ground level shall take
place until the applicant (or their successors in title) has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological evaluation site work in
accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation which has been
submitted by the applicant and approved by the local planning authority in
writing.
(b) Under part (a) of this condition, the applicant (or their successors in title)
shall implement a programme of archaeological evaluation in accordance
with a Written Scheme of Investigation.
(c) A report of the evaluation results will be submitted for approval by the
local planning authority which will be given in writing.
(d) Dependent upon the results presented under part (c) of this condition, no
development other than demolition to existing ground level shall take place
until the applicant (or their heirs and successors in title) has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation site work in
accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation which has been
submitted by the applicant and approved by the local planning authority in
writing.
(e) Under part (d) of this condition, the applicant (or their successors in title)
shall implement a programme of archaeological mitigation in accordance with
a Written Scheme of Investigation.
(f) The site investigation and post-investigation assessment will be
completed prior to one year post the completion date of the development as
defined by the borough building regulation officer, in accordance with the
programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under
parts (a) and (d) of this condition, and the provision for post-investigation
assessment, analysis, of the results and archive deposition has been
secured.
- 132 Page 142

Reason: To conserve, protect and enhance the archaeological heritage of
Lewisham in accordance with Development Management Local Plan
(November 2014) DM Policy 37 Non-designated heritage assets including
locally listed buildings, areas of special local character and areas of
archaeological interest.

30. Site Waste Management Plan
Demolition and construction activities shall be carried out in accordance with
the Carpetright Site Waste Management Plan (January 2019).
Reason: To minimise the generation of and increase recovery of demolition
and construction waste and to comply with Policy 5.18 Construction,
excavation and demolition waste of the London Plan (2016).

31.

Construction Environmental Management Plan
(a) Development shall not commence until such time as a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), taking into account the existing
and emerging construction works in the Lewisham Town Centre and in
consultation with Network Rail and Transport for London (TfL) has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan
shall cover: (i) During and after demolition and construction works (and a month
prior to commencement of any works on site), PM10 monitoring shall
be carried out on site. Parameters to be monitored, duration, locations
and monitoring techniques must be approved in writing by Lewisham
Council prior to commencement of monitoring.
(ii) a Dust Management Plan (DMP), based on an AQDRA (Air Quality
and Dust Risk Assessment), shall be submitted to and approved, in
writing, by the local planning authority. The DMP shall be in
accordance with The Control of Dust and Emissions during
Construction and Demolition SPG 2014 and measures specified in the
Environmental Statement Addendum. The DMP will need to detail the
measures to reduce the impacts during the construction phase. The
development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved
plan.
(iii) The location and operation of plant and wheel washing facilities
(iv) Details of best practical measures to be employed to mitigate
noise and vibration arising out of the construction process
(v) Security Management (to minimise risks to unauthorised
personnel).
(vi) Details of the training of site operatives to follow any
Environmental Management Plan requirements
(vii) Timing and methodology for removal of trees and buildings
(minimising impact on any nesting birds)
- 133 Page 143

(viii) Removal of Japanese Knotweed
(ix) Pollution of water/ flood risk
(x) Unexploded Ordnance survey
(xi) Details of cranes and other lifting equipment to be used for the
construction of this development shall be submitted and approved by
the local planning authority in writing in consultation with DLRL and
Network Rail. A Crane / Lifting Management Plan should include
crane base design and its certification, risk assessment and method
statement for siting, erection, lifting arrangements, operational
procedure, radio communications, jacking up, de-rigging in addition to
plans for elevation, loads, radius, slew restrictions and collapse
radius. Cranes should be erected or dismantled in agreement with
DLRL’s and Network Rail’s in writing.
(b) No works shall be carried out other than in accordance with the
Construction Environmental Management Plan as approved under part (a) of
this condition
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will
minimise possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties
and to comply with Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, Policy 6.3
Assessing effects of development on transport capacity and Policy 7.14
Improving air quality of the London Plan (2016) and to ensure the safety of
Network Rail and DLR railway infrastructure.

32. Piling and Foundation Designs
(a) No piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall
take place, other than with the prior written approval of the local planning
authority, following consultation with Thames Water, Environment
Agency, Transport for London and Network Rail;
(b) Details of any such operations referred to in part (a) of this condition must
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
prior to commencement of any piling works and such details shall include
details of the relevant penetrative methods.
(c) Any such operations referred to in part (a) of this condition shall be
carried out only in accordance with the details approved under part (b) of
this condition.
Reason: To prevent pollution of controlled waters and to comply with
Lewisham Core Strategy (2011) Policy 11 River and waterways network and
Development Management Local Plan (November 2014) DM Policy 28
Contaminated land, to protect below ground utility infrastructure, and to
protect transport infrastructure assets to comply with Policy 6.2: Providing
public transport capacity of the London Plan..

33.

Air Quality: Boilers and CHP
- 134 Page 144

(a) The boilers to be provided for space heating and domestic hot water shall
have ‘ultra-low’ dry NOx emissions not exceeding 40 mg/kWh.
(b) The CHP unit to be provided shall comply with the emissions standards
for ‘Band B’ as set out in the Mayor of London’s Sustainable Design and
Construction SPG (2014)
(c) Air intake points for the ventilation of dwellings shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority before any dwelling is first
occupied. Intake points shall thereafter be implemented and maintained in
the approved locations.
Reason: To prevent an increase in local problems of air quality within an Air
Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) as required by Policy 7.14 of the
London Plan (2016) and DM Policy 28 of the Development Management
Local Plan (November 2014).

34.

Air Quality: Non-Road Mobile Machinery
All Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) of net power of 37kW and up to and
including 560kW used during the course of the demolition, site preparation and
construction phases of the development shall comply with the emission
standards set out in chapter 7 of the GLA’s supplementary planning guidance
‘Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition’ dated July
2014 (SPG) or any subsequent guidance. All major development sites in
Greater London shall keep an inventory on site and on the online register at:
https://nrmm.london/ of all NRMM between 37kW and 560kW. All NRMM shall
meet Stage IIIA of EU Directive 97/68/EC (as amended) as a minimum within
Greater London (Stage IIIB from 1st September 2020) and Stage IIIB of EU
Directive 97/68/EC as a minimum within the Central Activity Zones and the
GLA defined Opportunity Areas (Stage IV from 1st September 2020).
Reason: In order that the local planning authority may be satisfied that the
demolition and construction process is carried out in a manner which will
minimise possible noise, disturbance and pollution to neighbouring properties
and to comply with Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction, Policy 6.3
Assessing effects of development on transport capacity and Policy 7.14
Improving air quality of the London Plan (2016).

35.

Construction Logistics Management Plan (Stages 1 and 2)
(a) No development shall commence on site until a Construction Logistics
Management Plan for Stage 1 of the construction works (being demolition,
piling and ground works) has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority
and approved in writing and in consultation with Transport for London. The
Stage 1 Construction Logistics Management Plan shall take into account the
existing and emerging construction works in Lewisham Town Centre. The
Stage 1 Construction Logistics Management Plan shall also: (i)
Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site.
(ii) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle
trips to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of
construction vehicle activity on road traffic and residential amenity;
- 135 Page 145

(iii) Minimising trips to and from the site between 08.00 and 09.00 and
15.00 and 18.00 during Prendergast Vale School term times and
08.00 and 09.00 and 17.00 and 18.00 during school holidays;
(iv) Traffic marshalling and off/on site holding areas; and
(v) Taking account of delivery times of any other construction sites
within 500m of the site which are due to be active at the same time.
(vi) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.
(vii) Full details of how the cycle and pedestrian network on Thurston
Road is to be maintained
(viii) Construction staging and how this will impact on access/egress
arrangements and avoid adverse impact on bus operations on
Thurston Road.
(b) The measures specified in the approved Construction Logistics
Management Plan for Stage 1 shall be implemented prior to commencement
of any demolition, piling or groundworks and shall be adhered to during the
period of the Stage 1 construction works.
(c) Stage 2 of the construction works (being all and any construction-related
activity not comprised within Stage 1) shall not commence on site until a
Construction Logistics Management Plan for Stage 2 of the construction
works, has been submitted to the Local planning Authority and approved in
writing and in consultation with Transport for London. The Stage 2
Construction Logistics Management Plan update the Stage 1 Construction
Logistics Management Plan so as to apply to the Stage 2 construction works
and shall, in relation to the Stage 2 works, also: (i) Utilise appropriate transport modelling to demonstrate the impact of
the proposed construction logistics (routing / unloading / lane closure
proposals) on the Transport for London bus network in the immediate
context of the site and negate any identified impacts;
(ii) Rationalise travel and traffic routes to and from the site;
(iii) Provide full details of the number and time of construction vehicle
trips to the site with the intention and aim of reducing the impact of
construction vehicle activity on road traffic and residential amenity;
(iv) Minimising trips to and from the site between 08.00 and 09.00 and
15.00 and 18.00 during Prendergast Vale School term times and
08.00 and 09.00 and 17.00 and 18.00 during school holidays;
(v) Traffic marshalling and off/on site holding areas; and
(vi) Taking account of delivery times of any other construction sites
within 500m of the site which are due to be active at the same time.
(vii) Measures to deal with safe pedestrian movement.
(viii) Full details of how the cycle and pedestrian network on Thurston
Road is to be maintained
(iix) Construction staging and how this will impact on access/egress
arrangements and avoid adverse impact on bus operations on
Thurston Road.
(d) The measures specified in the approved details relating to Construction
Logistics Management Plan: Stage 2 Construction shall be implemented
- 136 Page 146

prior to commencement of Stage 2 works and shall be adhered to during the
period of the Stage 2 construction works.
Reason: In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply
with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Lewisham Core
Strategy (June 2011).

36.

Construction – Deliveries & Hours of Working
During the construction period, no work, other than vehicle movements to
and from the site in accordance with an approved Construction Logistics
Management Plan, shall take place on the site other than between the hours
of 08.00 and 18.00 on Mondays to Fridays and 08.00 and 13.00 on
Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public Holidays.
Reason: In order to ensure satisfactory vehicle management and to comply
with Policy 14 Sustainable movement and transport of the Lewisham Core
Strategy (June 2011).

37.

Considerate Constructors Scheme
Details demonstrating that the developer or constructor has joined the
Considerate Constructors Scheme shall be submitted to the local planning
authority prior to commencement of the development and the developer or
constructor shall thereafter adhere to the requirements of the Scheme for the
period of construction except that this shall not prevent and shall specifically
exclude demolition, works of site clearance, ground investigation and site
survey works, interim boulevard works, erection of temporary boundary
fencing or hoarding and works of decontamination and remediation (hereafter
'preparatory works') and shall be carried out only as approved. The developer
or constructor shall thereafter adhere to the requirements of the Scheme for
the period of construction of the development.
Reason: To ensure compliance with best constructor practice.

38.

Tall Building Lighting Strategy
(a) Prior to completion of 21st floor-level a Tall Building Lighting Strategy shall
be submitted to the local planning authority for their approval in writing;
(b) Detailed design of the building lighting strategy approved under clause (a)
of this condition shall be submitted to the local planning authority for their
approval in writing;
(c) Prior to occupation the lighting shall be implemented in full accordance
with that approved under clauses (a) and (b) of this condition; and
(d)

The lighting fixtures shall be maintained in perpetuity.

- 137 Page 147

Reason: In order to ensure that the tall building is designed to the highest
design quality and to protects local character, residential and wider public
amenity and impacts on biodiversity and wildlife from light pollution and
nuisance in order to comply with Policy 7.7 Location and Design of tall and
large buildings of the London Plan 2016 and DM Policy 27 of the Lewisham
Development Management Local Plan 2014.

39.

Photo-voltaic cells
(a)
Prior to occupation of the building details of the rooftop photo-voltaic
(PV) cells outlined in the Energy Strategy shall be submitted to the local
planning authority for their written approval.
(b)
The works shall be implemented on site in full accordance with the
details approved under clause (a) of this condition.
Reason: In order to comply with Policy SI2 Minimising greenhouse gas
emissions of the London Plan 2016 and DM Policy 22: Sustainable Design
and Construction / DM Policy 30: Urban Design and Local Character of the
Lewisham Development Management Plan 2014.

40.

Water Supply
No properties shall be occupied until written confirmation has been provided
to the planning authority that either:- all water network upgrades required to
accommodate the additional flows from the development have been
completed; or - a housing and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed
with Thames Water to allow additional properties to be occupied. Where a
housing and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no occupation shall take
place other than in accordance with the agreed housing and infrastructure
phasing plan.
Reason - The development may lead to no / low water pressure and network
reinforcement works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient
capacity is made available to accommodate additional demand anticipated
from the new development”

41.

Flood Risk: Finished Floor Levels
Finished floor levels for residential accommodation shall be set no lower than
7.43 metres above Ordnance Datum (mAOD).
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the development and occupants, in
line with the London Borough of Lewisham’s Core Strategy (Policy 10). This
finished floor level satisfies the recommendation of 300mm above the 1%
annual exceedance probability (AEP) plus climate change flood level.

42.

Flood Risk: Basement Design
The basement shall be designed, constructed and installed to prevent the
entry of flood water up to the ground floor finished floor level (7.15 metres
- 138 Page 148

above Ordnance Datum, mAOD) including at any service entry points or other
potential points of water ingress.
Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding to the basement and people within
it, in line with the London Borough of Lewisham’s Core Strategy (Policy 10).

43.

Flood Risk: Floodplain storage mitigation
(a) Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme of floodplain
storage mitigation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:
-

-

Drawings in plan and section showing detail of how the proposed
landscaping and floodplain storage voids will be constructed;
A set of drawings showing the timing and sequence of works that
demonstrates that a loss of floodplain storage capacity will not occur
during the construction works;
A maintenance plan setting out how the landscaping and floodplain
storage voids will be maintained in perpetuity.

(b) The development shall commence in strict accordance with the approved
scheme.
Reason: To prevent an increase in flooding to other developments and to the
surrounding built environment, in line with the Lewisham Core Strategy (Policy
10).
44:

Surface Water Drainage
(a) The Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy (ES Appendix 11-A, 21
January 2019) shall be implemented in full prior to the occupation of the
building;
(b) No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water drainage in to the
ground are permitted other than with the express written consent of the
Local Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site
where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable
risk to controlled waters.
(c) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval
details.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put
at unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of
water pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the
development site, in line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
(Paragraph 170).

45.

Wheelchair Housing
(a) Subject to part (b) of this condition, the detailed design for each dwelling
hereby approved shall meet the required standard of the Approved Document
M of the Building Regulations (2015) as specified in the schedule below:
- 139 Page 149

Unit reference number

Approved Document
M (2015) Access
Requirement

Dwelling type

List of all Social Rented wheelchair
units: 5 units

M4(3)(2)(a)

Wheelchair user
(adaptable)

Shared

M4(3)(2)(a)

Wheelchair user
(adaptable)

List of all market student housing
units: 67 units

M4(3)(2)(a)

Wheelchair user
(adaptable)

M4(3)(2)(a)

Wheelchair user
(adaptable)

M4(2)

Accessible and
adaptable

A2.02, A3.03, A4.03, A5.03, A6.03
List all Intermediate
Ownership units: 2 units
A13.03, A14.03

B5.12, B5.22, B5.23,
B6.22, B6.23, B7.12,
B7.23, B8.12, B8.22,
B9.12, B9.22, B9.23,
B10.22, B10.23, B11.22,
B12.22, B12.23, B13.22,
B14.22, B14.23, B15.22,
B16.22, B16.23, B17.22,
B18.22, B18.23, B19.22,
B20.22, B20.23, B21.22,
B22.22, B22.23, B23.22,
B24.22, B24.23, B25.22,
B26.22, B26.23, B27.22,
B28.22, B28.23, B29.22,
B30.22, B30.23, B31.11,
B32.11, B32.12, B33.03,
B34.02, B34.03, B34.04

B6.12,
B7.22,
B8.23,
B10.12,
B11.23,
B13.23,
B15.23,
B17.23,
B19.23,
B21.23,
B23.23,
B25.23,
B27.23,
B29.23,
B31.12,
B33.04,

List of all affordable
housing units: 8 units

student

B2.12, B2.22, B2.23, B3.12,
B3.22, B3.23, B4.22, B4.23
All other units

(b) the requirements set in part (a) of this condition shall be the minimum
requirements;
(c) No development shall commence above ground level until written
confirmation from the appointed building control body has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority to demonstrate
compliance with part (a) of this condition; and
(d) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under part (c) of this condition.
Reason: In order to ensure an adequate supply of accessible housing in the
Borough in accordance with Policy 1 Housing provision, mix and affordability
- 140 Page 150

and Policy 15 High quality design for Lewisham of the Lewisham Core
Strategy (June 2011) and DM Policy 32 Housing design, layout and space
standards of the Development Management Local Plan (November 2014).

INFORMATIVES
A.

Positive and Proactive Statement: The Council engages with all
applicants in a positive and proactive way through specific pre-application
enquiries and the detailed advice available on the Council’s website. On
this particular application, positive discussions

B.

Pre-commencement conditions:
The following pre-commencement conditions attached to this decision
notice are considered necessary in order to protect the amenities of future
occupiers and users of the proposed development and encompasses
ecological benefits, and to ensure that the proposed development results
in a sustainable and well-designed scheme:
Condition 27 – Safeguarding Bakerloo Line Extension
Condition 35 – Contaminated Land (partially approved under 102049)
Condition 39 – Archaeology (partially approved under 102049)
Condition 42 – Construction Environmental Management Plan
Condition 43 – Piling
Condition 45 – Construction Logistics Management Plan

C.

The Applicant is advised that any works associated with the
implementation of this permission (including the demolition of any existing
buildings or structures) will constitute commencement of development.
Further, all pre-commencement conditions attached to this permission
must be discharged, by way of a written approval in the form of an
application to the Planning Authority, before any such works of demolition
take place. In relation to Condition 3, Enabling Works means exploratory
boreholes, excavation and/or site preparation, temporary construction
works and piling, temporary diversion of highways, pegging out, the
erection of temporary fencing and hoardings or other measures to secure
the site, the construction of temporary access and service roads,
construction and laying of temporary services and drainage and the
diversion laying construction enlargement repair maintenance cleansing
connection to and use of services to serve the development, provision of
temporary construction and security site accommodation. For the
avoidance of doubt, Enabling Works excludes demolition.

D.

It is the responsibility of the owner to establish whether asbestos is
present within their premises and they have a ‘duty of care’ to manage
such asbestos. The Applicant is advised to refer to the Health and Safety
website for relevant information and advice.

E.

As you are aware the approved development is liable to pay the
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which will be payable on
commencement of the development. An 'assumption of liability form'
must be completed and before development commences you must
submit a 'CIL Commencement Notice form' to the council. You should
- 141 Page 151

note that any claims for relief, where they apply, must be submitted and
determined prior to commencement of the development. Failure to follow
the CIL payment process may result in penalties. More information on CIL
is available at: http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/apply-for-planningpermission/application-process/Pages/Community-InfrastructureLevy.aspx
F.

You are advised that all construction work should be undertaken in
accordance with the "London Borough of Lewisham Code of Practice for
Control of Pollution and Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites"
available on the Lewisham web page.

G.

The land contamination condition requirements apply to both whole site
and phased developments. Where development is phased, no unit within
a phase shall be occupied until a), b) and c) of the condition have been
satisfied for that phase. Applicants are advised to read ‘Contaminated
Land Guide for Developers’ (London Borough’s Publication 2003), on the
Lewisham web page, before complying with the above condition. All of
the above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the
Environment Agency's (EA) – Model Procedures for the Management of
Land Contamination. Applicants should also be aware of their
responsibilities under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to
ensure that human health, controlled waters and ecological systems are
protected from significant harm arising from contaminated land. Guidance
therefore relating to their activities on site, should be obtained primarily by
reference to DEFRA and EA publications. Written schemes of
investigation will need to be prepared and implemented by a suitably
professionally accredited archaeological practice in accordance with
Historic England’s Guidelines for Archaeological Projects in Greater
London. This condition is exempt from deemed discharge under schedule
6 of The Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015.

H.

In accordance with Policy D11 of the draft London Plan a “fire statement”
should be prepared and produced by a third party suitable qualified
assessor, in consultation with the London Fire Brigade (LBF).

I

Where ventilation is provided within bedrooms on noisy facades then a scheme
for ventilation that increases the air changes, above the trickle ventilation
requirements, should be provided, to avoid the need of opening windows for purge
ventilation as much as possible. Air should be drawn from an area in the building
away from the main road, to avoid polluted air being drawn in.
Explanation Note: ‘Where ambient noise levels are more extreme and the opening
of windows is likely to be required to increase ventilation rates, then it may be
necessary to consider forced acoustically-treated mechanical ventilation. This
method utilises acoustically-treated fans (quiet running) that are capable of
providing normal and summertime flow rates so occupants do not need to open
windows during hot summer days. If combined with a boost facility, then this may
reduce the need to open windows for summer cooling or rapid ventilation
purposes. Mechanical systems may include fans within individual rooms or may
be incorporated as part of a larger scheme, which provides ‘whole house’
ventilation. This may operate in conjunction with kitchen and bathroom extraction

- 142 Page 152

systems to provide both input and output air to the building, sometimes with heat
recovery to pre-heat the incoming air during colder periods.
These systems usually filter and acoustically shield the incoming air to prevent
external noise entering a building. Sometimes 'make up' air is brought in from
the quieter side of the building to utilise the natural acoustic shielding that the
building itself provides. Ducted systems with intakes on the quiet side of the
building might be required in very noisy situations, or where appearance rules
out through-the-wall fans. .Mechanical ventilation is often utilised in Air Quality
Management Areas where there is the need to shield both transportation noise
and polluted air from the occupiers of the buildings. Proofing against noise will
usually satisfy many air quality issues; reconfiguration of the system to provide
make up air from the furthest point away from a transport source or emission will
typically satisfy many air quality issues.’

J

Thames Water advise that they have strategic water assets close to the site
boundary and that the applicant should take full cognisance of the location of
these assets in designing their structural solution for the site and in constructing
the development.

K

Applicants should refer to the Bakerloo Line Extension via BLEEngineering@tfl.gov.uk . Bakerloo Line Extension will provide guidance in
relation to the proposed location of the Bakerloo Line Extension structures
and tunnels, ground movement arising from the construction of the tunnels
and noise and vibration arising from the use of the tunnels. Applicants are
encouraged to contact the Bakerloo Line Extension in the course of
preparing detailed design and method statements.

- 143 Page 153

APPENDIX ONE:

NOTE OF LOCAL DROP-IN SESSION HELD ON THURSDAY 14
MARCH 2019 AT THE GLASS MILLS LEISURE CENTRE,
LEWISHAM

- 144 Page 154

APPENDIX TWO:

INDEPENDENT VIABILITY REVIEW

- 145 Page 155

This page is intentionally left blank

Notes
Do not scale from this drawing.
All contractors must visit the site and be responsible for taking and checking
dimensions.
All construction information should be taken from figured dimensions only.
Any discrepancies between drawings, specifications and site conditions
must be brought to the attention of the supervising officer.
This drawing & the works depicted are the copyright of JTP.

JER

RA

Page 157

RD

STR

EE

T

This drawing is prepared for the specific project stage in the Drawing Status
section below and it is not intended to be used for any other purpose. W hilst
all reasonable efforts are used to ensure drawings are accurate, JTP accept
no liability for any reliance placed on, or use made of, this plan by anyone
for purposes other than those stated in the Drawing Status below.

TH UR ST ON RO AD

76

66
P01

Rev

01.02.19

Date

First Issue

RA

DEC

Description

Drawn

Chkd

Drawing Status

PLANNING

LOAMPIT VALE

Client

X(E)=538000m
Y(N)=175800m

23-25 Great Sutton Street
London EC1V 0DN
44 (0) 20 7017 1780
www.jtp.co.uk

Project

Lewisham Exchange
Drawing Title

Existing Figure Ground
Scale @A1

1 : 500

Job Ref.

Drawing No. MP_010

00960B

Revision.P01

Scale Bar

0

5

10

15

20

25 m

Sheet Code

Existing Figure Ground

00960B_JTP_MP_010_Existing Figure Ground_P01

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX ONE:

NOTE OF LOCAL DROP-IN SESSION HELD ON THURSDAY 14
MARCH 2019 AT THE GLASS MILLS LEISURE CENTRE, LEWISHAM

The Carpetright (Local Meeting) was held as a drop-in session in a room at the
Glass Mills Leisure Centre in the form of an exhibition providing an overview of the
development put together by the developer’s team. Informal conversations were held
in small groups and across the whole group of attendees. Below is a summary of
points discussed.

Attendees:
1. Jeremy Ward (LBL - Major and Strategic Projects)
2. Philip Freeman-Bentley (Indigo Planning)
3. Liz Wilks (JTP Architects)
4. Mark Teasdale (Indigo Planning)
5. Chris Pine (JTP Architects)
6. Tom Carney (JTP Architects)
Seven residents attended the event.
Comments
The following issues were raised by the attendees:
Principle of the use
Issues raised
Responses given
There was concern that student housing Student housing units contribute to the
will not help solve the housing crisis
overall supply of homes in Lewisham and
therefore
reduce
pressure
on
mainstream housing.
There was concern that students have Student Housing schemes are managed
no stake in communities and are bad very professionally by management
neighbours
companies that have very tightly
controlled Rules of Conduct.
There was concern that students don’t This is not
pay Council Tax and therefore shouldn’t consideration.
have the right to use local public
services.

Page 159

a

material

planning

Transport issues
Issues raised
Responses given
There was concern that the new The development will:
development will result in Lewisham - Provide an access to a proposed
Station being overburdened.
Bakerloo Line extension, thereby
improving public transport capacity
serving Lewisham;
Make a financial contribution towards
new DLR Rolling stock; and
Make a financial contribution towards the
improvement of Lewisham Station.
There was concern that the Transport The Transport Statement applied data
Statement assumption that students from surveys undertaken at other similar
don’t travel at peak times is misplaced.
stuent
accommodation
(e.g.
Chapterhouse, Thurston Road).
There was concern that Loampit Vale
doesn’t have enough capacity to take
any new development and that students
will park their cars on surrounding
streets.

The development is a car-free
development. A Controlled Parking Zone
will be introduced to regulate car parking
in the area. Residents will not be entitled
to a parking permit.

Neighbour impacts of the development
Issues raised
There was concern at the potential
daylight and sunlight impacts of the
proposed development

Responses given
These are fully assessed as part of the
Environmental Statement and planning
assessment.

There was concern that there is a lack of The development will provide a broad
benefit to the local community offered by range of planning benefits, including a
the development.
new public square, a new BLE Station
access in the future, new affordable
housing, new student housing and new
homes.

Environmental impacts
Issues raised
Responses given
There was concern at the wind tunnel This is assessed as part of the planning
effect on Loampit Vale.
application to ensure that the impacts of
the development in terms of wind and
microclimate are mitigated by the design
of the proposed development.
Energy strategy – there was concern that
the proposed energy strategy is
misleading and leads to increased
energy consumption, local pollution and

If the energy strategy is compliant with
policy then this will be deemed
acceptable. The broader issue of energy
system accounting needs to be

Page 160

raised energy bills to customers due to
the design of the heating system within
individual flats.
There is a concern that local services
(health and education) are already under
too much pressure and that the proposed
development will make things worse.

Ground floor uses
Issues raised
There was concern at the general level
of ground floor vacancy in Lewisham
Town Centre around the railway station.
Maybe this space would better be used
for residential or community use.

addressed by the Mayor of London
through the London Plan review process.
The
substantial
Community
Infrastructure Levy yielded by the
development will be invested in local
services according to a CIL Investment
Strategy to be adopted by LBL. This will
include investment in health and schools.

Responses given
This is acknowledged as a problem.
However, all units include D2 Community
uses in their planning permission. It takes
time for businesses to follow the
commercial opportunity presented by the
increase in residents and workers in
Lewisham Town Centre, In time these
units will be slowly occupied.

There was concern at the lack of A critical mass of development is
restaurants in Lewisham Town Centre
required to enable a shift from dormitory
to destination.
LBL should use financial incentives to Planning Obligations are imposed to
ensure that the ground floor units are ensure that the developer pays for the fitoccupied.
out
of
commercial
units
when
commercial operators express an
interest in these spaces.

Design of the development
Issues raised
Responses given
There was concern at the scale of the A virtually identical scheme has been
development proposed. Why so high?
granted on this site. The proposal is only
slightly taller than that previously
permitted and the scale difference will
not be perceptible.
There was concern at the lack of daylight This is assessed as part of the Daylight
in the proposed public square and that and Sunlight analysis. Detailed design of
trees / planting will not survive.
the square (including tree / plant
species) will be secured through
Planning Condition.

Ad hoc issues
Page 161

Issues raised
Fire risk – there was concern that the
proposed tall buildings will not be safe in
the event of a fire.

Responses given
This is a building regulations issue. The
proposed buildings have sprinkler
systems integrated into their design to
provide fire safety.

There was concern at the prevalence of LBL Enforcement will be made aware of
fly-tipping under the railway arches this issue.
outside the Glass Mills Leisure Centre.

Page 162

Carpetright Site,
Loampit Vale,
SE13 7SN
Independent Viability Review
for
London Borough of Lewisham

May 2019

Prepared by
GL Hearn Limited
4th Floor
65 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7NQ
T +44 (0)20 7851 4900
glhearn.com

Page 163

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Contents
Section

Page

1

INTRODUCTION

4

2

GENERAL METHODOLOGY

6

3

CRITIQUE OF BENCHMARK LAND VALUE

8

4

ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION SCHEME INPUTS

16

5

FINANCIAL APPRAISALS & CONCLUSIONS

29

6

UPDATED VIABILITY – APRIL 2019

32

7

UPDATED VIABILITY – MAY 2019

33

8

AMENDED SCHEME – MAY 2019

35

Appendices
APPENDIX A:

EXISTING USE VALUATION

APPENDIX B:

CONSTRUCTION COST REVIEW

APPENDIX C:

FINANCIAL APPRAISAL

APPENDIX D:

GL HEARN RESPONSE - APRIL 2019

APPENDIX E:

GL HEARN RESPONSE - MAY 2019

GL Hearn

Page 2 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 164

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Quality Standards Control
The signatories below verify that this document has been prepared in accordance with our quality control
requirements. These procedures do not affect the content and views expressed by the originator.

This document must only be treated as a draft unless it is has been signed by the Originators and approved
by a Business or Associate Director.
DATE

ORIGINATORS

APPROVED

May 2018

Edmund Couldrey
Development Director

Alex Reade
Associate Director

Limitations
This document has been prepared for the stated objective and should not be used for any other purpose
without the prior written authority of GL Hearn; we accept no responsibility or liability for the consequences of
this document being used for a purpose other than for which it was commissioned.

GL Hearn

Page 3 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 165

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

1

INTRODUCTION

1.1

GL Hearn has been instructed by the London Borough of Lewisham to undertake a viability
assessment in respect of a proposed development at the Carpetright Site, Lewisham, for which a
planning application has been submitted by Tide Developments Ltd (the Applicant).

1.2

The subject property comprises 11,664 sq ft of retail warehousing which is let to Carpetright situated
to the west of Ravensbourne River. The site is situated to the north west of Lewisham shopping centre
in London Borough of Lewisham (LBL) and is bound by Loampit Vale (A20) to the south, Thurston
Road to the west and the railway line to the east.

1.3

The site is located in close proximity to Lewisham Station providing access to the DLR and National
Rail Services which provide entry to central London. Bus services are also available from the adjacent
bus terminal providing services around London.

1.4

James R Brown (JRB) is the lead author of the Financial Viability Assessment (FVA) but they have
relied on a number of sources of third party advice. Specifically the following information has been
incorporated in their assessment:• JTP Architects - Architects
• RLF - Budget estimate

The Application Scheme
1.5

Planning permission is sought by the Applicant for the following;
“The demolition of the existing building and the construction of two buildings of 20 storeys and 35
storeys in height plus basement comprising: 952.6 sqm non-residential floorspace, comprising (A1)
Shops, (A2) Financial & Professional Services, (A3) Restaurants & Cafes, (B1) Business, (D1) Nonresidential Institutions and (D2) Assembly & Leisure uses; 85 (C3) self-contained housing units with
private and communal amenity space; 670 (Sui Generis) student housing beds with communal
amenity space; associated ancillary space, including on-site energy centres, refuse stores and cycle
parking; and landscaping and public realm works”

1.6

The Applicant is proposing to provide two blocks containing 85 affordable housing units, 670 student
beds and 9,626 sq ft commercial accommodation and public realm.

GL Hearn

Page 4 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 166

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

1.7

The site is complicated by the potential prospect of the Bakerloo Line extension which as proposed
is reported to affect the site and subsequent design with further allowance required for abnormal
construction costs.

1.8

JRB has indicated that the assumed scheme results in an effective deficit of £5,606,810 when the
Residual Land Value is compared to JRB's opinion of Benchmark Land Value. Despite the projected
deficit indicated, JRB has stated that the Applicant is willing to bring forward the site.

1.9

We understand that the Draft New London Plan requires that Student accommodation enter into a
nominations agreement or lease with a University and that a certain provision (circa 35% of beds) are
provided as Affordable Student Accommodation. In this case we understand that no such lease or
nominations agreement exists and the Student accommodation will operate as a Direct Let
investment. In such cases it is the GLA’s position that the accommodation is essentially a “co-living”
scheme and that any affordable contributions should be provided as Discounted Market Rent (at
appropriate rental levels) or a Payment in Lieu.

1.10

Notwithstanding the above we understand that Lewisham have sought to secure more traditional
affordable housing given the high demand for some accommodation in the Borough. This is reflected
in the applicant’s proposals.

GL Hearn

Page 5 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 167

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

2

GENERAL METHODOLOGY

2.1

GL Hearn’s review of the FVA has had regard to the RICS Guidance Note “Financial Viability in
Planning”, the GLA Affordable Housing and Viability SPG (2017), National Planning Policy
Framework (2018), and Planning Practice Guidance on Viability (2018) as appropriate.

2.2

We do not take issue with the overarching methodology used by JRB within their assessment. They
have:
• Assessed the realisable value of the proposed scheme;
• Assessed the costs associated with delivering the scheme;
• Assessed a Benchmark Land Value (based on the EUV)
• Undertaken a residual appraisal to calculate the Residual Land Value which is compared against
the Benchmark Land Value to establish whether the scheme is viable or not assuming the current
level of planning obligations.

2.3

JRB has used the Argus Developer appraisal programme to assess the viability of the development.
This is a commercially available, widely used software package for the purposes of financial viability
assessments. The methodology underpinning viability appraisals is the Residual Method of Valuation,
commonly used for valuing development opportunities:
Net Development Value of the residential and commercial elements of the scheme
LESS
Build costs, Section 106 costs and CIL, cost of sale, finance costs
LESS
Developers profit / Risk return
=
Residual Land Value

2.4

The approach adopted by JRB has been to adopt a number of assumptions in relation to the proposed
scheme which produces the Residual Land Value. With this approach, if the Residual Land Value is
lower than the Benchmark Land Value, then the scheme is deemed to be unviable and is therefore
unlikely to come forward for development unless the level of policy compliant affordable housing
and/or planning obligations can be reduced.

GL Hearn

Page 6 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 168

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

2.5

JRB has adopted a BLV of £6,969,000 as adopted by GL Hearn in our previous viability review
undertaken in September 2017. This comprised our opinion of the Existing Use Value of the property
at £5,807,500 plus a 20% landowners’ premium.

2.6

In respect of the proposed scheme JRB has modelled the prosed development which results in a
Residual Land Value of £1,362,190 and thus a deficit of £5,606,810 when compared to the assumed
BLV of £6,969,000. Despite the projected deficit JRB indicate that the applicant is willing to offer the
proposed affordable housing contribution.

2.7

Given that the calculations are being made well in advance of commencement of the development,
the figures used in the applicant’s appraisal can only be recognised as a projection. As such, it is
essential that all assumptions are carefully scrutinised by the Council to ensure that they reflect
current market conditions and have not been unreasonably depressed in respect of the value or
overestimated in respect of the development costs.

2.8

GL Hearn’s approach has been to critically examine all of the assumptions on which the JRB appraisal
is based.

2.9

It is also important to carefully scrutinise the applicant’s methodology. In particular the measure of
Benchmark Land Value has a fundamental effect on the viability equation.

GL Hearn

Page 7 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 169

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

3

CRITIQUE OF BENCHMARK LAND VALUE

3.1

Determining an appropriate Benchmark Land Value is often the most important factor in determining
viability. Put simply, if the value generated by the development does not produce a positive figure,
there is no financial incentive to bring forward the development with all its associated risk.

3.2

Arriving at an appropriate BLV is not a straightforward exercise and this is acknowledged at 3.4.6 of
the RICS Guidance Note which states that:
“The assessment of Site Value in these circumstances is not straightforward, but it will be, by
definition, at a level at which a landowner would be willing to sell which is recognised by the
NPPF.”

3.3

In arriving at an appropriate BLV regard should be had to existing use value, alternative use value,
market/transactional evidence (including the property itself if that has recently been subject to a
disposal/acquisition), and all material considerations including planning policy. Existing Use Value is
widely used in establishing Benchmark Land Value and is supported in the latest mayoral SPD and
by the London Assembly Planning Committee.

Summary of Applicants Position and BLV History
3.4

The subject site comprises an existing A1 retail warehouse comprising 11,664 sq ft of accommodation
which is currently let to Carpetright on a lease expiring in 2024.

3.5

JRB has adopted a BLV of £6,969,000 as adopted by GL Hearn in our previous viability review
undertaken in September 2017. This comprised our opinion of the Existing Use Value of the property
at £5,807,500 plus a 20% landowners’ premium. While we stand behind this opinion as being
reasonable as at that time it is right that it is considered in the current market.

3.6

The value originally put forward by the viability consultant acting for the then applicant put forwards a
BLV of £7,582,000. They adopted an EUV of £6,318,000 based upon their Market Rent of £379,080
(£32.50 psf), capitalised at a NIY of £6%, together with a 20% landowners’ premium.

3.7

While the Market Rent and Yield were accepted the valuation methodology was disputed as the
passing rent was ignored. GL Hearn adopted a Term and Reversion valuation method capitalising
the passing rent of £300,000 (£25.72 psf) until the first review in 2019 and only then capitalising the
higher Market Rent into perpetuity.

GL Hearn

Page 8 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 170

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Current Position
3.8

In April 2018 Carpetright implemented a Company Voluntary Arrangement (CVA) to reduce its rental
cost exposure across its national portfolio. A number of Carpetright properties were closed or subject
to significant rent reductions of up to 50% of the existing rent.

3.9

Based upon the information provided at that time we understand that the existing rent at Lewisham
Carpetright was not affected but the payment terms were amended from quarterly in advance to
monthly in arears. The latter is less attractive to investors as by not receiving the rent in advance their
investment yields a lower cashflow benefit and is at greater risk of default.

3.10

The Carpetright CVA is one of many highly publicised events to affect the retail market in recent years
and includes:
•

Patisserie Valerie collapse in January 2019

•

HMV collapse in December 2018, later sold but with 27 stores closing

•

Debenhams announced closure of 50 stores in October 2018

•

Mothercare – CVA approved in June 2018 reducing the number of stores from 220 four years
ago to a planned 73 stores by 2022. A further 9 store closures were announced in July 2018
and that its Childrens World brand had gone into administration

•

House of Fraser CVA approved in June 2018 before collapsing in August 2019

•

Poundland, went into administration in June 2018. All stores now closed, including the unit
opposite the subject site

•

Toys R Us – went into administration in February 2018. All stores now closed

•

Maplin – went into administration in February 2018, majority of stores now closed

•

Store Twenty One – went into liquidation in July 2017, 37 stores now being run by new owners

•

Brantano – went into administration in March 2017, closing its last stores in June 2017

•

Mothercare – CVA, expected to close c. 50 stores, over 1/3 of its portfolio

3.11

There are other retailers looking at closing poorer stores within their portfolio in the coming years.

3.12

Having externally inspected the subject property we understand that the store has now closed. It is
not clear whether this was due to its individual or company performance or due to the proposed
redevelopment. In the absence of any further information we can only assume that Carpetright are

GL Hearn

Page 9 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 171

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

paying their contractually agreed rent. However, the fact the store has closed, together with the
general market performance, suggests that a renewal at lease expiry is extremely unlikely.

Rental Values
3.13

There is a very limited amount of new letting evidence in the Greater London retail warehouse market.
This is due to the worsening market, redevelopment of existing assets (such as both the subject and
Lewisham Retail Park) and the fact that historically the units have been let on longer term leases.

3.14

The previous Market Rent of £32.50 psf was reviewed and accepted based upon the rents passing
at Lewisham Retail Park opposite. The retail park was let to four tenants (Mothercare, Sports Direct,
Poundland, and Matalan) for a blended rent passing of just under £32 psf. However, these are based
upon historic lettings which have been subject to nil uplifts at rent review. Furthermore, the
Mothercare and Poundland stores have now closed. Accordingly it would be wrong to rely upon these
as evidence of the current Market Rent.

3.15

In considering the current market rent we have had regard to the following:
•

Unit A1, Stone Lake Retail Park, Greenwich, Charlton, SE7 8LU – 11,840 sqft A1 retail
warehousing space let to Food Warehouse exchanged in October 2017 at a rent of £250,000 pa
equating to £21.12 psf. 18 month package (3 months’ rent free plus 15 months cash equivalent).
10 year lease, no breaks. Effective FRI. The net effective rent equates to £17.95 psf. Planning
consent required for food use. Store opened ad lease started late 2018. Previous deal agreed in
2016 to Dunelm but conditional on taking neighbouring unit (let to Dreams) which failed. The unit
comprises one of seven units built in 1996 with other occupiers including Currys, Halfords, and
Carpetright. The Park is in an established retail warehousing cluster with other Retail Parks in
close proximity including Millennium Way (Ikea, B&Q and Odeon), Brocklebank (Wickes, Primark,
Next, Mothercare & Aldi), Greenwich (18 units including Boots, River Island, New Look etc), and
Peninsula (6x units inc TK Max, Smyths Toys, & ASDA). Charlton station is a 7 minute walk. The
park fronts onto the A206 (east west connections to Greenwich and Woolwich) and is
approximately 1 mile from the junction onto the A102 linking Greenwich Peninsula to the north
and routes out to the M25 to the south / south east.

•

Unit 9/10, Greenwich Shopping Park, Charlton, SE7 7ST - See above for location and
neighbouring occupiers. 14,105 sqft unit let to Wilko in October 2018 for £423,150 per annum
(£30 psf) on a 10 year FRI lease with tenants only break in year 7. Monthly payment terms.

GL Hearn

Page 10 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 172

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Approximately two years rent free was agreed (50% of which to be repaid if break option
exercised) equating to £24 psf. The letting is subject to unit being handed over in shell condition
with the mezzanine removed and Terms being agreed between Wilko and the Royal Borough of
Greenwich for the surrender of the Wilko store at 45 Woolwich New Road, SE18 6EU. We
understand this is likely to complete shortly with occupation due in the autumn.
•

Units 1-15, Westway Cross Retail Park, London, UB6 0UW - The property was let to Smyths
Toys in October 2018 for £400,000 per annum on a 15 year lease; there is a break option in
October 2028 following a 12 month rent free period at lease commencement. The rental value
equates to £24.68psf gross. This 16,210 sq. ft. retail warehouse is located on the Westway Cross
Retail Park which is within walking distance of Greenford underground station, and 0.5 miles
north of the A40. The property comprises of a steel frame construction that was constructed in
2000 and renovated in December 2013.

•

Decathlon, Greenwich Shopping Park, SE7 7ST - approximately 10,000 sqft retail warehouse
let in March 2018 for a rent equating to £36.75 psf (c £33 psf net effective). 12 months’ rent free
on 15 year lease with tenants break in year 10. Agent confirmed that market has changed
significantly from this, as evidenced above.

•

New Cross Gate Retail Park, New Cross Rd, London SE14 5UQ - three retail warehouse units
let to Harveys (c 12,000 sqft), Dreams (5,200 sqft), and TK Max (12,506 sqft). Passing rents
equate to £18.50 psf, £25 psf and £20.16 psf respectively. Recently subject to nil uplifts at most
recent reviews (subject dates 2016/2017). Landlord’s L&T advisor stated that he had been unable
to find any evidence in support of an increase and advised that rents were down approximately
25% from their peak. Would expect the subject to achieve £18-£20 psf gross with 1 year rent free
required with voids of 6 to 12 months.

•

Wickes, Unit 1, 100 Blackheath Road, London – The lease of this 26,497 sq ft unit (including
1,219 sq ft of mezzanine space) was re-geared with Wickes in March 2017at a rent of £582,900
per annum. The rent equates to £22.00 per sq ft per annum. The reversionary lease expires in
March 2034 with 5 yearly upward only rent reviews beginning in March 2021 and a 12 month rent
free. This solus unit is located adjacent to a Pets at Home store and benefits in an inner London
location.

3.16

We have placed the least weight on the rent reviews at New Cross as these are placed lower in the
hierarchy of evidence. They are, however, informative in that there has been no rental uplift since the
lettings were taken despite this being before the majority of the CVAs and administrations. The
Wickes letting is also helpful in that it is only 1 mile to the north but is a significantly larger unit and let
nearly two years ago.

GL Hearn

Page 11 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 173

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

3.17

The recent lettings at Stone Lake and Greenwich Shopping Park provide more recently agreed
evidence within relatively close proximity to the subject. It is arguable that the difficulties in securing
a tenant at Stone Lake (due to a previous agreement falling through) has deflated the achieved £psf.
Likewise the Wilko letting may have been artificially improved given that the Council will be covering
the costs of relocation and fit out. It could be argued, due to the proximity of Lewisham train station,
that the subject is better located than these units. However, the Greenwich retail parks provide a
significantly better retail offering and critical mass. The subject unit is a standalone retail warehouse.
There is some synergy with the units at Lewisham Retail Park opposite but this is subject to vacancies
and the proposed redevelopment. Furthermore, while the unit is located in close proximity to
Lewisham station, the provision of appropriate car parking is of more relevance to retail warehousing
and the sale of bulky goods. A number of agents have expressed concerns with the poor parking
provision (324 sqft per space) and that it is located off the one way system. Their opinion was that up
to £20 psf was appropriate.

3.18

Having considered the available evidence and our discussions with retail warehouse agents we
consider it very unlikely that an increase at the next rent review (Summer 2019) can be achieved. We
have therefore taken the rent passing until expiry. Given that the store is closed and the issues facing
Carpetright any investor would assume that the store would become vacant upon expiry of the lease
in 2024. Notwithstanding the agents comments suggesting a rent as low as £20 psf we are of the
opinion that a rate of £25 psf is reasonable and reflects an appropriate Market Rent.

3.19

Accordingly we have adopted the current rent of £300,000 (£25.72 psf) at lease renewal. In line with
the evidence available we have assumed 12 months letting void and a further 18 month rent free
period upon re-letting. As per the previous valuation we have not included any empty property costs.

Investment Values
3.20

Previously an investment yield of 6% was proposed on the basis of transactions at Romford, Newham
Leisure Park and Slough. Further evidence sought by GL Hearn at that time supported this
assumption which was adopted.

3.21

The current market position described above has understandably affected investor sentiment. Knight
Frank’s February 2019 Yield Guide shows Prime Out of Town Retail increasing from 4.5% NIY to
5.5%+ NIY over the last 12 months with the Market Sentiment currently described as “Negative” for

GL Hearn

Page 12 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 174

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

all retail park classes. This is approximately a 20% drop in capital terms (ignoring any rental
adjustments).
3.22

In considering the current investment yields we are aware of the following transactions in London:
•

Hertford Road, Barking, IG11 – freehold interest in a retail unit built in 2005 of 57,048 sq ft
sold for £20,000,000 (£350psf) in July 2018. Currently occupied by Wickes. The NIY was
advised to be 4%.

•

Madford Retail Park, Erith, DA8 – the freehold interest in a retail warehouse of 30,842 sq ft
was sold for £8,720,000 (£283psf) in March 2018. The unit was built in 2002 and is currently
occupied by Wickes until 2027 on a passing rent of £405,000pa, reflecting a 4.36% NIY.

3.23

Both of the above transactions comprise very large retail warehouses let to Wickes who provide a
better covenant than the subject property. Having reviewed the evidence detailed in the above table
and after discussions with our in-house investment team we are of the opinion that the value of the
majority of the transactions in London are underpinned by residential redevelopment potential and,
therefore, the yields reflect the reversionary value as development land and not Existing Use Value
in isolation. This is explicitly recognised in a recent valuation received from Cushman & Wakefiled of
another London retail warehouse where it was stated that the ‘Cap rate moved in as the area has
multiple resi towers going up and land values increasing without planning consent’. Furthermore, with
respect to Hertford Road, Barking a number of neighbouring sites are being actively developed with
GL Hearn are advising a number of parties in this area. Accordingly we have placed significantly less
weight on these transactions.

3.24

We have, therefore, had regard to the following investments:
•

Invincible Road Industrial Estate, Farnborough – long leasehold interest in 2no. retail
warehouse units totalling 48,432 sq ft sold for £11,000,000 (£227psf) in January 2019.
Currently occupied by Wickes and Dunelm. The units were built in 1984 but fully refurbished
in 2015. The NIY was advised to be 5.5%.

•

Slough Retail Park, Slough – the freehold interest for the whole retail park totalling 152,467
sq ft sold for £63,000,000 (£413psf) in May 2018. Current tenants are Homebase, DFS, AHF
Furniture & Carpets, Smyths Toys, ScS, Harveys, Paul Simon Curtains, The Range and
Bensons for Beds with a total rental income of £3,603,195pa and a WAULT of 6.4 years. This
results in a 5.36% NIY.

GL Hearn

Page 13 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 175

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

•

Southampton Road, Salisbury Business Park – the freehold interest in 2no. retail
warehouse units of 16,015 sq ft sold for £3,725,000 (£233psf) in September 2017. The units
were built in 1990 and the current tenants are Maplins and Halfords with a combined rent of
£231,140pa with a WAULT of 6.5 years, reflecting a 5.8% NIY.

•

Unit A and B, Bourne Way Retail Park, Salisbury – the freehold interest in 2no. retail
warehouse units of 14,825 sq ft sold for £3,156,000 (£213psf) in July 2017. The units were
built in 1993 and are currently let to Dreams and Carpetright. The leases of 10 years were
renewed 4 months before the sale and provide a passing rent of £208,389pa, reflecting a
6.75% NIY.

•

Winchester Road, Basingstoke – the freehold interest of 2no. retail warehouse units of
16,054 sq ft sold for £5,550,000 (£346psf) in June 2017. The units were built in 1990 and the
current tenants are Maplins and Halfords. There are 8 years unexpired on the lease which
provides a passing rent of £346,283pa, reflecting a 5.9% NIY.

3.25

Farnborough comprises the most recent evidence but again are larger units and let to a stronger
covenant profile than the subject. The sales in Salisbury and Basingstoke are comparable sizes but
now 18 to 24 months old. We have therefore placed the most weight on Slough given its date and
average unit size (c 17,000 sqft). The number and breadth of tenants is, however, arguably more
attractive to an investor (disregarding redevelopment for alternative uses).

3.26

We consider there to be inherent risk attached to the income given the market conditions and lack of
occupiers in the market for the subject space. At lease expiry we consider any tenant to be in a
particularly strong negotiating position and, as mentioned above, we would expect tenants to request
nil rental increases on lease renewal. While we understand that the rent passing is contractually
binding and, we assume, is being paid the store is now closed and the Carpetright was previously
subject to a CVA which pleases additional risk to the investor.

3.27

We have, therefore, adopted a 6% yield across both the rent passing and reversionary rent following
our opinion of the appropriate void and rent free periods.

Existing Use Value
3.28

Based upon the assumptions set out above we arrive at an Existing Use Valuation of £4,200,000.
This is a reduction of approximately 28% which is in line with both market reports and other valuations
carried out by GL Hearn. A copy of our calculation is attached as Appendix A.

GL Hearn

Page 14 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 176

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Premium
3.29

A premium of 20% was previously attached to the EUV by way of a landowner’s incentive to bring
forward development. The latest Mayoral SPD states that premiums require justification and could be
between 10 per cent and 30 per cent, but must reflect site specific circumstances. We are of the
opinion that the site is within a prominent location but with an effectively vacant diminishing asset.
Therefore we consider the applied 20% premium to be reasonable.

Benchmark Land Value
3.30

Adopting the above methodology and aforementioned assumptions we have arrived at an Existing
Use Value of £4,200,000 to which to apply a premium of 20%. We are therefore of the opinion that
the BLV of the site is £5,040,000. This demonstrates a reduction of £1,929,000 when compared to
the position assumed by the Applicant.

GL Hearn

Page 15 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 177

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

4

ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION SCHEME INPUTS

4.1

The following section critically reviews the proposed scheme and the assumptions adopted in the
applicant’s FVA.

Timescales
4.2

While not detailed within the report the full FVA includes an appraisal cashflow within the appendices.
We have also been provided with a live electronic version of the applicant’s appraisal. JRB have
assumed the following timescales within their cashflow:
Phase

Commercial / Student

Affordable

Purchase

2

2

Pre-construction

2

2

Construction

24

24

Sales

1

24

TOTAL

29

28*

*includes overlapping sales
4.3

4 months before the start of construction is normally less than we would assume for a project of this
scale and we have therefore extended this to 6 months. Johnson Associates have confirmed that the
proposed construction period is reasonable. The affordable housing is timed to sell throughout the
construction period with approximately 25% of the sum being paid at the start of build reflecting a
‘golden brick’ payment which we consider reasonable. The commercial elements are timed to sell
one month after construction which we also accept.

Affordable Housing
4.4

The proposed development provides 85 x on-site affordable housing units of which 51 x are allocated
as shared ownership tenure and 34 x as social rented tenure.

4.5

The 34 x social rented units, comprising 8 x one bed unit, 6 x two bed three person units, 14 two bed
four person units and 6 x 3 bed unit, have been valued at £4,824,245 assuming an overall blended
capital value rate of £185 psf. The 51 x shared ownership units, 10 x one bed unit, 11 x two bed three
person units, 21 x two bed four person units and 9 x 3 bed unit, provide an overall blended capital
value rate of £450 psf.

GL Hearn

Page 16 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 178

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

4.6

GL Hearn’s affordable housing team has undertaken their own comparable research and reviewed
the assumptions in respect of the above and considers the values for both tenures to be acceptable.
Commercial Value Assumptions

4.7

The proposed development includes 9,626.3 sq ft GIA of flexible commercial space (Use Classes A1,
A2, A3, B1, D1 & D2) over the ground floor and first floor. The breakdown is as follows:
Floor

Unit No.

Sq ft

Ground

1

1185.5

Ground

2

384.4

Ground

3

563.7

Ground

4

1109.8

Ground

5

3341.1

First

1

3041.8

Total

4.8

9,626.3

JRB has assumed rents of £25 psf, 12 months void and rent free, capitalised at 6.5% NIY. Following
the deduction of purchaser’s costs this equates to £339.5 psf. In support of this two comparable office
lettings and a vacant possession sale are provided but no evidence of retail, restaurants, leisure or
community uses are provided.

4.9

Given the proximity to the rail station and centre of Lewisham we consider that the units will be
attractive to a range of uses and consideration of a single use (in this case offices) is not appropriate.
The fact that the applicant has sought to apply for a range of commercial uses supports this approach.

Rent
4.10

JRB has cited the lettings of Arden House, 52-54 Thurston Road, SE13 and Silkworks, Connington
Road, SE13. The former let in December 2017 on a 4 year lease (2 year tenant break) for £18,000
pa, equating to £16.39 psf. Silkworks let in May 2015 for approximately £17,000 pa (£16.52 psf). We
are of the opinion that Arden House is not as well located as the subject but as offices is a useful
comparator. With respect to Silkworks the letting look place nearly four years ago which we consider
historic for such a use.

4.11

We have undertaken our own comparable letting research:

GL Hearn

Page 17 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 179

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

•

Thurston Point – a modern mixed use development located c200m away from the subject site,
built in 2015. Various units have been let since completion and provide strong comparable
evidence for achievable values at the subject. All units are in good condition and completed to a
typical modern standard.
•

Unit 4 – a retail unit measuring 971 sq ft let to Coban Turkish barber shop in April 2018
for £14,565pa (£15psf). This was a 40% discount on the asking price of £25psf and
included a 6 month rent free period, resulting in a net effective rent of £13,387pa
(£14.25psf).

•

Unit 6 – a D2 unit measuring 791 sq ft let to Twist Studios personal trainers in September
2018 for £11,865pa (£15psf). This included a 5 month rent free period, resulting in a net
effective rent of £11,403pa (£14.42psf).

•

Unit 7 – a D2 unit measuring 1,337 sq ft let to More Yoga in July 2018 for £21,392pa
(£16psf). This included a 4 month rent free period resulting in a net effective rent of
£20,441pa (£15.28psf).

•

Unit 8 – a D2 unit measuring 16,500 sq ft let to The Gym in October 2016 for £185,000pa
(£11.21psf).

•

Unit 9 – a retail unit measuring 1,225 sq ft let to Elyse Beauty & Laser Clinic in November
2017 for £22,800pa (£18.61psf).

Further to this comparable evidence, conversations with local commercial letting agents confirmed
that typical lettings in the area are around £15psf. Given the subject site’s location in close proximity
to the station and range of uses there may be a premium achieved. Accordingly we consider the
adopted rent of £25 psf is reasonable.

Yield
4.12

JRB state in their report that they have adopted a net initial yield of 6.5%. No investment evidence is
provided. They do refer to a vacant possession sale of an 800 sq.ft. office in the Ravioli Apartments
development. This sold for £143,250 in October 2017 and analyses to £179 psf.

4.13

We have sought our own evidence to verify the adopted yield and capital value which we detail below;-

GL Hearn

Page 18 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 180

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

•

Units 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7, Thurston Point – a portfolio of units built in 2015 was sold in February
2019. It comprised retail units of A1 / D2 use class with a total size of 7,066 sq ft and was
sold for £1,635,000 (£231psf), which the selling agent, Union Street Partners, advised
equated to a 7.5% NIY.

•

Units 1, 2 and 8, Thurston Point – a portfolio of units built in 2015 was sold in December
2016. It comprised retail units of A1 / D2 use class with a total size of 40,500 sq ft and was
sold for £13,711,000 (£339psf) which equated to a 4.6% NIY.

•

Renaissance Unit E1 Roma Corte – long leasehold interest in a retail unit built in 2015 of
1,177 sq ft was sold for £500,000 (£274psf) in March 2017 which equated to a 5.48% NIY.
The development is located in close proximity to the subject.

•

8-12 Lee High Road, SE14 5LQ – Slightly dated building in the centre of Lewisham close to
subject site. Includes retail and office space. Sold in February 2017 for £2.2m with a Net Yield
equating to 6.1%.

•

Renaissance Tuscany Corte – long leasehold interest in a retail unit built in 2015 of 1,644
sq ft was sold for £450,000 (£425psf) in January 2016 which equated to a 7% yield.

4.14

Having considered the above evidence we are of the opinion that a 6.5% yield (equating to £340 psf
in capital value terms) is acceptable. Accordingly, for the purposes of our modelling we have adopted
the applicant’s assumptions.

Student Housing Assumptions
4.15

The proposed development consists of a 36 storey student accommodation block, including a
basement. There are a number of different types and sizes of unit but these can be broadly described
as Studios, Cluster Apartments (ensuite rooms within a shared apartment) and “UA”’s (wheelchair
adaptable units), with a total NIA of 11,029 sq ft. The breakdown, including JRB’s assumed rent, is
as follows:
Bedroom
Type

Unit No.

Average Size

Total NIA Sq ft

Rent (£pw)

GL Hearn

Page 19 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 181

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

Total Annual
Gross Rent

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

4.16

Studio 1

331

15

4,965.00

£245

£4,135,845

Studio 2

31

17.8

551.80

£255

£403,155

Studio 3

31

15

465.00

£245

£387,345

Studio 4

32

31.5

1,008.00

£340

£554,880

Studio 5

4

21.4

85.60

£315

£64,260

Cluster 1

145

12.2

1,769.00

£245

£1,811,775

Cluster 2

29

15.3

443.70

£260

£384,540

UA1

66

25.9

1,709.40

£280

£942,480

UA2

1

31.5

31.50

£300

£15,300

Total

670

11,029.00

£8,699,580

JRB has valued the proposed student accommodation on both a standard multiplier investment
valuation basis and a full Discounted Cash Flow model. These total approximately £128.7m and
£127.04m respectively. DCFs often reflect the way that investors review opportunities but thus these
are often a more useful calculation of ‘worth’ (ie the value to the individual investor) rather than the
Market Value to the market as a whole. It is, like a development appraisal, subject to a larger number
of variables which makes its use less reliable. Accordingly we have only reviewed JRB’s investment
valuation approach which totals £128.5m.

4.17

JRB assumed a gross income of £8,699,580, 95% occupancy and £2,800 per room p.a. operating
cost which gives a net income of £6,388,601 p.a. JRB have capitalised the net income at 4.75% into
perpetuity and have then subtracted the purchase costs at 4.5% to give a capital value of
£128,705,132. In support of this, JRB has referred to 7 comparable student accommodation blocks.

Rent
4.18

We have analysed the evidence provided by JRB, please see our commentary below.
•

Highline Building, Steedman Street, Elephant & Castle – The Highline Building is a new
development let to the University of Arts London (UAL) exclusively for the UAL students. It is
located a 5 minute walk from Elephant and Castle which operates both the Bakerloo and
Northern lines in Zone 1. JRB have suggested that a standard en-suite is let on a 51 week

GL Hearn

Page 20 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 182

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

contract for £182pw and the studios are let on a 51 week contract for £232 pw. Our own
research suggests that the minimum rent for a room is £211 per week for a 13 sqm cluster
room whilst a premium room costs £219 pw. Studio rooms are approximately 25 sqm and are
being let for £272 per week.
•

Ewan Henderson Court, New Cross – Ewan Henderson Court is let to Kings College (KCL),
exclusively for Kings College students. It is located 0.1 miles north of New Cross station in
Zone 2. JRB have suggested that rent is £165 p.w. on a 40 week contract and £155 p.w. on
a 48 week contract. We have spoken to Kings College and they have confirmed that Ewan
Henderson Court will not be taking applicants for the 2019/20 academic year and that a new
pricing structure will be implemented for 2020/21 academic year. They would not confirm why
Ewan Henderson Court is not taking applicants for the 2019/20 academic year.

•

Angel Lane, Stratford – Angel Lane is let to KCL, exclusively for KCL students. It is located
0.1 miles south of Stratford train station and Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park. JRB have
suggested that an en suite costs £210 p.w. to rent over a 51 week contract. Our own research
suggests it costs £219 p.w. over a 51 week contract and a Studio costs £319 p.w. over a 51
week contract.

•

Bernard Myers House, Havil Street – Bernard Myers House is a development located in
Camberwell, just south of Burgess Park. It is now exclusively for the use of students from
Mountview Academy, although this appears to be a recent event as it was previously KCL
accommodation. The closest underground train station is Elephant and Castle, which is a 10
minute bus ride away. JRB suggest that an en suite to rent over a 40 week period costs £170
p.w. Our own research suggests that for the 2018/19 academic year an en suite costs £182
p.w.

•

Surrey House, 80 Lewisham Way, SE13 – Surrey House is let to Goldsmiths, exclusively
for Goldsmiths students. Surrey House is located in New Cross and is a 5 minute walk from
the Goldsmiths campus. JRB suggest that an en suite costs £207 p.w. to rent for the
academic year. Our own research suggests that an en suite does indeed cost £207.37 p.w.
and that a studio costs in the region of £213.60 to £298.18 p.w. Goldsmiths could not confirm
the size of the rooms or the period in which the tenancy covers.

•

Yara, Mercy Terrace, Ladywell – Yara is a private student accommodation company with 2
locations in Holland Park and Lewisham. Yara Lewisham is located 0.1 miles north of
Ladywell Station and is approximately 15 minutes’ walk to Lewisham. JRB suggest that over

GL Hearn

Page 21 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 183

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

a 51 week period a 14.25 sqm ensuite costs £192.50 p.w, a 17.25 sqm studio costs £205 p.w
and a 22.5 sqm studio costs £225 p.w, and we can confirm these prices are correct. Our own
research suggests there are 2 extra rooms to rent. The premium en suite is 23 sqm and is
available to rent for £205 p.w whilst the premium studio, with rooms ranging from 17.1 sqm
to 20.5 sqm, is available to rent for £215 p.w.
•

Chapter Living, Lewisham – Chapter Living in Lewisham is located 0.1 miles from
Lewisham train station. JRB suggest that a 13 sqm standard en suite costs £260 p.w, a 17
sqm studio costs £250 p.w, a 23 sqm studio costs £305 p.w and a 27 sqm studio costs £324
p.w. Our own research suggests that prices are sensitive depending on what floor the room
is located on and the figures provided by JRB represent the lowest price per week on offer.
9 sqm cluster rooms range from £199 pw (1st to 3rd floors) to £244 p.w (10-11th floor), 13 sqm
bronze en suite rooms range from £260 to £264 p.w, the 17 sqm bronze studio range from
£250 to £274 pw, the 23 sqm silver studio ranges from £305 to £329 p.w and finally the 27
gold studio ranges from £324 to £340 p.w.

4.19

The majority of the comparables provided are exclusively for the use of a specific university, either
by way of a nominations agreement or full lease. In such cases lower prices are often secured by a
university for their students in exchange for a guaranteed income stream. Conversely the direct let
model assumes a higher direct rent charge to individual tenants but at the owner’s risk. Accordingly
we have placed less weight on this evidence.

4.20

Yara is a direct let scheme it is located in Ladywell which is significantly less attractive location than
the subject. Services from Ladywell station only service Cannon Street and Charing Cross every 30
minutes. Yara is a full 15 minutes’ walk from the centre of Lewisham. Furthermore, the scheme
comprises only 92 units with limited facilities and height / views. This is reflected in the relatively low
weekly cost. Again we have placed less weight on this comparable.

4.21

Chapter Living is the best piece of available evidence. They have been operating for two and half
years. They have recorded a 98% take up rate for the 2018/19 academic year and expect to have the
same numbers for 2019/20 with only a moderate increase in pricing. As detailed above Chapter Living
have successfully applied higher rates for the same type of room as one moves up the building,
reflecting a premium for better light, views and noise (as one finds in sales of apartments within a
tower block). Chapter Living has rooms across 11 floors, whilst the subject development has student
accommodation across 36 floors. Arguably one could therefore expect the subject to achieve a higher
average room rate than Chapter Living. However, while some additional value may be achievable
there is likely to be a cap once sufficient light etc is achieved and therefore one cannot expect this

GL Hearn

Page 22 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 184

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

phenomenon to continue ad infinitum. While the rents for Chapter Living quoted by RJB reflect the
starting position on the lower floors the income adopted in their valuation of the subject is often
comparatively higher. On reflection we consider that, on balance, the adopted rental assumptions are
generally reasonable.
4.22

The one exception to this is the apparent discounting applied for the wheelchair units (“UA1” and
“UA2”. UA1 measures 31.5 sqm which is the same size as Studio Type 4. The latter is priced at £340
pw but the former circa 10% lower at £300 pw. We note that the Gold Studios at Chapter Living (27
sqm) are adaptable and no discount is applied. We have also discussed this issue with Student
specialists within GL Hearn and do not consider that such an adjustment is reasonable. We have
therefor, assumed UA1 at £340 pw. As UA2 measures 25 sqm, roughly sized between Studio Types
5 (£315 pw / 21.4 sqm) and 4 (£340 pw / 31 sqm), we have adopted a weekly rent of £325 pw.

4.23

Consequently we have adopted a total annual rent of £8,853,090 on a 51 week tenancy assumption.

Additional Income
4.24

It is not unusual for Student investment valuations to reflect additional income sources such as
laundry. Accordingly we have assumed sundry income of £75 per bed per annum totalling £50,250.

Voids and Management Costs
4.25

JRB have assumed 5% for voids and £2,800 per bed management costs. Combined this equates to
26.56% of their reported gross income. By way of comparator this is above assumed deductions for
Build to Rent developments at approximately 25% of gross income depending on the level of amenity.
Given that any student development (or “co-living” scheme) includes a higher proportion of units
relative to Build to Rent development with standard apartment sizes the many fixed management
costs are shared with a higher number of units.

4.26

Looking at the assumptions individually the void assumption is significantly higher than one would
normally assume, as evidenced by Chapter Living at 98% current occupancy. Notwithstanding this it
is recognised that the proposed scheme comprises a significant quantum of units and that achieving
a standard level of occupancy is less likely on a project of this scale. We have, therefore, adopted
JRB’s assumption.

GL Hearn

Page 23 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 185

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

4.27

A fixed management cost of £2,800 per bed is assumed. This is also higher than we would expect.
Clearly the proposed scheme will be delivered to a high specification. However, given the additional
scale one would expect there to be efficiencies of management. Having discussed the issue internally
we have assumed a rate of £2,400 per bed.

4.28

The above assumptions equate to approximately 23% of the adopted gross income.

Yield
4.29

JRB have provided a number of sales comparables in London. However, the majority were achieved
some years ago or only the overall price per bed is known. Unfortunately this reflects the limited
number of sole asset student investment transactions each year. We have carried out our own
research and found these sales transactions as detailed below:
•

Grosvenor House - Standard Life bought Grosvenor House on Covent Garden’s Dury Lane
for £68.8m in September 2018. GH Partnership, a joint venture between Stanhope and
Network Housing Group, sold the asset to Standard Life. Grosvenor House is within a 5
minute walk of LSE campus. It has 225 bed spaces in total. This deal equates to £305,778
per bed. However, the building is in a prime location in Covent Garden and is not an ideal
comparable to the subject scheme. The LSE lease runs for a further 9 years with a break in
2021. The rent is significantly reversionary and reflects the client’s investment strategy for
value-add assets within the sector. The purchase reflects a net initial yield of 2.5%.

•

Paul Street East – A 482 bed student accommodation scheme that completed in August
2015. The development is new build and high specification, located in Shoreditch. The
building is being marketed for £150m that reflects a 4% yield which is expected to rise to
4.25% following rental increases in the next academic year. Bidwells advised the building is
currently under offer and that the yield is 3.75%, which would reflect an offer of £170m. The
deal equates to £311,203 per bed.

•

Project River – In September 2016 GSA and GIC bought a portfolio of 7,150 bedspaces
(operational assets and in development) for £380m from Oaktree & Threesixty. The
acquisition comprised a portfolio of 10 operational student assets in Liverpool, Bristol, London,
Edinburgh, Cardiff and Southampton, 6 student development sites in Plymouth, Portsmouth,
Birmingham, Bournemouth and Cambridge and two PRS development sites. CBRE analysed
the transaction as showing a net initial yield of 5.32% over the ten operational assets with

GL Hearn

Page 24 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 186

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

20% of the portfolio weighted to Depot Point in London showing a NIY of 4.50%. The
remaining nine operational assets show a weighted average net initial yield of 5.50%.
4.30

Having considered the available evidence that JRB provided, the additional evidence we have
gathered, student market reports and discussions with investment specialists we consider that a
4.75% NIY is reasonable for a non-prime London direct let student investment.

Capital Value
4.31

Based upon the above assumptions we have arrived at a total capital value of £137,750,000 after the
deduction of purchaser's costs at 4.5%. This equates to a rate of circa £205,000 per unit.

Cost Assumptions
Build Costs
4.32

A Budget Cost Estimate has been prepared by Tide Construction to inform the viability assessment.
The potential prospect of the Bakerloo Line extension is reported to affect the site and subsequent
design with further allowance required for abnormal construction costs. Tide consider the additional
abnormal allowance required to be £2,045,000 to facilitate the Bakerloo Line extension.

4.33

GL Hearn has sub-instructed quantity surveyors Johnson Associates (JA) to review this on behalf of
the Council. The cost estimate for the proposed scheme, to include the Bakerloo Line extension works,
assumes a total cost of £102,324,000 (£319 psf).

4.34

A line by line review of the Applicant’s cost plan has been undertaken by Johnson Associates, which
can be found at Appendix B.

4.35

This concludes that the cost plan presented by the applicant is excessive and that the original
development proposals could be deliverable at a price of £99,180,000. This represents an overall
reduction in the order of £3,144,000, i.e. approximately 3.1%. A Summary of the differences is shown
below:

Demolition & Enabling
Substructure
Shell & Core

Tide Construction
£970,000
£5,034,000
£34,495,000

Johnson Associates
£970,000
£4,854,000
£32,387,000

GL Hearn

Page 25 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 187

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Finishes
Fixtures, Furnishing &
Equipment
MEPH & lifts
External Works
Measured Works Total
Preliminaries / Logistics (16.5%)
Overheads and Profit (5%)
Construction Total
(Excluding Abnormals)
Abnormal works associated with
Bakerloo line exclusion zone
Construction Total
(Including Abnormals)

4.36

£11,278,000

£11,167,000

£8,272,000

£8,272,000

£20,418,000
£1,688,000
£82,155,000
£13,395,000
£4,729,000

£20,418,000
£1,688,000
£79,756,000
£12,761,000
£4,626,000

£100,279,000

£97,143,000

£2,045,000

£2,037,000

£102,324,000

£99,180,000

Accordingly in our own appraisal we have adopted the reduced Johnson Associates total build cost
figure of £99,180,000 for the purposes of our modelling.

4.37

In addition to the above we understand that the costs have been prepared on a traditional build basis.
However, Officers are aware that a modular design construction programme is likely to be used.
Johnson Associates have considered the costs on this basis but do not consider there to be a saving
against the costs as reviewed. Indeed they comment that ‘In our experience the cost of the modular
approach is slightly higher than traditional even when taking into account the overall programme
saving (and related reduced time related preliminaries) but there is an overall saving in programme
which could be significant here subject to which academic year the scheme is being targeted for.’
Modular student housing unit costs are difficult to determine due to the limited data available on such
projects, particularly on schemes of this height. It is possible that Tide Construction’s unit costs could
offer some savings given the scale of their operation but the evidence is not available to justify this
view at the moment. We note from the applicant’s cashflow that no attempt has been made to suggest
that the student element will stand empty or be unlettable for a significant period of time. There may
be slight finance cost reductions in having a shorter build programme but this are likely to be counter
balanced by the increased construction costs. Clearly reducing the programme will add a buffer
between completion and the start of the academic year and thus reduce the project risk but this is not
possible to explicitly calculate on a financial basis and no additional risk adjustment has been added
by the applicant to reflect this based on a traditional build. Accordingly no adjustment has been made
on a modular build assumption.

GL Hearn

Page 26 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 188

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Professional Fees
4.38

JRB has assumed professional fees of 10% of construction costs which we consider reasonable and
have adopted in our own appraisal.

Marketing and Transactional fees
4.39

The following allowances have been made in JRB development appraisal;• Sale Agent Fee - 1.00%
• Sale Legal Fee - £40,000
• Purchaser Costs – standard rates

4.40

We consider that the agency fee and purchaser’s costs are reasonable. However, a legal fee of only
£40,000 is unlikely to be sufficient to undertake the conveyancing of the student investment,
affordable housing, and individual commercial units. We have, therefore, increased this to £150,000.

4.41

Furthermore, the individual commercial units are likely to be individually let before being sold as an
investment. Accordingly we have assumed a 10% letting fee and 5% letting legal fee. The costs of
letting the student accommodation is reflected in the management costs and therefore no additional
deductions should be applied.

Finance Costs
4.42

Finance costs have been assumed at a 7% debit rate. We consider this assumption to be higher than
we would expect for a development of this scale. We have adopted 6% debit rate together with a 2%
credit rate. The fact that the proposals could be forward funded through an early sale to an investor
could reduce this cost further.

CIL/S106
4.43

JRB has assumed a combined MCIL/CIL & S.106 cost of £4,100,000. No calculation or break down
has been provided to enable us to interrogate this figure. We have not been party to the discussions
between the Council but assume the above amounts to be correct and have adopted them for the
purposes of our modelling but recommend that these are verified by the Council as they could have

GL Hearn

Page 27 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 189

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

a material impact upon the viability of the scheme. We would recommend that the CIL calculations
are provided to the Council’s CIL Officer to a full review.

Developer’s Profit
4.44

JRB has adopted a developer’s profit 17.5% of Gross Development Cost (GDC) across the scheme
as a whole. Based upon their assumptions this equates to a blended profit on Gross Development
Value of 14.87% or an Internal Rate of Return (IRR) of 19.45%.

4.45

We would comment that the appropriate level of developer profit will vary from scheme to scheme.
Developer’s profit margin is determined by a range of factors including property market conditions,
individual characteristics of the scheme, comparable schemes and the development’s risk profile.
The market is extremely competitive in Lewisham with many developers active and a number of sites
currently under construction. Accordingly we would expect to see differing levels of profit applied to
certain elements of the scheme dependent on the risk profile.

4.46

In particular, the affordable element carries significantly less risk than the remainder of the proposals
as this can be forward sold/funded by a bulk sale to a Registered Provider. In line with other
assessments we have assumed a 6% on value profit assumption.

4.47

With respect to private commercial elements we would normally assume a 15% return on value being
broadly equivalent to 20% on cost. In this case a 15% return equates to approximately 17.5% on
cost. We note that the viability evidence base for the GLA’s Draft London Plan reports a typical target
return of 15-20% on cost for non-residential developments. Clearly the subject proposals, at 36
storeys in height, are a more complex and riskier venture than low rise commercial developments.
An adjustment to profit allowances to recognise risk is an established market practice which is also
recognised in the GLA’s viability assessment. The return for residential for sale schemes ranges from
15% on value for 2-5 story developments to 20% for schemes over 20 storeys in height. However,
Build to Rent developments range from 11% to 13% on value on the same steps. While the proposed
ground floor commercial units will be of limited demand until completed the student development
could be de-risked through a forward sale or forward funding arrangement much like many Built to
Rent developments. Likewise the viability assessment has been undertaken on the basis of an
assumed Direct Let student operation. Securing a lease or nominations agreement with a university
could further de-risk the development proposals. Considering the issues above we have adopted a
15% on value assumption.

GL Hearn

Page 28 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 190

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

4.48

The above assumptions results in a blended profit 16.01% on cost or 21.8% IRR which we consider
reasonable.
Summary Table

4.49

The table below provides a summary of the above analysis highlighting any areas of difference:

Assumption
Timescales –

JRB

GLH

Assumptions

Assumptions

4 months

6 months

Gross Student Income

£8,699,580

£8,853,090

Sundry Income

N/A

£75 per unit

Student Management Costs

@ £2,800 per unit

@ £2,400 per unit

Construction Costs

£102,324,000

£99,180,000

£40,000

£150,000

N/A

10%

N/A

5%

CIL / S106

£4,100,000

We have adopted the
amount assumed by the
Applicant but recommend
this is reviewed by the
Council.

Interest / Finance Costs

7% debit

6% debit / 2% credit

Developers Profit

17.5% on cost

Pre-Construction

(Inc. BLE abnormals)
Sales Legal Fees
Commercial Letting
Agency Fees
Commercial Letting
Legal Fees

6% on value (Affordable)
15% on value
(Commercial / Student)

5

INITIAL APPRAISALS & CONCLUSIONS – FEBRUARY 2019

5.1

Where our own market research has indicated that the inputs used have not been fully justified we
have sought to illustrate the potential impact on Residual Land Value. In this respect we have
undertaken our own residual appraisal using Argus Developer, which is a leading industry-standard
development appraisal package commonly used by developers and agents to assess development
viability.

GL Hearn

Page 29 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 191

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

5.2

Although this analysis does not constitute formal valuations under the provisions of the RICS
Valuation Standards (‘Red Book’) it does provide robust evidence to inform the Council’s decision
making process in respect of the applicants planning application.

5.3

In this instance we have been provided with a working appraisal by JRB for the development scenario.
This has enabled us to ensure the model has been constructed properly and the inputs are timed
correctly within the cashflow.

5.4

As has been highlighted in the summary table in the previous section there are a number of
assumptions adopted within the proposed appraisal which we are not in agreement with. Therefore
we have undertaken our own modelling applying our own assumptions which we believe to be more
reflective of the market.

5.5

Given the above we have undertaken sensitivity analysis making adjustments to;
• Benchmark Land Value
• Gross and Net Student Income
• Build Costs
• Sales Legal, Letting Legal and Letting Agency Fees
• Developers Profit / Risk Return

5.6

For now we have modelled the wholly private scheme which is inclusive of abnormal costs associated
with the Bakerloo Line extension in order to arrive at a surplus which can be transposed into affordable
housing at a later stage.

5.7

Furthermore, together with our cost advisors Johnson Associates, we have considered the proposed
modular construction method in terms of possible construction costs, programme, finance and risk
savings. We are satisfied that the approach and assumptions adopted, on a traditional build basis,
do not unfairly inflate these elements relative to a modular construction approach and therefore no
specific adjustments have been made on this basis.

Overall Summary & Conclusions
5.8

JRB has concluded that the provision of the proposed affordable housing is the maximum viable
provision. JRB has stated that the Applicant is happy to proceed despite the projected deficit of
£5,606,810.

GL Hearn

Page 30 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 192

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

5.9

We have undertaken a new appraisal which retains the applicant’s assumptions other than where we
have highlighted above that we consider they understate viability. Adopting our adjustments to the
elements detailed above we arrive at a Residual Land Value (RLV) of £13,010,752. This delivers a
surplus of £7,970,752 on the basis of the proposals and our adopted BLV of £5,040,000.

5.10

Clearly our analysis paints a very different viability picture when compared to JRB’s conclusions. Our
modelling indicates a significant surplus which could be transposed into an improved affordable
housing provision (such as a higher quantum of Social Rented units rather than Shared Ownership).
We would note, however, that this scheme is particularly sensitive to adjustments in the adopted
assumptions. Given this and the scale of the difference of opinion at this stage we have not sought
to translate the surplus identified into a specific affordable provision.

GL Hearn

Page 31 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 193

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

6

UPDATED VIABILITY – APRIL 2019

6.1

Following release of our initial draft report in February we received and reviewed a rebuttal letter
produced by JRB dated 11th March 2019. This sought to address a number of the areas of difference
highlighted in our initial report.

6.2

A number of points or queries were raised which are summarised below:
Benchmark Land Value
•

Date of Previous Assessment and change in the retail market during this time

•

Existing Use Value – appropriate yield and impact of vacant possession

•

Appropriate landowner premium

Proposed Scheme Assessment
•

Total Student rent

•

Sundry rents

•

Management costs

•

Construction Costs

•

Profit

•

CIL / S106 Contributions

GL Hearn provided a written response dated 9th April 2019 addressing these points which is included

6.3

as Appendix D. In the majority of cases we saw no reason to amend our position but we summarise
where changes to our assessment were made:
•

Sundry Rents – revised to £50 per student bed (£33,500 pa in total).

•

Management Costs – revised to £2,600 per student bed.

•

Construction Costs – revised by Johnson Associates to £98,002,000 (excl Bakerloo Line exclusion
works).
Revised Appraisal and Conclusions

6.4

Based upon the changes set out above (and our original assumptions) we have revised our appraisal.
This results in a Residual Land Value of approximately £9,770,000 and thus, against our Benchmark
Land Value of £5,040,000, a significant surplus is derived.

GL Hearn

Page 32 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 194

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

6.5

In order to maintain a Residual Land Value of least at £5,040,000 (the Benchmark Land Value) a
provision of 65x Social Rented units (76%) and 20x Shared Ownership units (24%) can be achieved.

7

UPDATED VIABILITY – MAY 2019

7.1

Following provision of our response in April a further letter was provided by JRB dated 16th April 2019.

7.2

It was reported by JRB that the Gross Internal Area (GIA) adopted within CAST’s cost plan is incorrect
and the total area now extends to 328,656 sqft. A full accommodation schedule has been provided.
Conversely it is stated that the Net Sales or Internal Areas (NSA/NIAs) remain the same but upon
interrogation this is not the case. A summary of the assumptions originally adopted by JRB / CAST
and now provided upon is set out below:

Type
Residential
Student
Commercial
Shared Space
TOTAL
7.3

Submitted
NIA / NSA (sqft)
GIA (sqft)
65,427
100,725
118,376
207,849
9,626
10,254
2,400
2,400
195,829
321,228

Revised
NIA / NSA (sqft)
GIA (sqft)
68,594
104,592
118,375
212,361
8,870
9,178
2,526
2,526
198,365
328,656

We have discussed the matter with the Council and following cross-check measurements undertaken
by Johnson Associates we have accepted the latest schedule.

7.4

Further responses were raised with respect to the following:
Benchmark Land Value
•

Date of Previous Assessment and change in the retail market during this time

•

Existing Use Value – appropriate yield and impact of vacant possession

•

Appropriate landowner premium

Proposed Scheme Assessment
•

Total Student rent

•

Management costs

•

Station Entrance Commercial Unit

•

Construction Costs

•

Profit

•

CIL / S106 Contributions

GL Hearn

Page 33 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 195

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

•

SDLT (Acquisition)

•

Finance Costs

7.5

GL Hearn provided a written response dated 13th May 2019 addressing these points which is
included as Appendix E. The majority of points raised repeat the arguments already made by JRB’s
previous response. Where we considered changes were appropriate we summarise these below:
•

Station Entrance Commercial Unit – removed from commercial revenue as will be required by TLF for
a new station. This is to be secured by S106 agreement.

•

SDLT (Acquisition) – correction to rate applied.

•

Finance Costs – increased to 6.5% interest.

Revised Appraisal and Conclusions
7.6

Based upon the changes set out above we have revised our appraisal based upon the original
submitted offer. This results in a Residual Land Value of approximately £7.13m. Thus, against our
Benchmark Land Value of £5,040,000, a significant surplus is still derived.

7.7

Notwithstanding JRB’s position on the assumptions adopted by GL Hearn the applicant has offered
to increase the proportion of Social Rented units within Block A to 50% by floor area. This represents
a small increase from the 40% originally submitted but is lower than that arrived at in our previous
response.

7.8

Based upon our revised assumptions we consider that 46x units (2nd to 10th floor inclusive plus a
1B2P and 2B3P on the 11th) could be provided as Social Rented units with the remainder provided
as Shared Ownership (39 x units). This equates to approximately 54% by both floor area and unit
number. An appraisal on this basis is appended resulting in a RLV of circa £5.08m and thus a small
surplus above the Benchmark.

GL Hearn

Page 34 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 196

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

8

AMENDED SCHEME – MAY 2019

8.1

The applicant has now proposed to amend the scheme to provide 758x student beds, of which an
additional 88x are to be Block A with the original 670x beds maintained in Block B. This results in a
reduction of the proposed C3 residential accommodation to 67 units. An internal connection between
the student cores is located at the 2nd floor level. The affordable provision is to comprise 76x
affordable student beds (included within the 670x in Block B) and a reported 20,336 sqft (NSA) of
Shared Ownership and 31,613 sqft (NSA) of Social Rented space respectively; approximately a
40%:60% split in favour of Social Rented. We understand that Officers conclude that this is a more
favourable option in planning terms.

8.2

An accommodation schedule has been separately provided which is summarised below.

Type
Residential (Block A)
Internal Playspace
Student (Block A)
Connection
Student (Block B)
Commercial
Shared Space
TOTAL

Amended Scheme
NIA / NSA
(sqft)
GIA (sqft)
50,406
72,032
1,001
1,044
13,688
32,377
700
721
118,375
212,361
8,567
9,022
2,526
2,526
195,263
330,083

JRB’s assessment of the Amended Scheme was included in their letter dated 16 th April 2019. Our

8.3

assessment is included within Appendix E. We summarise our findings below:
•

Private Student Values (Block B) – remains the same but only 594 rooms are to be provided for private
rent. As the precise mix of the affordable and student beds is unknown we have apportioned the value
based upon our previous assumptions resulting in a value of £119,245,500 (circa. £200,745 per unit).

•

Private Student Values (Block A) – as these units will be in separate block they will achieve a lower
rent and also be less attractive to investors. Accordingly we have adopted a value of £172,500 per
bed.

•

Affordable Student Values – we have accepted JRB’s values at £90,000 per unit.

•

Construction Costs – Johnson Associates who have advised that it would be appropriate to apply the
same blended cost rate of £305.09 psf and apply it to the GIA resulting in a total cost of £100,703,327
plus abnormal works and contingency allowance.

GL Hearn

Page 35 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 197

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

•

CIL – Given the amendments to the scheme we have undertaken a revised CIL calculation which
totals £3,689,117.

•

Profit – As the student affordable units will not be forward sold to a Registered Provider the risk savings
applicable to standard affordable housing are not applicable. Accordingly we have applied our 15%
on value assumption to these units. All other profit assumptions remain as set out previously (Student
and Commercial at 15% on value and Affordable Residential at 6% on value).

Amended Appraisal and Conclusions
8.4

Based upon the above assumptions we have appraised the amended scheme. This results in an RLV
of circa £3.07m and thus a deficit against the Benchmark Land Value is derived.

8.5

Accordingly, we consider the amended scheme and the proposed provision of 65 residential
apartments (60% Social Rent and 40% Shared Ownership) and 76x Affordable Student Beds to be
the maximum reasonable amount viable at the current time.

GL Hearn

Page 36 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 198

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Appendix A
Existing Use Valuation

GL Hearn

Page 37 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 199

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL

Existing Use Value
GIA sqm

GIA sqft

Retail Warehousing

1,083.61

11,664

Rent Passing
YP for

£psf
£25.72
6.0%

Rent
£300,000
3.8442

4.5 yrs @

£1,153,253

Market Rent
YP perp (deferred)

7.0 yrs @

£psf
£25.72
6.0%

Rent
£300,000
11.0843
£3,325,286
£4,478,539

less purchaser's costs of

£275,319
£4,203,220
SAY

£4,200,000
£

Page 200

360.08 psf

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Appendix B
Construction Cost Review

GL Hearn

Page 38 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 201

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Financial Summary

Ref

Description

Residential

Student

96,768 ft²
85 Units

199,726 ft²
670 Units

Basement

Retail/Commercial

14,467 ft²

10,269 ft² (GIA)
10,269 ft² (NIA)

£ / ft2 GIFA

£ / Unit

321,230 ft²

755 Units

JA Comments 12/02/19

Total

0

Demolition & Enabling

£292,000

£603,000

£44,000

£31,000

£970,000

£3 / ft2

£1,280 / Unit See comments within tabs.

1

Substructure

£998,000

£2,060,000

£1,690,000

£106,000

£4,854,000

£15 / ft2

£6,429 / Unit See comments within tabs.

2

Shell & Core

£10,130,000

£20,331,000

£835,000

£1,091,000

£32,387,000

£101 / ft2

£42,897 / Unit See comments within tabs.

3

Finishes

£3,133,000

£7,791,000

£200,000

£43,000

£11,167,000

£35 / ft2

£14,791 / Unit See comments within tabs.

4

Fixtures, Furnishing & Equipment

£1,189,000

£7,033,000

£50,000

£0

£8,272,000

£26 / ft2

£10,960 / Unit

5

MEPH & lifts

£5,743,000

£14,368,000

£277,000

£30,000

£20,418,000

£64 / ft2

£27,040 / Unit See comments within tabs.

6

External Works

£509,000

£1,050,000

£75,000

£54,000

£1,688,000

£5 / ft2

£2,240 / Unit See comments within tabs.

£21,994,000

£53,236,000

£3,171,000

£1,355,000

£79,756,000

£248 / ft2

Measured Works Total

Page 202

7

Professional Fees

8

Preliminaries / Logistics (16.5%)

£3,519,000

£8,518,000

£507,000

£217,000

£12,761,000

£40 / ft2

9

Overheads and Profit (5%)

£1,276,000

£3,088,000

£184,000

£79,000

£4,626,000

£14 / ft2

Excluded

10 Design Dev. Contingency

Excluded

11 Construction Contingency

Excluded

Construction Total (Excluding Abnormals)
12

£26,789,000

£64,842,000

Abnormals works associated with
Bakerloo line exclusion zone

Construction Total (Including Abnormals)
£ / ft2 NIA
£ / ft2 GIA
£ /Unit (Resi) / Bed (Student)

£105,637 / Unit

£3,862,000

£1,651,000

£2,037,000

£97,143,000

Assumes in appraisal

£302 / ft2 £128,666 / Unit
£6 / ft2
£309 / ft2

£64,842,000

£5,899,000

£1,651,000

£99,180,000

£417

£566

£0

£175

£528

£282

£336

£426

£164

£319

85 Units
£321,100

670 Beds
£100,300

£6,127 / Unit Acceptable

Assumes in appraisal

£2,037,000

£26,789,000

£16,902 / Unit 16% considered to be more
reflective of the current market.

JA Variance: £3,136,000

£2,698 / Unit See comments within tabs.
£131,364 / Unit

JA Variance: £3,144,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Bakerloo Line Tunnel Exclusion Zone Costs
Ref

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19
Significant works and BAPA operation will be required.

Site‐wide Substructure to be pro‐rated across site
Raft Slabs
Deduct Raft slabs

Page 203

0.1
0.2
0.3
0.4
1.10
1.11
1.12

400mm deep
600mm deep
1500mm deep
1750mm deep
2000mm deep
3075mm deep
3200mm deep

‐1 Item
226
293
61
57
1,308
60
104

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

£1,680,000

‐£1,680,000

£340
£500
£1,155
£1,365
£1,525
£2,310
£2,520

£77,000
£147,000
£70,000
£78,000
£1,995,000
£139,000
£262,000

Ok area of raft sleb omitted and transfer trpe slabs added back as
below.
Raft rates include excavation
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok

Transfer Beams
Beam 1
Beam 2
Capping Beam 2
Deduct capping beam 1

31
15
24
‐24

m
m
m
m

£3,750
£5,850
£3,750
£850

£116,000
£88,000
£90,000
‐£20,000

Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok

Retaining Walls
900mm diameter secant piled wall
Deduct 600mm diameter secant piled wall

11
‐11

m
m

£10,500
£7,350

£116,000
‐£81,000

Ok
Ok

Item

£275,000

£275,000

Ok

Allowance for temporary works associated with basement/transfer structures

1

Net Total

£1,672,000

Preliminaries / Logistics (16.5%)
Overheads and Profit (5%)

£268,000
£97,000

Total

£2,037,000

16% proposed as per Financial summary.

Rounded to nearest £1,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Demolition & Enabling Works
Ref

1

2
3

Brief / Specification
Structural Demolition:
Provisional allowance for strip out and structural demolition of existing
structure

Additional Items
Allowance for breaking out existing sub‐structure
Site clearance to remainder of site

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / Comments

1 Item

£775,000

£775,000 Ok

1 Item
636 m2

£165,000
£40

£165,000 Ok
£25,000 Ok

Page 204
Total

£970,000

Rounded to nearest £10,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Basement | Elemental Summary

Ref

Description

TOTAL

£/ft2

£/Unit

14,467 ft²

Units

Page 205

1

Substructure
Substructure & Groundworks

2
3
4
5
6

Shell & Core
Frame
Upper Floors
Roof
Stairs
External Walls, Windows & Doors

7
8
9

Base Build MEPH & Lifts
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)
Lifts

10
11
12
13
14

Basement Fit‐out Based Upon Target Cost/Sq.Ft.
Fit Out & Finishes
Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes

£75,000
£45,000
£25,000
£35,000
£20,000

£5
£3
£2
£2
£1

15
16

FF&E and Sanitaryware
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware

£50,000
£0

£3 / ft2
£ / ft2

17
18

Fit Out MEPH
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)

£269,000
£8,000

£19 / ft2
£1 / ft2

£527,000
£3,052,000

£36 / ft2
£211 / ft2

£1,690,000

£245,000
£450,000
£116,000
£24,000
£0

Total Shell & Core £

Total Fit Out £
TOTAL £
Cost / Ft2
Cost / Unit

£117 / ft2

£17
£31
£8
£2

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

£0
£0
£0

£ / ft2
£ / ft2
£ / ft2

£2,525,000

£175 / ft2

£ / Unit

£
£
£
£

/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit

£ / Unit

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

£ / Unit
£ / Unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019
BASEMENT SHELL & CORE
Ref
1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Basement Sub‐Structure

1.1

Excavation & Disposal

1.2

Extra over provision for disposal of hazardous material

6,543 m3

£75

£491,000

327 m3

£250

£82,000

1.3

Retaining structures to basement
450mm contig wall

41 m

£4,250

£174,000

1.4

600mm secant piled wall

105 m

£7,000

£735,000

1.5

Vertical waterproofing of basement

743 m2

£80

£59,000

1.6

Raft Slabs & Loadbearing Piling
Allowance for substructure based on measure within block A

1,344 m2

£111

£149,000

Sub‐Structure Total

2
2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8
2.9
2.10
2.11

3
3.1
3.2

4
4.1

5
5.1

Assumes clean inert.
£75 ie cart away £50 exc £25.
Based upon 5% of above

Rates reduced to those generally seen for this nature of work
(top end)
Rates reduced to those generally seen for this nature of work
(top end)
Ok

Ok

£1,690,000

Basement Frame
RC Walls; W1; 300mm
RC Walls; W2; 400mm
RC Walls; W3; 325mm
RC Walls; W4; 350mm
RC Walls; W5; 475mm
RC Walls; W6; 550mm
RC Walls; W7; 625mm
RC Walls; W8; 250mm
Column C2
Column C4
Column C5

102
173
58
67
86
45
10
7
1
4
6

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
Nr
Nr
Nr

£350
£420
£370
£385
£470
£500
£520
£320
£1,950
£2,150
£1,365

£36,000
£73,000
£21,000
£26,000
£40,000
£23,000
£5,000
£2,000
£2,000
£9,000
£8,000

Frame Total

£245,000

£250
£850

£363,000
£87,000

Upper Floors Total

£450,000

£80

£116,000

Roof Total

£116,000

£12,000

£24,000

Stairs Total

£24,000

Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok

Basement Upper Floors
Allowance for Upper floors to Basement
Caping Beam; CB1

1,450 m2
102 m

£250/m2 for upper floor should be suffucent.
Ok

Basement Roof
Allowance for waterproofing & insulation to basement slab

1,450 m2

Stairs to Basement
Allowance for stairs to basement

2 Flrs

Page 206

Allowance elsewhere

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A | Elemental Summary
Shell & Core
Ref

Description

Page 207

1

Substructure
Substructure & Groundworks

2
3
4
5
6

7
8
9

96,768 ft²
85 Units

Residential Fit Out
65,488 ft²
85 Units

Residential
Amenity

Landlord ‐ FoH

1,066 ft²

7,309 ft²

Landlord ‐ BoH
323 ft²

£998,000

£998,000

Shell & Core
Frame
Upper Floors
Roof
Stairs
External Walls, Windows & Doors

£764,000
£2,078,000
£296,000
£200,000
£6,792,000

Base Build MEPH & Lifts
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)
Lifts

£3,334,000
£100,000
£580,000

Total Shell & Core £

£15,142,000

£/ft2

£/Unit

96,768 ft²

85 Units

TOTAL

£10 / ft2

£11,740 / Unit

£764,000
£2,078,000
£296,000
£200,000
£6,792,000

£8
£21
£3
£2
£70

£8,990
£24,447
£3,482
£2,353
£79,906

£3,334,000
£100,000
£580,000

£34 / ft2
£1 / ft2
£6 / ft2

£39,220 / Unit
£1,180 / Unit
£6,820 / Unit

£156 / ft2

£178,141 / Unit

£0

£0

£0

£0

£15,142,000

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit

10
11
12
13
14

Fit Out & Finishes
Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes

£566,000
£394,000
£232,000
£491,000
£432,000

£9,000
£8,000
£1,000
£8,000
£5,000

£763,000
£43,000
£59,000
£64,000
£41,000

£3,000
£11,000
£1,000
£1,000
£1,000

£1,341,000
£456,000
£293,000
£564,000
£479,000

15
16

FF&E and Sanitaryware
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware

£681,000
£390,000

£20,000
£3,000

£50,000
£0

£45,000
£0

£796,000
£393,000

£8 / ft2
£4 / ft2

£9,360 / Unit
£4,620 / Unit

17
18

Fit Out MEPH
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)

£1,639,000
£49,000

£40,000
£1,000

Included in S&C

Included in S&C

£1,679,000
£50,000

£17 / ft2
£1 / ft2

£19,750 / Unit
£590 / Unit

£6,051,000
£21,193,000

£63 / ft2
£219 / ft2

£71,188 / Unit
£249,329 / Unit

Total Fit Out £
TOTAL £

£0
£15,481,000

£4,874,000
£4,874,000

£95,000
£95,000

£1,055,000
£1,055,000

£62,000
£62,000

Cost / Ft2
Cost / Unit

£160
£182,130

£74
£57,340

£89
£1,120

£144
£12,410

£192
£730

£14
£5
£3
£6
£5

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

£15,776
£5,360
£3,450
£6,640
£5,640

/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ Shell & Core
Ref
1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Sub‐Structure
Site‐wide Substructure to be pro‐rated across site

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5
1.6

Raft Slabs
1200mm raft to Block A footprint
1600mm raft to Block B footprint
600mm to remainder
Extra over allowance for waterproofing
Below slab drainage
Insulation

540 m2
561 m2
904 m2
2,005 m2
2,005 m2
1,256 m2

£950
£1,275
£500
£55
£80
£55

2,214 m2
17 Nr
220 Nr

£65
£2,600
£5,000

£513,000
£715,000
£452,000
£110,000
£160,000
£69,000

Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok

Raft Slab

1.70
1.71
1.72

Loadbearing Piling
Form pile mat
450mm diameter load bearing piles
750mm diameter load bearing piles

Total
Development GIA

£3,307,000
29,843 m2

Substructure £/m2

1

£144,000 Ok
£44,000 All in rates including mobilisation, testing attendances etc.
£1,100,000

£111

Sub‐Structure
Site‐wide Substructure to be pro‐rated across site

1.1

2
2.1

3
3.1
3.2

4

Allowance for sub‐structure;

8,990 m2

£111

£997,900

Sub‐Structure Total

£998,000

Frame
Allowance for Frame;

8,990 m2

£85

£764,200

Frame Total

£764,000

£225
£55,000

£2,023,000
£55,000

Upper Floors Total

£2,078,000

8,990 m2
1 Item

248 m2

4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7

Allowance for finish to terraces
Fit‐out of roof terraces
Allowance for PVs
Allowance for Maintenance System; assumes abseil points
Allowance for Mansafe system
Allowance for abseil davits

292 m2
1 Item
item
1 item
98 m
1 item

£200
£400
£50,000

£50,000 *Roof structure in Upper Floor Costs
£200 a fairly stndard rate for roof finishes
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok

£30,000
£200
£30,000

£116,600
£50,000
Included
£30,000
£19,600
£30,000

Roof Total

£296,000

Stairs
Allowance for Stairs;

20 Flrs

£10,000

Stairs Total

6

£225/m2 for upper floor construction should be sufficient
Ok

Roof
Allowance for Roof Finishes

5.1

Ok

Upper Floors
Allowance for Upper Floors;
Provisional allowance for transfer beams to 1st/2nd floor

4.1

5

*Based on GIA

£200,000 £10,000 per flight for stairs, handrail amd ballustarte should be
sufficient (normal rance £8,000‐£10,000).
£200,000

External Walls, Windows & Doors

6.1

Solid Finishes
Allowance for dark multi stock grey brickslip on SFS backing;

1,900 m2

£680

£1,292,000 Rates adjusted Taylor Maxwell Corium system or similar. Rate
including revewls £680/m2.

6.2

Allowance for bronze coloured metal cladding; PPC aluminium

1,960 m2

£750

£1,470,000

6.3

Glazed Finishes
Allowance for Glazed finishes to façade;

2,680 m2

£850

£2,278,000 Curtain walling smeiunitised / unitised range £750 ‐ £1000/m2

6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7

External Doors
Allowance for main entrance door
Allowance for secondary entrance doors
Allowance for balcony doors
Allowance for plant / BoH doors

Additional Items
6.8 Allowance for winter gardens
6.10 Extra over parapets to upper levels
6.11 Full Height glazed screen to terraces

7
7.1
7.2

1 nr
4 nr
nr
2 nr

£40,000
£10,000
£3,000

£40,000
£40,000
£0
£6,000

84 nr.
119 m
69 m

£15,750
£1,575
£2,250

£1,323,000
£187,400
£155,300

Façade Total

£6,792,000

Ok
Ok
Included
Ok

Ok
Ok
Ok

Lifts
Allowance for lifts; 20 stops
Allowance for lifts; 18 stops

2 Nr.
1 Nr

£200,000
£180,000

£400,000 20 Nr. Stops / Lift
£180,000 18 Nr. Stops / Lift

Lifts Total

£580,000

Page 208

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ Landlord Front of House
Ref
1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Residential Party Walls
Plasterboard party walls to Studio apartments
Plasterboard party walls to 1 Bed apartments
Plasterboard party walls to 2 Bed apartments
Plasterboard party walls to 3 Bed apartments

0
432
884
450

1.5

Plasterbaord to FoH Landlord Areas
Plasterboard liner walls to stair cores

500 m

2.1
2.2

3
3.1
3.2
3.3

4
4.1
4.2
4.3

5
5.1
5.2
5.3

6
6.1
6.2
6.3

7
7.1

8
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Internal Walls

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4

2

Rate

m
m
m
m

£350
£350
£350
£350

£0
£151,000
£309,000
£158,000

£350/m2 for pw should be sufficient.
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto

Ok

£290

£145,000

Internal Walls Total

£763,000

£2,150

£43,000
£0

Internal Doors Total

£43,000

Internal Doors
Single Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)
Double Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)

20 Nr
4 Nr

Ok
Ok

Wall Finishes
Paint Finishes to Residential Party Walls
Paint Finish to Landlord FoH
E/O allowance for GF entrance

6,458 m2
0 m2
1 Item

£8
£8
£7,500

£51,700
£0
£7,500

Wall Finsihes Total

£59,000

£30
£40
£200

£20,400
£27,200
£16,200

Floor Finishes Total

£64,000

£50
£9
£15

£34,000
£6,100
£1,200

Ceiling Finishes Total

£41,000

Ok
Ok
Allowance for feature wall

Floor Finishes
Allowance for sub‐strate to floor; latex / underlay
Allowance for floor finish; carpet
E/O allowance for GF entrance

679 m2
679 m2
81 m2

Ok
Ok
Ok

Ceiling Finishes
Ceiling to Landlord FoH Corridors & Stair Cores; Plasterboard
Finish to Landlord FoH Ceilings; Paint
E/O Allowance for enhanced finish to GF entrance

679 m2
679 m2
81 m2

Ok
Ok
Ok

Fixtures, Furniture & Equipment
Allowance for letterboxes to all units
Allowance for reception desk / entrance joinery
Allowance for general signage

85 nr
1 Item
8,990 m2

£150
£10,000
£3

£12,800
£10,000
£27,000

FF&E Total

£50,000

Ok
Ok
Ok

Sanitaryware
N/A

Allowance Communal / Landlord Bathrooms
Sanitaryware Total

£0

£33,500
£2,847,500
£2,890,200
£2,976,900

£2,847,500
£42,700
£86,700
£357,200

Sub‐Total

£3,334,000

Shell & Core Fit Out Total

£4,354,000

None shown, assumes not required

MEPH
Allowance for landlords base fit; residential
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

85
1.5
3
12

nr
%
%
%

Page 209

Ok
Ok
Ok
Ok

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ Landlord Back of House
Ref
1
1.1

2
2.1
2.2

3
3.1

4
4.1

5
5.1

6
6.1
6.2
6.3

7
7.1

8
8.1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Internal Walls
Allowance for partitions to BoH; assumes blockwork

11 m

£315

£3,300

Sub‐Total

£3,000

£2,250

£11,300
£0

Sub‐Total

£11,000

£15

£700

Sub‐Total

£1,000

£20

£600

Sub‐Total

£1,000

£15

£500

Sub‐Total

£1,000

£350
£7,500

£44,800
Excluded
Excluded

Sub‐Total

£45,000

Sub‐Total

£0

Ok

Internal Doors
Single Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)
Double Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)

5 Nr
Nr

Ok
Ok

Wall Finishes
Paint & Sealer to Blockwork Partitions

45 m2

Ok

Floor Finishes
Allowance for paint and sealer to floor finsih;

30 m2

Ok

Ceiling Finishes
Allowance for paint and sealer to exposed soffits

30 m2

Ok

Fixtures, Furniture & Equipment
Bike Stands
Refuse Chutes
Allowance BMU

128 nr
Flrs

*Assumes 1.5 per unit

Sanitaryware
Allowance for sanitaryware to BoH

MEPH
Allowance for MEPH & Services to BoH

Included

Sub‐Total

£0

Shell & Core Fit Out Total

£62,000

Page 210

Included in base build fit out

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ Rersidential Fit Out Summary
Studio

Description

£/Unit

Nr.

Studio (Accessible)
Total

£/Unit

Nr.

1 Bed 2 Person
Total

£/Unit

1
2
3
4
5
6

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

0
0
0
0
0
0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

0
0
0
0
0
0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

7

Sanitaryware

£0

0

£0

£0

0

8

MEPH Services

£0

0

£0

£0

0

£0

£0

TOTAL

2 Bed 3 Person

Description

Page 211

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

£/Unit

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware
MEPH Services
TOTAL

£6,000
£5,400
£2,800
£5,400
£4,600
£11,700
£3,800
£21,100

4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4

£/Unit

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware
MEPH Services

2 Nr.

£8,300
£6,800
£3,100
£8,000
£6,900
£11,600
£3,800
£25,800

13 Nr.

£24,000
£21,600
£11,200
£21,600
£18,400
£46,800
£15,200
£84,400

£6,000
£4,200
£2,200
£5,000
£4,600
£7,500
£3,300
£18,700

£243,200

£51,500

2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

£74,300

£/Unit

13 Nr.

£16,600
£13,600
£6,200
£16,000
£13,800
£23,200
£7,600
£51,600

£8,300
£5,400
£2,500
£7,400
£6,900
£8,800
£3,300
£23,400

£148,600

£66,000

(Other T1)

Description

£/Unit

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware
MEPH Services
TOTAL

Nr.
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0

£3,800

3

£0

£19,900

3

£0

£50,700

7 Nr.

£78,000
£54,600
£28,600
£65,000
£59,800
£97,500
£42,900
£243,100

£7,400
£6,100
£2,800
£6,400
£5,300
£9,800
£7,100
£21,100

£669,500

£66,000

13
13
13
13
13
13
13
13

£/Unit
£107,900
£70,200
£32,500
£96,200
£89,700
£114,400
£42,900
£304,200

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£858,000

£0

£/Unit

Nr.

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0

£0

Total
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£64,500
£45,000
£30,000
£66,000
£54,000
£94,500

£3,300

15

£59,700

£15,000

15

£152,100

£41,900

£628,500

£56,770

£/Unit

28 Nr.

£51,800
£42,700
£19,600
£44,800
£37,100
£68,600
£49,700
£147,700

£7,500
£4,800
£3,500
£6,000
£5,300
£7,500
£6,100
£18,700

£462,000

£59,400

£49,500

£4,590

85

£390,000

£225,000

£19,280

85

£1,639,000

£210,000
£134,400
£98,000
£168,000
£148,400
£210,000
£170,800
£523,600
£1,663,200

3 Bed 6 Person (Affordable)
Total

£/Unit

Nr.

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0

£0

Total
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total
85
85
85
85
85
85

Total
28
28
28
28
28
28
28
28

85 Nr.

£6,660
£4,640
£2,730
£5,780
£5,080
£8,010

2 Bed 4 Person (Affordable)

7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£/Unit

£11,400

Total

Nr.

TOTALS

Total
15
15
15
15
15
15

3 Bed 6 Person

Total

15 Nr.

£4,300
£3,000
£2,000
£4,400
£3,600
£6,300

2 Bed 4 Person
£/Unit

(Other T2)
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£13,200
£12,000
£5,400
£13,800
£10,800
£25,800

3 Bed 5 Person (Affordable)
Total

£/Unit

3
3
3
3
3
3

Total
13
13
13
13
13
13
13
13

1 Bed 2 Person (Affordable)
Total

£4,400
£4,000
£1,800
£4,600
£3,600
£8,600

2 Bed 3 Person (Affordable)
Total

£60,800

£/Unit

TOTAL

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

4 Nr.

3 Bed 5 Person

Description

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

£0

3 Nr.

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£566,000
£394,000
£232,000
£491,000
£432,000
£681,000

£4,825,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 1B2P Fit Out
One Bed Two Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 212

Ref

Description

54
5
7
14
28

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1

Quantity

1

Unit

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

5 m
5 m

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

8 m

Rate

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

nr
nr
nr
nr

nr.
nr.
nr.

Notes

£265
£265

£1,330
£1,330

£210

£1,700
Included

0 m

1
1
1
2

m

Total

£0

Elemental Total

02

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

£1,100
£700
£700
£750

Elemental Total

£4,400

£1,100
£700
£700
£1,500
£0

£4,000

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 1B2P Fit Out
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

70
10
0
5

m2
m2
m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£80
£80
£80

Elemental Total

Notes

£560
£800
£0
£400

£1,800

Page 213

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

49 m2
5 m2

£30
£30

£1,470
£150

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to utility cupboard; engineered timber boards
Floor Finish to bedrooms; carpet
Floor finish to utility cupboard; engineered timber boards
Floor finish to utility cupboard; engineered timber boards

5
7
14
28
0

£90
£50
£35
£50
£50

£450
£350
£490
£1,400
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

18 m

£15

£270

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

Assumes 50%
Assumes 50%

£4,600

(Thin Screed, no allowance for under floor heating)

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 1B2P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

49 m2
5 m2

£50
£55

£2,450
£280

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

54 m2

£9

£490

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£400

1 nr

Page 214

Elemental Total

£3,600

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

6

Specialist Joinery:
(N / A)

£0

7

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

£0

1 nr

£6,500

£6,500

1.5 m
1 item

£350
£1,500

£530
£1,500
Excluded
£110

2 m

£75

Elemental Total

£8,600

Includes doors
Assumes client direct

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 1B2P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

0 nr

Rate

Total

£3,750

Page 215

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

£3,750

£0

Elemental Total

08

Notes

£3,800

1 nr

£17,000

£17,000

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£17,000
£17,260
£17,780

£260
£520
£2,130

Elemental Total

£19,900

Apartment Fit Out Total

£50,700

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1B2P Fit Out (Affordable)
One Bed Two Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 216

Ref

Description

54
5
7
14
28

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1

Quantity

1

Unit

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

5 m
5 m

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

8 m

Rate

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

6

E/O allowance for wider doorsets for Accessible Units

nr
nr
nr
nr

nr.
nr.
nr.

Notes

£265
£265

£1,300
£1,300

£210

£1,700
Included

0 m

1
1
1
1

m

Total

£0

Elemental Total

02

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

£1,000
£600
£600
£750

Elemental Total

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£4,300

£1,000
£600
£600
£800
£0

£3,000

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1B2P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

70 m2
20 m2
0 m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£70
£70
£70

Elemental Total

Notes

£600
£1,400
£0
£0

£2,000

Page 217

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

49 m2
5 m2

£30
£30

£1,500
£200

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor Finish to bedrooms; carpet
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl

5
7
14
28
0

£70
£45
£30
£45
£45

£400
£300
£400
£1,300
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

18 m

£15

£300

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

£4,400

Assumes 100%
Assumes 100%

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1B2P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

49 m2
5 m2

£50
£55

£2,400
£300

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

54 m2

£9

£500

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£400

1 nr

Page 218

Elemental Total

£3,600

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

£4,500

£4,500

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard fit out
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

2
1
1
2

£300
£1,000

£600
£1,000
Excluded
£200

6

Specialist Joinery:
E/O Allowance for lower accessible units and white goods to kitchen

1 item

7

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

m
item
item
m

£75

£0

£0

Elemental Total

£6,300

Excludes appliances

Assumes 1 per unit
Assumes client direct

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1B2P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

£3,250

£3,300

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

0 nr

£2,750

£0

3
4

Elemental Total

Page 219

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

£3,300

1 nr

£15,000

£15,000

%
%
%

£16,000
£16,240
£16,730

£0
£0
£0

Elemental Total

£15,000

Apartment Fit Out Total

£41,900

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out
Two Bed Three Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 220

Ref

Description

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

63
5
9
21
28

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1

Quantity

2

Unit

10 m
5 m

Rate

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

1
2
2
2

nr
nr
nr
nr

nr.
nr.
nr.

Notes

£265
£265

£2,700
£1,300

£210

£2,000
Included

£0

Elemental Total

02

m

Total

0 m
9 m

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

£1,100
£700
£700
£750

Elemental Total

£6,000

£1,100
£1,400
£1,400
£1,500
£0

£5,400

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

99
20
0
5

m2
m2
m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£80
£80
£80

Elemental Total

Notes

£800
£1,600
£0
£400

£2,800

Page 221

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

58 m2
5 m2

£30
£30

£1,700
£200

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to kitchens; engineered timber boards
Floor Finish to bedrooms; carpet
Floor Finish to living space; engineered timber boards
Floor finish to utility cupboard; engineered timber boards

5
9
21
28
0

£90
£50
£35
£50
£50

£500
£500
£700
£1,400
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

24 m

£15

£400

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

£5,400

Assumes 100%
Assumes 100%

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

58 m2
5 m2

£50
£55

£2,900
£300

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

63 m2

£9

£600

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£800

2 nr

Page 222

Elemental Total

£4,600

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

£7,000

£7,000

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard fit out
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

4
2
1
4

£350
£1,500

£1,400
£3,000
£0
£300

6

Specialist Joinery:
(N / A)

£0

7

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

£0

m
item
item
m

£75

Elemental Total

£11,700

0.0

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

£3,750

£3,800

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

0 nr

£3,250

£0

Elemental Total

Page 223

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

£3,800

1 nr

£18,000

£18,000

1.5 %
3 %
12 %

£18,000
£18,300
£18,800

£300
£500
£2,300

Elemental Total

£21,100

Apartment Fit Out Total

£60,800

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out (Affordable)
Two Bed Three Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 224

Ref

Description

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

63
5
9
21
28

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1

Quantity

2

Unit

10 m
5 m

Rate

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

6

E/O allowance for wider doorsets for Accessible Units

m
nr.
nr.
nr.

Total

£265
£265

Notes

£2,700
£1,300

0 m

£265

£0

9 m

£210

£2,000
Included

Elemental Total

02

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

1
2
2
1

nr
nr
nr
nr

£1,000
£600
£600
£750

Elemental Total

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£6,000

£1,000
£1,200
£1,200
£800
£0

£4,200

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

99 m2
20 m2
0 m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£70
£70
£70

Elemental Total

Notes

£800
£1,400
£0
£0

£2,200

Page 225

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

58 m2
5 m2

£30
£30

£1,700
£200

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor Finish to bedrooms; carpet
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl

5
9
21
28
0

£70
£45
£30
£45
£45

£400
£400
£600
£1,300
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

24 m

£15

£400

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

£5,000

Assumes 100%
Assumes 100%

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

58 m2
5 m2

£50
£55

£2,900
£300

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

63 m2

£9

£600

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£800

2 nr

Page 226

Elemental Total

£4,600

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

£5,000

£5,000

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard fit out
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

4
1
1
4

£300
£1,000

£1,200
£1,000
£0
£300

1

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

m
item
item
m

£75

£0

Elemental Total

£7,500

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B3P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

£3,250

£3,300

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

0 nr

£2,750

£0

Elemental Total

Page 227

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

£3,300

1 nr

£16,000

£16,000

1.5 %
3 %
12 %

£16,000
£16,200
£16,700

£200
£500
£2,000

Elemental Total

£18,700

Apartment Fit Out Total

£51,500

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 2B4P Fit Out
Two Bed Four Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 228

Ref

Description

75
9
8
24
34

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1
1
2

Quantity

Unit

Rate

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m
nr.
nr.
nr.

Total

Notes

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

10 m
5 m

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

4 m

£265

£1,060

11 m

£210

£2,350
Included

£265
£265

Elemental Total

02

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

1
2
3
2

nr
nr
nr
nr

£1,100
£700
£700
£750

Elemental Total

£2,650
£1,330

£7,400

£1,100
£1,400
£2,100
£1,500
£0

£6,100

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 2B4P Fit Out
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

123
10
8
5

m2
m2
m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£80
£80
£80

Elemental Total

Notes

£980
£800
£600
£400

£2,800

Page 229

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

66 m2
9 m2

£30
£30

£1,970
£270

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl sheets
Floor Finish to bedrooms; timber effect vinyl sheets
Floor Finish to living space; timber effect vinyl sheets
Floor finish to utility cupboard; timber effect vinyl sheets

9
8
24
34
0

£90
£50
£35
£50
£50

£810
£400
£840
£1,690
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

30 m

£15

£450

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

Assumes 50%
Assumes 50%

£6,400

(Thin Screed, no allowance for under floor heating)

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 2B4P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

66 m2
9 m2

£50
£55

£3,290
£500

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

75 m2

£9

£670

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£800

2 nr

Page 230

Elemental Total

£5,300

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard fit out
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

6

Specialist Joinery:
(N / A)

£0

7

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

£0

1 nr

£7,000

£7,000

3.0 m
1 item

£350
£1,500

£1,050
£1,500
Excluded
£230

3 m

£75

Elemental Total

£9,800

Assumes client direct

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 2B4P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

£3,750

£3,750

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

1 nr

£3,250

£3,300

Elemental Total

Page 231

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

£7,100

1 nr

£18,000

£18,000

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£18,000
£18,270
£18,820

£270
£550
£2,260

Elemental Total

£21,100

Apartment Fit Out Total

£66,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B4P Fit Out (Affordable)
Two Bed Four Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 232

Ref

Description

75
9
8
24
34

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1
1
2

Quantity

Unit

Rate

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m
nr.
nr.
nr.

Total

Notes

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

10 m
5 m

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

4 m

£265

£1,100

11 m

£210

£2,400
Included

£265
£265

Elemental Total

02

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

6

E/O allowance for wider doorsets for Accessible Units

1
2
3
1

nr
nr
nr
nr

£1,000
£600
£600
£750

Elemental Total

£2,700
£1,300

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£7,500

£1,000
£1,200
£1,800
£800
£0

£4,800

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B4P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

123 m2
20 m2
15 m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£70
£70
£70

Elemental Total

Notes

£1,000
£1,400
£1,100
£0

£3,500

Page 233

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

66 m2
9 m2

£30
£30

£2,000
£300

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor Finish to bedrooms; carpet
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl

9
8
24
34
0

£70
£45
£30
£45
£45

£600
£400
£700
£1,500
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

30 m

£15

£500

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

£6,000

Assumes 100%
Assumes 100%

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B4P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

66 m2
9 m2

£50
£55

£3,300
£500

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

75 m2

£9

£700

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£800

2 nr

Page 234

Elemental Total

£5,300

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

£5,000

£5,000

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard fit out
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

4
1
1
4

£300
£1,000

£1,200
£1,000
£0
£300

1

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

m
item
item
m

£75

£0

Elemental Total

£7,500

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2B4P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

£3,250

£3,300

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

1 nr

£2,750

£2,800

3
4

Accessible Bathrooms
E/O allowance for accessible bathrooms
E/O allowance for accessible ensuites

1 nr

£0

Elemental Total

Page 235

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

£6,100

1 nr

£16,000

£16,000

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£16,000
£16,200
£16,700

£200
£500
£2,000

Elemental Total

£18,700

Apartment Fit Out Total

£59,400

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 3B5P Fit Out
Three Bed Five Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 236

Ref

Description

95
5
8
33
49

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1
0
3

Quantity

Unit

Rate

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m
nr.
nr.
nr.

Total

Notes

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

15 m
5 m

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

0 m

£265

£0

14 m

£210

£3,000
Included

£265
£265

Elemental Total

02

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

1
3
3
2

nr
nr
nr
nr

£1,100
£700
£700
£750

Elemental Total

£4,000
£1,300

£8,300

£1,100
£2,100
£2,100
£1,500
£0

£6,800

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 3B5P Fit Out
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

136
20
0
5

m2
m2
m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£80
£80
£80

Elemental Total

Notes

£1,100
£1,600
£0
£400

£3,100

Page 237

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

90 m2
5 m2

£30
£30

£2,700
£200

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to kitchens; engineered timber boards
Floor Finish to bedrooms; carpet
Floor Finish to living space; engineered timber boards
Floor finish to utility cupboard; engineered timber boards

5
8
33
49
0

£90
£50
£35
£50
£50

£500
£400
£1,200
£2,500
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

34 m

£15

£500

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

£8,000

Assumes 100%
Assumes 100%

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 3B5P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

90 m2
5 m2

£50
£55

£4,500
£300

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

95 m2

£9

£900

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£1,200

3 nr

Page 238

Elemental Total

£6,900

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

£7,500

£7,500

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard fit out
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

6
1
1
6

£350
£1,500

£2,100
£1,500
£0
£500

6

Specialist Joinery:
(N / A)

£0

7

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

£0

m
item
item
m

£75

Elemental Total

£11,600

Includes doors

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ 3B5P Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

£3,750

£3,800

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

0 nr

£3,250

£0

Elemental Total

Page 239

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

£3,800

1 nr

£22,000

£22,000

2 %
3 %
12 %

£22,000
£22,300
£23,000

£300
£700
£2,800

Elemental Total

£25,800

Apartment Fit Out Total

£74,300

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 3B5P Fit Out (Affordable)
Three Bed Five Person Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Apartment Area:
Area of Bathrooms & Ensuites:
Area of Kitchen:
Area of Bedrooms:
Area of Living Space:
Area of Utility Cupboard:

Page 240

Ref

Description

95
5
8
33
49

Floor to Ceiling Height:

2.500

Number of Bathrooms:
Number of En‐suites:
Number of Bedrooms:

1
0
3

Quantity

Unit

Rate

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m2
m
nr.
nr.
nr.

Total

Notes

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; bathrooms

15 m
5 m

3
4
5

Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

0 m

£265

£0

14 m

£210

£3,000
Included

£265
£265

Elemental Total

02

Internal Doors

1
2
3
4
5

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bedroom door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery
Other Internal door including ironmongery

6

E/O allowance for wider doorsets for Accessible Units

1
3
3
1

nr
nr
nr
nr

£1,000
£600
£600
£750

Elemental Total

£4,000
£1,300

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£8,300

£1,000
£1,800
£1,800
£800
£0

£5,400

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 3B5P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3
4

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to bathroom walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

136 m2
20 m2
0 m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8
£70
£70
£70

Elemental Total

Notes

£1,100
£1,400
£0
£0

£2,500

Page 241

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

90 m2
5 m2

£30
£30

£2,700
£200

3
4
5
6
7

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor Finish to bedrooms; carpet
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl

5
8
33
49
0

£70
£45
£30
£45
£45

£400
£400
£1,000
£2,200
£0

8

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

34 m

£15

£500

m2
m2
m2
m2
m2

Elemental Total

£7,400

Assumes 100%
Assumes 100%

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 3B5P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

90 m2
5 m2

£50
£55

£4,500
£300

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

95 m2

£9

£900

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£1,200

3 nr

Page 242

Elemental Total

£6,900

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

£5,500

£5,500

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for utility cupboard fit out
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

6
1
1
6

£300
£1,000

£1,800
£1,000
£0
£500

1

Loose FF&E:
(N / A)

m
item
item
m

£75

£0

Elemental Total

£8,800

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 3B5P Fit Out (Affordable)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

07

Sanitaryware

1

Main Bathrooms:
Allowance for bathroom suites;

1 nr

£3,250

£3,300

2

Secondary Bathrooms:
Allowance for en‐suites;

0 nr

£2,750

£0

Elemental Total

Page 243

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

£3,300

1 nr

£20,000

£20,000

1.50 %
3.00 %
12.00 %

£20,000
£20,300
£20,900

£300
£600
£2,500

Elemental Total

£23,400

Apartment Fit Out Total

£66,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ Amenity Fit Out
Ref
1
1.1
1.2

2
2.1
2.2

Brief / Specification

3.1
3.2
3.3

4
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / Comments

Internal Walls
Plasterboard Partitions
Blockwork Walls

35 m

£250

£8,700

Internal Wall Total

£9,000

£2,000

£8,000

Internal Doors Total

£8,000

Internal Doors
Single Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)
Double Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)

Page 244
3

Qty

4 Nr

Wall Finishes
Allowance for paint finish
E/O Allowance for tiling to bathrooms
E/O allowance for enhanced finishes

147 m2
m2
item

£8

£1,200
£0
£0

Wall Finishes Total

£1,000

£30
£50

£3,000
£5,000
£0
£0

Floor Finishes Total

£8,000

Floor Finishes
Allowance for sub‐strate to floor;
Allowance for floor finish;
Allowance for floor finishes to WCs;
E/O allowance for enhanced finsihes

99 m2
99 m2
m2
item

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block A ‐ Amenity Fit Out
Ref
5
5.1
5.2
5.3

6

Page 245

6.1

7
7.1

8
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / Comments

Ceiling Finishes
Allowance for plasterboard ceiling;
Allowance for paint to plasterboard ceiling;
E/O allowance for enhanced finsihes;

99 m2
99 m2
item

£45
£8

£4,500
£800
£0

Ceiling Finshes Total

£5,000

Fixtures, Furniture & Equipment
Allowance for FF&E;

1 Item

£20,000

£20,000

FF&E Total

£20,000

£2,500

£2,500

Sanitaryware Total

£3,000

£350
£34,700
£35,700
£36,800

£34,700
£1,000
£1,100
£3,300

MEPH Total

£40,000

Amenity Total Fit Out Cost

£94,000

Provisional allowance

Sanitaryware
Allowance for Sanitaryware;

1 Item

MEPH
Allowance for fit out to Amenity Space
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

99
3
3
9

m2
%
%
%

Provisinal allowance

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B | Elemental Summary
Shell & Core
Ref

Description

199,726 ft²
670 Beds

Page 246

1

Substructure
Substructure & Groundworks

2
3
4
5
6

Shell & Core
Frame
Upper Floors
Roof
Stairs
External Walls, Windows & Doors

7
8
9

Base Build MEPH & Lifts
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)
Lifts
Total Shell & Core £

Room Fit Out

Kitchen Fit Out

118,609 ft²
670 Beds

7,180 ft²
29 Kitchens

Student Amenity

Landlord ‐ FoH

Landlord ‐ BoH

£/ft2

£/Unit

199,726 ft²

670 Units

TOTAL
5,673 ft²

49,159 ft²

194 ft²

£2,060,000

£2,060,000

£1,577,000
£4,275,000
£275,000
£350,000
£13,854,000

£1,577,000
£4,275,000
£275,000
£350,000
£13,854,000

£8,630,000
£259,000
£930,000

£8,630,000
£259,000
£930,000

£43 / ft2
£1 / ft2
£5 / ft2

£12,880 / Unit
£390 / Unit
£1,390 / Unit

£161 / ft2

£48,075 / Unit

£32,210,000

£0

£0

£0

£0

£32,210,000

£10 / ft2

£8
£21
£1
£2
£69

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

£3,070 / Unit

£2,354
£6,380
£410
£522
£20,678

/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit

10
11
12
13
14

Fit Out & Finishes
Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes

£788,000
£1,675,000
£173,000
£938,000
£899,000

£87,000
£44,000
£32,000
£58,000
£46,000

£47,000
£85,000
£79,000
£106,000
£59,000

£1,601,000
£226,000
£188,000
£363,000
£290,000

£2,000
£5,000
£0
£0
£0

£2,525,000
£2,035,000
£472,000
£1,465,000
£1,294,000

£13
£10
£2
£7
£6

15
16

FF&E and Sanitaryware
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware

£2,711,000
£3,350,000

£421,000
£0

£250,000
£28,000

£139,000
£0

£134,000
£0

£3,655,000
£3,378,000

£18 / ft2
£17 / ft2

£5,460 / Unit
£5,040 / Unit

17
18

Fit Out MEPH
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)

£3,928,000
£118,000

£273,000
£8,000

£216,000
£6,000

Included in S&C

Included in S&C

£4,417,000
£132,000

£22 / ft2
£1 / ft2

£6,590 / Unit
£200 / Unit

£19,373,000
£51,583,000

£97 / ft2
£258 / ft2

£28,915 / Unit
£76,990 / Unit

Total Fit Out £
TOTAL £

£0
£33,928,000

£14,580,000
£14,580,000

£969,000
£969,000

£876,000
£876,000

£2,883,000
£2,883,000

£141,000
£141,000

Cost / Ft2
Cost / Bed

£170
£50,640

£123
£21,760

£135
£1,450

£154
£1,310

£59
£4,300

£728
£210

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

£3,769
£3,040
£700
£2,190
£1,930

/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit
/ Unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019
BLOCK B SHELL & CORE
Ref
1
1.1

2
2.1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

3.1
3.2

4

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Sub‐Structure
Allowance for sub‐structure;

18,555 m2

£111

£2,059,600

Sub‐Structure Total

£2,060,000

£85

£1,577,000

Frame Total

£1,577,000

£225
£100,000

£4,174,900
£100,000

Upper Floors Total

£4,275,000

*Based on GIA

Frame
Allowance for Frame;

18,555 m2

Page 247
3

Rate

As for Block A

Upper Floors
Allowance for Upper Floors;
Allowance for transfer structures

18,555 m2
1 Item

£225 as Block A

Roof

4.1

Allowance for Roof Finishes; waterproofing, insulation and paving

585 m2

£200

4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6

Allowance for Roof Terrace Finish
Fit‐out of roof terraces
Allowance for PVs
Allowance for Maintenance System; assumes abseil points
Allowance for Mansafe system

134 m2
1 Item

£400
£50,000

1 item
120 m

£30,000
£200

Roof Total

£117,000 *Roof structure in Upper Floor Costs
Adjusted as Block A
£53,600
£50,000
Included Allowance in MEPH
£30,000
£24,000

£275,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019
BLOCK B SHELL & CORE
Ref

5
5.1

6

Brief / Specification

Allowance for Stairs;

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

35 Flrs

6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7

External Doors
Allowance for main entrance door
Allowance for secondary entrance doors
Allowance for amenity doors
Allowance for balcony doors
Allowance for plant / BoH doors

6.8
6.9
6.10

Additional Items
Allowance for balconies
Allowance for parapet detail
Allowance for balustrade to roof terrace

Page 248

£10,000

£350,000

Stairs Total

£350,000

m2
m2
m2
m2

£1,000
£1,150
£1,000
£1,000

£2,550,000
£2,001,000
£4,150,000
£4,960,000

1 Item
2 nr
4 nr
nr
nr

£40,000
£3,500
£10,000
£3,000

£40,000
£7,000
£40,000
£0
£0

£2,250

Excluded
£0
£105,800

Façade Total

£13,854,000

Adjusted as Block A

External Walls, Windows & Doors
Unitised Façade
Allowance for windows to unitised façade
Allowance for glazed curtain walling; including feature fin details
Allowance for unitised brick slip façade
Allowance for unitised aluminium façade

7.1

Unit

Stairs

6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4

7

Qty

2,550
1,740
4,150
4,960

0 nr
m
47 m

For general review ‐ rates appear high
For general review ‐ rates appear high
For general review ‐ rates appear high
For general review ‐ rates appear high

Assumes none required.
Shown as curtain wall detail

Lifts
Allowance for lifts to block

3 Nr.

£310,000

£930,000 35 Nr. Stops / Lift

Lifts Total

£930,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Amenity Fit Out
Ref
1
1.1
1.2

2

Page 249

2.1
2.2

3
3.1
3.2
3.3

4
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / Comments

Internal Walls
Plasterboard Partitions
Blockwork Walls

158 m

£300

£47,400

Internal Wall Total

£47,000

£2,500
£4,000

£45,000
£40,000

Internal Doors Total

£85,000

Internal Doors
Single Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)
Double Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)

18 nr
10 nr

Wall Finishes
Allowance for paint finish
E/O Allowance for tiling to bathrooms
E/O allowance for enhanced finishes

672 m2
150 m2
1 item

£10
£150
£50,000

£6,700
£22,500
£50,000

Wall Finishes Total

£79,000

£35
£100
£35,000

£18,400
£52,700
Included
£35,000

Floor Finishes Total

£106,000

Floor Finishes
Allowance for sub‐strate to floor; screed
Allowance for floor finish; engineered board / tiling
Allowance for floor finishes to WCs;
E/O allowance for enhanced finsihes

527 m2
527 m2
1 item

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Amenity Fit Out
Ref
5
5.1
5.2
5.3

6

Page 250

6.1

7
7.1

8
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / Comments

Ceiling Finishes
Allowance for plasterboard ceiling;
Allowance for paint to plasterboard ceiling;
E/O allowance for enhanced finsihes;

527 m2
527 m2
1 item

£55
£10
£25,000

£29,000
£5,300
£25,000

Ceiling Finshes Total

£59,000

Fixtures, Furniture & Equipment
Allowance for FF&E; allowance for kitchen and general joinery

1 item

£250,000

£250,000

FF&E Total

£250,000

£3,500

£28,000

Sanitaryware Total

£28,000

£350
£184,500
£187,300
£192,900

£184,500
£2,800
£5,600
£23,100

MEPH Total

£216,000

Amenity Total Fit Out Cost

£871,000

Sanitaryware
Allowance for Sanitaryware;

8 nr

MEPH
Allowance for fit out to Amenity Space
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

527
1.5
3
12

m2
%
%
%

No allowance for loose FF&E or specialist interior design

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Landlord Front of House
Ref
1

Brief / Specification

Residential Party Walls
Plasterboard party walls to 1 bed cluster
Plasterboard party walls to 2 bed cluster
Plasterboard party walls to Studio Rooms
Plasterboard party walls to UA room
Plasterboard party walls to Cluster Kitchens

1.5

Plasterbaord to FoH Landlord Areas
Plasterboard liner walls to stair cores

Page 251

2.1
2.2

3
3.1
3.2

4
4.1
4.2
4.3

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Internal Walls

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5

2

Qty

696
0
2,574
402
174

m
m
m
m
m

£350
£350
£350
£350
£350

£244,000
£0
£901,000
£141,000
£61,000

875 m

£290

£253,800

Internal Walls Total

£1,601,000

£2,150
£2,650

£225,800
£0

Internal Doors Total

£226,000

£8
£8

£167,900
£20,000

Wall Finsihes Total

£188,000

£30
£45
£20,000

£137,000
£205,500
£20,000

Floor Finishes Total

£363,000

Comments as previous
Comments as previous
Comments as previous
Comments as previous
Comments as previous

Internal Doors
Single Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)
Double Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)

105 Nr
0 Nr

Wall Finishes
Paint Finishes to Residential Party Walls
Paint Finish to Landlord FoH

20,986 m2
2,500 m2

Floor Finishes
Allowance for sub‐strate to floor; latex / underlay to carpet
Allowance for floor finish; carpet
E/O allowance for GF reception

4,567 m2
4,567 m2
1 item

Assumes one 2 to stair cores and 2 to corridors / floor

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Landlord Front of House
Ref
5
5.1
5.2
5.3

6

Page 252

6.1
6.2
6.3

7
7.1

8
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Ceiling Finishes
Ceiling to Landlord FoH Corridors & Stair Cores; Plasterboard
Finish to Landlord FoH Ceilings; Paint
E/O Allowance for enhanced finish to GF entrance

4,567 m2
4,567 m2
1 item

£50
£9
£20,000

£228,400
£41,100
£20,000

Ceiling Finishes Total

£290,000

Fixtures, Furniture & Equipment
Allowance for letterboxes to all units
Allowance for reception desk / entrance joinery
Allowance for general signage

670 nr
1 item
18,555 m2

£50
£50,000
£3

£33,500
£50,000
£55,700

FF&E Total

£139,000

Sanitaryware
Allowance Communal / Landlord Bathrooms

nr

£0
Sanitaryware Total

£0

£11,000
£7,370,000
£7,480,600
£7,705,000

£7,370,000
£110,600
£224,400
£924,600

Sub‐Total

£8,630,000

Shell & Core Fit Out Total

£11,512,000

MEPH
Allowance for landlords base fit; residential
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

670
1.5
3
12

nr
%
%
%

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Landlord Back of House
Ref
1
1.1

2

Page 253

2.1
2.2

3
3.1

4
4.1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / Comments

Internal Walls
Allowance for partitions to BoH; assumes blockwork

6m

£300

£1,900

Sub‐Total

£2,000

£2,500

£5,000
£0

Sub‐Total

£5,000

£10

£300

Sub‐Total

£0

£15

£300

Sub‐Total

£0

Internal Doors
Single Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)
Double Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)

2 Nr
Nr

Wall Finishes
Paint & Sealer to Blockwork Partitions

27 m2

Floor Finishes
Allowance for paint and sealer to floor finsih;

18 m2

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Landlord Back of House
Ref
5
5.1

6
6.1
6.2

Page 254

7
7.1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Ceiling Finishes
Allowance for paint and sealer to exposed soffits

18 m2

£15

£300

Sub‐Total

£0

£200

£134,000
Excluded

Sub‐Total

£134,000

Fixtures, Furniture & Equipment
Bike Stands
Refuse Chutes

670 nr

8.1

Assumes 1 per bed
Assumes not required

Sanitaryware
Allowance for sanitaryware to BoH

None

Sub‐Total

8

Notes / Comments

£0

MEPH
Allowance for MEPH & Services to BoH

Included

Sub‐Total

£0

Shell & Core Fit Out Total

£141,000

Included in base build fit out

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Student Accomodation Fit Out Summary
1 Bed Cluster

Description

£/Unit

174 Nr.

2 Bed Cluster
Total

£/Unit

Nr.

Studio
Total

Sanitaryware

£5,000

174

£870,000

£5,000

0

£0

£5,000

429

£2,145,000

£5,000

67

£335,000

£5,000

670

£3,350,000

MEPH Services

£4,900

174

£852,600

£0

0

£0

£6,200

429

£2,659,800

£6,200

67

£415,400

£5,860

670

£3,928,000

£3,132,000

£12,800

£0

£22,600

£9,695,400

£24,400

£1,634,800

£21,590

Page 255

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware
MEPH Services

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

TOTAL

£0

£/Unit

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware
MEPH Services
TOTAL

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0

£0

29 Nr.

£3,000
£1,500
£1,100
£2,000
£1,600
£14,500
£0
£9,400

29
29
29
29
29
29
29
29

£33,100

£/Unit

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware
MEPH Services
TOTAL

Nr.
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£/Unit

Nr.

£87,000
£43,500
£31,900
£58,000
£46,400
£420,500
£0
£272,600

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£959,900

£0

£0

Nr.

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£/Unit

£0

£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£/Unit

£0

Nr.

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

N/A
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£/Unit

£/Unit

Nr.

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

Total
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Nr.

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

N/A
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£14,462,000

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

N/A
Total

Nr.

£788,000
£1,675,000
£173,000
£938,000
£899,000
£2,711,000

Total
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

N/A
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£/Unit

N/A
Total

670
670
670
670
670
670

N/A
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

N/A

Description

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1&2 Bed Cluster Kitchen

Description

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

N/A
Nr.

£1,180
£2,500
£260
£1,400
£1,340
£4,050

Total

8

£/Unit

£107,200
£167,500
£26,800
£120,600
£107,200
£355,100

670 Nr.

7

Total

67
67
67
67
67
67

£/Unit

£1,100
£2,500
£300
£100
£400
£3,400

N/A

£1,600
£2,500
£400
£1,800
£1,600
£5,300

Total

£208,800
£435,000
£17,400
£174,000
£191,400
£382,800

Nr.

£471,900
£1,072,500
£128,700
£643,500
£600,600
£1,973,400

67 Nr.

174
174
174
174
174
174

£/Unit

429
429
429
429
429
429

£/Unit

£1,200
£2,500
£100
£1,000
£1,100
£2,200

Description

£1,100
£2,500
£300
£1,500
£1,400
£4,600

BEDROOM TOTALS

UA Room
Total

Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes
Fixtures and Fittings

£18,000

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

429 Nr.

1
2
3
4
5
6

TOTAL

0
0
0
0
0
0

£/Unit

£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

N/A
Total

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£/Unit
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

£3,000
£1,520
£1,100
£2,000
£1,590
£14,520
£0
£9,410

£0

£33,140

29 Nr.

Total
29
29
29
29
29
29
29
29

£87,000
£44,000
£32,000
£58,000
£46,000
£421,000
£0
£273,000
£961,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1 Bed Cluster Room Fit Out
One Person Studio Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Room Size:
Ensuite Size:
Kitchen Size:
Floor to Ceiling Height:

Page 256

Ref

Description

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2
3
4

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

13
2

2.500

Internal Doors

1
2
3

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery

m

Number of En‐suites:

1

nr.

Number of Beds:

1

nr.

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

2 m

£265

3.2 m

£210

Elemental Total

02

m2
m2
m2

1 nr
1 nr
1 nr

£1,100
£700
£700

Elemental Total

Notes

£530
N/A
£670
Included

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£1,200

£1,100
£700
£700

£2,500

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1 Bed Cluster Room Fit Out
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

18 m2

Rate

Total

£8

Elemental Total

Notes

£140
N/A
N/A

£100

Page 257

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to bedroom; screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

11 m2

£35

£370
N/A

3
4

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to room; assumes timber effect vinyl planks
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles

13 m2

£45

£570
N/A

5

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

5 m

£15

£80

Elemental Total

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bedroom
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to ensuites

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£1,000

13 m2

£50

£630
N/A

13 m2

£9

£110

£400

£400

1 nr

Elemental Total

£1,100

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1 Bed Cluster Room Fit Out
Ref

Description

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving
Allowance for bedframe

6

Loose and General FF&E:
Allowance for Desk Chair, Matteress, Bins, coat hooks, mirrors.

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

N/A

1.0
1
2
1

m
item
m
nr.

1 nr.

£350
£250
£150
£650

£350
£250
£300
£650

£600

£600

Elemental Total

Page 258

07

Sanitaryware

1

Bathrooms / Ensuites:
Allowance for en‐suites;

1 nr

£5,000

Elemental Total

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

Notes

£2,200

£5,000

£5,000

1 nr

£4,200

£4,200

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£4,200
£4,260
£4,390

£60
£130
£530

Elemental Total

£4,900

Apartment Fit Out Total

£18,000

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2 Bed Cluster Room Fit Out
One Person Studio Apartment
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Room Size:
Ensuite Size:
Kitchen Size:
Floor to Ceiling Height:

Page 259

Ref

Description

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2
3
4

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

0
3

2.500

Internal Doors

1
2
3

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery

m

Number of En‐suites:

1

nr.

Number of Beds:

2

nr.

Quantity

Unit

4 m
4 m
0.0 m

Rate

Total

£265
£210

Elemental Total

02

m2
m2
m2

1 nr
1 nr
1 nr

£1,100
£700
£700

Elemental Total

Notes

£1,060
Included
£0
Included

Assumes Pods
*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£1,100

£1,100
£700
£700

£2,500

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2 Bed Cluster Room Fit Out
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

40 m2
15 m2

Rate

Total

£8

Elemental Total

Page 260

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

0 m2
3 m2

£35

3
4

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to room; assumes timber effect vinyl planks
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles

0 m2
3 m2

£45

5

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

8 m

£15

Elemental Total

Notes

£320
Included
N/A

£300

£0
Included

Assumes Pods

£0
Included

Assumes Pods

£120

£100

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

0 m2
3 m2

£50

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

3 m2

£9

£30

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

1 nr

£400

£400

Elemental Total

Assumes Pods

£0
Included

£400

Assumes Pods

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 2 Bed Cluster Room Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving
Allowance for bedframe

2
1
4
1

6

Loose and General FF&E:
Allowance for Desk Chair, Matteress, Bins, coat hooks, mirrors.

2 nr.

Rate

Total

N/A

m
item
m
nr.

£350
£250
£150
£650

£700
£250
£600
£650

£600

£1,200

Elemental Total

Page 261

07

Sanitaryware

1

Bathrooms / Ensuites:
Allowance for en‐suites; assumes pods (includes dlivery and pod placement)

1 nr

£5,000

Elemental Total

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

Notes

£3,400

£5,000

£5,000

0 nr

£5,250

£0

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0

Elemental Total

£0

Apartment Fit Out Total

£12,800

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Studio Studio
Studio Room
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Room Size:
Ensuite Size:
Kitchen Size:
Floor to Ceiling Height:

Page 262

Ref

Description

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2
3
4

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

16
3

2.500

Internal Doors

1
2
3

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery

m

Number of En‐suites:

1

nr.

Number of Beds:

1

nr.

Quantity

Unit

2 m
4 m
2 m

Rate

Total

£265
£210

Elemental Total

02

m2
m2
m2

1 nr
1 nr
1 nr

£1,100
£700
£700

Elemental Total

Notes

£530
Included
£520
Included

Assumes Pods
*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£1,100

£1,100
£700
£700

£2,500

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Studio Studio
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

36 m2
15 m2

Rate

Total

£8

Elemental Total

Page 263

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

16 m2
3 m2

£35

3
4

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to room; assumes carpet
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles

16 m2
3 m2

£45

5

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

8 m

£15

Elemental Total

Notes

£290
Included
N/A

£300

£580
Included

Assumes Pods

£740
Included

Assumes Pods

£130

£1,500

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

16 m2
3 m2

£50

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

19 m2

£9

£180

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£400

1 nr

Elemental Total

Assumes Pods

£820
Included

£1,400

Assumes Pods

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ Studio Studio
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving
Allowance for bedframe

1
1
2
1

6

Loose and General FF&E:
Allowance for Desk Chair, Matteress, Bins, coat hooks, mirrors.

1 nr.

m
item
m
nr.

Rate

Total

£2,500

£2,500

£250
£300
£150
£650

£250
£300
£300
£650

£600

£600

Elemental Total

Page 264

07

Sanitaryware

1

Bathrooms / Ensuites:
Allowance for en‐suites;

1 nr

£5,000

Elemental Total

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

Notes

£4,600

£5,000

£5,000

1 nr

£5,250

£5,250

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£5,250
£5,330
£5,490

£80
£160
£660

Elemental Total

£6,200

Apartment Fit Out Total

£22,600

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ UA Room Fit Out (Accessible)
UA Room
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Room Size:
Ensuite Size:
Kitchen Size:
Floor to Ceiling Height:

Page 265

Ref

Description

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1
2
3
4

Internal plasterboard partitions; general
Internal plasterboard partitions; Ensuites
Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

26
7

2.500

Internal Doors

1
2
3

Apartment entrance door including ironmongery
Internal bathroom door including ironmongery
Internal cupboard door including ironmongery

4

E/O allowance for wider doorsets for Accessible Units

m

Number of En‐suites:

1

nr.

Number of Beds:

1

nr.

Quantity

Unit

3 m
4 m
4 m

Rate

Total

£265
£210

Elemental Total

02

m2
m2
m2

1 nr
1 nr
1 nr

£1,100
£700
£700

Elemental Total

Notes

£800
£0
£800
Included

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

£1,600

£1,100
£700
£700

£2,500

Assumes 1 per unit

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ UA Room Fit Out (Accessible)
Ref

Description

03

Wall Finishes

1
2
3

Matt emulsion paint to walls
E/O allowance for Wall tiling to ensuite walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

Quantity

Unit

45 m2
15 m2
m2

Rate

Total

£8

Elemental Total

Notes

£400
Included
£0

£400

Page 266

04

Floor Finishes

1
2

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to apartment (living, bedrooms, kitchen); screed
Allowance for substrate to bathrooms & ensuites; screed

19 m2
7 m2

£35

3
4

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to room; assumes carpet
Floor finish to bathrooms; ceramic tiles

19 m2
7 m2

£45

£900
£0

5

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

11 m

£15

£200

Elemental Total

£700
Included

£1,800

05

Ceiling Finishes

1
2

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to bathrooms & ensuites

19 m2
7 m2

£50

£1,000
£0

4

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

26 m2

£9

£200

5

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

£400

£400

1 nr

Elemental Total

Assumes Pods

£1,600

Assumes Pods

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ UA Room Fit Out (Accessible)
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

1 nr

2
3
4
5

Joinery:
Allowance for wardrobes to bedrooms;
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving
Allowance for bedframe

2
1
2
1

6

Loose and General FF&E:
Allowance for Desk Chair, Matteress, Bins, coat hooks, mirrors.

1 nr.

m
item
m
nr.

Rate

Total

£3,000

£3,000

£250
£300
£150
£650

£400
£300
£300
£700

£600

£600

Elemental Total

Page 267

07

Sanitaryware

1

Bathrooms / Ensuites:
Allowance for en‐suites;

1 nr

£5,000

Elemental Total

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning
MEP Contractor Design
MEP Management

Notes

£5,300

£5,000

£5,000

1 nr

£5,250

£5,300

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£5,000
£5,080
£5,230

£100
£200
£600

Elemental Total

£6,200

Apartment Fit Out Total

£24,400

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1 & 2 Bed Cluster Kitchen Fit Out
1 & 2 Bed Cluster Kitchen
Key Apartment Metrics:
Average Kitchen Size:
Floor to Ceiling Height:

Ref

Description

23
2.500

m2
m

Nr. Beds Servicing:

7

nr.

Nr. Bathrooms:

0

nr.

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

Page 268

01

Internal Walls and Partitions

1

Internal plasterboard partitions; general

6 m

£265

£1,520

2
3

Plasterboard liner wall to inside face of external wall
Party walls

7 m

£210

£1,450
Included

Elemental Total

02

Internal Doors

1

Kitchen door including ironmongery

1 nr

£1,500

Elemental Total

03

Wall Finishes

1
2

Matt emulsion paint to walls
Wall tiling to kitchen / kitchen splashback tiling

46 m2
7 m2

£8
£110

Elemental Total

£3,000

£1,500

£1,500

£370
£770

£1,100

*Party walls in Landlord Fit Out

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1 & 2 Bed Cluster Kitchen Fit Out
Ref

Description

Quantity

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes

04

Floor Finishes

1

Substrate
Allowance for substrate to kitchen; screed

23 m2

£35

£810

2

Floor Finishes
Floor finish to kitchens; timber effect vinyl planks

23 m2

£45

£1,040

3

Skirting Boards:
Painted MDF skirting boards

13 m

£15

£190

Elemental Total

Page 269

05

Ceiling Finishes

1

Plasterboard Ceilings:
Suspended plasterboard ceiling to Kitchen, Living, and Utility

23 m2

2

Finish to Ceilings:
Matt emulsion paint to plasterboard ceiling

23 m2

£50

£2,000

£1,150

£0
£9

3

Hatches / Access:
Allowance for access hatches

1 nr

£400
Elemental Total

06

Fixtures and Fittings

1

Kitchens:
Allowance for kitchen including appliances

2
3

Joinery:
Allowance for blinds / curtains
Allowance for shelving

4

General & Loose FF&E:
Allowance for Bins, Chairs, Tables

1 nr

£400
£1,600

£12,000

£12,000

1 item
10 m

£150

Excluded
£1,500

1 item

£1,000

£1,000

Elemental Total

£14,500

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Block B ‐ 1 & 2 Bed Cluster Kitchen Fit Out
Ref

Description

07

Sanitaryware

1

Shared Bathroom to Cluster Kitchen; assumes pods (includes for delivery & placement)

Quantity

Unit

0 nr

Rate

Total

£5,000

Elemental Total

Page 270

08

MEPH & Services ‐ Fit Out

1

Base Build MEPH
Fit out MEPH allowance to Unit

2
3
4

MEP On Costs
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

Notes

£0

£0

1 nr

£8,000

£8,000

1.5 %
3%
12 %

£8,000
£8,120
£8,360

£120
£240
£1,000

Elemental Total

£9,400

Apartment Fit Out Total

£33,100

(Some clusters with only 1 Pod)

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Retail | Elemental Summary

Ref

Description

£/ft2

TOTAL

10,269 ft²

Page 271

1

Substructure
Substructure & Groundworks

£106,000

£10 / ft2

2
3
4
5
6

Shell & Core
Frame
Upper Floors
Roof
Stairs
External Walls, Windows & Doors

£72,000
£191,000
£0
£0
£828,000

£7
£19
£
£
£81

7
8
9

Base Build MEPH & Lifts
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)
Lifts
Total Shell & Core £

10
11
12
13
14

Fit Out & Finishes
Internal Walls and Partitions
Internal Doors
Wall Finishes
Floor Finishes
Ceiling Finishes

15
16

FF&E and Sanitaryware
Fixtures and Fittings
Sanitaryware

17
18

Fit Out MEPH
MEPH Services
BWIC (3%)

£0
£0
£0

£ / ft2
£ / ft2
£ / ft2

£1,197,000

£117 / ft2

£29,000
£14,000
£0
£0
£0

Total Fit Out £
TOTAL £
Cost / Ft2

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

£3
£1
£
£
£

/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2
/ ft2

£0
£0

£ / ft2
£ / ft2

£29,000
£1,000

£3 / ft2
£ / ft2

£73,000
£1,270,000

£7 / ft2
£124 / ft2

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Retail ‐ Elemental Cost Plan
Ref
1
1.1

2
2.1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

3.1

4
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Sub‐structure
Allowance for sub‐structure;

954 m2

£111

£105,900

Sub‐Structure Total

£106,000

£75

£71,600

Frame Total

£72,000

£200

£190,800

Upper Floors Total

£191,000

*Based on GIA (shared cost fo sub‐structure with Resi)

Frame
Allowance for Frame;

954 m2

Page 272
3

Rate

Upper Floors
Allowance for Upper Floors;

954 m2

Includes for transfer structures

Roof
Allowance for Roof Finishes
Allowance for Green Roof
Allowance for PVs
Allowance for Maintenance System
Allowance for Mansafe system

N/A

Roof Total

£0

Costs to roof included in Resi/Student Costs

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Retail ‐ Elemental Cost Plan
Ref
5
5.1

6

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Stairs
Allowance for Stairs;

Excluded

Assumes no mezanine

Page 273

Stairs Total

£0

£680
£20,000
£17,500

£170,000
£20,000
£157,500

Includes for two floors

£850

£400,000

Comments as previous

£20,000

£80,000

Sub‐Total

£828,000

External Walls, Windows & Doors

6.1
6.2
6.3

Solid Finishes
Brickwork to façade
Allowance for enhancements
Brick columns to colenade

250 m2
1 Item
9 Nr

6.2

Glazed Finishes
Allowance for Glazed finishes to façade; framed curtain wall

470 m2

6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7

External Doors
Allowance for main entrance door
Allowance for secondary entrance doors
Allowance for additional external doors
Allowance for balcony / terrace doors
Allowance for plant / BoH doors

4 nr

Additional Items
6.8 Allowance for balconies / Terrances
6.9 Allowance for parapet detail
7.10 Allowance for balustrade to amenity

As previous comments

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Retail ‐ Elemental Cost Plan
Ref
7
7.1
7.2

8
8.1
8.2

Page 274

9
9.1
9.2
9.3

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Plasterboard Partitions
Blockwork Walls

95 m

£300

£28,600

Internal Wall Total

£29,000

£1,750

£14,000
£0

Internal Doors Total

£14,000

Internal Doors
Single Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)
Double Doors (Inc. ironmongery & access control)

8 nr
nr

Wall Finishes
Allowance for paint finish
E/O Allowance for tiling to bathrooms
E/O allowance for enhanced finishes

m2
m2
item

£0
£0
£0

Wall Finishes Total

10
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Internal Walls

£0

Floor Finishes
Allowance for sub‐strate to floor;
Allowance for floor finish;
Allowance for floor finishes to WCs;
E/O allowance for enhanced finsihes

954 m2
954 m2
m2
item

Excluded
Excluded
£0
£0

Floor Finishes Total

£0

Assumes S&C
Assumes S&C

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Retail ‐ Elemental Cost Plan
Ref
11
11.1
11.2
11.3

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Allowance for plasterboard ceiling;
Allowance for paint to plasterboard ceiling;
E/O allowance for enhanced finsihes;

954 m2
954 m2
item

12.1

Allowance for FF&E;

Page 275
13.1

Assumes S&C
Assumes S&C

£0

Fixtures, Furniture & Equipment
Excluded

FF&E Total

13

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Excluded
Excluded

Ceiling Finshes Total
12

Total

Ceiling Finishes

Assumes S&C

£0

Sanitaryware
Allowance for Sanitaryware;

Excluded

Sanitaryware Total

£0

Assumes S&C

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

Retail ‐ Elemental Cost Plan
Ref
14
14.1
14.2
14.3
14.4

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

MEPH
Allowance for MEPH Fit Out
Testing and Commissioning at 1.5%
MEP Contractor Design at 3%
MEP Management at 12%

1
1.5
3
12

Item
%
%
%

Page 276

£25,000
£25,000
£25,400
£26,200

£25,000
£400
£800
£3,100

MEPH Total

£29,000

Shell & Core Fit Out Total

£1,299,000

Capped Services

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

External Works
Ref
6.1

1

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Landscaping
Landscaped Site Area
Allowance for landscaping to site

1,103 m2

£386,100

Total

£386,000

Page 277

£350

Ok

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

External Works
Ref
6.2

1
2

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Drainage
Drainage
Allowance for drainage outside of building footprints
Extra over allowance for attenuation tanks

545 m2
1 Item

£43,600
£75,000

Total

£119,000

Page 278

£80
£75,000

Ok
Ok

Tide Construction | Lewisham Exchange
Order of Cost Estimate
January 2019

External Works
Ref
6.3

Brief / Specification

Qty

Unit

Rate

Total

Notes / JA Comments 12/02/19

Utilities

1

External Services
Allowance for PV Panels / Renewable energy

2
3
4

Utilities
Stat connections; student
Stat connections; residential block
Stat connections; office

£450,000

£450,000

1 item
85 Nr

£500,000
£2,750

£500,000
£233,800

Total

£1,184,000

Page 279

1 Item

Allowance to meet uplift to new London Plan

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Appendix C
Argus Developer Appraisal Summary

GL Hearn

Page 39 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 280

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange RLV
Summary Appraisal for Phase 1
Currency in £
REVENUE
Sales Valuation
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals

Units
1
1
1
3

ft²
26,077
39,350
118,376
183,803

Rate ft²
185.00
450.00
1,163.66

Unit Price
4,824,245
17,707,275
137,750,000

Gross Sales
4,824,245
17,707,275
137,750,000
160,281,520

Units
1
1
2

ft²
9,626
2,400
12,027

Rate ft²
25.00

Initial
MRV/Unit
240,657
0

Net Rent
at Sale
240,657
0
240,657

240,657

YP @
PV 1yr @

6.5000%
6.5000%

Rental Area Summary
Commercial
Shared Space
Totals

Page 281

Investment Valuation
Commercial
Market Rent
(1yr Rent Free)

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE

15.3846
0.9390

Initial
MRV
240,657
240,657

3,476,454
3,476,454

163,757,974

Purchaser's Costs

208,587
208,587

NET DEVELOPMENT VALUE

163,549,386

NET REALISATION

163,549,386

OUTLAY
ACQUISITION COSTS
Residualised Price

13,010,752
13,010,752

Stamp Duty
Agent Fee
Legal Fee

4.60%
1.00%
0.80%

598,495
130,108
104,086
832,688

CONSTRUCTION COSTS
Construction
Commercial

ft²
10,254 ft²

Rate ft²
302.41 pf²

Cost
3,100,761

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.
Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190222_Lewisham Exchange_Viability Appraisal (RLV).wcfx
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001

Date: 27/02/2019

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange RLV
Shared Space
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals
Contingency
Abnormals
CIL/MCIL/ S.106

2,400 ft²
40,146 ft²
60,579 ft²
207,849 ft²
321,228 ft²

302.41 pf²
302.41 pf²
302.41 pf²
302.41 pf²

725,875
12,140,413
18,319,695
62,855,563
97,142,307

5.00%

97,142,307

4,958,965
2,037,000
4,100,000
11,095,965

PROFESSIONAL FEES
Professionals

10.00%

9,714,231
9,714,231

MARKETING & LETTING
Letting Agent Fee
Letting Legal Fee

10.00%
5.00%

24,066
12,033
36,099

DISPOSAL FEES
Sales Agent Fee
Sales Legal Fee

1.00%

1,635,494
150,000

Page 282

1,785,494

FINANCE
Debit Rate 6.000%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal)
Land
Construction
Other
Total Finance Cost
TOTAL COSTS

2,117,247
5,379,906
132,449
7,364,704
140,982,239

PROFIT
22,567,147
Performance Measures
Profit on Cost%
Profit on GDV%
IRR

16.01%
13.78%
21.48%

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.
Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190222_Lewisham Exchange_Viability Appraisal (RLV).wcfx
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001

Date: 27/02/2019

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Appendix D
GL Hearn Response to JRB Letter –
April 2019

GL Hearn

Page 40 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 283

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

Confidential

Jeremy Ward
Planning Services, Resources and Regeneration Directorate
London Borough of Lewisham
By email

9th April 2019

Dear Jeremy

Lewisham Exchange – Response to JRP Letter
I refer to our draft Independent Viability Review (dated February 2019), James R Brown & Co’s (JRB)
response dated 11th March 2019 and the summary of accounts for Chapter Living covering the last two
financial years. I have now had an opportunity to consider these and respond below.
Benchmark Land Value (BLV)
Date of Previous Assessment
JRB maintain that the date of value of our assessment of the previous scheme on this site was January 2018
and therefore that an effective reduction of 28% in one year is too great. This was the date of the final report.
However the BLV was originally assessed as part of the draft report dated September 2017 and was not
amended. Accordingly the difference is 18 months. Notwithstanding this the reasoning and evidence in
support of the BLV adopted was set out in out in our draft report and we have not advocated a % adjustment
due to a certain number of months passing.
Existing Use Value
JRB report that Carpetright’s lease has been bought and it could be let at Market Rent which is correct, after
suitable void and rent free periods. On this basis, but appearing to allow only a 2 year void and rent free
period and applying a 5% yield, JRB arrives at an EUV of £5.12m after purchaser’s costs – ie higher than the
figure we adopted. However, we adopted a combined 2.5 year void and rent free period so consider that this
assumption should also remain assuming vacant possession. With respect to the yield we had adopted a 6%
yield and JRB accounts for the difference due to the removal of Capetright with the potential for a better
tenant as well as reference to other comparables referred to in our report. While a better tenant could be
achieved this is far from guaranteed, especially given the weak ‘solus’ trading location and poor parking
provision. Our adoption of a 6% yield was not just in consideration of Carpetright specifically but also the
evidence and the market appetite for such a unit and the issues facing the retailing industry as a whole.
Reference made to a significant number of retails entering into administration or CVAs. Indeed we explicitly
assumed vacant possession on lease expiry and adopted the same yield upon reversion for this reason.
With respect to the investment evidence itself our reasoning was made clear. A number of the investment
sales in London do not reflect existing use but the reversionary development potential. On the assumption of
vacant possession the valuation actually worsens (see attached) which is not surprising given that the
purchaser no longer has an income (whoever the covenant is).
Landowner Premium
With respect to the landowner premium JRB argues that the same premium as an amount (£1,161,500)
agreed under the previous application assessment should apply. JRB argue that premiums are ‘more
logically and reasonably assessed as ‘reasonable sums’ as opposed to percentages’ and goes on to refer to
an interesting but theoretical example of a garden shed in Mayfair as well as the Parkhurst Road decision. In
\\glhearn.local\London\UserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response\Final
Response\20190409_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 284

Page 1 of 4

both these examples the underlying asset value is extremely low and, in relation to the Parkhurst Road
decision, evidence was provided to support a higher premium whilst also being compliant with planning
policy. Neither is the case here. While the value has fallen an asset valued at £4.2m is not extremely low. No
evidence has been provided to support a higher premium. The previous premium was agreed on a directly
proportional basis, which we have maintained. I see no reason to depart from our previous approach.
JRB go on to refer to the potential to hold the investment and refinance at a finance rate of less than 5%
which is confusing. The ability for any investor to do this is not disputed and is reflected in the value adopted
as all investments are capable of financing at investment rates that are lower than development finance due
to the differing risk profiles. Accordingly the value and Benchmark already reflects this potential.
Finally JRB refer to Alternative Use Values influencing ‘the price a hypothetical land-owner would be willing
to bring the site forward for.’ No evidence of these has been provided. We would be happy to consider such
evidence but would comment that, unless planning had been granted, it would have to accord with
development plan policies (eg affordable housing) as is explicitly made clear in the NPPF/PPG on Viability.
Adopted BLV
Given the above I have maintained the BLV at £5,040,000 as previously reported.

Gross Development Value
Total Rent
JRB notes that our report incorrectly referred to Studio type UA1 being 31.5 sqm and not 25.9 sqm which we
accept. They suggest that accordingly we have effectively mis-valued these units which is incorrect. This
was simply a reporting error at paragraph 4.22 of our report. In fact we assumed UA1 (25.9 sqm) at a weekly
rent of £325 pw and UA2 (31.5 sqm) at a rent of £340 pw for the reasons originally outlined. The correct
position was set out in this table which I repeat below:
Bedroom
Type

Unit No.

Average Size

Total NIA Sq ft

Rent (£pw)

Total Annual
Gross Rent

Studio 1

331

15

4,965.00

£245

£4,135,845

Studio 2

31

17.8

551.80

£255

£403,155

Studio 3

31

15

465.00

£245

£387,345

Studio 4

32

31.5

1,008.00

£340

£554,880

Studio 5

4

21.4

85.60

£315

£64,260

Cluster 1

145

12.2

1,769.00

£245

£1,811,775

Cluster 2

29

15.3

443.70

£260

£384,540

UA1

66

25.9

1,709.40

£280

£942,480

UA2

1

31.5

31.50

£300

£15,300

Total

670

11,029.00

£8,699,580

Sundry Rents
JRB has questioned the inclusion of these. An assumption of £75 per bed is a standard valuation
assumption based upon valuation reports, viability assessments, our experience, discussion with
\\glhearn.local\London\UserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response\Final
Response\20190409_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 285

Page 2 of 4

investors/operators etc. JRB have suggested a figure of £20,000 but at only circa £30 per ped this appears
too low. However, given that this is a relatively minor point I suggest a compromise of £50 per bed (£33,500
pa).
Management Costs
JRB question our management costs of £2,400 per bed and repeat their reasoning for their assumption at
£2,800 per bed. As set out in our report we consider that this is a higher figure than we would normally
expect and that there are efficiencies achievable given the scale of the proposals.
Separately the applicant has provided a summary of the gross and net income achieved for the last two
financial years which does suggest that the cost per bed is higher than that adopted by both parties. As this
is provided on a private and confidential basis I shall not repeat the details here. However, very limited
information is provided (either as to the cost or income) and therefore it is difficult to place much weight on
this information. Furthermore, the schemes are different which is a material point of consideration.
In addition to our original research we have discussed this issue (including the subject proposals) with a
number of investors, developers, operators and advisors. Collectively their feedback supported our
assumption or even suggested that it could be lower. Indeed in one case it was explicitly suggested that if
the developer had another scheme within close proximity then there would be further efficiency savings.
However, given that the subject scheme must be tested on its own merits and that it could be ultimately
completed, operated and/or sold by another party it would not be appropriate to reduce our assumption
further. Conversely it was also accepted that the higher proportion of studios and the facilities proposed does
increase the relative costs.
Additionally we are aware of two recent Student developments in Southwark and Tower Hamlets that have
been subject to viability discussions (details confidential). These are at similar income profiles and the
management costs agreed were £2,600 per unit (plus 4% voids) and £2,700 per unit (inc voids).
Having assessed the issue further we consider that a management cost of no more than £2,600 per bed is
reasonable.
Net Value
Based upon the revised income and cost assumptions we derive a total capital value of the student beds at
£137,500,000 (circa £205,000 per bed) after the deduction of purchasers’ costs as follows:
Adopted Rent
Sundries

£8,853,090
£33,500
£8,886,590

Occupancy @
Management @

95%
£2,600

£8,442,261
£1,608,000
£6,834,261

Years Purchase into Perpetuity @

4.75%

21.05
£143,879,168

Purchaser's Costs @

4.50%

£6,474,563
£137,404,606

say

£137,500,000

\\glhearn.local\London\UserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response\Final
Response\20190409_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 286

Page 3 of 4

Construction Costs
A response from CAST has been provided and considered by Johnson Associates. Based upon the
additional information provided they ‘have accommodated some rate changes and others we do not agree.’
This results in revised base construction cost of £98,002,000. Together with the costs of the Bakerloo Line
exclusion zone works of £2,037,000 the revised costs total £102,076,000, a difference of circa £2.285m from
that adopted by the applicant.
Profit
JRB effectively suggest that GLH have followed the GLA position rather than expressing our own
professional opinion. This is clearly not the case and our reasoning, including assessments of the various
risk profiles of the differing uses, is clearly explained within our report.
CIL / S106 Contributions
Revised CIL and S106 costs have been provided by the applicant. These have been reviewed by Lewisham
who advise that we are to assume the following:
 S106 – £1,119,290
 CIL - £3,192,944

Revised Appraisal and Affordable Provision
Based upon the changes set out above (and our original assumptions) I have revised our appraisal. This
results in a Residual Land Value of approximately £9,770,000 and thus, against our Benchmark Land Value
of £5,040,000, a significant surplus is derived.
You have requested that we consider how this might translate to an improved affordable housing offer. I
understand that your preference is to maximise the proportion of Social Rented tenure within the affordable
block. In order to maintain a Residual Land Value of least at £5,040,000 (the Benchmark Land Value) a
provision of 65x Social Rented units (76%) and 20x Shared Ownership units (24%) can be achieved.
Additional scenarios, such as the inclusion of Affordable Student Housing, can also be provided.
Yours sincerely

Edmund Couldrey
Development Director
edmund.couldrey@glhearn.com

\\glhearn.local\London\UserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response\Final
Response\20190409_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 287

Page 4 of 4

PRIVATE & CONFIDENTIAL

Existing Use Value - Assuming Vacant Possession
GIA sqm

GIA sqft

Retail Warehousing

1,083.61

11,664

Market Rent
YP perp (deferred)

£psf
£25.72
6.0%

Rent
£300,000
14.4073

2.5 yrs @

£4,322,205
£4,322,205

less purchaser's costs of

£266,066
£4,056,139
SAY

£4,060,000
£

Page 288

348.08 psf

REVIEW OF CAST COST ESTIMATE
- JA REPSONSE

PROJECT: LEWISHAM EXCHANGE
DATE: 15/03/19

Item
Basement
Excavation & disposal

Cast Rate

Cast Value

JA Rate

JA Value

Delta

%

Cast Response

JA Rate

JA Value

Delta

%

£95

£622,000

£75

£491,000

-£131,000

-21%

Cast rate is an 'all-in rate' for excavation and disposal including temporary works.
JA to note no separate allowance in Cast's estimate for temp works, disposal of
water etc. which are covered within our rate. Refer to attachment 1 for basement
box tender which total excavation cost equates to £86.84/m3 excl. s/c prelims.
The comparable project is in a central London location so Cast felt net rate for
this project would be comparable to gross rate in Lewisham. Cast request to
maintain rate allowance or to be able to include separate allowance for temp
works and dewatering.

£85

£556,000

-£66,000

-11%

Suggest we compromise on rate based upon the comments received.

Contig Wall

£4,500

£185,000

£4,250

£174,000

-£11,000

-6%

£4,250

£174,000

-£11,000

-6%

Comments noted but we still feel our rate is reasonable making due allowance of
your comments.

Secant piled wall

£7,000

£772,000

£7,000

£735,000

-£37,000

-5%

£7,000

£735,000

-£37,000

-5%

Ditto.

Allowance for Upper floors to Basement

£265

£384,000

£250

£363,000

-£21,000

-5%

As above rate is all in for the full pile, rate needs to include for mobilisation of rig,
guide wall, testing, pile, rebar, cutting down piles, disposal of arisings and testing.
Given the level of design and risk associated with piling within close vicinity of the
railway we feel our rate is reasonable.
As above rate is all in for the full pile, rate needs to include for mobilisation of rig,
guide wall, testing, pile, rebar, cutting down piles, disposal of arisings and testing.
Given the level of design and risk associated with piling within close vicinity of the
railway we feel our rate is reasonable.
As previous assumptions allowance is all in rate. Needs to allow for 400mm RC
slab inc rebar, formwork, wall kickers, upstands, tie in to capping beam and
subcontractor prelims.

£255

£370,000

-£14,000

-4%

Suggest we compromise on rate based upon the comments received.

Block A
Upper Floors
Roof Finishes

£230
£250

£2,067,700
£62,000

£225
£200

£2,023,000
£50,000

-£44,700
-£12,000

-2%
-19%

£225
£200

£2,023,000
£50,000

-£44,700
-£12,000

-2%
-19%

£12,000

£240,000

£10,000

£200,000

-£40,000

-17%

£10,000

£200,000

-£40,000

-17%

Dark stock grey brickslip

£710

£1,349,000

£680

£1,292,000

-£57,000

-4%

£680

£1,292,000

-£57,000

-4%

Bronze coloured metal cladding; PPC aluminium
Glazed finishes to facade

£790
£890

£1,548,400
£2,385,200

£750
£850

£1,470,000
£2,278,000

-£78,400
-£107,200

-5%
-4%

£770
£875

£1,509,000
£2,345,000

-£39,400
-£40,200

-3%
-2%

Party walls

£370

£653,400

£350

£618,000

-£35,400

-5%

As above.
Glazing rate includes for all openings including balcony doors. Rate is reasonable
for aluminium system such as Schueco.
Rate reflects difficulty in securing dry line contractors for residential schemes and
recent tender returns.

Noted.
Comments noted but we still feel our rate is reasonable making due allowance of
your comments.
Noted we would normally work of a per flight rate of £8-£10k including these
items so would wish to retain the £10k rate proposed.
Noted - we currently have a scheme on site with a this system at £650/m2 incl
access so used this rate plus some inflation to get to a present day rate of
£680/m2.
Can compromise slightly on rate to £770 / m2.

£350

£618,000

-£35,400

-5%

Comments noted but feel the £350 should still be achievable.

Block B
Frame

£100

£1,855,500

£85

£1,577,000

-£278,500

-15%

£90

£1,670,000

-£185,500

-10%

Noted but we would consider only a modest uplift would apply.

Upper Floors
Roof Finishes

£225
£250

£4,174,900
£146,300

£225
£200

£4,174,900
£117,000

£0
-£29,300

0%
-20%

£225
£200

£4,174,900
£117,000

£0
-£29,300

0%
-20%

Stairs

£12,000

£420,000

£10,000

£350,000

-£70,000

-17%

£10,000

£350,000

-£70,000

-17%

Windows to unitised facade
Glazed curtain walling; including feature fin details
Unitised brick slip facade
Unitised aluminium facade

£1,100
£1,250
£1,100
£1,100

£2,805,000
£2,175,000
£4,565,000
£5,456,000

£1,000
£1,150
£1,000
£1,000

£2,550,000
£2,001,000
£4,150,000
£4,960,000

-£255,000
-£174,000
-£415,000
-£496,000

-9%
-8%
-9%
-9%

Our up-lift to block B reflects the taller building which will typically see an
increase in frame costs.
No comment.
Roof finishes assume seed um or brown roof and need to include insulation to
meet new fire regulations. We therefore believe our rate is reasonable
Stair rate includes for stair, handrail, balustrade, nosing and finishes which we
believe is a reasonable rate.
Attachment 2 tender contract sum for student schme in South London with brick
unitesed facade, Cost per m2 was £1,099 based upon approx. 9,000m2. Project
procured 2016 since facade rates have increased due to currency fluctuations and
availability of contractors. We believe it is very difficult to procure a unitised
facade for less than £1,100/m2 with the level of complexity shown.

£1,050
£1,200
£1,050
£1,000

£2,678,000
£2,088,000
£4,358,000
£4,960,000

-£127,000
-£87,000
-£207,000
-£496,000

-5%
-4%
-5%
-9%

£370

£1,423,000

£350

£1,347,000

-£76,000

-5%

Rate reflects difficulty in securing dry line contractors for residential schemes and
recent tender returns.

£350

£1,347,000

-£76,000

-5%

See comment above.

£710
£900

£177,500
£423,000

£680
£850

£170,000
£400,000

-£7,500
-£23,000

-4%
-5%

As residential comments.
As residential comments.

£680
£875

£170,000
£411,000

-£7,500
-£12,000

-4%
-3%

Comments as above.
Comments as above.

16.5%

£13,395,000

16%

£12,761,000

-£634,000

-5%

Our preliminaries allowance reflect the size and height of scheme. We have
recently procured a 30 storey PRS tower with preliminaries at 16.9%. We have
taken a view based upon current market conditions where we previously pricing
prelims for a scheme like this at 17% but believe JA's view of 16% goes too far
and doesn't reflect the complexity associated with height, working next to a
railway on a restricted site.

16%

£12,761,000

-£634,000

-5%

Comments understood but we do feel that the % applied is correct given the
value of the scheme and the preliminaries figure that it generates.

5%
17%

£4,729,000
£2,045,000
£102,324,000

5%
16%

£4,626,000
£2,037,000
£99,180,000

-£103,000
-£8,000
-£3,144,000

-2%
0%
-3%

5%
16%

£4,626,000
£2,037,000
£100,039,000

-£103,000
-£8,000
-£2,285,000

-2%
0%
-2%

Agreed at 5%; variance due to calculation on adjusted rates.
Variance relates to prelims/logistics adjustment.

Stairs

Page 289

Party walls
Retail
Brickwork to facade
Glazed Facade
On Costs
Preliminaries

OH&P
Abnormals
TOTAL

No comment.
Roof finishes assume seed um or brown roof and need to include insulation to
meet new fire regulations. We therefore believe our rate is reasonable.
Stair rate includes for stair, handrail, balustrade, nosing and finishes which we
believe is a reasonable rate.
Agree with Corian rate but feel JA's rate excludes access. Access assumed via
mask climbers to install SFS, corian panels and point slips.

Page 1 of 1

JA Response 14/03/19

Comments noted but we still feel our rate is reasonable making due allowance of
your comments.
Noted we would normally work of a per flight rate of £8-£10k including these
items so would wish to retain the £10k rate proposed.
Noted and some adjustment made to seek to compromise.

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Viability Appraisal

Development Appraisal
Prepared by GLHearn
GL Hearn
09 April 2019
Page 290

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Viability Appraisal
Summary Appraisal for Phase 1
Currency in £
REVENUE
Sales Valuation
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals

Units
1
1
1
3

ft²
26,077
39,350
118,376
183,803

Rate ft²
185.00
450.00
1,136.21

Unit Price
4,824,245
17,707,275
134,500,000

Gross Sales
4,824,245
17,707,275
134,500,000
157,031,520

Units
1
1
2

ft²
9,626
2,400
12,027

Rate ft²
25.00

Initial
MRV/Unit
240,657
0

Net Rent
at Sale
240,657
0
240,657

240,657

YP @
PV 1yr @

6.5000%
6.5000%

Rental Area Summary
Commercial
Shared Space
Totals
Investment Valuation
Commercial
Market Rent
(1yr Rent Free)

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE

15.3846
0.9390

Initial
MRV
240,657
240,657

3,476,454
3,476,454

160,507,974

Purchaser's Costs

(208,587)
(208,587)

NET DEVELOPMENT VALUE

160,299,386

NET REALISATION

160,299,386

OUTLAY
ACQUISITION COSTS
Residualised Price

9,768,883
9,768,883

Stamp Duty
Agent Fee
Legal Fee

4.60%
1.00%
0.80%

449,369
97,689
78,151
625,209

CONSTRUCTION COSTS
Construction
Commercial
Shared Space
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals

ft²
10,254 ft²
2,400 ft²
40,146 ft²
60,579 ft²
207,849 ft²
321,228 ft²

Contingency
Abnormals
CIL/MCIL/
S.106

Rate ft²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.08 pf²

5.00%

Cost
3,128,194
732,297
12,247,822
18,481,774
63,411,661
98,001,747

98,001,747

5,001,937
2,037,000
3,192,944
1,119,290
11,351,171

PROFESSIONAL FEES
Professionals

10.00%

9,800,175
9,800,175

MARKETING & LETTING
Letting Agent Fee
Letting Legal Fee

10.00%
5.00%

24,066
12,033
36,099

DISPOSAL FEES
Sales Agent Fee
Sales Legal Fee

1.00%

1,602,994
150,000
1,752,994

FINANCE
Debit Rate 6.000%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal)
This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190409_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability Apprai
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 09/04/2019

Page 291

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Viability Appraisal
Land
Construction
Other
Total Finance Cost

1,583,205
5,460,953
(129,408)
6,914,750

TOTAL COSTS

138,251,027

PROFIT
22,048,359
Performance Measures
Profit on Cost%
Profit on GDV%
Profit on NDV%
Development Yield% (on Rent)
Equivalent Yield% (Nominal)
Equivalent Yield% (True)

15.95%
13.74%
13.75%
0.17%
6.50%
6.77%

IRR
Rent Cover
Profit Erosion (finance rate 6.000%)

22.11%
91 yrs 7 mths
2 yrs 6 mths

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190409_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability Apprai
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 09/04/2019

Page 292

TIMESCALE AND PHASING GRAPH REPORT

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Viability Appraisal
Project Timescale
Project Start Date
Project End Date
Project Duration (Inc Exit Period)

Jan 2019
Feb 2022
38 months

Phase 1

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190409_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability Apprais
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Report Date: 09/04/2019

Page 293

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Viability - Additional Affordable

Development Appraisal
Prepared by GLHearn
GL Hearn
09 April 2019
Page 294

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Viability - Additional Affordable
Summary Appraisal for Phase 1
Currency in £
REVENUE
Sales Valuation
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Ad. Social Rents
Totals

Units
34
20
1
31
86

ft²
26,077
15,431
118,376
23,919
183,803

Rate ft²
185.00
450.00
1,136.21
185.00

Unit Price
141,890
347,206
134,500,000
142,740

Gross Sales
4,824,245
6,944,118
134,500,000
4,424,946
150,693,309

Units
1
1
2

ft²
9,626
2,400
12,027

Rate ft²
25.00

Initial
MRV/Unit
240,657
0

Net Rent
at Sale
240,657
0
240,657

240,657

YP @
PV 1yr @

6.5000%
6.5000%

Rental Area Summary
Commercial
Shared Space
Totals
Investment Valuation
Commercial
Market Rent
(1yr Rent Free)

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE

15.3846
0.9390

Initial
MRV
240,657
240,657

3,476,454
3,476,454

154,169,762

Purchaser's Costs

(208,587)
(208,587)

NET DEVELOPMENT VALUE

153,961,175

NET REALISATION

153,961,175

OUTLAY
ACQUISITION COSTS
Residualised Price

5,072,294
5,072,294

Stamp Duty
Agent Fee
Legal Fee

4.60%
1.00%
0.80%

233,326
50,723
40,578
324,627

CONSTRUCTION COSTS
Construction
Commercial
Shared Space
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Ad. Social Rents
Totals

ft²
10,254 ft²
2,400 ft²
40,146 ft²
23,757 ft²
207,849 ft²
36,823 ft²
321,229 ft²

Rate ft²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.08 pf²
305.09 pf²

Contingency
Abnormals
CIL/MCIL/
S.106

Cost
3,128,194
732,297
12,247,822
7,247,846
63,411,661
11,234,162
98,001,981

5.00%

98,001,981

4,440,241
2,037,000
3,192,944
1,119,290
10,789,475

PROFESSIONAL FEES
Professionals

10.00%

9,800,198
9,800,198

MARKETING & LETTING
Letting Agent Fee
Letting Legal Fee

10.00%
5.00%

24,066
12,033
36,099

DISPOSAL FEES
Sales Agent Fee
Sales Legal Fee

1.00%

1,539,612
150,000
1,689,612

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190409_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability w +AH
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 09/04/2019

Page 295

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Viability - Additional Affordable
FINANCE
Debit Rate 6.000%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal)
Land
Construction
Other
Total Finance Cost

816,851
5,889,166
(127,195)
6,578,822

TOTAL COSTS

132,293,108

PROFIT
21,668,067
Performance Measures
Profit on Cost%
Profit on GDV%
Profit on NDV%
Development Yield% (on Rent)
Equivalent Yield% (Nominal)
Equivalent Yield% (True)

16.38%
14.05%
14.07%
0.18%
6.50%
6.77%

IRR
Rent Cover
Profit Erosion (finance rate 6.000%)

22.80%
90 yrs
2 yrs 7 mths

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190409_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability w +AH
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 09/04/2019

Page 296

May 2019
Independent Viability Review, for, London Borough of Lewisham

Appendix E
GL Hearn Response to JRB Letter –
May 2019

GL Hearn

Page 41 of 41

\\s2604-5012-fs01.glhearn.local\LondonUserData\DATAEXCH\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\IVR

Page 297

Report\20190528_LewishamExchange_Indepedent Viability Review.docx

Confidential

Jeremy Ward
Planning Services, Resources and Regeneration Directorate
London Borough of Lewisham
By email

13th May 2019

Dear Jeremy
Lewisham Exchange – Response to JRB Letter
I refer to the previous assessments and correspondence on this matter. I have now had an opportunity to
consider James R Brown & Co Ltd‘s (JRB) letter dated 16th April 2019 together with the additional
accommodation schedules and plans provided. I set out our response below.
Additionally we have also received the GLA’s Stage 1 comments regarding the viability assessments
undertaken by JRB and ourselves. These support the position adopted by GL Hearn including the revised
management costs of £2,600 per student room. It is the applicant’s responsibility to address these so I have
only referred to them where necessary.
Floor Areas
It is reported that the GIA adopted within CAST’s cost plan is incorrect and the total area now extends to
328,656 sqft. A full accommodation schedule has been provided. Conversely it is stated that the Net Sales or
Internal Areas (NSA/NIAs) remain the same but upon interrogation this is not the case. A summary of the
assumptions originally adopted by JRB / CAST and now provided upon is set out below:

Type
Residential
Student
Commercial
Shared Space
TOTAL

Submitted
NIA / NSA (sqft)
GIA (sqft)
65,427
100,725
118,376
207,849
9,626
10,254
2,400
2,400
195,829
321,228

Revised
NIA / NSA (sqft)
GIA (sqft)
68,594
104,592
118,375
212,361
8,870
9,178
2,526
2,526
198,365
328,656

We have discussed the matter with the Council and following cross-check measurements undertaken by
Johnson Associates we have accepted the latest schedule.

Benchmark Land Value (BLV)
EUV / Date
JRB repeats their assertion that a 28% reduction from the previous assessment is too much but without
providing any evidence to support this. A commentary on various yield types is also provided which appears
to suggest that a normal vacant investment would have a lower yield than an income producing one. This is
counter prevailing valuation experience given likely lost income, holding costs and risk of securing a tenant
on market terms. We have not sought to reduce our EUV on the basis that it is now known that the property
S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 298

Page 1 of 8

is vacant but note that the GLA would expect such a reduction. GL Hearn’s EUV has already been
evidenced and our reasoning provided; accordingly we see no reason to amend this.
Premium
JRB comments that no evidence has been provided to support our 20% premium. Such premiums are
regularly applied to EUVs by experts acting for both applicants and LPAs and these have been supported at
appeal; accordingly there are a significant number of examples – including the previous application
assessment. More importantly it is for the applicant to evidence their position and none had been provided.
Land values from the GLA’s evidence base have been provided. Based upon this JRB arrives at a value of
approximately £23m. However, they have incorrectly adopted the £psm land values for Lewisham (£1480
psm / £1.48m/ha) and applied it to the consented GIA and not the site area – £1,480,000 per hectare divided
by 10,000 sqm in a hectare = £1,480 psm. We understand that the site measures approximately 0.26
hectares (c 2600 sqm) and, therefore, would equate to a land value of only £0.385m. We are, however,
satisfied that the higher EUV plus premium is appropriate.
Reference is again made to alternative uses (including but not limited to the consented scheme). Again no
evidence has been provided and we would be happy to consider such evidence if supplied.

Submitted Scheme Assumptions
Student Rental Values
GLH revised the rental values for the wheelchair adapted units to reflect similar sized standard units. JRB
state that they do not agree with our assumptions. Firstly it is suggested that, as these units are designed for
disabled users, there is a restricted market. The units are a planning policy requirement to enable disabled
students to take up residence if so required. However, should no such occupiers require them then they can
be let on the open market. It is our experience, and those we have spoken to, that in practice few of the units
are let to disabled occupiers.
Secondly, JRB suggest that, because the net usable area of the unit is effectively smaller due to the bigger
bathroom, there is a reduction in the rental value. This argument has credence and indeed is one we
considered when first reviewing the submitted viability assessment. We discussed the matter with several
operators who stated that no such adjustment was applied. Indeed, as stated in our report, Gold Studios at
Chapter Living (27 sqm) are adaptable and no rental discount is applied. If direct evidence to the contrary
can be provided then we shall consider it.
JRB accept GLH’s compromise sundry income of £33,500 pa.
Running Costs
JRB refer to the net income details provided for Chapter House and question why GLH do not accept this ‘as
the best evidence available.’ As stated in our previous response ‘very limited information is provided (either
as to the cost or income) and therefore it is difficult to place much weight on this information. Furthermore,
the schemes are different which is a material point of consideration.’ We have previously made it clear that
the scale of the scheme will afford operational efficiencies and many other operators refer to lower costs. We
also consider that the proposed height will result in higher values but accepted JRB rental values as this
appeared to reflect this as previously stated.
JRB refer to other viability assessments where a higher running cost has been accepted but does not
provide details. They also refer to the Three Dragon’s GLA London Plan viability assessment which was
included in JRB’s original submission. No additional evidence is provided and accordingly we see no reason
to amend our position further beyond the cost of £2,600 per unit.

S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 299

Page 2 of 8

Net Student Value
In reviewing the details further we have noticed that there was an error in the reporting of the figures in our
previous response. The correct value of £134,750,000 was included in our appraisal but mistakenly reported
as £137,500,000 in our previous response. Corrected breakdown is:
Adopted Rent
Sundries

£8,853,090
£33,500
£8,886,590

Occupancy @
Management @

95%
£2,600

£8,442,261
£1,742,000
£6,700,261

Years Purchase into Perpetuity @

4.75%

21.05
£141,058,116

Purchaser's Costs @

4.50%

£6,347,615
£134,710,501

say

£134,750,000

Station Entrance Commercial Unit
Separately the applicant has queried the inclusion of Commercial Unit 5 ‘Station Entrance’ as it is to be used
as the ticket hall in the proposed Bakerloo Line extension. It should be noted that this issue has not been
raised before and the unit was included in JRB’s assessment at full value. Normally TFL would acquire this
unit when it is required and pay an appropriate Market Value at that time. In the meantime there should be
nothing to stop the owner leasing this unit. Notwithstanding this we understand from yourselves that the unit
is to be let at a peppercorn rent secured by the S106 agreement and therefore no value should be ascribed
to this unit.
Build Costs
Reference is made to Johnson Associate’s revised construction costs of £100,038,981 (£305.09 psf) but
JRB states ‘they do not know why they do not fully agree with CAST’s figures’. JRB then suggest a novel
approach – ‘splitting of the difference.’ Given the impact this would have on the provision of affordable
housing this would not be appropriate without further reasoning or evidence. Johnson Associate’s response
was included as part of our previous letter and we suggest that this is provided to CAST for their
consideration.
It is noted that, conversely, the GLA have commented that the build costs adopted by Johnson Associates
are themselves higher than they would expect. They have requested that the applicant provide additional
supporting information in relation to the Bakerloo extension protection works. The GLA have also queried
whether the costs take into account the fact that the block is entirely affordable. Having discussed this with
Johnson Associates we can confirm that this has been allowed for.
Profit
Again JRB says GLH’s profit assumption is too low. They state that the GLA London Plan evidence adopts a
15% on GDV assumption for non-residential development which is ‘higher than GLH have allowed for here.’
However, this is confusing as GLH have adopted a 15% on GDV assumption for the non-residential
elements. We have, however, also applied a 6% on value profit assumption to the affordable units as per
established practice reflecting the lower risk given a forward sale. Our reasoning has been clearly set out in
our draft report and previous response.

S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 300

Page 3 of 8

CIL / S106 Contributions
Revised contributions were provided by the Council. JRB has queried whether the CIL contributions included
the newly adopted Mayoral CIL 2 rates. We were provided with a Draft Liability Notice which shows that an
MCIL2 rate of £60 psm was adopted. Note that this was based upon the Gross Internal Areas (GIAs)
originally provided and in the absence of a revised DLN we have undertaken our own calculations which total
£3,216,258.
SDLT (Acquisition)
GLH has effectively adopted an SDLT rate fixed at 4.6% as per the assumptions adopted by JRB within their
live electronic appraisal provided. However, SDLT is a tiered rate and therefore the actual cost is dependent
on the Residual Land Value. Accordingly we have amended this assumption.
Finance Costs
GLH adopted a 6% finance cost in comparison to 7% adopted by JRB who have now questioned this
assumption. JRB refer to a number of examples. We would comment that finance costs vary depending
upon the scale, risk and nature of a development project. Larger financing requirements, such as this, result
in relatively lower fees and rates. Likewise the ability to forward fund the scheme will reduce the risk that a
lender is exposed to. Accordingly we consider a 7% rate higher than that achievable on the proposed
scheme. Notwithstanding this we have considered our assumption against other assessments and, in an
effort to narrow the points of disagreement, have adopted a rate of 6.5% on a without prejudice basis.
Submitted Scheme Conclusions
In reflecting the area changes we have applied the agreed £psf values of the residential and commercial
space to the revised areas but we have held the student values as derived on a room rental investment basis
rather than a direct £psf valuation. Construction cost has also increased on a pro-rata basis following
discussion with Johnson Associates. A revised CIL calculation has been estimated as stated earlier. All other
assumptions remain as previously reported.
Based upon the changes set out above we have revised our appraisal based upon the original submitted
offer. This results in an increased Residual Land Value of approximately £7.13m. Thus, against our
Benchmark Land Value of £5,040,000, a significant surplus is still derived.
Notwithstanding JRB’s position on the assumptions adopted by GL Hearn the applicant has offered to
increase the proportion of Social Rented units within Block A to 50% by floor area. This represents a small
increase from the 40% originally submitted but is lower than that arrived at in our previous response.
Based upon our revised assumptions we consider that 46x units (2nd to 10th floor inclusive plus a 1B2P and
2B3P on the 11th) could be provided as Social Rented units with the remainder provided as Shared
Ownership (39 x units). This equates to approximately 54% by both floor area and unit number. An appraisal
on this basis is appended resulting in a RLV of circa £5.08m and thus a small surplus above the Benchmark.

Amended Scheme
The applicant has now proposed to amend the scheme to provide 758x student beds, of which an additional
88x are to be Block A with the original 670x beds maintained in Block B. This results in a reduction of the
proposed C3 residential accommodation to 67 units. An internal playspace is provided within Block A and an
internal connection between the student cores at the 2nd floor level. The affordable provision is to comprise
76x affordable student beds (included within the 670x in Block B) and a reported 20,336 sqft (NSA) of
Shared Ownership and 31,613 sqft (NSA) of Social Rented space respectively; approximately a 40%:60%
S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 301

Page 4 of 8

split in favour of Social Rented. We understand that Officers conclude that this is a more favourable option in
planning terms.
An accommodation schedule has been separately provided which is summarised below.

Type
Residential (Block A)
Internal Playspace
Student (Block A)
Connection
Student (Block B)
Commercial
Shared Space
TOTAL

Amended Scheme
NIA / NSA
(sqft)
GIA (sqft)
50,406
72,032
1,001
1,044
13,688
32,377
700
721
118,375
212,361
8,567
9,022
2,526
2,526
195,263
330,083

There are some differences between the areas adopted by JRB and those included within the schedule. For
the avoidance of doubt we have adopted the areas as stated in the amended accommodation schedule and,
where they differ, not those reported by JRB.
A revised appraisal has been submitted but the rational for the assumptions are not fully explained. JRB
appear to have maintained the £psf values applicable to the affordable, commercial and their opinion of the
private student units. A value of £6.84m (£511 psf / £90,000 per unit) has been assumed for the affordable
student beds but no reasoning is provided. The total net realisation net of purchaser’s costs is £153,982,893.
Construction costs have been apportioned at the revised CAST construction costs of £312 psf totalling
£102,765,842 excl Bakerloo line abnormal works. Other appraisal assumptions adopted as per JRB
submission resulting in a negative Residual Land Value of £-2,083,092.
Affordable Residential Values
The affordable area included within JRB’s appraisal does not tally with the accommodation schedule but
amounts to approximately 60% of the floor area as Social Rent and 40% as Shared Ownership. We have
apportioned the areas on a similar basis.
The amended residential accommodation results in a proportional reduction in two bed units and a
corresponding proportional increase in one and three bedroom apartments. Accordingly we do not consider
there to be a significant variation to the £psf values previously adopted and we have also thus maintained
these assumptions in our model as has JRB.
Private Student Values
JRB previously valued the student accommodation at approximately £128.7m which equated to circa
£192,000 per unit. By applying the same £psf value to the amended private student accommodation they
arrive at a total value of £129,132,578 which equates to around £189,000 per private room. Applying JRB’s
previous values of £192,000 per room to the 682x private student beds in both blocks would result in private
revenue of roughly £130,940,000 or £1.81m higher than that adopted. Our valuation equated to circa
£200,745 per bed and applying this sum to the units proposed would total £136,911,500 or approximately
£5.97m higher than the figure adopted by JRB.
Block B remains the same in design terms. Of the 670 units 76 are to be provided as affordable but the unit
mix has not been defined. While it is reasonable to assume that the affordable would be allotted to the
smaller less valuable student room types (and thus derive a proportionally higher private value) we would
expect some variation. Accordingly we have maintained the same level of value and apportioned it to the
remaining 594 private units resulting in a value of £119,245,500 (circa. £200,745 per unit).

S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 302

Page 5 of 8

Within Block B two student unit types (Studio 1 and 2) will be provided which measure 14.46 sqm and 14.41
sqm respectively which is a marginal difference. A rate of £245 pw was applied to the 15 sqm type 1 studios
in Block B and therefore it would be reasonable to expect a lower rental value to account for both the size
difference and the location within a different core away. Accordingly we have applied a rate of £235 pw to the
additional 88x student beds.
Applying the same investment assumptions results in a value of say £178,000 per unit. It has been argued
that these units will not be as attractive to an investor given their inclusion within Block A alongside the C3
residential. This will result in more complicated ownership issues both at completion but also upon reversion
of the student investment at the end of its economic life – the investor will be free to redevelop Block B but
not Block A. This argument has merit thought the impact on the present value will be marginal. To account
for this we have reduced the value to £172,500 per bed (a NIY of circa 4.9%) which is a reduction of 3%
assuming a 4.75% and a 16% reduction against the value adopted for the units in Block A.
The combined value totals £134,425,500 (circa £197,000 per unit blended), approximately £5.3m higher than
that adopted by JRB.
Affordable Student Values
As stated above a value of £6.84m (circa £90,000 per unit) has been assumed for the affordable student
beds but no reasoning is provided. These will be let at a rate of £160 pw but only for 42 weeks per year
allowing the operator to let the units at full market rent for the remaining period. As this would be on a short
term basis targeting tourists, the conference market etc it will not be possible to let the units for the full
remainder of the year. Having allowed for this, Sundry income and other appropriate assumptions we
consider a value of £90,000 per unit appropriate in this case and have adopted JRB’s value within our
appraisal.
Construction Costs
No cost information in support of the amended scheme has been provided. In the absence of this we have
discussed the matter with Johnson Associates who have advised that it would be appropriate to apply the
same blended cost rate of £305.09 psf and apply it to the GIA resulting in a total cost of £100,703,327 plus
abnormal works and contingency allowance.
S106/CIL Costs
Given the amendments to the scheme we have undertaken a revised CIL calculation which totals
£3,689,117. The increase reflects the reduction in C3 Residential Affordable floor space, for which a relief is
given, in lieu of additional Student accommodation. Despite this being provided at ‘source’ as affordable it
will be retained and let by the owner and therefore it will not be possible to claim charitable social housing
relief.
Profit
As the student affordable units will not be forward sold to a Registered Provider the risk savings applicable to
standard affordable housing are not applicable. Accordingly we have applied our 15% on value assumption
to these units. All other profit assumptions remain as set out previously.
Amended Scheme Conclusions
Base upon the above assumptions we have appraised the revised scheme. This results in an RLV of circa
£3.07m and thus a deficit against the Benchmark Land Value is derived.
Accordingly we consider the amended scheme and the proposed provision of 65 residential apartments
(60% Social Rent and 40% Shared Ownership) and 76x Affordable Student Beds to be the maximum
reasonable amount viable at the current time.

S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 303

Page 6 of 8

Impact of Delayed Opening
The Council have been informed that, due to the delays in securing permission, it will not be possible to meet
the timescales originally assumed and meet the projected start of the 2020-2021 academic year. It has been
requested that this be reflected in the viability assessment. It should be noted from the outset that both JRB
and GL Hearn had assumed a later completion date thus far. An earlier completion date would result in a
surplus to invest in the Affordable Housing Offer.
It is accepted that Student developments are tied to the start of any academic year and therefore, if missed a
prudent developer would delay start of construction to enable completion by the start of the following
academic year rather than absorb the holding costs of constructing and maintaining an empty student
investment. Technically such considerations do not affect the C3 Residential (Affordable) but given the scale
and integration with the Student element we do not consider it would be realistic or economical to deliver the
Blocks separately.
Notwithstanding the above, we do not consider an adjustment appropriate in this case.
First, it is questionable whether planning authorities, and the public at large, should effectively shoulder the
cost of this in a lower affordable housing contribution given that the precise timescales are not fully known
and without an implementable planning consent the calendar timescales (ie completion by a specific date) is
always a matter of risk for which a profit allowance is allowed for. Indeed viability assessments are
undertaken on the basis of planning having already been achieved for the subject proposals.
Second, the actual projected timescales and opening date is not clear. It is suggested that the original
opening date envisaged was August 2020 and the timescales assumed to be a 2 month lead plus a 16
month construction period. Having yet to secure permission this won’t be achievable and a revised August
2021 completion is now suggested. JRB, however, already assumed a late 2021 within their cashflow.
Adopting the timecales now suggested would result in a significant finance saving cost and thus an further
improved affordable offer.
Third, we would question whether the projected opening was a realistic proposition given the complexities of
the scheme and planning process. The planning application and Financial Viability Assessment were
provided in January 2019. Based upon the appraisal assumptions adopted by JRB the earliest completion
could have been achieved was May 2021 allowing only two months for officers to undertake their statutory
duties in reviewing the application, presenting this to members with their recommendation, secure approval
from members and completion of the S106 agreement. We also previously questioned the total
preconstruction period assumed by JRB as being unrealistic and extended this by two months thus further
limiting the period to secure an implementable planning permission. It is appreciated that the applicant
suggests the proposed modular construction techniques will speed up the process but whether such a
dramatic improvement from that assumed in the viability submission can be achieved is questionable given
the scale of the development.
Finally, while modular construction has the long term potential to reduce costs, it is our experience that the
construction costs of a modular scheme are currently higher than traditional methods. Furthermore, we
understand that it was/is intended that some of the ground works are started before planning is secured. This
may extend the construction cost within the cashflow from the recently suggested 16 month programme.
More importantly it is a significant additional risk that cannot be factored into the assessment. Accordingly we
cannot reliably confirm that any finance saving achieved from a faster build out suggested would not be
eroded by the higher costs.
On balance we do not consider currently it appropriate to deviate from cashflow assumptions adopted.

S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 304

Page 7 of 8

Conclusion
We trust the above is clear but I am happy to discuss it further with yourselves and/or the applicant directly.
Yours sincerely

Edmund Couldrey
Development Director
edmund.couldrey@glhearn.com
Enclos:
1. Revised Viability Appraisal Summary - Submitted Scheme
2. Revised Viability Appraisal Summary - Submitted Scheme with Improved Tenure
3. Viability Appraisal Summary – Revised Scheme

S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\JRB Response & Rebuttal\May
Response\20190513_LewishamExchange_Viability Response.docx

Page 305

Page 8 of 8

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Submitted Scheme - Revised Viability Appraisal
Summary Appraisal for Phase 1
Currency in £
REVENUE
Sales Valuation
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals

Units
1
1
1
3

ft²
27,339
41,255
118,375
186,969

Rate ft²
185.00
450.00
1,136.22

Units
1
1
1
3

ft²
5,992
2,526
2,877
11,395

Rate ft²
25.00

149,800

YP @
PV 1yr @

6.5000%
6.5000%

Unit Price
5,057,715
18,564,750
134,500,000

Gross Sales
5,057,715
18,564,750
134,500,000
158,122,465

Initial
MRV/Unit
149,800
0
0

Net Rent
at Sale
149,800
0
0
149,800

Rental Area Summary
Commercial
Shared Space
Ticket Hall
Totals
Investment Valuation
Commercial
Market Rent
(1yr Rent Free)

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE

15.3846
0.9390

Initial
MRV
149,800

149,800

2,163,958
2,163,958

160,286,423

Purchaser's Costs

129,837
129,837

NET DEVELOPMENT VALUE

160,156,586

NET REALISATION

160,156,586

OUTLAY
ACQUISITION COSTS
Residualised Price

7,128,174
7,128,174

Stamp Duty
Agent Fee
Legal Fee

345,909
71,282
57,025

1.00%
0.80%

474,216
CONSTRUCTION COSTS
Construction
Commercial
Shared Space
Ticket Hall
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals
Contingency
Abnormals
CIL/MCIL/
S.106

ft²
6,200 ft²
2,526 ft²
2,977 ft²
41,686 ft²
62,906 ft²
212,361 ft²
328,656 ft²

Rate ft²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.08 pf²

Cost
1,891,550
770,646
908,209
12,717,932
19,191,569
64,788,081
100,267,986

5.00%

100,267,986

5,069,839
2,037,000
3,216,258
1,119,290
11,442,387

PROFESSIONAL FEES
Professionals

10.00%

10,026,799
10,026,799

MARKETING & LETTING
Letting Agent Fee
Letting Legal Fee

10.00%
5.00%

14,980
7,490
22,470

DISPOSAL FEES
Sales Agent Fee
Sales Legal Fee

1.00%

1,601,566
150,000
1,751,566

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190513_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability Apprai
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 13/05/2019

Page 306

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Submitted Scheme - Revised Viability Appraisal
FINANCE
Debit Rate 6.500%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal)
Land
Construction
Other
Total Finance Cost

1,251,845
6,002,824
128,623
7,126,046

TOTAL COSTS

138,239,644

PROFIT
21,916,942
Performance Measures
Profit on Cost%
Profit on GDV%
Profit on NDV%
IRR

15.85%
13.67%
13.68%
23.35%

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190513_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability Apprai
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 13/05/2019

Page 307

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Submitted Scheme
Revised Viability Appraisal - Improved Tenure
Summary Appraisal for Phase 1
Currency in £
REVENUE
Sales Valuation
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals

Units
1
1
1
3

ft²
36,899
31,695
118,375
186,969

Rate ft²
185.00
450.00
1,136.22

Units
1
1
1
3

ft²
5,992
2,526
2,877
11,395

Rate ft²
25.00

149,800

YP @
PV 1yr @

6.5000%
6.5000%

Unit Price
6,826,315
14,262,750
134,500,000

Gross Sales
6,826,315
14,262,750
134,500,000
155,589,065

Initial
MRV/Unit
149,800
0
0

Net Rent
at Sale
149,800
0
0
149,800

Rental Area Summary
Commercial
Shared Space
Ticket Hall
Totals
Investment Valuation
Commercial
Market Rent
(1yr Rent Free)

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE

15.3846
0.9390

Initial
MRV
149,800

149,800

2,163,958
2,163,958

157,753,023

Purchaser's Costs

129,837
129,837

NET DEVELOPMENT VALUE

157,623,186

NET REALISATION

157,623,186

OUTLAY
ACQUISITION COSTS
Residualised Price

5,077,203
5,077,203

Stamp Duty
Agent Fee
Legal Fee

243,360
50,772
40,618

1.00%
0.80%

334,750
CONSTRUCTION COSTS
Construction
Commercial
Shared Space
Ticket Hall
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Student Beds
Totals
Contingency
Abnormals
CIL/MCIL/
S.106

ft²
6,200 ft²
2,526 ft²
2,977 ft²
56,264 ft²
48,328 ft²
212,361 ft²
328,656 ft²

Rate ft²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.08 pf²

Cost
1,891,550
770,646
908,209
17,165,185
14,744,316
64,788,081
100,267,986

5.00%

100,267,986

5,069,839
2,037,000
3,216,258
1,119,290
11,442,387

PROFESSIONAL FEES
Professionals

10.00%

10,026,799
10,026,799

MARKETING & LETTING
Letting Agent Fee
Letting Legal Fee

10.00%
5.00%

14,980
7,490
22,470

DISPOSAL FEES
Sales Agent Fee
Sales Legal Fee

1.00%

1,576,232
150,000

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190513_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability w +AH
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 13/05/2019

Page 308

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Submitted Scheme
Revised Viability Appraisal - Improved Tenure
1,726,232
FINANCE
Debit Rate 6.500%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal)
Land
Construction
Other
Total Finance Cost

885,677
6,202,483
127,739
6,960,421

TOTAL COSTS

135,858,248

PROFIT
21,764,938
Performance Measures
Profit on Cost%
Profit on GDV%
Profit on NDV%
IRR

16.02%
13.80%
13.81%
23.70%

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190513_Lewisham Exchange_Revised Viability w +AH
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 13/05/2019

Page 309

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Scheme - Viability Appraisal
Summary Appraisal for Phase 1
Currency in £
REVENUE
Sales Valuation
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Block B Prv Student Beds
Block B Aff Student Beds
Block A Prv Student Beds
Totals

Units
1
1
594
76
88
760

ft²
30,674
19,732
104,947
13,428
13,688
182,469

Rate ft²
185.00
450.00
1,136.24
509.40
1,109.00

Units
1
1
1
1
1
5

ft²
5,327
2,526
700
1,001
3,240
12,794

Rate ft²
25.00

133,175

YP @
PV 1yr @

6.5000%
6.5000%

Rental Area Summary
Commercial
Shared Space
Connection
Internal Playspace
Ticket Hall
Totals
Investment Valuation
Commercial
Market Rent
(1yr Rent Free)

GROSS DEVELOPMENT VALUE

Unit Price
5,674,690
8,879,400
200,750
90,000
172,500

Gross Sales
5,674,690
8,879,400
119,245,500
6,840,000
15,180,000
155,819,590

Initial
MRV/Unit
133,175
0
0
0
0

Net Rent
at Sale
133,175
0
0
0
0
133,175

15.3846
0.9390

Initial
MRV
133,175

133,175

1,923,799
1,923,799

157,743,389

Purchaser's Costs

115,428
115,428

NET DEVELOPMENT VALUE

157,627,961

NET REALISATION

157,627,961

OUTLAY
ACQUISITION COSTS
Residualised Price

3,068,195
3,068,195

Stamp Duty
Agent Fee
Legal Fee

1.00%
0.80%

142,910
30,682
24,546
198,137

CONSTRUCTION COSTS
Construction
Commercial
Shared Space
Connection
Internal Playspace
Ticket Hall
Social Rent
Shared Ownership
Block B Prv Student Beds
Block B Aff Student Beds
Block A Prv Student Beds
Totals
Contingency
Abnormals
CIL/MCIL/
S.106

ft²
5,610 ft²
2,526 ft²
721 ft²
1,044 ft²
3,412 ft²
43,834 ft²
28,198 ft²
188,272 ft²
24,089 ft²
32,377 ft²
330,083 ft²

Rate ft²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.09 pf²
305.08 pf²
305.08 pf²
305.08 pf²

5.00%

Cost
1,711,505
770,646
219,967
318,509
1,040,976
13,373,196
8,602,722
57,438,985
7,349,096
9,877,726
100,703,327

100,703,327

5,084,968
2,037,000
3,689,117
1,119,290
11,930,375

PROFESSIONAL FEES
Professionals

10.00%

10,070,333

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190513_Lewisham Exchange_Viability Alt Scheme.wcf
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 13/05/2019

Page 310

APPRAISAL SUMMARY

GL HEARN

Lewisham Exchange
Revised Scheme - Viability Appraisal
10,070,333
MARKETING & LETTING
Letting Agent Fee
Letting Legal Fee

10.00%
5.00%

13,318
6,659
19,976

DISPOSAL FEES
Sales Agent Fee
Sales Legal Fee

1.00%

1,576,280
150,000
1,726,280

FINANCE
Debit Rate 6.500%, Credit Rate 1.000% (Nominal)
Land
Construction
Other
Total Finance Cost

533,652
6,809,781
133,227
7,210,206

TOTAL COSTS

134,926,829

PROFIT
22,701,133
Performance Measures
Profit on Cost%
Profit on GDV%
Profit on NDV%
IRR

16.82%
14.39%
14.40%
23.99%

This appraisal report does not constitute a formal valuation.

Project: S:\dataexch\TENDERS\LB Lewisham\Lewisham Exchange (Carpetright update)\Appraisals\20190513_Lewisham Exchange_Viability Alt Scheme.wcf
ARGUS Developer Version: 7.50.001
Date: 13/05/2019

Page 311

This page is intentionally left blank

